Public Document Pack

EXECUTIVE BOARD
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Wednesday, 15th November, 2017 at 1.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
J Blake (Chair)
R Charlwood
D Coupar
J Lewis
R Lewis
L Mulherin
M Rafique
L Yeadon

Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

A Carter

S Golton

Gerard Watson
37 88664
Produced on Recycled Paper

1

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS
The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:
9.0
9.1

Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of
the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers,
and minutes will also be excluded.

9.2

Confidential information means
(a)
information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which
forbid its public disclosure or
(b)
information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another
Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights
rules.

10.0
10. 1

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of
the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information
would be disclosed provided:
(a)
the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the
proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b)
that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.
(c)
that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

10.2

In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will
also be excluded.

10.3

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10. 4

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to
any condition):
1
Information relating to any individual
2
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information).
4
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officerholders under the authority.
5
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be
maintained in legal proceedings.
6
Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a)
to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which
requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)
to make an order or direction under any enactment
7
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

2

AGENDA
Item
No
K=Key
Decision
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which officers
have identified as containing exempt information
within the meaning of Section 100I of the Local
Government Act 1972, and where officers
consider that the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the officers
recommendation in respect of the above
information.

3

If the recommendation is accepted, to formally
pass the following resolution:RESOLVED – That, in accordance with
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the
public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of those parts of the agenda
designated as exempt on the grounds that it is
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that
if members of the press and public were present
there would be disclosure to them of exempt
information.

3

Item
No
K=Key
Decision
3

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)

4

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5

MINUTES

1 - 12

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the
meeting held on 18th October 2017.
EMPLOYMENT, SKILLS AND OPPORTUNITY
6

IMPROVING HEALTH AND WORK OUTCOMES
To consider the joint report of the Director of City
Development and the Director of Adults and Health
setting out the need to develop a new approach to
improve heath and work outcomes, and
summarising the joint activity undertaken with
partners to refocus provision to achieve this. The
report also sets out the need to develop an
integrated approach towards health and
employment support to ensure that disabled
people and those with long term health conditions
that wish to work are supported to secure and
sustain employment, and sets out the ambition to
include a wider group of stakeholders to promote
healthy workplaces with a focus of creating and
retaining a talented and diverse workforce.

4

13 28

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
UPDATE 2017/18

7

29 38

To consider the report of the Chief Officer,
Financial Services, which provides a review and an
update of the Treasury Management Strategy for
2017/18.
CAPITAL PROGRAMME QUARTER 2 UPDATE
2017 - 2021

8

39 64

To consider the report of the Chief Officer,
Financial Services, providing an update on the
Capital Programme position as at Quarter 2. In
addition, the report seeks specific approvals in
relation to funding injections, as detailed within the
covering report and the associated Appendix.
FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING REPORT MONTH 6

9

65 88

To consider the report of the Chief Officer,
Financial Services, on the Council’s projected
financial health position for 2017/18 at month 6 of
the financial year.

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND
PLANNING
10

K

City and
Hunslet

THE GRAND QUARTER TOWNSCAPE
HERITAGE SCHEME
To consider the report of the Director of City
Development seeking authorisation for the
resubmission of the Grand Quarter Townscape
Heritage scheme to the Heritage Lottery Fund
(HLF) in December 2017, together with the
allocation of £500,000 Council match funding.

5

89 128

Item
No
K=Key
Decision
11

K

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

THE LOCAL CENTRES PROGRAMME (LCP)

129 142

To consider the report of the Director of City
Development on the Local Centres Programme
(LCP). In March 2017 the Full Council established
a £5m capital fund to improve town and district
centres across the city. This paper proposes a
scope for the emerging Local Centres Programme
(LPC) for consideration and approval.
HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS
12

REFRESH OF THE BETTER LIVES STRATEGY

143 170

To consider the report of the Director of Adults and
Health which presents the Executive Board with a
refreshed and updated Better Lives strategy for
consideration and comment.
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES
13

THE LEEDS PREPARING FOR ADULTHOOD
STRATEGY 2017-2022

171 198

To consider the report of the Director of Children
and Families seeking to raise awareness of the
Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 20172011. The report sets out the background, the
strategic fit and how the vision and strategy has
been designed using a co-production approach,
working with key stakeholders including young
people, families and partners from education,
health and care across the city.
14

K

PROPOSAL FOR A STRATEGIC REVIEW OF
PROVISION FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG
PEOPLE WITH SPECIAL EDUCATION NEEDS
AND DISABILITIES (SEND)
To consider the report of the Director of Children
and Families which provides an outline of the
approach for completing a Strategic Review of 025 SEND provision in Leeds. The report sets out
the Local Authority’s duties, together with the
scope and methodology of the review.
6

199 208

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

COMMUNITIES
15

LOCALITY WORKING - TACKLING POVERTY
AND REDUCING INEQUALITIES

209 248

To consider the report of the Director of
Communities and Environment seeking to
articulate a new place-based integrated approach
towards service delivery and a new approach to
tackling poverty and reducing inequality in some of
the city’s poorest neighbourhoods.
16

BEYOND DECENT HOMES - THE 2018
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)
CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN

249 266

To consider the report of the Director of Resources
and Housing providing an update on the latest
position regarding capital investment proposals for
the HRA assets over the next 10 years.

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
17

THE FUTURE OF THE WASTE AND
RECYCLING STRATEGY FOR LEEDS
To consider the report of the Director of
Communities and Environment setting out the
proposed programme for the development of a
revised waste and recycling strategy for Leeds.
The report provides an update on the local and
national context, discusses some of the key issues
relating to the Council’s future ambitions and the
achievement of targets, whilst also outlines the
detailed appraisal work to be undertaken on the
options for the Council’s kerbside recycling
strategy, and seeks approval to the guiding
principles and proposed programme for the
development of this strategy.

7

267 284

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification
of the main speakers and their role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those
points must be complete.
Webcasting
Please note – the publically accessible parts of this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent
broadcast via the City Council’s website. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or
part of the meeting is to be filmed.

8

Agenda Item 5
EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 18TH OCTOBER, 2017
PRESENT:

Councillor J Blake in the Chair
Councillors A Carter, R Charlwood,
D Coupar, S Golton, J Lewis, R Lewis,
L Mulherin, M Rafique and L Yeadon

73

Late Items
Although no formal late items of business had been submitted to the Board for
consideration, prior to the meeting Board Members had been provided with
colour versions of the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 2016/17 Annual
Report together with colour copies of the ‘easy read’ version. (Agenda Item
14, and Minute No.84 refers).

74

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting,
however, in relation to the agenda item entitled, ‘Leeds United Football Club’s
Training Ground Proposals’, Councillor Blake drew the Board’s attention to
her position as a Trustee of the Leeds United Foundation, whilst in relation to
the same item, Councillor J Lewis drew the Board’s attention to the fact that
he was a Leeds United season ticket holder. (Minute No. 80 refers).

75

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 20th
September 2017 be approved as a correct record.
ECONOMY AND CULTURE

76

Leeds 2023 European Capital of Culture Bid
Further to Minute No. 35, 17th July 2017, the Director of City Development
submitted a report which sought approval of the Leeds bid to become
European Capital of Culture in 2023 for the purposes of submission to the
Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS) by the 27th October
2017. The bid document was appended to the submitted report.
As part of the introduction to the submitted report, the Board viewed a short
film entitled, ‘I Am A Spark’, which had been produced to accompany and
support the city’s bid.
In presenting the report, the Chair conveyed her appreciation, on behalf of the
Board, for the supportive cross-party approach which had been taken
throughout the preparation of the bid, and also to the pivotal role played by
the Leeds 2023 Independent Steering Group, which had recently
recommended the bid document to Executive Board for approval.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 1

Members noted the wide ranging support and positive attention that the bid
had received since its recent publication; noted the commitment that the bid
was being submitted on behalf of and reflected the whole city; and highlighted
the range of opportunities including the positive legacy and economic benefits
that being European Capital of Culture could potentially bring.
In addition, the Board’s approval was sought for the Chief Officer (Culture and
Sport) to make any minor amendments and clarifications to the bid document
which were required, prior to the document’s formal submission to the DCMS.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That approval be given to the Council submitting the bid for European
Capital of Culture, as presented at Appendix 1 to the submitted report,
for submission to the DCMS by 27th October 2017;
(b)

That the Board’s thanks be expressed to the Independent Steering
Group and all of the organisations and individuals in the city who have
contributed over the last three years;

(c)

That for the reasons detailed within the ‘Legal Implications, Access to
Information and Call In’ section of the submitted report, the resolutions
made by the Board within this minute be exempted from the Call-in
process;

(d)

That should Leeds be shortlisted to the second stage, the following be
agreed:(i) It be noted that a second and final application will need to be
submitted during 2018, incorporating further developments and
feedback from the judging panel;
(ii) That the Chief Officer Culture and Sport be requested to support a
recruitment process in order to appoint a Chair of Leeds Culture
Trust;
(iii) That the Chief Officer Culture and Sport be requested to initiate a
‘Readiness Board’ within the Authority across the different
Directorates in order to start to plan for supporting the delivery of
the year.

(e)

That the Chief Officer (Culture and Sport) be provided with the
necessary authority to make any minor amendments and clarifications
to the bid document which were required, prior to the document’s
formal submission to the DCMS.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process if it is
considered that any delay would seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the
public’s interests. In line with this, the resolutions contained within this minute
were exempted from the Call In process for the reasons as stated within the
submitted report, namely to enable the submission of the bid by the deadline
of 27th October 2017, with the implication of not exempting the decision from
Call In being that the Council may not be able to submit the bid to become
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 2

European Capital of Culture 2023 within the required timescales and would
therefore forgo the opportunity that this would bring to the city. In addition, it
was also noted that given the competitive nature of the bidding process, it was
considered that the bid could not have been submitted to an earlier scheduled
Board meeting and therefore enabling it to be made available for Call In, as
this could have potentially prejudiced the Council’s interests, should the bid
have been revealed to competitors at an earlier stage).
EMPLOYMENT, SKILLS AND OPPORTUNITY
77

'More Jobs, Better Jobs': Progress Report
Further to Minute No. 68, 21st September 2016, the Director of City
Development submitted a report providing an update on the work which had
been undertaken, together with the achievements made over the past 12
months in support of the key work streams of the ‘More Jobs, Better Jobs’
Breakthrough Project.
In presenting the report, the Executive Member for ‘Employment, Skills and
Opportunities’ paid tribute to the recently deceased Professor Mike Campbell
OBE for the integral role he had played in the work of the More Jobs, Better
Jobs Research Partnership.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with further detail
on the actions which were being taken to ensure that a collaborative approach
continued to be developed in order to ensure that the positive results arising
from the breakthrough project were being maximised, whilst the Board also
considered how the Council’s role in the area of job retention and creation
would continue to evolve in the future.
With regard to measuring the outputs arising from the breakthrough project
and the related supporting data to illustrate performance comparative to other
Core Cities and Local Authorities, Members were provided with further detail
on this during the consideration of the item. However, it was acknowledged
that consideration would be given as to how such data could be
communicated more effectively, and what metrics could be used in the future
in order to measure the progress that was being made.
RESOLVED – That the comments made by the Board be noted, together with
the progress which has been made to date in taking forward the ‘More Jobs,
Better Jobs’ Breakthrough Project.
RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

78

Financial Health Monitoring 2017/18 - Month 5
The Chief Officer Financial Services submitted a report which set out the
Council’s projected financial health position for 2017/18, as at month 5 of the
financial year.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with information
regarding the proactive approach being taken to reduce employee sickness
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 3

levels in the Council, with it being undertaken that relevant officers would brief
the Member in question on such matters.
Members also received clarification with regard to the current level of
expenditure in respect of agency staffing.
In addition, responding to an enquiry, it was undertaken that a briefing would
be provided to the Member in question regarding the budget forecast variation
as detailed within the submitted report in respect of Children’s Centres.
RESOLVED – That the projected financial health position of the authority, as
at month 5 of the financial year, be noted.
79

Hunslet Rugby League Foundation, John Charles Centre for Sport,
Leeds
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to
the letting of space at the John Charles Centre for Sport to Hunslet Rugby
League Football Club, on the terms which were detailed within the submitted
report.
RESOLVED – That in supporting the principles of the arrangement outlined
within the submitted report, the Director of City Development be authorised to
agree new lease and licence terms which are in accordance with the Heads of
Terms, as outlined within the submitted report.
REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND PLANNING

80

Leeds United Football Club's Training Ground Proposals
The Director of City Development submitted a report informing of Leeds
United Football Club’s proposals to relocate their training, Leeds Community
Foundation and Academy facilities closer to Elland Road, at both Fullerton
Park and the former Matthew Murray High School site.
In considering the report, the Board noted the potential opportunities arising
from the club’s proposals; highlighted the club’s long term vision; discussed
the proposals regarding the Elland Road site at Fullerton Park and considered
the issue of car parking provision in the area; and made reference to the
implications of the proposals for the Thorp Arch Academy site. In addition, it
was emphasised that effective communication between the local community,
the Council and the football club would be key to the progression of any such
proposals.
Concluding the discussion, it was suggested that at the appropriate time,
representatives of the football club be invited to a future Executive Board
meeting in order to provide an opportunity for them to address the Board and
set out their vision for the club and its contribution towards local communities
and also the city as a whole.
Finally, it was brought to the Board’s attention that paragraph 2.12 of the
submitted report should read: ‘Elland Road has recently been listed as an
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 4

Asset of Community Value. Nominated by Leeds United Supporters' Trust...’,
rather than stating: ‘Leeds United Supporters’ Club’ as detailed within the
published report. In noting this correction, it was
RESOLVED –
(a)
That, in noting the correction to the submitted report as detailed above,
the principle of the Council formally entering into one-to-one
negotiations with Leeds United Football Club for the development of
new football training facilities at Elland Road and the Matthew Murray
site for use by Leeds United Football Club and Leeds United
Foundation, be agreed;
(b)

That it be noted that the Director of City Development is responsible for
progressing resolution (a) above.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
81

Transport for The North Regulations: Incorporation as a Sub-National
Transport Body
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought the Board’s
consent on behalf of the Council, as Local Highway Authority, to the making of
Regulations by the Secretary of State to establish Transport for the North
(TfN) as a Sub – National Transport Body under section 102J of the Local
Transport Act 2008.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the Board provide formal consent under section 102J of the Local
Transport Act 2008 to the making by the Secretary of State of
Regulations to establish Transport for the North as a Sub-National
Transport Body, whilst also giving TfN concurrent highway powers with
Leeds City Council as the local highway authority;
(b)

That the resolutions made within this minute be exempted from the Call
In process, for the reasons as detailed within section 4.6.1 of the ‘Legal
Implications, Access to Information and Call In’ section of the submitted
report;

(c)

That the City Solicitor be instructed to notify the Department for
Transport (DfT) of the decision made in respect of resolution (a) above.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process if it is
considered that any delay would seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the
public’s interests. In line with this, the resolutions contained within this minute
were exempted from the Call In process given that, as stated within the
submitted report, the DfT has requested that Authorities confirm their
decisions no later than the 20th October 2017. It was considered that the
implication of not exempting such decisions from Call In could jeopardise the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 5

Authority’s ability to meet the deadline of 20th October 2017, which would
prejudice the making of the Regulations and therefore the process for
designating TfN as a statutory body. In addition, it was noted that the matter
could not have been submitted to an earlier scheduled Board meeting, and
therefore enabling it to be made available for Call In, as the DfT only
confirmed on 21st September 2017 that the constituent Highway Authorities
within those areas covered by a Combined Authority must also give their prior
consent to the making of the regulations).
82

Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan and Leeds City Region HS2 Growth
Strategy
Further to Minute No. 51, 27th July 2016, the Director of City Development
submitted a report providing an update on the preparations being made for
bringing HS2 to the region: including the draft HS2 Growth Strategy and the
Leeds Station Integrated Masterplan principles. In addition, the submitted
report also sought endorsement of the work which had been undertaken to
date and for the relevant approvals for the proposed next steps, which
included a public consultation exercise.
Members highlighted the significance and ambitious nature of the project, and
emphasised the inextricable link between this project and the South Bank
Leeds Framework Plan. In acknowledging the scale of the proposals, the
Board noted the range of challenges which would be faced during the
development process, with emphasis being placed upon the need for the
masterplan to be flexible enough to overcome such challenges. In addition,
the key importance of ensuring that Members were kept informed of the
progress being made was highlighted.
A concern was raised by a Member regarding the route of HS2 in its approach
to the city, and the affect that this could have on local communities, with a
suggestion that a report be submitted to a future Board meeting regarding the
potential environmental and economic impact that the construction of the HS2
project may have on affected communities.
In conclusion, Members highlighted the whole range of potential opportunities
and economic benefits that this development would bring to the city and the
wider region, with emphasis being placed upon the need for the Council to
continue to be ambitious in respect of such matters, whilst also listening to the
views of local communities.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the draft Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan principles, as
contained within section 3.1 of the submitted report be endorsed, as a
basis for public consultation;
(b)

That the principles of the emerging Leeds City Region HS2 Growth
Strategy and proposed next steps, as contained within sections 3.3 and
3.4 of the submitted report, be supported;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 6

(c)

That following resolutions (a) and (b) above, the Director of City
Development, in consultation with the Leader of the Council; the
Executive Member for ‘Regeneration, Transport and Planning’; and the
Director of Resources and Housing, be requested to:
(i) further develop the Council’s input into the Leeds City Region HS2
Growth Strategy and to report back to Executive Board with a
proposed final version of the Growth Strategy, with such a report to
include proposed delivery, funding and implementation plans for
projects involving the Council;
(ii) undertake consultation with central Government and city partners
on the Growth Strategy proposals alongside the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority ahead of a final strategy being developed;
(iii) continue collaboration with partners in order to bring forward the
delivery of the Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan Vision; and
(iv) provide an update to Executive Board in 2018 on the progress
made on matters contained within the submitted report.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor S Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
83

South Bank Leeds Framework Plan
Further to Minute No. 51, 27th July 2016, the Director of City Development
submitted a report presenting the outcomes from the public consultation
exercise on the draft South Bank Leeds Framework Plan undertaken during
Autumn/Winter 2016. The submitted report outlined suggested amendments
to the Plan in response to the representations received via the consultation
process, and sought approval to undertake a further 6 week consultation on
an amended version of the South Bank Leeds Regeneration Framework, with
a view to formally adopting the framework as a Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD).
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with assurances
that the proposed process of adopting the South Bank Leeds Framework Plan
as a Supplementary Planning Document would work alongside the proposals
regarding the Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan and the Leeds City Region
HS2 Growth Strategy.
Members highlighted the ambitious nature of the vision for the South Bank
area, with specific reference being made to the plans regarding the creation of
a city park.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the contents of the submitted report, which summarises the
feedback from the public consultation exercise, be noted;
(b)

That the Board’s agreement be given for the draft South Bank Leeds
Framework Plan to be updated in order to reflect representations which
have been received through the consultation exercise, as set out at
paragraph 3.11.4 and 3.12.2 of the submitted report; and that support
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 7

be given to the proposal to amend the Framework Plan, in order for it
to become a Supplementary Planning Document;
(c)

That following resolution (b) (above), the Chief Planning Officer be
requested to undertake a six week consultation exercise on a revised
draft South Bank Leeds Regeneration Framework Supplementary
Planning Document;

(d)

That following the consultation period, and subject to any amendments
required having regard to the representations received, approval be
given for the Chief Planning Officer to adopt the SPD.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS
84

Safeguarding Adults Board, Annual Report 2016/17 and Strategic Plan
Further to Minute No. 100, 16th November 2016, the Director of Adults and
Health submitted a report presenting the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board
(LSAB) Annual Report for 2016/17, and which summarised the Board’s areas
of focus and achievements over the past 12 months. The Strategic Plan was
also included which presented the ambitions for the next three years.
The Board welcomed Richard Jones CBE, Independent Chair of the Leeds
Safeguarding Adults Board to the meeting, who was in attendance in order to
introduce the key points of the annual report and to highlight key priorities.
Responding to an enquiry, the Board received information on the approach
being taken to further address the issue of social isolation, whilst information
was also provided to the Board by the Independent Chair of the LSAB on the
key challenges that the Safeguarding Board currently faced. In addition,
Members also received information regarding the level of comparative data
which was available in order for the Safeguarding Board to assess Leeds’
performance against other Core Cities and Local Authorities.
In conclusion, the Chair, on behalf of Executive Board, thanked Richard
Jones, together with all other members of the LSAB for the crucial work which
they continued to undertake.
RESOLVED – That the contents of the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board
2016/17 Annual Report and the Board’s Strategic Plan, as presented within
the submitted report and appendices, be noted.
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

85

Cultural Cohesion Quality Mark
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which introduced the
Cultural Cohesion Quality Mark (CCQM) scheme, and which sought approval
for Children and Families directorate to resource, manage and deliver the
scheme.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 8

Members welcomed the proposals detailed within the submitted report.
However, responding to specific concerns which had been raised by a Board
Member, assurances were provided regarding the aims, remit and proposed
operation of the scheme.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the Cultural Cohesion Quality Mark be approved, and that Leeds
City Council (Children and Families directorate) be enabled to initially
resource the scheme, which will include financing, hosting, managing
and delivering the CCQM;
(b)

That the following be noted:
(i) the next steps required to implement the CCQM, as per paragraph
3.3 of the submitted report;
(ii) the proposed timescales of the CCQM, as per paragraph 3.3.3 of
the submitted report;
(iii) the officer responsible for the implementation of the CCQM shall be
the Chief Officer Learning Improvement, Children and Families.

(c)

That Executive Board receive annual reports regarding the CCQM’s
impact and effectiveness in relation to reducing inequalities and
improving outcomes for Leeds citizens.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor S Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
86

Outcome of School Admissions Arrangements 2017
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which presented an
overview of, and supporting statistical information regarding the outcome of
the Admissions Round for 2017 entry into Reception and Year 7, whilst also
providing data relating to the in-year admissions functions.
RESOLVED – That the following be noted: The number of applications received for places in Reception and Year
7 for September 2017; and that 87% of Reception children and 85% of
Year 7 children were offered a place at their first preference school;
 The number of children receiving an offer at one of their top 3 preferred
schools was 95% for Reception and 95% for Year 7;
 That requests for in-year transfers continues to rise, with 7,455 children
requesting new school places in Leeds schools between September
2016 and July 2017 – some being new arrivals in the city and some
being requests to move within the city;
 That the officer responsible for this area of work is the Lead for the
Admissions and Family Information Service.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 9

COMMUNITIES
87

Lettings Policy Review and Housing and Planning Act Update
Further to Minute No. 138, 10th February 2016, the Director of Resources and
Housing submitted a report setting out proposed amendments to the Council’s
Lettings Policy, and which also provided an update on the Housing and
Planning Act in relation to the Council’s Tenancy Agreement and Tenancy
Strategy.
With regard to the review of the Policy, Members noted that the initial intention
was for this to be co-ordinated with the Housing and Planning Act 2016, and
the publication of related guidance and regulations by the Department for
Communities and Local Government (DCLG). However, given that currently
there were no confirmed timescales for the release of such documents, the
proposal was to commence such a review, with any new regulations being
taken into consideration once issued.
It was also highlighted that the lobbying of Government would continue with
the aim of the Council gaining further resource and freedoms to provide
greater housing provision in the city, given the significant demand which
existed.
In noting the significantly lower levels of temporary accommodation
placements in Leeds when compared with other Core Cities, Members paid
tribute to the work undertaken by the Council’s Housing Options team for the
preventative approach which they took, and which continued to achieve very
positive results.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the proposed amendments to the Council’s Lettings Policy, as set
out in sections 4.7 – 4.46 of the submitted report, to be implemented
from February 2018 by the Chief Officer, Housing Management, be
noted;
(b)

That the developments regarding the Tenancy Agreement review, as
set out in section 5 of the submitted report be noted; and that the
review of the Council’s existing Introductory and Secure Tenancy
Agreement be delegated to the Director of Resources and Housing, to
commence from November 2017;

(c)

That the proposal set out within section 5.6 of the submitted report to
extend the Council’s current Tenancy Strategy to 30th September 2018
be noted, with it also being noted that a further report will be submitted
to the Board by the Director of Resources and Housing in September
2018 on the implications of the Housing and Planning Act along with
the proposed changes to the Tenancy Strategy.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 10

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
88

Potential Government Grant Bid for Lotherton Wildlife World
Further to Minute No. 84, 19th October 2016, the Director of Communities and
Environment submitted a report regarding the potential submission of a bid to
the Rural Development Programme for England (RDPE) Growth Programme,
which was administered via the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), with the
aim of further developing the tourism offer at Lotherton Wildlife World.
Members paid tribute to the ongoing work of the Parks and Countryside team,
with specific reference to all those who had been involved in the recent
development and opening of the Leeds Arium.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the submission of an expression of interest to the Rural
Development Programme for England (RDPE) Growth Programme, be
approved;
(b)

That it be noted that the Chief Officer Parks and Countryside will be
responsible for the implementation of resolution (a) (above), with a
submission ahead of the deadline of 31st January 2018.

DATE OF PUBLICATION:

FRIDAY, 20TH OCTOBER 2017

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

FRIDAY, 27TH OCTOBER 2017

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 15th November, 2017

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Report author: S Wynne / A. Cooke /
J Hopkins Tel: 0113 3783878 / 37 89837

Joint report of the Directors of City Development and Adults and Health
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15 November 2017
Subject: Improving Health and Work Outcomes
Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1. There is a relationship between health and work which has implications for the economy
and society. Employee good health contributes to high productivity and successful
enterprises, which in turn supports economic prosperity, and the social wellbeing and
wealth of communities. It also follows that ill-health among working age people is costly
for individuals, businesses and the economy.
2. As the UK’s fastest growing city, the economic buoyancy of Leeds in recent years has
translated into a sustained reduction in the volume of people who are unemployed and
actively seeking work. There has been a 60% reduction in number of Jobseeker
Allowance claims over the last 3 years to around 7,900 in November 2016. However, this
is in contrast to the number of Leeds residents in receipt of Employment Support
Allowance (ESA), the out-of-work benefit for those with a disability or health barrier,
which has remained stubbornly high at over 32,000 claims in November 2016.
3. The Best Council Plan 2017/18 sets out our vision for Leeds to be the best city in the
UK: one that is compassionate with a strong economy, which tackles poverty and
reduces the inequalities that still exist. This report summarises our shared ambition to
improve health and work outcomes setting out the activity to date and the plans to
develop new integrated delivery models that will remove barriers to work for disabled
people and those with long term health conditions alongside the proposed collaborative
approach to developing healthy workplaces that support a more diverse workforce
across the health and care sector. This work will contribute to the Best Council Plan
outcomes for everyone in Leeds to earn enough to support themselves and their families
and the Best Council Plan priorities around providing skills programmes and employment
Page 13

support; supporting economic growth and access to economic opportunities; improving
mental health and wellbeing and integrating health and social care.
Recommendations
4. Executive Board is recommended to:
i)

Note the work undertaken to date and the progress achieved;

ii)

Support the proposed approach to continue to engage with a broad range of
stakeholders and seek their commitment to improving health and work
outcomes in the city;

iii)

Agree that the Council works in partnership with Health and Care partners to
build the business case for a joint delivery model to support disabled people
and those with health barriers to access and sustain employment; and

iv)

Note that the Chief Officer, Employment and Skills and the Chief Officer Health
Partnerships will be responsible for the implementation of this decision.

2 of 12

Page 14

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report sets out the need to develop a new approach to improve heath and work
outcomes. It summarises the joint activity undertaken to date by the Adults and Health
Directorate and the Employment and Skills service with partners to refocus provision
to achieve this.

1.2

The report also sets out the need to develop an integrated approach to health and
employment support to ensure that disabled people and those with long term health
conditions that wish to work are supported to secure and sustain employment
through a place based approach that better meet the City’s needs and supports our
inclusive growth objectives.

1.3

Finally, the report sets out the ambition to include a wider group of stakeholders
across the health and care sector initially to promote healthy workplaces with a focus
on supporting disabled employees and those with a long term health condition to
create and retain a talented and diverse workforce.

2.

Background information

2.1

Leeds remains the UK’s fastest growing city and the main driver of growth in the city
region. Despite recent downgrades in the national growth forecast, the city’s economy
is predicted to grow by 21% over the next 10 years. The City continues to benefit from
one of the most diverse economies and last year saw the highest rate of private sector
jobs growth of any major city. However, there is a relationship between health and
work which has social and economic implications which can potentially either support
or inhibit this growth.

2.2

The city’s recent economic buoyancy has translated into a 60% reduction in the last
three years of the volume of people actively seeking work. The number of Jobseeker
Allowance claims was 7,900 in November 2016. However, the number of Leeds
residents in receipt of Employment Support Allowance (ESA), the out-of-work benefit
for those with a disability or health barrier, has remained stubbornly high at over
32,000.

2.3

In 2016, the UK average working age was 39 and one in three of the workforce
reported having a long term health condition. The average working age is forecast to
increase to 43 by 2030 and as the number of employees with long term health
conditions increases with age, it is forecast that by 2030 nearly 40% of the working
age population will have a long term health condition. Working age ill-health costs
the national economy £100 billion per year with 131 million working days lost due to
ill health annually and employers facing a yearly bill of around £9 billion for sick pay
and associated costs in addition to employees missing out on £4billion a year in lost
earnings. These factors are clearly growth inhibitors and run counter to the city’s
inclusive growth ambitions.

2.4

Poor employee health and wellbeing is likely to result in lower productivity and
increased staff turnover, and increased recruitment costs and lower profits will result
from this. Conversely, an employer providing a healthy workplace is likely to be more
attractive to existing staff and potential applicants, making it easier to retain and
recruit good staff. An out-of-work benefit claimant moving into work which pays the
Living Wage will benefit the local economy by an average of £14,000.

Page 15

2.5

Improving the approach to employment and skills in the health and care sector in
particular is central to tackling health inequalities. Only 10-15% of a populations
health and wellbeing is linked to access to health and care, the majority is influenced
by our environment and by economic and social factors. In particular, employment
and skills influence lifetime health. People with the lowest life expectancy are three
times more likely to have no qualifications compared to those with the highest life
expectancy (Health Foundation, 2017).

2.6

The Inclusive Growth Strategy focuses on ensuring that people and places contribute
to and benefit from growth to their full potential, supporting people, places and
productivity. While we have much to celebrate in terms of our growing economy, as
a city we need to do more to develop the talent our employers need and that will
enable our residents to benefit from growth in an inclusive way.

3.

Key Issues

3.1

The scale of the challenge

3.1.1 Of the 32,000 ESA claimants in the City almost 5,000 are included in the ‘Work
Related Activity Group’, comprising those with a time bound, mild to moderate
condition that are likely to be able to return to work or training in the short term. 21,000
claimants are in the Support Group, comprising those with a longer term and or more
complex conditions requiring more support to move closer to the labour market. 5,000
are in the Assessment Phase, awaiting assignment to one of the above categories.
3.1.2 Long-term conditions are associated with social class and type of occupation with
people in the poorest communities having a 60% higher prevalence of long-term
conditions than those in the richest. Mental ill-health is both a cause and
consequence of unemployment and is the single largest cause of disability in the
United Kingdom and is inextricably linked with deprivation. Of the Core Cities, Leeds
has the third highest number of ESA claimants after Birmingham and Liverpool and
the third highest number of the claimants due to mental ill-health. In Leeds, 53% of
ESA claimants present solely with mental ill-health or in combination with a physical
condition compared to only 11% of claimants that have musculoskeletal conditions.
43% of ESA claimants are under 45 years of age and 65% have a claim of more than
2 years duration.
3.1.3 Research also shows that the quality of work and working conditions matter for health.
Work provides an important source of income and routine for people and low pay and
irregular hours can have a detrimental impact on health. Insecure employment,
monotonous and repetitive work; a lack of autonomy, control and task discretion; an
imbalance between effort and rewards; and a lack of workplace justice and poor
progression routes can all contribute to poorer health, lower job satisfaction and poor
performance at work.
3.1.4 Addressing poor quality work is good business practice for employers. Poor employee
health and wellbeing is likely to result in lower productivity and increased staff
turnover, and the implicit recruitment costs and subsequent lower profits that result
from this. Conversely, an employer providing a healthy workplace is likely to be
attractive to existing staff and potential applicants, making it easier to retain and
recruit good staff. Growing skills shortages and uncertainty about the impacts of

Page 16

Brexit on the available labour supply are bringing these issues into sharper focus for
employers.
3.2

Government Policy and Provision

3.2.1 In June 2015, the Government established the Work and Health Unit with secondees
from the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP), the Department of Health (DoH),
NHS England and the Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG).
In 2016, it produced ‘Improving Lives’ The Work, Health and Disability Green Paper
making a clear policy link between health and work to improve health and work
outcomes. The Green Paper recognised the systemic barriers and makes the case
to improve integration across healthcare and employment services as well as
supporting employers to recruit and retain more disabled people and people with long
term health conditions.
3.2.2 Following publication of the Green Paper, DWP introduced the new Personal Support
Package with new measures to support those claiming ESA. These include an ‘early
conversation’ about work, 4 weeks into their ESA claim; the production of an action
plan to detail the steps back into work; and a new Claimant Commitment, applying
conditionality to their eligibility for benefit. All of which have previously only been
conditional for those closer to the labour market and in receipt of Job Seekers
Allowance (JSA). This represents a significant change in the level of resource and
the intensity of focus for customers whose principle barrier to work is ill-health.
3.2.3 In October 2017, DWP awarded contracts to providers to deliver the new Work and
Health Programme. This will replace the Work Programme and Work Choice (the
programme previously focused on disabled people and those with a health barrier).
Reed in Partnership has been awarded the contract for the North East of England
covering an area stretching from Nottinghamshire to Northumbria including Leeds
which will commence delivery in January 2018. Along with the revisions to Jobcentre
frontline operations summarised above, the Work and Health Programme is intended
to be a key part of the DWP’s plans to transform the back to work support for disabled
people.
3.2.4 The Work and Health Programme has been commissioned for a 5 year period and is
projected to support approximately 2,500 ESA claimants and 1,000 JSA claimants in
Leeds for a period of 15 months. Contracts specify that 75% of participants must be
disabled or have a health condition and attend voluntarily. 25% will be JSA claimants
out of work for at least 2 years and will be mandated. This new provision is
approximately 25% of the capacity of the former Work Programme and Work Choice.
3.3

The Local response – work undertaken to date

3.3.1 A Project Board, comprising Chief Officers from Adults and Health, Employment and
Skills and local DWP has been established to drive and implement a programme of
work with two key strands: capacity building for Council staff in health and care roles and the partner and
provider delivery network on employment and skills
 aligning existing and planned programmes to address gaps in provision and
ensure an appropriate fit and focus with other opportunities

Page 17

3.3.2 Capacity Building. While there is some good practice, further work is required to
ensure that those delivering employment support services are fully aware of the
needs and aspirations of the full, potential customer group and those operating in the
health and care services are aware of and have confidence in the local employment
support offer and can navigate the system. To address this there are two linked work
streams underway:

Developing the reference resource for practitioners to support signposting and
referrals and individuals wanting to access work or further training. The city has
a rich offer but it is wide ranging and potentially complex. It can be difficult to
find a starting point and navigate a pathway through the options. The new
resource will simplify the information and provide an easy to use guide for a
range of audiences on pre-employment support and skills provision and
information, advice and guidance services.



Stakeholder event. There are a number of service delivery and commissioning
providers and networks that support people who may be able to work but
currently do not because they lack information on the available services or do
not have contacts to help them access training or work opportunities. A
roundtable discussion and networking event held on 7th November provided the
platform to:
o

Share the Council’s ambition for closer working between Health and Care
partners and Employment and Skills to support more disabled people and
those with health barriers into work, where they have the ambition to

o

Increase health and care providers’ knowledge of the city’s skills and
employment support offer, referral routes and requirements

o

Establish a dialogue and build relationships between organisations who
currently engage infrequently

The event was open to third sector and statutory services and the feedback and
evaluation of this will help shape future work to continue to raise awareness and
build links across professions.


Staff development in Adults and Health
Activity targeted to an identified group of social workers who are championing
the Strength Based Care approach within generic social work teams and
enablement services has included an awareness raising session in October and
ongoing ‘buddy’ support. The group of 22 social workers are now embedding
proactive work to identify those who wish to move into employment and who
require support to do so. They will cascade the information and support a wider
group of colleagues supporting similar client groups of around 500 people below
the age of 65.



Staff development in Jobshops
Frontline delivery staff in Jobshops have undertaken a number of development
activities through the Employability Support Pilot with Leeds Mind targeted to
Jobshop customers with low level mental ill-health. This two year programme,
commissioned by the Employment and Skills service will conclude in May 2018
and has included learning and development activity for Council staff across the
Hub network as an integral part of the contract. Awareness raising, shadowing
and coaching sessions are part of a planned programme of activities delivered
by specialist MIND staff to enable Council front line staff to better support the

Page 18

needs of those customers with low level mental ill health, beyond the contract
term.
3.3.3 Aligning existing and planned programmes. Good progress has been made to
maximise the opportunities arising from new national and regional programmes and
local commissioning by colleagues from across the Council in partnership with other
key service providers. These include:

The Employability Support Pilot with Leeds Mind has delivered specialist support
to over 100 customers attending Jobshops within Community Hubs. 25 of those
have now secured employment and 46 have taken up training or volunteering
opportunities.



6 training providers have delivered 40 Adult Learning courses supporting
residents with poor mental health ranging from ‘Positivity Works’ to horticulture
and arts.



Supported Internships enable young people with special educational needs and
disability (SEND) to achieve paid employment by giving them the skills and
experience they need through learning in the workplace.



The Council’s Skills, Training and Employment Pathways (STEP) Programme
commenced in May 2017 and supports those 25 years and over with a minimum
of one year unemployment back into work. It is focused on disabled people and
those with health conditions including sensory impairments; mental health or
learning disability. To date, of the 136 starts on programme, 34 (25%) have
declared a disability with many more experiencing a short or medium term health
condition.



Reed in Partnership delivering the ESIF funded Back to Work programme in the
city supporting those over 16 years of age with a focus on those unemployed for
up to one year. Reed in Partnership is now offering a structured programme of
support to the Council’s Jobshop customers through Community Hubs.
Arrangements are also in place with Remploy, who prioritise support for disabled
people and those with a long term health condition, to offer tailored support.



A revised approach to delivering Social Value by generating employment
opportunities through planning and procurement activity, moves away from
targeting spatial communities and prioritises groups of individuals furthest from
the labour market including disabled people and those with a health barrier. This
approach will more effectively align with the activities above.

3.3.4 The opportunity to work closely with Council colleagues commissioning a wider
range of services that target the same client group has enabled skills training
through the Adult Learning Programme to be targeted to customers currently
accessing drug and alcohol treatment with Forward Leeds, housing related support
from Engage Leeds and Beacon and the Domestic Violence and Abuse service.
There are also opportunities to work with services delivering mental health and
healthy living support, family support and work with offenders. Supporting people
using these services to look at how they can access work will ensure that individuals
are able to sustain their recovery, improve their health and wellbeing and maintain
their housing.

Page 19

3.4

Developing a new place based delivery model

3.4.1

The fragmentation of policy and funding at a national level is inevitably reflected in
local arrangements. These structural problems lead to fragmented services that are
difficult for individuals and professionals to navigate as a result of separate service
planning and delivery.

3.4.2

The current interventions and programmes are relatively small scale in relation to
need and the Work and Health Programme may expand provision in the city but it
is not significantly different to the current model and accountability will be to the
DWP and there will be limited ability to influence delivery. The reduction in the scale
of this provision, the complexity of need and the volume of potential beneficiaries
support the case for a different way forward.

3.4.3

If we are to achieve our Inclusive growth ambitions there is a growing need to
develop a responsive, place based approach with local accountability. We have
achieved significant success through locally designed and led interventions which
have out-performed nationally commissioned programmes and this, along with
learning from other areas such as the Working Well programme developed by the
Greater Manchester Combined Authority, offers much to build on.

3.4.4

It is proposed to work towards co-commissioning with health partners based on coproduction principles that make use of local and professional expertise to build a
new delivery model that can be entered at different levels of need with a wider range
of tailored and sequenced interventions for the disabled and those with health
barriers. The aim is to co-design and deliver a programme that offers tailored and
personalised support to achieve clearly stated health and employment outcomes.

3.4.5

The delivery model will be subject to input from a range of stakeholders but will draw
on best practice that includes:• A bio-psychosocial assessment or single holistic assessment of an
individual that looks at all aspects of their life and their family - not just the fact
that they have poor mental health or are unemployed - to capture the right
information to develop a programme that can offer tailored support.
• A link worker or case manager who is jointly trained and links health services
and employment services directly, ensuring a joint health and work plan is
developed and actioned.
• A health and work approach integrating support designed to move the client
towards employment by building resilience through individual and group work.
The worker will co-ordinate and sequence a wider range of therapies and
support to build the confidence, resilience and employability skills of the
individual. Interventions could include pain management, talking therapies,
alcohol and drug support, exercise and diet, welfare and debt advice and skills
training for employment.

3.4.6 The co-design and delivery of a local programme which includes health and
employment practitioners presents the opportunity to flex the duration and intensity
of support to meet the wide range of needs; appropriately sequence interventions;
offer consistent contact points through a case worker to build trusted relationships;
and improve the breadth of support offered through the expertise and resources of
collaborating partners.

Page 20

3.4.7 All of these are essential if we are to achieve a service offer which is individualised
but at high volume. We will continue to build the business case to co-commission,
bringing the ambition of integrated, high quality and tailored support closer for all
those who could and wish to work.
3.5

Exemplar Employers in the Health and Care Sector

3.5.1 The Health and Care sector is a major source of employment in the city with over
54,000 employees. The uncertainty related to Brexit, an ageing workforce, system
reform to support prevention and create integrated care pathways, and the increasing
demands related to an ageing population will all have implications for the workforce
and its size and shape. It is important that employers are able to retain talented and
experienced staff within a healthy and productive workforce.
3.5.2 Many of the organisations within the sector already take positive action to improve
the health and wellbeing of their employees and see the benefits of reduced staff
sickness absence and turnover, increased productivity and employee satisfaction,
and fewer accidents and injuries. Staff enjoy improved wellbeing, and workplace
health checks. Employees working for organisations that promote wellness are more
likely to be engaged, and think positively of their employers.
3.5.3 Promoting workplace health and wellbeing can make an important contribution to
maintaining a healthy, diverse and productive workforce. The Health and Wellbeing
Board will champion this aim within the health and care sector by giving greater
visibility and profile to the existing good practice and strengthening the approach
where required by encouraging its members to share information, learning and best
practice. They will seek to become exemplars and promote their successes to the
wider business community.
3.5.4 The Council and the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, supported by the Joseph
Roundtree Foundation, have developed an Inclusive Anchors programmes, a
framework for collective action by anchor institutions across the city region. It will give
profile to the contribution they make towards achieving the city and the city region’s
inclusive growth objectives through changes in their procurement and supply chain
management, recruitment and employment practices. Commitments to promote
workforce diversity and workplace health by the Health and Well-being Board
Members align with this programme and have the potential to make a significant
contribution and offers networking opportunities to learn and share good practice and
will be explored further.
4

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 Programme activity to date has been informed by customer consultation and
feedback at the individual programme level and involves a wide range of partners
from across the Council, other statutory partners, the third and private sector. Further
work will be undertaken with stakeholders to enable them to inform and shape the
content and delivery of the proposed integrated service designed to achieve a step
change in provision.

Page 21

4.1.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board, Chaired by Cllr Charlwood, Executive Member for
Health, Wellbeing and Adults, has engaged and shaped this agenda through a
themed workshop in October 2017. Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board
welcomed the approach, recognising that work to enable wide ranging
improvements, from infrastructure to cultural change, is central to achieving the
outcomes of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Board members provided
details of progress that has already been made across the partnership and
discussed areas for improvement. Board members noted the central importance of
employment to good health and the importance of improving outcomes for people
with disabilities as well as the wider importance of our institutions as ‘inclusive
anchors’, particularly in deprived areas. As major employers in the city, Board
members also considered what more could be done to improve outcomes for the
health and care workforce. Championing the benefits of being in work means
supporting people into work as well as ensuring the needs of existing staff are met.
There are opportunities to engage the Health and Wellbeing Board in future, to
capture what else is being done across the partnership to progress this agenda,
and to create stronger links with the Leeds Health and Care Plan as part of the
city’s collective ambition to promote inclusive growth, reduce health inequalities,
improve quality and sustainability.
4.1.3 The Executive Member Employment, Skills and Opportunity provides oversight of
employment support services and the integration of health and employment support
services is a specific aim and work-stream of the More Jobs, Better Jobs
Breakthrough Project overseen by a Member Working Group.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 This approach seeks to impact positively on equality, diversity and inclusion by
improving the life chances, through work, of individuals living in some of our most
disadvantaged communities. It seeks to improve outcomes for those who require
greater levels of support to overcome health barriers, improve their access to training
and employment opportunities and lift them out of poverty.
4.2.2 These proposals have been subject to an Equality Impact Assessment Screening
attached at Appendix 1 which demonstrates that the proposed revised approach will
be more effective in targeting those furthest from the labour market that continue to
be disadvantaged because of disability or a long term health condition. This approach
will build better links between the workforces of employment, skills and training and
health and social care to ensure that they are more effective in improving outcomes
and are sustainable.
4.3

Council policies and best council plan

4.3.1 The vision of the Best Council Plan 2015-2020 is for Leeds to be a compassionate
and caring city that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic
growth. This report sets out how the activity to date and the proposed further work
will contribute to this goal, and in particular the Best Council Plan outcomes for
everyone in Leeds to earn enough to support themselves and their families and the
Best Council Plan priorities around providing skills programmes and employment
support; supporting economic growth and access to economic opportunities;
improving mental health and wellbeing and integrating health and social care.

Page 22

4.3.2 Current activities and the proposed work will contribute to the delivery of the big ideas
in the draft Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy and the calls to action in the draft Leeds
Talent and Skills Plan in particular supporting places and communities to respond to
economic change; institutions embedded in and working for local communities and
the local economy; and increasing labour market activity and productivity through a
more representative workforce. This aligns with the linked priority of a strong
economy with good quality local jobs and increasing employment in the Leeds Health
and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021.
4.3.3 Aligning the strategic objectives of inclusive growth and better health and wellbeing
is increasingly acknowledged as a priority for Leeds and West Yorkshire. Improving
employment outcomes for disabled people embodies this approach and is an
evidenced based means of a multiplier effect that promotes health and generates
savings to the health and care system.
4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1 To date, work has progressed within existing resources and is already delivering
benefits in terms of building capacity and collaboration across the Council and its
partners’ workforce. Where external resource has been secured for specific
programme delivery, every opportunity has been taken to build in targeted measures
for the engagement, recruitment, retention and outcomes for the groups with health
barriers to work and whom we seek to prioritise through this approach.
4.4.2 Prioritisation of the disabled and those with health conditions and the alignment of
existing programmes is enabling the city to make better use of local and national
multi-sector resource. However, the city’s resource will not be fully maximised by
maintaining the historical separate and silo approaches to health and work. Those
individuals requiring the greatest levels of support, inevitably attract the highest levels
of public expenditure. The proposal to achieve closer working by sharing intelligence
and integrating services will enable the co-design and commissioning of tailored
interventions that have the potential to realise efficiencies and improved service
outcomes at a scale appropriate to the challenge and ultimately reduced costs to
public services and business.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from the recommendations in this
report.
4.5.2 This report is eligible for Call-In.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 Maintaining the historical, fragmented approach to supporting people into work
sustains the risk that public resources will not be deployed and targeted effectively.
A new approach will require the realignment of resources and may require additional
investment. The development of a business case will enable the detailed
consideration of costed service delivery options to inform budget planning and
position. Activity will continue to be monitored and reviewed with key stakeholders to
inform the evolving programme of work. The Project Board reports into the city’s
Health and Wellbeing Board and the More Jobs, Better Jobs Member Steering Group

Page 23

which will shape and endorse proposals, check progress and assess the financial
implications and deliverability.
5

Conclusions

5.1

The economic implications of ill health and disability in both the working and nonworking populations are significant. These factors are clearly growth inhibitors but
they are also counter to the city’s inclusive growth ambitions. The numbers reliant on
Employment Support Allowance remains stubbornly high at over 32,000, with 53%
experiencing mental ill-health. People in receipt of this benefit are disproportionately
concentrated in our most disadvantaged communities and we need to provide more
integrated, tailored support to overcome the multiple and complex barriers that some
disabled people and those with long term health conditions face in moving into work.

5.2

Good progress has been made to date in building connections across the workforce
to promote collaborative working to support this customer group to access
employment and align programmes and activity where possible. However, an
integrated approach that provides tailored and personalised interventions at the scale
required is now needed. The work to design and cost this intervention will enable the
development of a more coherent local offer that delivers improved health and work
outcomes.

5.3

The members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will champion the work to develop
a healthy, diverse and productive workforce initially within the health and care sector
by sharing information, learning and best practice. They will seek to become
exemplars and promote successes to the wider business community.

6

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board is asked to:
i)

Note the work undertaken to date and the progress achieved;

ii)

Support the proposed approach to continue to engage with a broad
range of stakeholders and seek their commitment to improving health
and work outcomes in the city;

iii)

Agree that the Council will work with Health and Care partners to build
the business case for a revised joint delivery model to support disabled
people and those with health barriers to access and sustain
employment; and

iv)

Note that the Chief Officer, Employment and Skills and the Chief Officer
Health Partnerships will be responsible for the implementation of this
decision.

7

Background documents1

7.1

There are no background documents.

1
The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 24

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate:
City Development/Adults and Health
Lead person:
Sue Wynne

Service area:
Employment and Skills/Health Partnerships
Contact number:
0113 3786005

1. Title:
Improving Health and Work Outcomes
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

X

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
Joint work between Adults and Health, Employment and Skills and key employment
support and health care partners to improve health and work outcomes for the city
involves: capacity building for staff in health and care roles and those in employment
support and skills through a variety of events and activities
 aligning the city’s existing skills programmes to ensure appropriate focus and
support for disabled people/those with a long term health condition
 developing the business case for integrated co commissioning of health and
employment support for target cohorts of residents
 supporting the engagement of health and care providers with WYCA on the
Inclusive Anchors programme to create and promote health workplaces.
Existing programmes have been subject to EDCI screenings. This screening applies
to the work to develop the business case for co-commissioning and integrated
delivery of health and employment support.

EDCI Screening

1
Page 25

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No

X
X

X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

EDCI Screening

2
Page 26

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

December 2017

Date to complete your impact assessment

To be undertaken as an integral
part of the business case
development.
Jane Hopkins
Head of Communities and
Partnerships, Employment and
Skills.

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Sue Wynne
Chief Officer Employment 12/10/2017
and Skills
02/10/2017
Date screening completed

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
EDCI Screening

3
Page 27

was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Governance Services

Date sent:

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

4
Page 28

Agenda Item 7
Report author: B Chana
Tel: 88044

Report of Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15th November 2017
Subject: TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY UPDATE 2017/18
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

No

Yes

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):
No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1.

This report provides a review and update of the treasury management strategy for
2017/18

2.

The Council’s level of forecast external debt as at 31st March 2018 is anticipated to be
£1,949m, £70m lower than approved in February 2017. This lower forecast borrowing
requirement is due to a combination of slippage in the capital programme, together
with an increase in the level of internal revenue balances that were used to defray
external borrowing in comparison to the expectation.

3.

In line with the agreed treasury strategy set in February, the Council has taken
advantage of lower costs of borrowing by acquiring longer dated debt and thereby
reducing exposure to short term fluctuations in the debt markets. This is forecast to be
achieved within the current budget for the year.

4.

The investment of surplus monies will continue to have due regard for security of
capital in accordance with the Council’s approved investment strategy.

Recommendations
That Executive Board note:5.

The update on the Treasury Management borrowing and investment strategy for
2017/18.

Page 29

1
1.1
2
2.1

Purpose of this report
The 2017/18 treasury management strategy was approved by Executive Board on 8th
February 2017. This report provides a review and update of the strategy for 2017/18.
Background information
The operation of the Treasury Management function is governed by provisions set
out under part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 whereby the Council is required
to have regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (amended 2009 and 2011) in
particular:
• The Prudential Code requires that full Council set certain limits on the
level and type of borrowing before the start of the financial year together
with a number of prudential indicators.
• Any in year revision of these limits must be set by Council.
• Policy statements are prepared for approval by the Council at least three
times a year.

3
3.1

Main issues
Review of Strategy 2017/18

3.1.1 The current borrowing forecasts are shown in Table 1
Table 1

ANALYSIS OF BORROWING 2017/18
Net Borrowing at 1 April
New Borrowing for the Capital Programme – Non HRA
New Borrowing for the Capital Programme – HRA
Debt redemption costs charged to Revenue (Incl HRA)
Reduced/(Increased) level of Revenue Balances

Net Borrowing at 31 March*
Capital Financing Requirement

2017/18 2017/18
Feb 17
This
Report Report
£m
£m
1,877
1,809
145
157
15
0
(13)
(12)
(5)
(5)
2,019
1,949
2,233

* Comprised as follows
Long term borrowing

Fixed
Variable (less than 1 Year)
New Borrowing

Short term Borrowing
Total External Borrowing
Less Investments
Net External Borrowing
% borrowing funded by short term and variable rate loans

1,466
0
142
419
2,027
8
2,019
28%

1,565
0
140
252
1,957
8
1,949
20%

Note: The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is the maximum level of debt (i.e.
borrowing PFI and finance leas ing) that the Council can hold for its current year capital purpos es . The
Council is als o allowed to borrow in advance for up to two future years capital program m es . The
above reflects only the borrowing elem ent of the CFR

3.1.2 Table 1 above shows that 2017/18 net external borrowing is now forecast at
£1,949m, £70m lower than in the report to Executive Board on 8th February 2017.
This lower forecast borrowing requirement is due to a combination of slippage in the
capital programme (£13m), together with greater than forecast revenue balances of

Page 30

£55m. The February forecast assumed that revenue balances would reduce by
£85m based on the working capital trend seen to that point. However the actual
reduction was £27m with the three main reasons being higher: earmarked ring
fenced reserves of £23.5m; capital grants unapplied £29.4m; and working capital of
£26.6m. The treasury strategy uses balances and reserves in lieu of borrowing and
these balances continue to be monitored closely. However, as expected, the level
of working capital will continue to fluctuate based upon the demands of the Council.
The economic outlook remains mixed across many of the major economies. China
and emerging markets continue to slow down with concerns of excess industrial
capacity, unsold stock of property and increasing levels of non-performing loans in
the banking and credit system.
3.1.4 In Europe the European Central Bank (ECB) is hampered by inflation which is
struggling to reach 2%, however growth posted 0.5% in Q1 (2.0% year on year) and
0.6% in Q2 (2.3% year on year). On balance most commentators don’t see rate
increases in the European Union (EU) before 2019.
3.1.5 In the United States growth continues to be volatiles, Q1 was 1.2% year on year
whilst Q2 was 3.1% year on year. The Federal Reserve raised rates for the first
time since the 2008 crash in December 2015 and has raised rates 3 more times
since with 1 more possible in 2017. The Federal Reserve has also indicated that it
is to begin unwinding its $4.5 trillion Quantitative Easing (QE) stimulus by allowing
bonds to mature without replacement.
3.1.6 United Kingdom Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Q1 growth was weak posting 0.3%
(1.7% year on year) and Q2 posting 0.3% (1.5% year on year). The fall in the value
of sterling post Brexit referendum has fed into inflation through the mechanism of
higher import costs and inflation is now expected to peak at just over 3% before
falling back to its 2% target over the 2 year time horizon. The Monetary Policy
Committee (MPC) are now more hawkish on the timing of the first base rate rise
and appear to be driven by concerns over labour tightness as unemployment has
fallen to 4.3% the lowest since 1975. Set against this wage inflation continues to
remain subdued and is possibly an effect of globalisation that is being seen as a
common theme in many western economies.
3.1.7 Chart 1, shows how the cost of longer term borrowing from the Government through
Public Works Loan board (PWLB) loans has performed since the start of the
financial year. The 5 year to 5½ year PWLB has moved upwards from a starting
point in April of 1.45%, to a low of 1.34% in the middle of June and then to a high of
1.82% at the end of September, currently it is in the region of 1.77%. Similarly, the
49½-50 year rate has moved from a starting point in April of 2.57% to a low point in
early September of 2.45% and then to a high of 2.77% in late September, this rate
is currently in the region of 2.70%. Please note the Council is entitled to a reduction
of 20bp on all PWLB rates, including those list above, reflecting eligibility for PWLB
certainty rates.

Chart 1

Page 31

3.1.8 Expectations for the first change in Bank Rate in the UK have been brought forward
recently as the wider economic picture has emerged. The markets are currently
anticipating an 80% chance of a base rate rise in November and this would be the
first rise in 8 years. The impact of a rise on the economy is subject to much debate
but further rises are expected to be gradual and over a number of years (see Table
2) reflecting the state of the economy.
Table 2
B ud g e t R a te
A s s ump tio ns
E xe c B o a rd Fe b 17
Now

2017/ 18 2018/ 19 2019/ 20 2020/ 21
0.50
0.50

0.75
0.75

0.75
0.75

1.00
1.00

3.1.9 The current borrowing strategy continues to be to fund the borrowing requirement of
the capital programme from short dated loans and internal cash balances. There
will come a point when rates begin to rise and more expensive longer dated funding
will be required. The Chief Officer Financial Services will continue to monitor market
dynamics with a view to securing longer term debt at the appropriate time.
The current strategy also allows for taking advantage of lower longer-term funding
to manage the Council’s exposure to fluctuations in funding costs. Table 3 below
details the long term funding activity undertaken during 2017/18 which consists of
£95m of new PWLB funding as volatility in the markets during the summer caused a
succession of new lows to be reached.
Table 3
Re s che duling and Funding 2017/18
Pre m ature Re paym e nts
Date

Am ount Original Dis count
Rate
Rate
(£m )
(%)

Am ount

Te rm

(£m )

(Ye ars )

Inte re s t
Rate
(%)

PWLB

PWLB

Sub Total

Ne w Re place m e nt Borrow ing
Date

03/04/2017

20

50

2.37%

19/04/2017

20

47

2.26%

26/06/2017

20

50

2.28%

15/08/2017

35

49

2.33%

0

LOBOs

95
LOBOs

Sub Total

0

Total

0

0
Total

Page 32

95

3.1.10 The strategy of deferring long term borrowing will increase the amount of debt that
the Council is funding from short term loans and its balance sheet to a forecast
£668m. This exposure will be influenced by historical capital programme slippage,
the continued strength of the Council’s balance sheet and the market for supplying
short term funds remaining strong. To mitigate against the exposure to rising
interest rates the Council is in discussions to acquire forward funding which will give
the Council the ability to lock in future funding at current rates, thereby allowing the
Council to continue to take advantage of low short-term rates.
The short term exposure will continue to be monitored and should be considered in
the context of the stability of the current debt maturity profile. The Council’s current
long term debt of £1.565bn has an average maturity of just under 39 years if all
debts run to maturity. Approximately 15% of the Council’s long term debt has
options for repayment, in the unlikely event that all these options were exercised at
the next option date then the average maturity of long term debt would be lowered
to 31½ years. This compares favourably with the average maturity of the UK
Government debt portfolio of nearly 18 years. The existing profile of the Council’s
debt provides considerable certainty of funding costs. Prudential Indicator 16 in
Appendix A shows the maturity profile of the Council’s long term fixed debt and
highlights that approximately 75% or £1,128m matures in periods greater than 10
years.
3.1.11 The strategy of continued use of existing balances, continued low short-term
financing rates and taking the opportunity to lock in low longer term rates is forecast
to be delivered within the budget.
3.2

Borrowing Limits for 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20

3.2.1 The Council is required to set various limits for 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 in
accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, having regard for CIPFA’s
prudential code (as amended 2009 and 2011). These limits including prudential
indicators are detailed in Appendix A.
3.2.2 It is anticipated that the Council will continue to remain within the Authorised Limits
for 2017/18. Both the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary are made up of a
limit for borrowing and a limit for other long term liabilities.
3.2.3 The Chief Officer Financial Services has delegated authority to make adjustments
between the two separate limits for borrowing and other long term liabilities,
provided that the overall limit remains unchanged. Any such adjustments will be
reported to the next available Council meeting following the change.
3.2.4 Borrowing limits for 2017/18 were approved by Council on 8th February 2017 and
remain unchanged.
3.3

Investment Strategy & Limits

3.3.1 The Council’s external debt is reduced by the availability of revenue balances. The
Treasury policy also allows for the external investment of these balances at
advantageous rates but with due regard for security of capital invested. At present
the Council’s surplus monies continue to be held in short periods until required.
Except for £900k which has been invested in the 4½ year period at a rate of 0.95%
at the request of St Aidan’s trust. As market sentiment to counter-party risk
improves, together with enhanced returns, surplus monies will be invested in
Page 33

accordance with the approved lending list. This lending list is based upon the
assessment of the financial standing of counterparties as determined by
international credit rating agencies and further refined and updated by the Council’s
advisors on a continual basis. The lending list is often further restricted based upon
the Council’s view of the credit worthiness of counter-parties.
3.3.2 The investment strategy, as re-affirmed by Executive Board and full Council in
February, allows for the Council to invest in only the most highly rated financial
institutions around the world. The Council will only lend up to a maximum of £15m
to financial institutions that are rated as excellent. There is also a limit of £5m for
financial institutions that are rated as very good.
3.4

Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code

3.4.1 Members are asked to note that the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy (CIPFA) has consulted upon changes to the prudential code and
treasury management code. The changes when published, will be reported in the
next update to Executive Board.
4

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 This report is an update on strategy as presented to Executive Board in February
2017, as such no consultation has taken place. However, consultation with the
Council’s treasury advisors takes place regularly throughout the year.
4.1.2 The borrowing requirement is an outcome of the capital programme. Consultation
is undertaken by individual services in relation to capital investment schemes. A
capital programme update report is included elsewhere on this agenda.
4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration requirements are addressed as part of
individual capital scheme and programme approvals. The borrowing to deliver
these capital schemes is executed through treasury strategy and as such there are
no further equality diversity cohesion and integration issues.
4.3

Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Treasury Management strategy secures funding to support the Council’s Policies
and City Priorities as set out in the Council capital programme and is consistent with
the Best Council Plan.
4.4

Resources and Value for Money

4.4.1 This update on the treasury strategy recognises the borrowing necessary to fund
the capital programme requirements of both General Fund and HRA. Where
borrowing is supported the revenue costs are met by the Government, whilst for
unsupported borrowing revenue costs are met either by the General Fund or HRA.
4.4.2 The updated strategy 2017/18 is forecasting no additional costs against the
budgeted position despite taking higher rate longer dated funding than was
anticipated in the budget as part of the agreed strategy to lock out financing risk as

Page 34

opportunities arise. This has been offset by funding at lower than forecast from
temporary borrowing and internal resources.
4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 There are no legal, or access to information issues arising from this report. The
report is subject to call in.
4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1 This report sets out the framework for the treasury strategy for the year ahead. The
execution of strategy and associated risks are kept under regular review through:
•
•
•

Monthly reports to the Finance Performance Group
Quarterly strategy meeting with the Chief Officer Financial Services and
the Council’s treasury advisors
Regular market, economic and financial instrument updates and access to
real time market information

4.6.2 The above monitoring mitigates the directorate level risk of “Failure to recover
money invested in other financial institutions” and in addition the Treasury
Management Strategy is linked to the corporate risk on ‘Financial Forecasting’.
5

Conclusions

5.1

The Council’s level of net external debt at 31st March 2018 is anticipated to be
£1,949m, £70m lower than expectations in February 2017.

5.2

Treasury Management activity has incurred no additional costs against budget.
This is largely due to taking higher rate longer term funding at attractive rates in
comparison to the budget provision offset by lower than anticipated costs of
temporary borrowing and funding from internal resources.

6

Recommendations
That Executive Board note:-

6.1

The update on the Treasury Management borrowing and investment strategy for
2017/18.

7.

Background documents 1
None

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 35

Appendix A
Leeds City Council - Prudential Indicators 2017/18 - 2019/20
No. PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR
(1). EXTRACT FROM BUDGET AND RENT SETTING REPORTS

1
2

2017/18

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream
General Fund - Excluding DSG (Note1)
HRA

3
4

Impact of Unsupported Borrowing on Council Tax & Housing Rents
increase in council tax B7(band D, per annum) (Note 2)
increase in housing rent per week

5

Net Borrowing and the capital financing requirement (Note 3)

6
7

Estimate of total capital expenditure
Non HRA
HRA
TOTAL

8
9

Capital Financing Requirement (as at 31 March)
Non HRA
HRA
TOTAL

9a

Limit of HRA Indebtedness as implemented under self financing

No. PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR
(2). TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS
10

11

14

15

2018/19

2019/20

10.19%

12.73%

11.70%

11.01%

11.07%

11.28%

£.P
10.97
0.00

£.P
40.77
0.01

£.P
63.06
0.20

OK

OK

OK

288,778
85,927
374,705

237,573
86,583
324,156

203,200
131,170
334,370

£'000
2,030,097
815,077
2,845,174

£'000
2,109,480
811,611
2,921,091

£'000
2,184,901
832,844
3,017,745

721,327

721,327

721,327

2017/18
£'000

2018/19
£'000

2019/20
£'000

Authorised limit for external debt - (Note 5)
borrowing
other long term liabilities
TOTAL

2,450,000
740,000
3,190,000

2,450,000
720,000
3,170,000

2,500,000
690,000
3,190,000

Operational boundary - (Note 5)
borrowing
other long term liabilities
TOTAL

2,200,000
720,000
2,920,000

2,300,000
700,000
3,000,000

2,350,000
670,000
3,020,000

115%

115%

115%

40%

40%

40%

150,000

150,000

150,000

99.4%

99.4%

99.5%

Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure
expressed as either:Net principal re fixed rate borrowing / investments OR:Net interest re fixed rate borrowing / investments
Upper limit for variable rate exposure
expressed as either:Net principal re variable rate borrowing / investments OR:Net interest re variable rate borrowing / investments

17

Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days (Note 5)
(per maturity date)

18

Net Debt as a percentage of Gross debt

16

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing as at 31/03/2018
under 12 months
12 months and within 24 months
24 months and within 5 years
5 years and within 10 years
10 years and within 20 years
20 years and within 30 years
30 years and within 40 years
40 years and within 50 years
50 years and above

Lower Limit
0%
0%
0%
0%

Cumulative
Upper Limit
15%
20%
35%
40%

25%

90%

Projected
31/03/2018
2.76%
5.43%
11.52%
5.06%
1.67%
0.00%
41.21%
24.02%
8.33%
100%

Notes.
1

The indicator for the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for General Fund is now
calculated based on the Net Revenue Charge less the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The
Government changed the funding of education to DSG from 2006/07.

2

The code requires that the Council identifies the capital financing costs arising from unsupported
borrowing expressed as the amount per band D property.

3

In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the
Council should ensure that net external borrowing does not exceed the total capital financing
requirement in the preceding year plus estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for
the current and next two financial years. This is a key indicator of prudence.

4

Prudential indicator 12 relates to actual external debt at 31st March, which will be reported in the
Treasury Management Annual Report.

5

Prudential indicator 13 relates to the adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management. The Council formally adopted this Code of Practice in March 2003, and the revised code in
Frebruary 2010 and 2012

Page 36

Appendix B

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Bhupinder Chana
Tel: 88044
Report of the Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15th November 2017
Subject: Capital Programme Quarter 2 Update 2017-2021
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1.

This report sets out the latest capital programme position for both the General Fund
and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

2.

The Council continues to deliver significant capital investment across the city which
will provide improved facilities and infrastructure and supports the Leeds economy,
whilst ensuring the impact on debt costs within the revenue budget continues to be
managed.

3.

Whilst the capital programme remains affordable in 2017-18 and within the £4m
increase in debt costs built into the medium term financial strategy for 2018-19,
ongoing reviews will consider the continued affordability of debt costs in future years
in the context of: planned expenditure and the Best Council Plan priorities;
projections on interest rates; and the strength of the Council’s balance sheet to fund
capital spend. Scheme phasing will continue to be monitored to ensure that it is
accurate and realistic.

4.

There are a number of significant pressures building within the capital programme,
including the Learning Places Programme deficit that are being reviewed and will be
reported in the February 2018 update of the capital programme. Major and annual
schemes continue to progress, with no significant concerns to report at this stage as
set out in Appendix C.

5.

The HRA programme remains affordable over the next 3 years.

Page 39

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
1.

Note the latest position at quarter 2 on the General Fund and HRA capital
programmes;

2.

Note the net increase in the General Fund and HRA capital programme 2017- 2021
of £337.5m since the setting of the capital programme in February 2017. These
injections are listed in Appendix D; £64.1m of schemes require approval as part of
this report;

3.

Note that the borrowing required to fund the capital programme in 2017-18 has
reduced by £5.4m since the February capital programme update 2017. The capital
programme remains affordable within the approved debt budget for 2017-18, and
that further work is underway through regular capital programme reviews to ensure
that future debt costs are maintained within the overall medium term financial
strategy;

4.

Approve the following £64.1m of injections into the capital programme as set out
below and in Appendix D:

5.



£38.2m education grants funding;



£9.6m additional Better Care Fund grant;



£5.4m annual programme injections reconciling to the medium term financial
strategy as set out in Appendix B funded by LCC borrowing;



£5.0m Local Centres Programme;



£3.1m other grants and contributions;



£2.0m Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage Scheme Grant;



£0.8m capital receipts incentive scheme (CRIS) as detailed at Appendix E;

The above decision to inject funding will be implemented by the Chief Officer
Financial Services.

Page 40

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1.

The purpose of the report is to provide Members with an update on the capital
programme position as at quarter 2 the end of September 2017. The report includes
7 appendices as listed at the end of the report. The report also seeks some specific
approvals in relation to funding injections per Appendix D.

2.

Background information

2.1.

The capital programme approved by Council in February 2017 projected
expenditure of £880.6m from 2017-20. This included borrowing of £382.0m over
the period, including £160.0m in 2017-18. The cost of financing this borrowing was
included in the debt budget also approved in February.

2.2.

In June 2017 the outturn capital programme update was presented to Executive
Board. This highlighted the 2017-20 capital programme had increased from
£880.6m to £947.5m in June 2017 taking account of the outturn position and
injections to the programme within that period. The forecast expenditure funded
from borrowing for 2017-20 had increased from £382.0m to £403.0m.

3.

Capital Programme

3.1.

Capital Programme Latest Position 2017/21

3.1.1. The 2017-21 gross capital programme currently stands at £1,218.1m, an increase
of £337.5m since the February 2017 Capital Programme update to EB. Appendix D
details the £64.1m of new injections as part of this report and £273.4m of injections
made since February. The main injections are £121.6m for ELOR, Leeds Public
Transport Investment Programme of £100m, Education Grant Funding £38.2m and
additional Better Care fund grant of £9.6m all of which are detailed at appendix D.
The current overall forecast position is set out in Appendix A.
3.1.2. The General Fund capital programme currently stands at £885.8m for this period. It
provides for investment in improved facilities and infrastructure and also has an
impact on the Leeds economy through supporting jobs and income and business
generated throughout the city. The HRA capital programme currently provides for
capital investment of £332.3m for the 3 years 2017-18 through to 2019-20.
3.1.3. The programme includes an increase in borrowing of £77.5m to £459.5m since the
February 2017 capital programme. This is mainly due to the LCC contribution to the
ELOR programme of £43.6m, our Strategic Investment Fund £8.5m, the additional
£5.4m annual programmes needed to reconcile to the medium term financial
strategy as set out in Appendix B (£4.6m for general capitalisation and £0.8m for
interest capitalisations on our assets), £5m for the Local Centres Programme, £4m
for the development of a new Waste Depot at Newmarket Approach, £3.7m
contribution to the West Yorkshire Playhouse refurbishment, £3.3m contribution to
the District Heating Network, £1.5m for the Empty Homes Startegy, £1.4m for City
Centre Access Restrictions and £1.1m of various other smaller programmes.
3.1.4. A review of the Leeds funded element of the capital programme took place after
outturn and recognised that capital spend reflects a realistic priority based

Page 41

programme that contributes to the delivery of the Best Council Plan. Work continues
to address capacity to deliver the current programme. The revised programme
remains affordable in 2017/18 and within the £4m increase in debt costs for 2018/19
that is included within the medium term financial strategy.

3.1.5. Capital Programme 2017-18
3.1.6. The latest capital programme resources position for General Fund and HRA in
2017-18 is shown in Table 1 below.

Table 1 - Capital Resources Position
2017/18

Forecast Expenditure
Funded By;
Borrowing
Government Grants
HRA Self Financing
Other Grants & Contributions
HRA Right to Buy Receipts
Revenue / Reserves
Total Forecast Resources

Capital
Programme
Latest
Feb 2017
Quarter 2 Variance
£m
£m
£m
380.5
374.6
(5.9)
160.0
107.5
81.5
9.8
20.7
1.0
380.5

154.6
119.9
69.3
15.7
13.4
1.7
374.6

(5.4)
12.4
(12.2)
5.9
(7.3)
0.7
(5.9)

3.1.7. Table 1 details current projected resources in 2017-18 of £374.6m a reduction of
£5.9m since the February 2017 capital programme update to EB. The LCC
borrowing figure for 2017/18 has reduced by £5.4m.
3.1.8. The LCC Borrowing figure of £154.6m per table 1 includes £70.1m of schemes
where a revenue provision is set aside either from schemes with supported income
streams or schemes which result in overall revenue savings (spend to save
schemes). Annual programmes account for £50.7m LCC resources as set out in
Appendix B (supported by £6.1m of grant) and other major programmes have LCC
borrowing provision of £33.8m.
3.1.9. Spend to quarter 2 is in line with previous years but is still relatively low at £124.0m
or 33.1% of the projection to the year end of £374.6m as shown in Graph 1.

Page 42

Graph 1: Percentage spend rates per Quarter

3.1.10. Capital Programme Affordability
3.1.11. The capital programme remains affordable and details are contained within the
Treasury Management report elsewhere on the agenda. The level of spend in
2017-18 onwards has been adjusted to reflect a more realistic profile and lower
projections on interest costs. The debt cost of the revised capital programme
remains within the 2017-18 budget and is expected to be contained within the £4m
estimated increase for 2018-19 forecasted within the medium term financial
strategy. This projection will continue to be adjusted for the level of capital spend,
interest rate assumptions and strength of the Council’s balance sheet. This
approach will continue to inform the Council’s medium term financial strategy before
setting the debt budget requirement in the following years

Page 43

3.1.12. Overall the level of borrowing required to fund the full 2017-21 capital programme is
£459.5m. Of this, £367.3m or 79.9% relates to capital expenditure that is funded by
additional income or generates revenue savings or ensures that our assets are
maintained to an acceptable standard. The remaining 20.1% or £92.2m supports
the Best Council Plan objectives. The split of LCC borrowing for the full programme
is shown in the pie chart below.
Pie Chart 1 – LCC Borrowing Split 2017-2021

3.1.13. Whilst the programme remains affordable there are pressures building seeking
potential further capital investment. These pressures continue to be addressed
across Directorates and will be finalised as part of the capital programme setting in
February 2018. The major item on the future pressures list relates to £79.9m
Learning Places Programme.
3.2.

Major Programmes and Other Directorate schemes

3.2.1 The major programmes and other directorate schemes continue to make significant
progress as set out in the narrative in Appendix F. Ongoing reviews and more
efficient monitoring of the full programme has allowed us to better cashflow the
programme and predict more accurate borrowing levels earlier in the process.
Major scheme programme boards continue to address issues when they arise and
ensure the governance and effective delivery of these programmes. The major
programmes and other smaller schemes within objectives are summarised at
Appendix C and are listed under the Best Council Plan objectives and priorities for
delivery of the capital programme.
3.2.2 Members are asked to note that this report reflects other items with capital
implications elsewhere on this agenda which include the Local Centres Programme
(LCP), The Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage scheme and an update “Beyond
Decent Homes – The 2018 Housing Revenue Account Capital Investment Plan”.

Page 44

3.3.

Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme

3.3.1 The establishment of a Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) was approved by
Executive Board in October 2011. The key feature of the scheme is that 20% of
each net receipt generated will be retained locally for re-investment, subject to a
maximum per receipt of £100k, with 15% retained by the respective Ward and 5%
pooled across the Council and distributed to Wards on the basis of need via
community committees.
3.3.2 Some receipts are excluded from the scheme and these are largely receipts that are
that are already assumed to fund the Council’s budget or are earmarked in some
other way to previous or future spend.
Appendix E details the additional CRIS allocations to wards and community
committees for the period September 2016 to March 2017 and April to September
2017, and identifies the total balance of resources available for use. Executive
Board is requested to approve the injection of £798.0k into the Capital Programme.
3.4.

Economic Impact of the Capital Programme

3.4.1 An assessment of the economic impact of the Council’s capital programme
investment has been undertaken which makes use of the Regional Econometric
Model (REM) which can estimate the wider economic impact of the capital
programme through multiplier effects. The key points below estimate the economic
impact for Leeds and the Leeds City Region from 2017-2021:




An estimated peak of 5,177 net additional FTE job roles in Leeds will be
created over the four years through Leeds City Council capital expenditure
generating over £1,065m Gross Value Added (GVA) for the Leeds economy.
In addition a further net additional 209 jobs and £20m GVA will be created in
the wider Leeds City Region by our capital expenditure
In total, it is therefore estimated that Leeds City Council capital expenditure
between 2017-2021 will create a peak of 5,386 FTE jobs and generate
£1,085m GVA in the Leeds City Region.

3.4.2 In addition to the use of the Regional Econometric Model (REM) to determine the
effect on the economy, further analysis is ongoing to assess the impact employment
and skills obligations within Council contracts have on jobs and apprenticeships.
3.5

Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code

3.5.1 Members are asked to note that cipfa has consulted upon changes to the prudential
code and treasury management code. The changes when published, will be
reported in the next update to Executive Board.
4

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 Consultation on the Council’s budget proposals, including the capital programme,
took place prior to the finalisation and approval of the budget in February 2017.
This report gives an update on progress at quarter 2 within the approved capital

Page 45

programme. This report also seeks to inject funding for specific proposals for which
the necessary consultations will take place when the individual schemes are
implemented by services.
4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The capital programme sets out a plan of capital expenditure over future years and
further spending decisions are taken in accordance with capital approval processes,
as projects are developed. This is when more detailed information will be available
as to where in the city capital spending will be incurred and the impact on services,
buildings and people. Service Directorates will include equality considerations as
part of the rationale in determining specific projects from capital budgets.
4.3

Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Capital objectives are set out as part of the February 2017 budget process and the
capital programme approved in February 2017 is structured to show schemes under
these objectives. The schemes have been drawn up in conjunction with the 2017-18
budget and seek to ensure that the Council’s financial resources are directed
towards its policies and priorities and, that these policies and priorities as part of the
Best Council Plan are affordable.
4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1 The resource implications of this report are detailed in section 3 above. For the
capital programme to be sustainable, the Chief Officer Financial Services must be
satisfied that the cost of borrowing currently included in the capital programme can
be contained within the approved revenue debt budget. The updated capital
programme funding statement set out in appendix A shows that the total cost of
borrowing for 2017-18 is £154.6m and remains affordable.
4.4.2 For HRA, the position set out in Appendix A and current monitoring procedures
shows that expenditure can be managed within available resources for 2017-18.
4.4.3 In order to ensure that schemes meet Council priorities and are value for money,
the Chief Officer Financial Services has processes in place to ensure:




4.5

the introduction of new schemes into the capital programme will only take
place after completion and approval of a full business case and identification
of the required resources;
promotion of best practice in capital planning and estimating to ensure that
scheme estimates and programmes are realistic;
the use of departmental unsupported borrowing for spend to save schemes
is based on individual business cases and in the context of identifying the
revenue resources to meet the borrowing costs.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The recommendations in this report are available for call in and there are no other
legal implications arising from this report.

Page 46

4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1 One of the main risks in managing the capital programme is that insufficient
resources are available to fund the programme. As the capital programme is fully
funded this risk lies within the treasury management of the debt budget. Monthly
monitoring procedures are in place for expenditure, resources and capital receipts
and debt monitoring to ensure that this risk can be managed effectively.
4.6.2 In addition, the following measures are in place:





ensuring written confirmation of external funding is received prior to
contractual commitments being entered into
provision of a contingency within the capital programme to deal with
unforeseen circumstances
compliance with both financial regulations and contract procedure rules to
ensure the Council’s position is protected.
ensuring all major programmes are supported by programme boards

4.6.3 The aspiration remains not to increase the level of debt and for new schemes to be
fully funded (either by external resources or departmental prudential borrowing), or
are essential (under health and safety grounds or in order to ensure Council assets
are maintained for continued service provision). However, scope exists for the
Council to progress priority schemes whilst retaining a realistic and affordable
programme within the current debt budget projections.
5

Conclusions

5.1

The Council continues to deliver significant capital investment across the city which
will provide improved facilities and infrastructure and also support the Leeds
economy, whilst ensuring the impact on debt costs within the revenue budget is
managed.

5.2

The report concludes that the capital programme shows an increase in the overall
resources required to fund the 2017-2021 capital programme of £337.5m since the
February capital programme update. These injections are listed in Appendix D;
£64.1m of schemes require approval as part of this report;

5.3

A further review of current scheme profiles and capacity to deliver the capital
programme is ongoing and will be reported back to Members in the 2018-19 capital
programme update in February 2018.

5.4

For HRA, forecast expenditure can be contained within available resources in
2017/18.

6

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:

6.1

Note the latest position at quarter 2 on the General Fund and HRA Capital
programmes;

Page 47

6.2

Note the net increase in the General Fund and HRA Capital Programme 2017-2021
of £337.5m since the setting of the capital programme in February 2017. These
injections are listed in Appendix D; £64.1m of schemes require approval as part of
this report;

6.3

Note that the borrowing required to fund the Capital Programme in 2017-18 has
reduced by £5.4m since the Feb Capital Programme update 2017. The Capital
Programme remains affordable within the approved debt budget for 2017-18, and
that further work is underway through regular capital programme reviews to ensure
that future debt costs are maintained within the overall Medium Term Financial
Strategy;

6.4

Approve the following £64.1m of injections into the capital programme as set out
below and in Appendix D:

6.5



£38.2m education grants funding;



£9.6m Better Care Fund grant;



£5.4m annual programme injections reconciling to the medium term financial
strategy as set out in Appendix B funded by LCC borrowing;



£5.0m Local Centres Programme;



£3.1m other grants and contributions;



£2.0m Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage Scheme Grant;



£0.8m capital receipts incentive scheme (CRIS) as detailed at Appendix E;

The above decision to inject funding will be implemented by the Chief Officer
Financial Services.

Appendices
A – Capital Programme Funding Statement 2017-2021
B – Annual Programmes
C – Major Programmes and Other Schemes
D – Net Capital Programme Injections ( February 2017 to September 2017 )
E – Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) Injections
F – Major schemes within each objective 2017–2021
G – Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening Document
Background documents1 None

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 48

Capital Programme Funding Statement 2017-2021

Appendix A
2017/18
£000

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020 & on
£000

Total
£000

120242
21690.1
105529
9000.7
20226.5
11990.8

78363.8
61917
64040.8
5544.7
21566.1
6900

55436.1
78340.7
33118.9
6192.8
13833
23115.6

20381.8
97271.7
21163.6
0
2819
7169.2

274,423.7
259,219.5
223,852.3
20,738.2
58,444.6
49,175.6

288,679.1

238,332.4

210,037.1

148,805.3

885,853.9

85926.9

86582.7

131170

28620.2

332,299.8

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND ON HRA

85,926.9

86,582.7

131,170.0

28,620.2

332,299.8

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND

374,606.0

324,915.1

341,207.1

177,425.5

1,218,153.7

118,888.7
15,181.0

125,837.4
6,936.2

106,338.8
2,760.6

90,130.7
2,271.8

441,195.6
27,149.6

84,509.2
70,100.2

76,628.3
28,930.5

89,923.7
11,014.0

39,423.4
16,979.4

290,484.6
127,024.1

288,679.1

238,332.4

210,037.1

148,805.3

885,853.9

69317.3
13356
1030.6
2,223.0
0

68714.3
11567.6
941.3
2,954.7
2404.8

72958.8
20036.7
7691
2,888.3
27595.2

20120.2
-3500
0
0.0
12000

231,110.6
41,460.3
9,662.9
8,066.0
42,000.0

CAP. RESOURCES REQD FOR HRA

85,926.9

86,582.7

131,170.0

28,620.2

332,299.8

TOTAL CAP. RESOURCES REQD

374,606.0
0.0

324,915.1
0.0

341,207.1
0.0

177,425.5
0.0

1,218,153.7

154,609.4

107,963.6

128,532.9

68,402.8

459,508.7

0.50%

0.75%

0.75%

1.00%

EXPENDITURE
GENERAL FUND (GF)
IMPROVING OUR ASSETS
INVESTING IN MAJOR INFRASTRUCTURE
SUPPORTING SERVICE PROVISION
INVESTING IN NEW TECHNOLOGY
SUPPORTING THE LEEDS ECONOMY
CENTRAL & OPERATIONAL EXPENDITURE
TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND ON GF

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)
IMPROVING OUR ASSETS - COUNCIL HOUSING

RESOURCES
GENERAL FUND (GF)
Specific Resources
GOVERNMENT GRANTS
OTHER GRANTS & CONTRIBUTIONS

Corporate Resources
BORROWING - Corporate
BORROWING - Departmental Prudential borrowing
CAP. RESOURCES REQD FOR GF

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)
Specific Resources
HRA SELF FINANCING
R.T.B. CAPITAL RECEIPTS
GOVERNMENT GRANTS
OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS
BORROWING - Departmental

BORROWING REQUIRED TO FUND THIS PROGRAMME
Average Interest rate (subject to change)

Page 49

Appendix B
ANNUAL PROGRAMMES
Best Council Plan Objectives for the Capital
Programme
Improving Our Assets
Highways Maintenance
Highways Maintenance Capitalisations
Highways Maintenance Note 1
Schools Capital expenditure
Heritage Assets
Corporate Property Maintenance
General Refurbishment Schools
Demolition
Fire Risk Assessments - Remedial Works
Library Books
Sports Maintenance
Sports Maintenance Note 1
Traffic Management Programme
Civic Hall Backlog Maintenance
Improving our assets slippage adjustments
Supporting Service Provision
Adaptations - DFG LCC Funding
Adaptations - Grant & External Note 1
Telecare (ASC)
Adaptation to Private Homes outside of scope
Supporting Service provision slippage adjustments
Investing In New Technology
Essential Services Programme
Essential Services Programme Staffing
Investing in New Technology slippage adjustments
Supporting The Leeds Economy
Project Support Fund - Groundwork
Supporting the Leeds Economy adjustments

Central & Operational Expenditure
General Capitalisation
General Capitalisation reconciling to the medium
term financial strategy
Vehicle Programme
Capital Programme Management
Capitalisation Interest
Capitalisation Interest reconciling to the medium term
financial strategy
Central and Operational adjustments

Total Annual Programmes
Total Annual Programme Injections at quarter 2

2017/18
£000

2018/19
£000

2019/20 2020 & on
£000
£000

Total
£000

11,000
4,000
1,023
3,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
1,000
1,100
700
500
400
200
250
5,538
33,711

12,000
4,000
0
3,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
1,000
1,000
700
500
100
200
250
253
28,003

13,000
4,000
0
3,286
2,000
1,500
1,000
1,000
1,000
700
500
0
200
250
677
29,112

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
86
86

36,000
12,000
1,023
10,286
6,000
4,500
3,000
3,000
3,100
2,100
1,500
500
600
750
6,553
90,912

2,869
4,649
400
400
124.8
8,443

2,869
4,649
400
400
-100
8,218

2,869
4,649
400
400
0
8,318

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
738
738

8,607
13,947
1,200
1,200
763
25,717

2,900
1,200
1,923.3
6,023

2,900
1,200
-100.0
4,000

2,900
1,200
100.0
4,200

0.0
0.0
0.0
0

8,700
3,600
1,923
14,223

70
0.0
70

70
0
70

70
0
70

67
0.0
67

277
0
277

4,000

4,000

1,423

0

9,423

0
3,317
600
300

1,000
500
600
300

3,576.9
16,599
600
242.4

0.0
0
0.0
0

4,577
20,416
1,800
842

370
0
8,587

200
0
6,600

257.6
0
22,699

0.0
14
14

828
14
37,900

56,834.0

46,890.8

64,399.2

904.2

169,028.2

370.0

1,200.0

3,834.5

0.0

5,404.5

Note 1 - These lines are made up of additional grant funding £14,720.0k and estimated external income of £750.0k
The net LCC element for 2017/18 is £50,729.6k per 3.1.8 within the main report.
The annual programme injections within the quarter 2 report amount to £5,404.5k as set out in the above table.

Page 50

Appendix C

MAJOR PROGRAMMES & OTHER SCHEMES
2017/18
£000

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020 &
On £000

Total
£000

68,891.3
17,035.6

76,720.0
9,862.7

81,840.4
49,329.6

28,620.2
0.0

256,071.9
76,227.9

9,928.5
23,414.7

11,197.8
10,645.0

8,535.3
0.0

14,986.1
0.0

8,495.2
6,296.5
5,343.8
10,066.4

5,590.0
5,000.0
3,914.1
401.6

4,800.0
5,000.0
2,988.4
0.0

0.0
0.0
3,000.0
0.0

2,704.1
3,373.6
6,942.4
1,815.0
1,840.8
0.0
657.3
1,040.4
4,612.2
172,457.8

2,239.7
5,418.0
924.0
1,500.0
914.1
744.0
600.0
0.0
1,272.7
136,943.7

2,000.0
720.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
840.0
0.0
0.0
1,440.3
157,494.0

2,310.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
-0.5
48,916.5

44,647.7
34,059.7
18,885.2
16,296.5
15,246.3
10,468.0
9,254.5
9,511.6
7,866.4
3,315.0
2,754.9
1,584.0
1,257.3
1,040.4
7,324.7
515,812.0

4,958.0
5,000.0
7,667.7
3,569.1
1,000.0
410.0
-914.7
21,690.1

18,000.0
30,360.0
7,015.0
4,604.2
400.0
421.3
1,116.5
61,917.0

45,268.5
31,000.0
1,850.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
221.5
78,340.7

54,889.1
42,382.6
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0
97,271.7

123,115.6
108,742.6
16,533.4
8,173.3
1,400.0
831.3
423.3
259,219.5

45,544.3
31,088.1
1,113.5
10,119.8
1,044.8
1,431.8
1,993.0
4,750.9
97,086.2

34,724.8
1,473.2
2,955.0
11,000.0
1,157.3
2,828.7
774.2
909.6
55,822.8

18,675.7
272.8
2,780.0
0.0
1,189.1
69.3
0.0
1,814.0
24,800.9

1,079.1
3.0
18,105.0
0.0
802.3
0.0
0.0
436.3
20,425.7

100,023.9
32,837.1
24,953.5
21,119.8
4,193.5
4,329.8
2,767.2
7,910.8
198,135.6

1,073.0
639.8
1,264.6
2,977.4

950.0
416.3
178.4
1,544.7

1,409.2
416.3
167.3
1,992.8

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

3,432.2
1,472.4
1,610.3
6,514.9

1,046.6
2,659.4
547.8
3,797.1
2,590.6
2,629.4
914.8
1,197.6
862.9
1,374.6
13.0
2,522.7
20,156.5

10,450.0
4,165.1
834.2
0.0
1,059.3
1,000.0
1,648.0
500.0
550.0
0.0
698.3
591.2
21,496.1

2,090.0
3,809.6
5,760.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
302.6
0.0
200.0
0.0
698.6
902.2
13,763.0

0.0
1,750.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
100.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
698.7
203.7
2,752.4

13,586.6
12,384.1
7,142.0
3,797.1
3,649.9
3,629.4
2,965.4
1,697.6
1,612.9
1,374.6
2,108.6
4,219.8
58,168.0

300.0
3,000.0
104.0
3,404.0

300.0
0.0
0.0
300.0

300.0
116.5
0.0
416.5

6,155.0
0.0
1,000.0
7,155.0

7,055.0
3,116.5
1,104.0
11,275.5

317,772.0

278,024.3

276,807.9

176,521.3

1,049,125.5

56,834.0

46,890.8

64,399.2

904.2

169,028.2

374,606.0

324,915.1

341,207.1

177,425.5

1,218,153.7

LCC Borrowing

2017/18
£000

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2020 &
On £000

Total
£000

Corporate Borrowing
Departmental Borrowing
HRA Borrowing
TOTAL Borrowing

84,509.2
70,100.2
0.0

76,628.3
28,930.5
2404.8

89,923.7
11,014.0
27595.2

39,423.4
16,979.4
12000

290,484.6
127,024.1
42,000.0

154,609.4

107,963.6

128,532.9

68,402.8

459,508.7

LCC resources in system
Capital Programme
% LCC resources 2017-2021

154,609.4
374,606.0
41.3%

107,963.6
324,915.1
33.2%

128,532.9
341,207.1
37.7%

68,402.8
177,425.5
38.6%

459,508.7
1,218,153.7
37.7%

Major Programmes & Other Directorate schemes
Improving our assets - Council Housing
HRA Housing Leeds Refurbishment & BITMO
HRA Council Housing Growth
Improving our assets
Childrens - Cap Maint & Devolved Formula Capital
Changing the Workplace
Bridges and Structures
Highways Maintenance LTP
Section 278 and Section 106 schemes
Strategic Acquisitions
Highways Transport package
Highways Jinction Improvements
Whinmoor Nursery
Aire Valley (Temple Green ) Park and Ride
Community Hubs
Conversion of RCV vehicles to Gas
Leeds City Centre Network Improvements
Highways Adoption of 32 roads
Other schemes within the objective
Investing in Major Infrastructure
East Leeds Orbital Road
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme
Flood Alleviation Schemes
Cycle City Ambition
City Centre Vehicle Access
Energy Efficiency & Green Deal
Other schemes within the objective
Supporting Service Provision
Childrens Learning Places - (Basic Need Grant)
Childrens SEMH (Social Emotional Mental Health )
Social Care and Health Fund
District Heating Network
Private sector Renewal - Equity Loans
Waste Depot and residual Kirkstall HWSS
Adults & Health Various Schemes
Other schemes within the objective
Investing in New Technology
Customer Access Phase 1 & 2
ASC Care Act Implementation Systems work
Other schemes within the objective
Supporting the Leeds Economy
West Yorkshire Playhouse
Local Centres Programme & Townscape Heritage Initiative
Aire Valley Enterprise Zone & Logic Leeds Spine road
Holbeck Group Repair
City Region Revolving Infrastructure Fund
Digital Business Incubators
Public Realm Various
Kirkgate Market Strategy
Southbank Regeneration (HUV)
Grand Theatre Works
Ward Based, Committee Welbeing & CRIS
Other schemes within the objective
Central & Operational Expenditure
Contingency General Capital Programme
Transformational Change
Contingency Special Emergencies

Total Major Programmes & Other smaller schemes
Annual Programmes (See Appendix B)
Total Capital Programme

Page 51

Appendix D

Net Capital Programme Injections ( February 2017 to September 2017 )

Injection of Education Grants Funding
Better Care Fund Grant Injection
Annual Programmes Injection reconciling to the medium term financial strategy
Local Centres Programme
Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage scheme
Reinjection of BCF Grant as not utilised in 16/17
DFC Grant Injection
CRIS Injection Oct '16 to Mar '17
Injection of Public Health Grant
Dept of Health Funding Injection
City Centre Waterfront Public Realm funding pressure
Injection of Yorkshire Water contribution re FAS1 Scheme
Injection re Green Deal funding returned from Leeds City Region
CRIS Injection Apr '17 to Sep '17
Injection of ERDF Funding into HRA Schemes

Borrowing
Supported
Corporate
by
Specific
Total
Borrowing Revenue Resources Resources
£000
£000
£000
£000
38,182.0
38,182.0
7,768.0
7,768.0
5,404.5
0.0
5,404.5
5,000.0
5,000.0
0.0
2,000.0
2,000.0
1,800.0
1,800.0
1,446.8
1,446.8
673.2
673.2
377.5
377.5
359.3
359.3
300.0
300.0
299.9
299.9
269.4
269.4
124.8
124.8
105.0
105.0
11,771.9

Net Injections sought as part of this report

0.0

52,338.5

64,110.4

77,922.9
100,000.0
9,291.0

East Leeds Orbital Road
Leeds Public Transport Investment
West Yorkshire Playhouse Refurbishment
Strategic Acquisitions - Injection re Logic Leeds
Highways Works Grant Injections
District Heating Network
Transformational Change (severance costs)
Waste Depot Development
HRA - RTB Capital Receipts Injection
LCC Borrowing Injection re Empty Homes Strategy
City Centre Access Restrictions
S106 Injection
Quarry Hill Gateway Court Funding Injections
Sovereign Square Greenscape
Highways NPIF Grant Injections
Additional LTP Funding - LCC confirmed as Band 3 Authority
EY Grant Injection re 30hr places for eligible 3 & 4 year olds
CIL Injection re Allocation to LP Programme
Middleton Mountain Bike Scheme - Grant Injections
Injection of additional DFT Grant re Storm Eva
CCAG Grant Injection re City Connect 2
Clear Air Zone & Air Quality Monitoring / Research
RCCO Injection re AIP area of Iveson PS Expansion
PS Contribution Injection re Kirkstall Forge
Vision for Leisure Centres feasibility
Dept Borrowing Injection re Lotherton Hall Coastal Zone Development
Dept Borrowing Injection re Scott Hall Bodyline Equipment
Ringfenced Capital Receipts Injection re Medical Needs Teaching Service relocatio
RCCO Injection re Lotherton Hall Xmas Experience 2017
HRA - Deletion of HRA Resources following update of HRA Business Plan
Deletion of Dept Borrowing in the SEMH Programme
Other approvals
Other 2016/17 approved injections February to Outturn

43,642.1

6,379.6
4,336.9

-15,000.0
-6,873.7
8,636.4

483.8
-4,121.9

121,565.0
100,000.0
13,040.0
8,540.6
7,345.0
6,376.6
5,800.0
4,010.5
1,600.0
1,500.0
1,400.0
1,381.1
1,146.0
789.4
742.0
730.0
705.3
685.4
683.5
600.0
543.0
468.0
400.0
307.0
300.0
230.0
153.0
130.0
57.0
-1,669.0
-15,000.0
-10.3
8,851.4

Net Injections with approvals in place

62,289.0

3,472.8

207,638.7

273,400.5

Total Net Injections

74,060.9

3,472.8

259,977.2

337,510.9

3,249.0

500.0
8,540.6
3,276.0

7,345.0
3,100.6
5,800.0

4,010.5
1,600.0
1,500.0
1,400.0
1,381.1
396.0
188.0
742.0
730.0
705.3
685.4
683.5
600.0
543.0
468.0
400.0
307.0

750.0
601.4

300.0
230.0
153.0
130.0
57.0
-1,669.0

Page 52

Appendix E
Capital Receipts Incentive scheme ( CRIS ) Injections
Ward Based Initiative (WBI) Allocations
Total CRIS
Injection

Total WBI
Allocation

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
16.7
4.5
0.0
0.0
251.4
0.0
70.3
0.0
3.7
0.0
28.9
0.0
15.5
17.2
0.0
0.0
9.8
0.0
0.0
53.0
0.0
44.0
75.0
0.0
8.5
0.0
0.0
0.0
598.5

32.7
95.9
20.8
25.4
56.8
98.9
57.0
45.3
0.0
434.2
0.0
132.2
15.1
194.2
0.0
80.5
205.1
15.5
235.1
0.0
10.8
52.2
28.9
45.4
57.8
26.9
66.9
177.2
62.5
40.9
50.9
90.8
0.0
2,455.9

72.7
135.9
60.8
65.4
96.8
138.9
97.0
85.3
40.0
474.2
40.0
172.2
55.1
234.2
40.0
120.5
245.1
55.5
275.1
40.0
50.8
92.2
68.9
85.4
97.8
66.9
106.9
217.2
102.5
80.9
90.9
130.8
40.0
3,775.9

50.0
119.6
27.2
62.8
26.0
40.7
54.0
78.4
40.0
3.0
31.4
85.8
49.4
123.6
40.0
35.4
93.1
40.0
15.5
40.0
38.7
47.9
53.5
76.4
32.5
39.1
43.7
34.8
47.3
72.3
34.3
64.7
40.0
1,681.1

22.7
16.3
33.7
2.6
70.8
98.2
43.0
6.9
0.0
471.2
8.6
86.4
5.7
110.6
0.0
85.1
151.9
15.5
259.6
0.0
12.1
44.3
15.4
9.0
65.3
27.8
63.2
182.4
55.2
8.6
56.6
66.1
0.0
2,094.8

CRIS
Injection
Sept '16 to
Sep '17
5% AWB
£000
25.4
20.6
20.4
21.9
16.9
17.4
17.5
17.7
29.6
12.1
199.5

Total CRIS
Injection
5% AWB

CRIS
CRIS
Injection 16th
Injection
to 15th Sept Sept 16 - Sep
'17
'16
15% WBI
15% WBI
£000

ADEL AND WHARFEDALE
ALWOODLEY
ARDSLEY AND ROBIN HOOD
ARMLEY
BEESTON AND HOLBECK
BRAMLEY AND STANNINGLEY
BURMANTOFTS AND RICHMOND
CALVERLEY AND FARSLEY
CHAPEL ALLERTON
CITY AND HUNSLET
CROSSGATES AND WHINMOOR
FARNLEY AND WORTLEY
GARFORTH AND SWILLINGTON
GIPTON AND HAREHILLS
GUISELEY AND RAWDON
HAREWOOD
HEADINGLEY
HORSFORTH
HYDE PARK AND WOODHOUSE
KILLINGBECK AND SEACROFT
KIPPAX AND METHLEY
KIRKSTALL
MIDDLETON PARK
MOORTOWN
MORLEY NORTH
MORLEY SOUTH
OTLEY AND YEADON
PUDSEY
ROTHWELL
ROUNDHAY
TEMPLE NEWSAM
WEETWOOD
WETHERBY
TOTALs

32.7
95.9
20.8
25.4
56.8
82.2
52.5
45.3
0.0
182.8
0.0
61.9
15.1
190.5
0.0
51.6
205.1
0.0
217.9
0.0
10.8
42.4
28.9
45.4
4.8
26.9
22.9
102.2
62.5
32.4
50.9
90.8
0.0

1,857.4

Spent /
Total Balance
Committed
Available
(as at Sept '17)

Community Committee Allocations
CRIS
Injection
to Sept '16
5% AWB
Area
INNER SOUTH
OUTER SOUTH
OUTER EAST
INNER WEST
INNER NORTH WEST
OUTER WEST
OUTER NORTH WEST
INNER NORTH EAST
INNER EAST
OUTER NORTH EAST
TOTALs

£000
77.9
63.5
63.6
54.5
66.5
53.5
55.2
55.3
90.8
38.3
619.1

£000
103.3
84.1
84.0
76.4
83.4
70.9
72.7
73.0
120.4
50.4
818.6

798.0

Page 53

Transfer from
Spent /
ACW
Committed
Residual
(as at Sept '17)
schemes
£000
0.0
29.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
30.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
59.8

£000
5.9
24.8
16.5
38.9
51.5
16.1
24.2
29.2
16.2
17.1
240.4

Balance on
ACW CRIS

£000
97.4
89.1
67.5
37.5
31.9
54.8
78.5
43.8
104.2
33.3
638.0

Appendix F
Major schemes within each objective 2017- 2021
1. Improving our Assets
Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Council Housing Growth Programme – The programme has delivered £32.1m of
spend in previous years with an estimated spend of £17m for 2017/18, future spend
profiled as £10m in 2018/19 and the residual £49m to complete by 2020/2021. The
Council is targeting c£30.0m of council housing growth funding from within the
overall programme to support the delivery of extra care housing. The Newbuild
programme has delivered 5 schemes which have completed at £18m. 3 schemes
are on site with a combined construction value of £11m, Broadlea Street, Garnet
Grove and the former Whinmoor Pub with 3 schemes in procurement/feasibility at
the Beeches, Nevilles and Meynell Approach. The Empty Homes programme
£11.3m has brought 120 homes back into use since 2014. Phase 1 of the
programme has delivered 26 homes. Phase 2 the 2015-18 Empty Homes
programme has currently delivered 96 homes with a further 8 in conveyancing and
one community centre awaiting confirmation which will give a total of 102 homes
delivered.
As part of the Council Housing Growth Programme and to support the delivery of
the Better Lives Programme, the Council intends to enable the initial delivery of 200
Council owned extra care apartments with the intention that this investment acts as
catalyst to promote the wider development of extra care across the city.
An Executive Board report was approved in July 2017 which included
recommendations on
- £30m budget for delivery of extra care
- Approval of 6 council owned sites to be dedicated to the delivery of extra care
- Intended procurement strategy for the delivery of extra care (via the North
Yorkshire Extra Care Framework).
- Potential revenue savings which will result from the provision of additional extra
care housing places across the city.
Council Housing Investment Programme – Housing Leeds and BITMO have
current funding of £256.0m over the coming 3 year period 2017-20. This investment
will allow £80+m in each of the next 3 years which will fulfil a number of LCCs key
priorities; improving housing conditions and energy efficiency, improvements to the
environment through reduced carbon emissions and supporting more people to live
safely in their own homes. A further detailed report on the 10 year investment
programme “Beyond Decent Homes – The 2018 Housing Revenue Account Capital
Investment Plan” is elsewhere on this board’s agenda.

Page 54

General Fund
Changing the Workplace – The programme continues to progress and £1.5m has
been saved from the release of 6 properties. Merrion House has been vacated and
over 1,600 staff have been through new ways of working so that services can work
more effectively and improve outcomes for the citizens of Leeds. The next phase
will see over 2,000 going through the process with Merrion House, St George
House and Civic Hall refurbished and made fit for purpose. This will allow the city
centre office accommodation to be reduced from 17 to 4 with the surplus properties
being released. Works have commenced on site to refurbish and create the new
Merrion House with an envisaged date for completion of the base build works
(including the tenant enhancements) end of January 2018. Post fit-out it is
envisaged that staff would be able to commence a phased occupancy of the
building from mid February with all staff having moved into Merrion House by the
end of May 2018. Works have commenced to St George House with the first phase
completed and the second phase due to complete November 2017 and the final
phase being completed once current occupiers have moved to Merrion in 2018.
Planned Highways Maintenance – The Highways programme over the next 4
years provides for £387.6m and includes £51.1m of annual programme borrowing
up to 2019/20 to address backlog maintenance on district roads/streets. It includes
£18.9m for the maintenance of our Bridges and Structures, £15.3m of developer
contributions through Section 278/106. Leeds Public Investment Programme has
£109m, East Leeds orbital road has £123m. A further £25.5m of Local Transport
Plan government grant is provided for within the highways programme for the
transport package & other maintenance. Of the total available £17.2m is injected
within this report as annual highways maintenance programmes across the four
years to 2020/21 set out in Appendix B and £2.7m other as set out in Appendix D.
Children’s Capital Maintenance and Devolved Formula Capital – the 2017/18
School Condition Allocation of £7m, used to fund the Capital Maintenance
Programme, was confirmed on 03/04/17 and the 2017/18 Devolved Formula Capital
Grant of £1.6m on 09/06/17. These allocations have reduced over time as more
schools have transferred to academy status. To ensure a 3 year capital programme
provision based on 2017/18 allocations, injections of £6.2m and £1.4m have been
made respectively and injection approval sought as part of this report. Balances are
being accumulated within the Capital Maintenance Programme to undertake more
substantial refurbishment at prioritised sites.
Whinmoor Nursery The Arium, Leeds Park Nursery - The Whinmoor Grange
Atrium “The Arium at Whinmoor Grange” was completed on 3rd October and an
opening event was held from 7th to 8th October which was attended by 5,000
members of public. Depot enhancements are progressing at Temple Newsam in
order to complete the final decant of staff from Redhall.

2. Investing in Major Infrastructure
East Leeds Orbital Road - The Council has made good progress in bringing
forward the package of transport measures that will be essential to support the

Page 55

development of the East Leeds Extension strategic growth area. Central to these is
the East Leeds Orbital Road, which has now reached a design freeze enabling
submission of a planning application in February. The 7km road would unlock the
potential to build up to 5000 new homes in the East Leeds Extension and support
the wider housing and economic growth of East Leeds. A business case for part
funding of the scheme through the West Yorkshire Transport Fund has Gateway 1
approval from WYCA, with a Gateway 2 Business Case to be submitted by the
year-end, seeking support to move through to the tender stage of works
procurement. The Council is continuing to assume prudential borrowing to meet the
initial gap between the available funding and capital cost of the scheme, to be
eventually reimbursed through roof tax contributions from house builders.
Leeds Public Transport Investment programme – The programme comprises of
a package of public transport improvements that, taken together, will deliver a major
step change in the quality and effectiveness of our transport network. Headline
proposals include:
 A new Leeds High Frequency Bus Network – over 90% of core bus services
will run every 10 minutes between 7am and 8pm.
 Additional investment of £71m by First group to provide 284 brand new,
comfortable and environmentally clean buses with free wi-fi and contact-less
payments which will achieve close to a 90% reduction in NOx emissions by
2020.
 Development of three new rail stations for key development and economic
hubs serving Leeds Bradford Airport, Thorpe Park and White Rose.
2000 additional park and ride spaces with the first new site opening at
Stourton.
 A 1000 more bus stops with real time information.
 Making three more rail stations accessible at Cross Gates, Morley and
Horsforth.
 Creating 21st Century interchanges around Vicar Lane, the Headrow and
Infirmary Street and improved facilities in our district centres.
Funding from Leeds and the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) of £8.8m
and £1m respectively will increase the funding to £183.3m. In addition Private
Sector finance including expenditure on more environmentally friendly buses by bus
operators could bring the total investment to over £270m.
Flood Alleviation – Phase 1 of the Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme was officially
opened on 04/10/17. The £50m scheme provides protection to Leeds City Centre
against a 1 in 100 year flood event and has been completed on time and on budget.
Formal injection approval is being sought as part of this report for a £0.3m injection
from Yorkshire Water to the scheme. September ’17 Executive Board approved a
report on the emerging proposals for a Phase 2 scheme (flood defences upstream
of the City Centre) following the announcement by Government after initially
committing to providing £35m between now and 2021 and committing to ensuring
the scheme will be able to be completed after this. Widespread engagement with
stakeholders is currently being undertaken and a further report is due to be
considered by December ’17 Executive Board to agree the outline business case
submission to DEFRA.

Page 56

Cycle City Ambition - This programme is fully funded by the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA). Final account issues for the CityConnect1 scheme
continue to be progressed. The proposals for CityConnect2 were approved by
February ‘17 Executive Board and the works contract was recently awarded to
Carillion Construction Ltd. Works are due to complete in Autumn 2018.

3. Supporting Service Provision
Learning Places (Basic Need) – On 04/03/17 the Government announced new
capital funding for Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). Leeds will
receive £3.2m across a 3 year period from 18/19 to 20/21, which will be managed
under the Learning Places Programme. This was followed by an announcement on
03/04/17 confirming the £28.7m 19/20 Basic Need Grant Allocation. Formal
injection approval of these amounts are being sought as part of this report. June ‘17
Executive Board received a Programme update report. It provided authority to
spend approval of £19.3m for the next tranche of schemes, reset the programme
risk fund to £10.8m and noted a projected funding deficit of £71.2m. The current
projected funding deficit has increased to £79.9m with the deficit first arising in
18/19.
Social Emotional Mental Health – The £45m programme to provide facilities
across 3 schools for children and young people with social, emotional and mental
health issues within the city are progressing on site with the schools due to open
between January and September 2018. The scheme is funded by £15m of Basic
Need Grant and £30m of Borrowing.
Social Care and Health Fund – £7.2m over 4 years has been injected into the
programme for the Adult & Social Care Health Fund - Digital Improvements
Programme (£7.2m of unsupported LCC funding has been replaced with this grant)
and now forms part of the £25m total programme) which LCC & Health Partners are
setting out proposals for. One of these proposals is the Person Held Record which
received approval at September’s Executive Board.
District Heating Network - Executive Board approved funding of c£17m, alongside
£4m of funding from the LEP, to construct the first phase of a citywide district
heating network, to pipe lower cost and lower carbon heat from the RERF to
businesses and residents in dense urban areas. In order to turn this opportunity into
a reality, the Council is working to secure sufficient heat customers to allow the
Director of Resources and Housing to sign off the business case. Construction is
anticipated to start in the new year. Executive Board also approved related work in
Lincoln Green/Ebor Gardens to convert 1,440 flats from electric storage heaters to
district heating, and to connect another 543 flats with existing DH systems in Saxton
Gardens and Ebor Gardens. This is supported by £5.8m of ERDF monies with the
balance coming from the HRA. The Housing network is now being mobilised with
construction due to start in November.
Adaptations to Private Homes - The adaptations programme has funding of £30m
across the next 4 years. This supports in the region of 800+ grants for adaptations

Page 57

per year. A further £400k is provided as an annual programme for adaptations to
private homes to support more people to remain independently in their own homes.

4. Investing in New Technology
ICT Infrastructure – There are a number of major essential IT investments and
associated programmes of work that are required over the next few years. The
council upgrade for the entire estate of PC’s and laptops to Windows 10 is
underway and this will continue through to completion in FY 2018/19. The rollout of
the new collaboration and telephony platform based on Microsoft Skype is on target
to close by December 2017, which will replace the legacy Cisco telephony systems.
The replacement of 900 old PC’s and laptops is underway and will continue across
the remaining FY. Further funding for an additional 400 laptops will be committed in
January 2018. Major investment to implement a range of cyber measures is in
progress, to both procure and deploy a range of solutions to protect our sensitive
and personal information. A significant refresh is required of our ageing server and
storage estate, and this will be replaced by a future proofed capability that has the
potential to also host other organisations’ computer systems as we continue to work
on a city first basis with a range of partners, particularly across health and care.
This procurement has commenced with contract award anticipated by January
2018. Investment is also required to ensure our citizens and staff are not digitally
dis-enfranchised. Tablet computers and connectivity services are currently being
acquired.
5. Supporting the Leeds Economy
West Yorkshire Playhouse - Executive Board at its meeting in July 2017
authorised a Stage 2 grant application to Arts Council England (ACE) for the
refurbishment and reconfiguration of the West Yorkshire Playhouse and approved
an injection and authority to spend of £13.04m subject to the Stage 2 bid being
successful. The Stage 2 Grant Application was submitted to (ACE) on 16 August
2017 and it is anticipated that ACE will make their decision in mid-December
2017. On the assumption that the Council is successful in its application to ACE, the
works will commence on site at the end of March 2018.
Aire Valley Leeds Enterprise Zone - The Leeds Enterprise Zone (EZ) has
continued to deliver and interest in the area is strong. Over 600,000 sq ft of new
floorspace has now been delivered and the EZ is now home to a range of
indigenous companies within the city who have taken up new buildings to grow their
businesses as well as companies new to the city including Amazon, John Lewis and
Perspex Distribution. Infrastructure works to deliver access to all parts of Gateway
45 has now completed as well as phase 1 remediation works. The Temple Green
Park and Ride facility opened earlier in the year and is proving popular. The
Council continues to explore the delivery of additional power to the area to ensure
that the area can be effectively promoted to a range of end users, but in particular
manufacturers and has had an outline business case to fund the ultimate solution
approved by the LEP’s Investment Committee.

Page 58

Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI) schemes – The First White Cloth Hall
scheme is estimated to cost £2.6m and in October 2016 it received support from the
City Centre Plans Panel. The £2.6m funding is made up by prudentially borrowing
£1.85m that is supported by the income generated from the refurbishment. The
redevelopment also has a commitment from Heritage Lottery Fund (£0.5m secured
funding), Historic England (£0.25m unsecured funding) making a total budget of
£2.6m. The property has very recently been acquired by a property development
company who plan to apply for planning permission before the end of 2017. The
Council is in dialogue with the new owner and subject to the progression of the
planning application and the ongoing discussions a report will be brought to
Executive Board later in the financial year to outline the Council's support for the
proposed scheme.
The council has successfully completed the Armley THI scheme, resulting in 23
refurbished properties. The council’s investment of £680k levered in £1.47m from
the HLF, the EU and the and private sector. The Chapeltown THI is due to complete
in November 2017, with the last 4 properties currently on site.
Local Centres Programme - The Programme seeks to utilise the £5m agreed by
Full Council in March 2017 to fund innovative and sustainable improvements to
local and neighbourhood centres as a component of supporting regeneration and
inclusive growth across the city.
Digital Business Incubator (Leeds Tech Hub) – The Leeds Tech Hub Fund was
launched last year which was introduced as a catalyst for growth and expansion in
the city’s fast-growing digital sector. After an application process was opened
offering businesses the chance to bid for grant support from the fund, projects put
forward by four companies totalling £2.7m have been recommended for approval in
a first round of announcements. One of the projects to be given the green light
includes the creation of a new Tech Hub created at Platform, above Leeds railway
station. Once open, the new Tech Hub will offer a modern, state-of-the-art central
resource which digital projects from across the city can utilise and feed into. A
second round of bids was considered in July with two further projects being
successful at Duke Studios and Future Labs.
Public Realm - Engaging and quality public realm is critical to the continued
success and robustness of the city centre; creating a welcoming city which has the
wow factor. To achieve this there is multi-layered approach, delivering immediately
on punchy high visibility pop-up projects whilst working on the longer-term larger
schemes. In terms of the larger schemes, feasibility work will commence mid-late
2018 following stakeholder engagement on City Square and the funding for Quarry
Hill works have been agreed with an anticipated start on site late 2018, for
completion in September 2019. Work to improve the public realm around Merrion
House is ongoing and will complete in May 2018.
The summer of 2017 saw a range of temporary/pop-up initiatives such as
Cookridge Street pop-up Park, Park Here & Play, Town Hall Forecourt Park. These
were well received by the public and consideration is being given to how to develop
these schemes and locations in future years. Family Friendliness is high on the
agenda, with the Child Friendly Leeds competition drawing hundreds of entries, a
new playscape being developed at Queens Square and a range of projects being
devised based on the competition winners’ suggestions. The parklet initiative

Page 59

supports ‘the best city to grow old in’ with the placement of seating and rest points
in previously ‘impractical’ locations. Largely these schemes are delivered through
the £100k ‘Public Realm’ and ‘Enhancement’ pots in the capital programme.
South Bank Regeneration - The South Bank regeneration will see expenditure to
cover some further costs relating to Bath Road’s remediation and some staff
recharges. LCC are scoping further projects and will look to utilise some of the
funding for project feasibility/ some detailed design.

Page 60

Appendix G
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening

functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest
opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already
been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Resources and Housing

Service area: Audit and Investment

Lead person: Bhupinder Chana

Contact number: 88044

1. Title: Capital Programme Update
Is this a:
X Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

The report presents an updated capital programme including the overall
financial position and a progress report on major schemes and programmes.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

Page 61

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.

Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
X
X
X

X

X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

Page 62

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and

Page 63

integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Bhupinder Chana
Head of Finance (Acting)
16th October 2017
Capital, Insurance and
Treasury Management
Date screening completed

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 16th October 2017
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

Page 64

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Doug Meeson
Tel: 88540

Report of the Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15th November 2017
Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2017/18 – Month 6
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1.

The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of
the authority in respect of both the revenue budget and the Housing Revenue
Account as at month 6 of the financial year.

2.

The 2017/18 financial year is the second year covered by the 2015 Spending
Review and again presents significant financial challenges to the Council. The
Council to date has managed to achieve considerable savings since 2010 and the
budget for 2017/18 requires the Council to deliver a further £64m of savings.

3.

The current and future financial climate for local government represents a
significant risk to the Council’s priorities and ambitions. Whilst the Council continues
to make every effort possible to protect the front line delivery of services, it is clear
that the position remains challenging and the projected overspend reflects this
challenge.

4.

Executive Board will recall that the 2017/18 general fund revenue budget, as
approved by Council, provides for a variety of actions to reduce net spend through
the delivery of £64m of budget action plans by March 2018. At this stage of the
financial year, it is clear that the majority of these actions are on track to be
delivered, and where there are variations, compensating savings have been
identified.

1
Page 65

5.

At month 6, there is a no projected variation on the General Fund and the Housing
Revenue Account is projected to break even.

Recommendation
6.

(i) Note the projected financial position of the authority as at month 6.

2
Page 66

1. Purpose of this report
1.1.

This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial
health position for 2017/18 at month 6.

1.2.

Budget Monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, and this report
reviews the position of the budget and highlights potential key risks and
variations after the first two months of the year.

2. Background information
2.1.

Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund for 2017/18
was set at £492.7m.

2.2.

Following the closure of the 2016/17 accounts the Council’s general fund
reserve was £20.1m which was £2.6m higher than the amount assumed when
the 2017/18 budget was approved. A sum of £1.4m has been released into the
Children and Families budget for 2017/18 which has subsequently reduced the
level of general reserve to £18.7m. The 2017/18 budget does not assume any
further use of or contribution to this reserve during this financial year.

2.3.

Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach
where financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of
the budget that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of
budget action plans, those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand,
key income budgets, etc. This has again been reinforced through specific
project management based support and reporting around the achievement of
the key budget actions plans.

3. Main Issues
3.1.

At month 6 no variation on the general fund budget is currently projected.

Table 1

3
Page 67

Summary Position - Financial Year 2017/18 Period 6
Reporting Period September 2017
(Under) / Over spend for the current period

Staffing

Total Expenditure

Month 5
Position

Director

£000

£000

Adults & Health

Cath Roff

(836)

7,437

(7,437)

0

0

Children and Families

Steve Walker

(176)

(45)

45

0

0

City Development

Martin Farrington

(772)

(254)

254

0

0

Resources & Housing

Neil Evans

(2,888)

(2,760)

2,760

0

0

Communities & Environment

James Rogers

1,448

1,880

(1,880)

0

482

Strategic

Doug Meeson

(230)

(920)

920

0

0

Total Current Month

(3,454)

5,338

(5,338)

0

482

Previous month (under)/over spend

(2,834)

5,951

(5,469)

482

£000

Income

Total (under)
/overspend

Directorate

£000

£000

3.2.

The major variations within Directorates are outlined below with additional detail
provided on the Directorate dashboards which are included as appendix 1 to
this report.

3.3.

Adults and Health

3.3.1.

Adults and Health are currently projecting a balanced budget position. Though it
should be highlighted that there are potential pressures building, related to fees
paid for care homes and home care and the impact of recent case law on the
payments for sleep-ins, that may impact on this and future years finances.

3.3.2. Members approved the injection of £14.7m of additional grant (integrated into
the Better Care fund) into this budget at the June meeting of Executive Board.
This monitoring report assumes that the grant will be fully utilised in
year. Members are asked to note that the grant conditions require that the
council work with NHS colleagues to consider how the funding can be best
spent. Once agreed, the spend proposals will be the subject of a separate,
future Executive Board report.
3.3.3. The report assumes that £8.0m of the additional £14.7m additional grant will be
used to offset an income target set against Leeds CCGs. Post the budget
setting it has become apparent that both local and national pressures within the
NHS mean that this target is no longer realistically achievable.
3.4.

Children and Families

3.4.1. Children and Families are projecting a balanced position at Period 6. Given the
demand led pressures within services in the Directorate these budgets will

4
Page 68

continue to be closely monitored throughout the rest of the year.
3.5.

The Dedicated Schools Grant is also facing a number of budget pressures in
2017/18. As in 2016/17 these are mainly on the High Needs Block in relation to
top-up payments and outside placements and some additional costs in relation
to the new Social Emotional and Mental Health provision, partly offset by
savings in the Early Years Block. Whilst a number of savings proposals have
been actioned in the High Needs Block budget including transferring £2m of
funding from the Schools Block it is currently forecast that there will be an
overall overspend in 2017/18 of £0.86m. The deficit reserve from 2016/17 of
£3.6m has also been brought forward to 2017/18. The directorate is undertaking
a review of the High Needs Block with the aim of identifying options to bring
spend in line with the available resources and to repay the deficit balance over
the next few years

3.6.

City Development

3.6.1.

The directorate are projecting a balanced budget position at the year-end;
however, there are income pressures totalling £0.7m within Asset Management
and Economic Development that will be need to be managed through the
identification from savings elsewhere in the directorate.

3.7.

Communities and Environment

3.7.1.

Although there are projected variations within services, the Directorate is
projecting a balanced position. The main variations are outlined below.

3.7.2.

There is a projected shortfall in housing benefit overpayment income of £0.5m,
against a budget of £8.4m, following a projected reduction in the number and
average value of housing benefit overpayments.

3.7.3.

Within Customer Access an overspend of £0.6m, mainly in respect of staffing, is
forecast due to the delivery of the Community Hub programme and additional
security arrangements at sites.

3.7.4.

Within Waste Management, the Refuse service is projecting an overspend of
£0.77m due to slippage on the Refuse collection route efficiency programme.
Additional pressures of £0.18m, mainly relating to the deferral of implementing
inert building waste charges are offset by business rates savings of £0.47m at
the RERF. In addition, £0.6m savings in respect of disposal costs and additional
recycling income are projected, together with a further £0.5m of one-off savings
identified across the Waste Management service, contributing to an overall
underspend of £0.6m.

3.7.5.

The planned introduction of charging for inert building waste at Household
Waste Sites was deferred following DEFRA’s announcement in April 2017 that
they would issue revised guidance around charges for the disposal of such
waste, and potentially revise the legislation governing them. Many Councils
have historically implemented charges and the Council’s view is that charging is
permitted under current legislation. The financial projections currently assume
charges will be implemented on 1st February 2018, although this is subject to
further announcements and guidance from DEFRA.
5
Page 69

3.7.6.

The directorate will identify further actions of £0.2m to bring the budget back
into balance.

3.8.

Resources and Housing

3.8.1.

No material variations are currently forecast and the Directorate is projecting a
balanced position.

3.9.

Strategic and Central Accounts.

3.9.1.

Based on 16/17 savings from additional capitalisation and saving on the levy
payment to the business rates pool will help to offset pressures on S278
(income from developers) and new homes bonus income.

4.

Other Financial Performance

4.1.

Council Tax

4.1.1.

The Council Tax in-year collection rate at the end of September was 54.77%
which is in line with the performance in 2016/17. Forecasts show the 2017/18
in-year collection target of 96.1% collecting some £320.2 of income will be
achieved.

4.2.

Business Rates

4.2.1.

The business rates collection rate at the end of Sept was 57.61% which is 0.6%
ahead of the performance in 2016/17. The forecast is to achieve the 2017/18
in-year collection target of 97.7% collecting some £375.5m of income.

4.2.2.

The opening total rateable value of business properties in Leeds was £915.54m
at 1st April. This grew by £1.7m to £917.24m in mid-May, but, following a
number of Valuation Office reductions, has fallen to £914.77m at 30th
September.

4.2.3.

To calculate Leeds’ actual income from business rates this total rateable value
is multiplied by the national business rates multiplier (46.6p in the pound). After
reliefs and adjustments this amount is then shared between Leeds City Council
(49%), West Yorkshire Fire Authority (1%) and Central Government (50%).
Following deductions for the Business Rates tariff and to meet the business
rates deficit brought forward, Leeds’ actual business rates income is projected
to be in the region of £137.8m, which is lower than the budget requirement and
may impact further on the Collection Fund deficit. The position on the Collection
Fund deficit is kept under constant review as deficits are carried forward and
impact on the resources available in the following year.

4.3.

Business Rates Appeals

4.3.1.

The opening appeals provisions for 2017/18 was £25.0m, made up of £23.0m
relating to appeals received against the 2010 ratings list and £2m estimated
costs in advance of appeals being received against the new 2017 ratings list.
Under 50% Business Rates Retention, Leeds’ budget is affected by 49% of any

6
Page 70

appeals provision.
4.3.2.

On 1st April 2017, there were 5,337 appeals outstanding. By 1st September
2017, these had reduced to 4,093 appeals outstanding. During September 230
appeals have been settled, 159 of which have not resulted in changes to
rateable values. 13 new appeals were received in September, the low number
received reflecting that appeals are no longer accepted against the 2010 list
except in very specific circumstances. No appeals have been received to date
against the 2017 list.

4.3.3.

At 30th September there are 3,876 outstanding appeals in Leeds, with 25.8% of
the city’s total rateable value currently subject to at least one appeal.

5.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

5.1.

At the end of month 6 the HRA is projecting a balanced position in 2017/18.

6.

Corporate Considerations

6.1.

Consultation and Engagement
This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation.

6.2.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
The Council’s revenue budget for 2017/18 was subject to Equality Impact
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to
Council on 22nd February 2017.

6.3.

Council Policies and Best Council Plan
The 2017/18 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and
priorities as set out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on the
financial performance against this budget, supporting the Best Council ambition
to be an efficient and enterprising organisation.

6.4.

Resources and Value for Money
This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are
detailed in the main body of the report.

6.5.

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
There are no legal implications arising from this report.

7.

Recommendations

7.1.

Executive Board are asked to:

(i)

Note the projected financial position of the authority as at month 6.

7
Page 71

8.

Background documents1
None

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

8
Page 72

ADULTS AND HEALTH
Financial Dashboard - 2017/18 Financial Year
Month 6 (September 2017)
The directorate continues to project a balanced position for the year, though it should be noted that due to demand based pressures it is assumed that £0.5m of reserves will be used to balance the position.
The position for Adults and Health has been adjusted to include the monies announced in the Spring Budget. It should be noted that though detailed plans for the associated spend have now been agreed, the monies are yet to be
allocated and therefore for the purposes of this report they are provisionally shown against the budgets for the procurement of care (Access and Care Delivery and Commissioning).
Being a ring-fenced budget the underspend within Public Health is presumed to be carried forward into future years. It is noted that additional pressures are being evidenced and once confirmed it is likely that the underspend will be
reduced but still contained within the overall grant figure.
Budget action plans for demand based services are broadly on target to deliver but slippage in some areas is being monitored.
The main variations at Period 6 across the key expenditure types are as follows:

Page 73

Staffing (-£0.8m – 1.7%)
Savings are evident across most areas. Though Access & Care Delivery are showing an overspend in the analysis below, this is pending a virement to allow for the new contracts with the Leeds CCGs and an underlying underspend is still
anticipated.
Community care packages (+£8.8m – 4.2%)
The variance on the budget is primarily represented by the ‘holding’ of £6.7m of the new monies announced as a part of the Spring Budget. There is a £1.1m pressure on demand led budgets. This is primarily related to an increase in
the use of supported accommodation and slippage on savings plans.

Income (-£7.7m – 6.3%)
Service user contributions, related to Community Support services, are projected to be lower than budgeted. Investigations are under way to determine the cause of this and to identify potential remedies. The grant income from the
Spring Budget is recorded here along with an assumption that there will be an offsetting reduction in the funding targeted from Health partners in 2017/18. The figure also holds the contra-entry to the new Health contracts, and
therefore artificially inflates the income figure.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget

Income Budget

Latest
Estimate

Staffing

Premises

Supplies &
Services

Transport

Internal
Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total Expenditure

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

485

(220)

265

61

0

0

(2)

0

0

0

0

0

59

0

59

Access & Care Delivery

249,699

(42,643)

207,056

300

62

(150)

(13)

(221)

5,896

(691)

0

0

5,183

(391)

4,792

Commissioning Services

30,335

(36,728)

(6,394)

(951)

21

(24)

(8)

152

3,409

0

0

(500)

2,100

(6,686)

(4,586)

Resources and Strategy

5,227

(637)

4,590

(124)

1

(16)

9

(79)

0

0

0

0

(209)

(56)

(265)

45,743

(45,716)

27

(121)

0

21

(4)

37

223

0

0

149

304

(304)

(0)

Health Partnerships

Public Health (Grant
Funded)
Appropriation Account
Total

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

331,488

(125,944)

205,544

(836)

84

(168)

(18)

(111)

9,528

(691)

0

(351)

7,436

(7,436)

(0)

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Additional Comments

Lead Officer

RAG

A. Key Budget Action Plans

Action Plan Forecast Variation
against Plan/Budget
Value
£m

£m

Page 74

1.

Older people's residential and day support

D Ramskill

Ongoing Better Lives programme

B

0.4

0.0

2.

Assessment and care management practice

S McFarlane

Delivering the most cost effective service for new customers based on the strengths based
approach

G

0.5

0.0

3.

Review of care packages - mental health

M Naismith

Reviewing care packages for existing customers based on the strengths based approach and
securing improved value for money commissioning

G

0.8

0.0

4.

Review of care packages - physical impairment

J Bootle

Reviewing care packages for existing customers based on the strengths based approach and
securing improved value for money commissioning

A

0.5

0.1

5.

Review of care packages - learning disability

J Wright / M
Naismith

Reviewing care packages for existing customers based on the strengths based approach and
securing improved value for money commissioning

G

2.5

0.0

6.

Older people: reduction in the number of customers
going into residential care

S McFarlane

Increased use of telecare, reablement and recovery service

A

1.3

0.7

7.

Legal Fees

S Hume

Reduction in in-house legal fees

G

0.3

0.0

8.

Vacancy management

Various

Mainly non-frontline services

G

0.6

0.0

9.

Fees and charges

S Hume

Improved income collection and income recovery from direct payment audit

A

0.7

0.3

10.

Review non-essential spend

Various

Review and top-slicing of non-essential spend

G

0.3

0.0

11.

Public health

I Cameron

Review of commissioned services

B

2.9

0.0

12.

Community Support

D Ramskill

In-house community support service closure

B

0.9

0.0

B. Other Significant Variations
1.

Staffing

All

Ongoing tight vacancy management

2.

Community care packages

Various

relates principally to unallocated Spring Budget monies

3

General running costs

All

4

Use of reserves

I Cameron

Lower requirement for use of reserves

(0.4)

5

Income

S Hume

Primarily Spring Budget monies (offset by non-deliverable Health income target)

(7.7)

(0.8)
8.0
(0.1)

Adults and Health Directorate - Forecast Variation

0.0

CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - Period 6
Overall Summary - At period 6 the Directorate is projecting a balanced budget. There are some risks within this position and these are mentioned below.
Children Looked After - Meeting the budgeted assumptions around the numbers of CLA is the most significant budget challenge that the Directorate faces in 2017/18; it is also the most difficult budget to set because numbers can fluctuate for a variety of
reasons including demographic pressures. The 2017/18 budget now includes an increase to the CLA budget of £6.7m compared to 2016/17 .Current level of Independent Fostering Agents (IFA) is 188 children whilst the level of External Residential (ER) is 54
children. The period 6 projection assumes there will be a further reduction in numbers of children to achieve a saving of £1m. There is a risk that numbers continue to rise through demographic pressures.
Staffing - It is now projected that staffing will be underspent by £0.176m, although this assumes that the Directorate continues to closely manage vacancies and recruitment to achieve further savings to offset anticipated pressures in Safeguarding, Targeted and
Specialist Services. There is a risk that these savings are not achieved.
Transport - Period 6 is now projecting to be overspent by £0.15m as a result of increased demand and increasing complexity of need. The 2017/18 budget included an increase to the Transport budget of £2.8m reflecting anticipated demand pressures. There is
a risk that demand increases further during the year.
Trading and Commissioning - At this stage we are projecting that the £1.2m additional trading target is achieved and a pressure of £0.2m against the £1.1m commissioned service savings target.
Other Income - The new Innovations & Partners in Practise bid has now been approved and will provide additional funding to be spent over three years. A total of £7.3m was received in 2016/17 and all this funding has been carried forward to 2017/18; the
projection assumes £0.25m additional in-year usage. A shortfall in income in children's centres of £0.9m is forecast and is expected to be partly offset by anticipated additional School Improvement Monitoring & Brokering Grant of £0.5m.

Page 75

Dedicated Schools Grant - There are a number of pressures on the DSG in 2017/18 which will mean that despite a number of savings proposals that have been actioned it is likely that there will be an overspend in 2017/18. As at period 6 , an overspend of
£0.894m is projected. The High Needs Block has significant overspends, mainly in top up payments to outside institutions. This is partly offset by an underspend in Early Years as a result of underspends on the SEN Inclusion Fund and effectively receiving
funding for more places than is being paid out.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

Demand Led Budgets:
In House Fostering
Internal Residential
Kinship Care
Family Placement & Place for Adoption
IFA
External Residential
Semi Independent Living <18 & Secure
Justice/Welfare
Adoption, SGO and RO
Leaving Care
SEN Outside Placements
Transport
Sub total Demand Led Budgets
Other Budgets
Partnerships
Learning, Skills & Universal Services
Safeguarding, Targeted & Specialist
Services
Central Overheads
Sub total Other Budgets
Total

Expenditure
Budget

Income
Budget

Latest
Estimate

Staffing

Premises

Supplies &
Services

Transport

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

12,510
3,605
2,363
1,628
6,649
8,036

(2,810)
0
0
0
0
0

9,700
3,605
2,363
1,628
6,649
8,036

0
106
0
0
0
0

0
58
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

PROJECTED VARIANCES
Internal
External
Transfer Capital
Charges
Providers Payments
£'000

£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0

£'000

0
0
0
0
0
0

(446)
0
205
(69)
1,240
2,301

£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

0
0
0
0
(1,240)
(2,301)

(446)
164
205
(69)
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

(446)
164
205
(69)
0
0

2,575

0

2,575

0

0

0

0

0

(253)

0

0

0

(253)

0

(253)

6,568
4,659
4,857
14,694
68,144

0
(1,469)
(4,857)
(453)
(9,589)

6,568
3,190
0
14,241
58,555

2
0
0
0
108

0
0
0
0
58

4
26
0
0
30

0
0
0
150
150

0
23
0
0
23

998
646
0
0
4,622

0
(294)
0
0
(294)

0
0
0
0
0

(560)
0
0
0
(4,101)

444
401
0
150
596

(314)
(74)
0
0
(388)

130
327
0
150
208

21,591
70,961

(8,846)
(68,417)

12,745
2,544

(38)
(89)

1
0

164
0

(3)
0

73
(100)

(87)
0

(225)
(250)

0
0

0
0

(115)
(439)

8
57

(107)
(382)

100,128

(60,536)

39,592

45

(5)

137

177

(49)

60

0

0

(250)

115

868

983

9,554
202,234

(7,735)
(145,534)

1,819
56,700

(202)
(284)

0
(4)

0
301

0
174

0
(76)

0
(27)

0
(475)

0
0

0
(250)

(202)
(641)

(500)
433

(702)
(208)

270,378

(155,123)

115,255

(176)

54

331

324

(53)

4,595

(769)

0

(4,351)

(45)

45

0

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer

Additional Comments

RAG

A. Significant Variations

Action
Plan Value

Forecast
Variation

£m

£m

Children Looked After

Steve Walker

Pressure on CLA demand led budgets (External Residential placements and Independent Fostering
Agencies). The current number of IFAs is 188 and ER is 54. The pressure of £0.38m is offset by release
from the demand and demography reserve. The projection assumes a further saving of £1m. There is a
risk that numbers continue to increase due to demographic pressures.

R

0.38

Passenger Transport

Sue Rumbold

Currently an overspend of £0.15m is projected. There is a risk that this may be exceeded.

R

0.15

A combination of increased catering costs, commissioning savings not being achieved, a slight reduction
in income and increased spend on projects. However, other savings have been identified to partly offset
this overspend.

R

0.30

Early Years

Andrea
Richardson

Income - ESG

CSLT

Latest Indicative allocations indicate an increase in Improvement Support Support Grant against
budgeted income.

G

(0.50)

Net effect of all other minor variations

CSLT

There are a number of other minor variations within the directorate.

G

(0.14)

Reduced agency spend in Children's Social work service, and also reduce non-front line
staffing in Children's Social work. A shortfall of £0.8m is currently projected against the
saving target, primarily due to non-achievement of the Initial Budget Action Plan around
Social Work staffing.

A

(0.93)

0.80

Net staff savings from ELI and through the management of vacant posts.

G

(0.98)

0.00

Proposed savings include running cost savings in information management & technology,
Andrew
Eastwood, Sue learning improvement and information management, and staff savings across a number of
services.
Rumbold

G

(0.97)

0.00

B. Key Budget Action plans (BAP's)
E1

Remodel Social Work Practice

E2

Other staffing savings

Page 76

C2

ESG funded activities

C3

Commissioned services

A7

Increase traded income and reduced level of subsidy

C1

Children's Centre Family Services & Childcare

A4

Additional DfE Innovations funding

A2

Children's Centre Income

A3

Additional income from top slice Free Early Education
Entitlement (FEEE) payments.

Sal Tariq

CSLT

CSLT

Commissioned Services - A shortfall of £0.2m is currently projected against the budgeted
savings.

A

(0.65)

0.20

CSLT

Additional resources have been committed to provide the capacity to develop a strategy and
implement the proposals. Additional traded income has been included in the 17/18 budget for
activity centres, complex needs, early years improvement, attendance strategy and a range
of other services provided to schools. At this stage in the year it is projected that the budget
should be achieved although there is a risk that not all the additional income is secured.

A

(1.25)

0.00

Reshape of family services which will include a review of the core offer and additional
services currently funded by partners.

G

(0.60)

0.00

New Innovations bid approved and £7.3m received in 2016/17. It is anticipated that £4m will
be spent in 2017/18.

G

(2.50)

(0.25)

Increases in Fees from January 2017 and September 2017 and additional income from the
new Free Early Educational Entitlement (FEEE) hourly rates. A shortfall of £1.05m against
the overall income target is projected reflecting a reduction in nursery places taken up. This is
offset by Family Services staffing savings of £0.55m.

R

(0.30)

0.50

New ability to top slice 5% from FEEE payments to nursery providers. Schools Forum
approval received.

G

(1.00)

0.01

Including short breaks contract savings, additional income from Adel Beck and Children's
Centre fees, additional public health and CCG funding, additional DCLG funding for troubled
families, running cost savings etc.

A

(2.86)

0.00

Additional staff savings across the Directorate

Review vacant posts and agency and overtime time spend across the directorate. Savings
from backfill arrangements around Kirklees and DfE PiP projects.

A

(1.07)

Actions to reduce CLA

Release from Demand & Demography reserve

A

(0.38)

Various other budget savings (8)

Andrea
Richardson
Sal Tariq

Andrea
Richardson

Sue Rumbold

CSLT

C. Contingency Plans

Children and Families Directorate - Forecast Variation

0.00

CITY DEVELOPMENT 2017/18 BUDGET - PERIOD 6
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 6 (APRIL - SEPTEMBER)
Overall At Period Six City Development is holding a breakeven position whilst trying to contain increasing pressures that have been identified and monitored, and work is ongoing to identify positive actions to mitigate these with a view to delivering a
balanced position.
In Planning some minor expenditure pressures on Planning Appeals and inspection costs are anticipated however these are offset with projected additional income from planning fees and building inspections assuming current trends continue.
In Economic Development the main pressure is due to a 20% rent discount for 6 months being given to all Kirkgate Market traders to allow them to invest in their businesses and help contribute to the market's long term viability.
Within Asset Management the Advertising Income budget continues to be a challenging target with a likely projected outturn shortfall of £518k. This assumes all current sites will be fully utilised, however work is ongoing to identify additional
locations and actions to mitigate this pressure in the longer term.
Highways and Transortation are currently projecting a small underspend and are expected to come in on budget, however there are large variations on staffing and supplies and services reflecting the current use of strategic partners Mouchels
rather than in-house colleagues to deliver current works, whilst waiting for recruitment to circa 90 vacant posts.
Arts and Venues have a projected overspend due to Carnival and Reggae Costs

Page 77

Within Sport and Active Lifestyles an overspend of £217k is projected to reflect the reductions in Public Health Funding, the impact of the failure of the moevable floor at JCCS , and the net impact of the part closure and refurbishment at
Aireborough Leisure Centre. A further pressure of £228k is due to a notable downturn in income at John Smeaton Leisure Centre due to 2 new budget gyms opening in close proximity.

However, in line with the Directorates Budget Strategy to deliver a balanced budget, further work is ongoing to identify mitigating actions and an action plan saving of £600k from one off income and balances income is included to reflect this and
a further action plan of £600k to reduce projected expenditure is being developed.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget
£'000

=

Planning &
Sustainable
Development
Economic
Development
Asset
Management &
Regeneration
Employment &
Skills
Highways &
Transportation
Arts & Heritage
Sport & Active
Lifestyles
Resources &
Strategy
Total

Income
Latest
Budget Estimate
£'000

£'000

Staffing

Premises

£'000

£'000

Supplies &
Transport
Services
£'000

£'000

Internal
Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Total (under) /
overspend
£'000

8,696

(6,320)

2,376

5

0

95

(6)

55

0

0

0

0

149

(183)

(34)

5,319

(4,666)

653

9

(12)

80

1

(29)

0

0

0

0

49

248

297

13,781 (15,485)

(1,704)

13

119

51

(1)

6

0

0

0

0

188

456

644

(2,208)

1,749

(27)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(27)

(10)

(37)

58,321 (41,489)

16,832

(619)

(43)

567

197

(21)

0

0

0

0

81

(160)

(79)

(8,076)

9,500

(26)

(83)

273

2

20

23

0

0

0

209

(104)

105

24,274 (18,946)

5,328

(67)

(35)

(24)

0

(1)

(35)

0

0

0

(162)

607

445

(125)

922

(60)

0

(641)

0

(40)

0

0

0

0

(741)

(600)

(1,341)

132,971 (97,315)

35,656

(772)

(54)

401

193

(10)

(12)

0

0

0

(254)

254

0

3,957

17,576

1,047

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
RAG

Action
Plan
Value

Forecast
Variation
against
Plan/Budget

£'000

£'000

Additional Comments

Lead Officer
A. Budget Action Plans

Page 78

1.

Planning and Sustainable Development

Tim Hill

Reduction in the net cost of service via increased income generation.

G

562

(34)

2.

Economic Development

Tom Bridges

Increased income and running cost savings

A

295

73

3.

Asset Management & Regeneration

Tom Bridges

Strategic Investment Income and additional fee income.

A

2,827

126

4.

Highways and Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Addition fee income and income from developers

G

1,396

(79)

5.

Arts and Heritage

Cluny
MacPherson

Savings via increased income opportunities, not hosting the Tour de Yorkshire in 2017, and a
staffing restructure.

A

810

105

6

Employment and Skills

Sue Wynne

Staffing and Commissioning Savings

G

240

(37)

7.

Sport and Active Lifestyles

Cluny
MacPherson

Reduction in the net cost of service via efficiency savings, staffing savings and increased
income generation.

R

652

228

8

Resources and Strategy

Ed Mylan

Directorate wide additional savings requirement

G

158

0

Total Budget Action Plan Savings

6,940

B. Other Significant Variations
1.

Asset Management

Tom Bridges

Shortfall in Advertising income

518

2.

Economic Development

Tom Bridges

6 Month 20% Rent Discount at Kirkgate Market

224

3.

Sport and Active
Lifestyles

Cluny
Macpherson

Income pressures from reduced Public Health Funding, JCCS Pool and Airborough
refurbishment

217

4.

City Development

All

Other minor variations across services

(141)

5.

City Development

All

Mitigating in year actions

(600)

6

City Development

All

Restrictions on running costs and supplies and services

(600)
City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation

0

RESOURCES AND HOUSING
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR
MONTH 6
Overall
A balanced position is projected at period 6 although there are risks around timely implementation of savings incorporated as part of the 2017/18 budget strategy leading to variations within services.
Resources
For month 6 it is assumed that, overall, support services will fall just short by £0.3k in achieving the £5m savings which formed part of the Support Services review. However, other risks are also emerging within
service areas. Shared Services are forecast to underspend by £738k , primarily as a result of savings against the staffing budget due to vacant posts. These savings are offset by a £150k overspend against the PPPU
budget (savings against staffing more than offset by a projected shortfall in income) and a £440k overspend on Finance mainly due to a £360k shortfall against court fees income. A £205k DIS pressure has emerged
following the recent cyber attacks on the NHS; this spend is to enable remedial work to be undertaken to mobile devices, the network, patch and configuration and to strengthen access control so that the Council
can qualify for the Public Services Network certificate.

Page 79

Leeds Building Services
A balanced position is projected for LBS through Directorate actions plans to be identified. With the current projection in relation to the delivery of the planned £1.8m savings, required in the budget strategy,
indicating a shortfall of £600k at period 6. This variation is due to slippage in the implementation of both the revised staffing structure and the IT infrastructure. A reduction in budgeted overheads combined with
anticipated increases in turnover will largely offset this pressure.
Housing and Property Services
Housing and Property Services are expected to achieve the £700k of budgeted savings in this financial year. The savings target of £117k for Housing Support and Partnership is forecast to be achieved through the
natural turnover of staff across the service. A potential pressure of £1.35m has been identified against the responsive repairs CPM budget in a recent report to Strategic Investment Board although no revenue
solution to inject additional funding has been found to date. Work has begun to look at increasing the level of capital spend and the positive impact this may have to offset the revenue pressure. Work is also
underway to ensure that in year pressures against the responsive repairs budget are contained as far as possible to enable the service of being close to a balanced position as possible at the year end. The Supporting
People contracts savings target of £350k has been achieved through the renegotiation and reprocurement of 3 sets of contracts. In addition to this, the revision of smaller contracts is expected to achieve a small
saving of £31k.
Civic Enterprise Leeds
A balanced position is currently forecast through Directorate action plans to be identified. As a result of the marginal financial impact of the reduced number of feeding days in 2017/18 and inflationary pressure on
food costs there's likely to be a £379k pressure for the Catering service, partially offset by savings/actions within the rest of the division to leave a net £200k pressure. There is also likely to be a financial impact of
Merrion House re-opening in this financial year. The Facilities Management element of the CEL budget is expected to balance and achieve the £100k budgeted savings for the year.
Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget
£'000

Income Budget Latest Estimate
£'000

£'000

Staffing

Premises

Supplies &
Services

Transport

Internal Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Resources

98,418

(38,122)

60,296

(2,681)

9

140

(29)

64

0

0

0

(24)

(2,521)

2,549

28

LBS

46,947

(55,327)

(8,380)

(56)

231

(108)

(67)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Housing & Property

26,195

(12,402)

13,793

(440)

42

4

0

(235)

(16)

0

0

235

(410)

379

(31)

CEL

71,090

(63,551)

7,539

289

43

184

(285)

(60)

171

(168)

3

242,650

(169,402)

73,248

(2,888)

325

220

(381)

(231)

(2,760)

2,760

0

Total

(16)

0

0

211

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Additional Comments

Lead Officer

RAG

A. Key Budget Action Plans

Action Plan
Value
£m

Forecast
Variation
against
Plan/Budget
£m

Efficiencies

1

Specialist Admin

Helena Phillips

Further efficiencies by consolidating "specialist" admin staff under one professional lead

2

ICT, IM &T & Intelligence

Dylan Roberts

Introduce a new operating model to deliver staffing efficiencies.

3

ICT, IM &T & Intelligence

Mariana Pexton

Introduce a new operating model to deliver staffing efficiencies.

4

Workforce Development

Lorraine Hallam

Consolidation of training budgets.

G
G
G
A

5

PPPU

David Outram

Identify savings through a portfolio approach including development of prioritisation model

6

Financial Services

Doug Messon

Savings to be delivered through staffing efficiencies.

7

Human Resources

Lorraine Hallam

Staff savings through continuing to implement new ways of working.

8

Strategy & Improvement

Marianna Pexton

Further staff savings and efficiencies within Communications, Marketing and Emergency
Planning.

9

Financial Services

Doug Messon

Additional traded income.

10

Legal & Democratic Services

Catherine Witham

11

LBS - Consolidation of Construction/Property Maintenance

Simon Costigan

Staffing efficiencies to fund cost of pay award.
Savings through staffing, both management and support functions and a targeted reduction in
running costs. Roll out of Total Mobile software will deliver efficiencies which will result in the
reduction in use of sub contractors.

Page 80

12

Strategic Housing - integration of functions

Jill Wildman

Closer working arrangements within the different functions will facilitate a reduction in the
number of budgeted posts.

13

Housing related support - reduction in contract payments

Jill Wildman

Savings to be realised through ongoing review and retendering of contracts.

14

Strategic Housing - review of charging arrangements

Jill Wildman

15

Cleaning Savings

Sarah Martin

Adpatations review charges to both the capital programme and Housing Leeds.
Efficiencies to be realised through expanding mobile cleaning, changing times and frequency of
cleaning resulting in a reduction of the number of staff required.
Reduction in level of JNC management support, delivered through a reconfiguration of roles and
responsibilities.

1.00

-0.80

0.90

0.00

0.20

0.00

0.30

0.00

A

0.30

0.20

G
G

0.90

0.00

0.30

0.00

G
G
G

0.10

0.00

0.20

0.00

0.10

0.00

A

1.80

0.60

G
G
G

0.10

0.00

0.40

0.00

0.20

0.00

G

0.50

0.00

G
G

0.20

0.00

0.10

0.00

16

Management Staff reductions

Sarah Martin

17

Facilities Management Savings

Sarah Martin

18

Fleet

Sarah Martin

Planned realignment of the service to be delivered through a restructure.
Combination of maximising existing external income streams whilst developing new ones
together with the aim of reducing costs.

G

0.10

0.00

Sarah Martin

Based on internalising commercial catering for some of the services within the Civic Quarter and
expanding retail offer.

G

0.10

0.00

19

Commercial Catering

B. Other Significant Variations
1

Financial Services

Doug Meeson

Shortfall against court fees income.

A

0.50

2

CEL

Sarah Martin

Shortfall against Catering income

A

0.20

3

Directorate action plan.

Actions to be identified so that the Directorate can achieve a balanced position.

Strategy and Resources Directorate - Forecast Variation

-0.70

0.00

COMMUNITIES & ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE SUMMARY
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR
Period 6 (September 2017)
Overall Position (nil variance)
Communities (nil variance)
The service is projecting a nil variance against its budget at period 6.
Customer Access (+£653k over budget)
The main area of potential overspend is staffing in Community Hubs where current staff in
post are projected to exceed the budget by £650k. This is largely due to delivery of the
Community Hub programme which has required additional resource and
management/supervision to be put in place. However, the service is anticipating that a
number of staff will leave under the ELI scheme and this is expected to reduce the staffing
overspend to around £510k. The cost of providing static guards at a number of sites due to
safety concerns is likely to cost an additional £145k. These pressures along with an
expected shortfall in libraries income of £50k, are offset by additional income (net £199k)
in the Interpreting and Translation Team from providing translation services to the NHS

Parks & Countryside (nil variance)
The service is projecting an overall variance at Cafe/Retail and Attractions of +£242k,
which at this stage of the year includes a projected shortfall in income at both Lotherton
Hall and Tropical World. The service is increasing marketing activities to offset these
shortfalls and an assumption has been made that this will offset the projected shortfall in
income. In addition there is a projected reduction in income from Golf of £57k, although
other savings within the service, mainly income from land searches within PROW (Public
Rights Of Way), are expected to offset this.

Waste Management:

Environmental Action:

HWSS & Infrastructure (+£188k over budget)
There is a projected shortfall in budgeted income of +£113k, mainly due to the deferral of
the introduction of inert building waste charges at Household Waste sites until February
2018. Additional expenditure in respect of HWSS overtime/sickness cover and HWSS Plant
Operator training is projected to be partially offset by one-off savings.

Refuse (+£769k over budget)
Within the Refuse Service it is currently anticipated that there will be slippage of 9 months in
respect of the planned collection route efficiency programme as the staff consultation
process continues, and this is forecast to result in a pressure of +£769k. Additional staffing
expenditure in relation to backup/sickness cover and union support to the route collection
programme is projected to be offset by one-off savings within the service.

Car Parking (-£155k below budget)
Staffing is projected to be under budget by (£55k) due to delays in ongoing recruitment.
Income trends net (£100k) indicate shortfalls in both on-street income and Bus Lane
offences throughout the city, although these are offset by additional off-street and PCN
income.

Page 81

Elections, Licensing and Registration (nil variance)
The service is currently projecting a nil variation, although there are some concerns around
income within births, deaths and marriages and this will continue to be closely monitored. Cleaner Neighbourhoods Teams (+£46k over budget)
Costs in respect of the general election are expected to be met by government grant.
The projected overspend mainly relates to the hire costs of using additional sweepers.
Savings from delayed recruitment to the new structure are projected to be largely offset by
Welfare & Benefits (+£463k over budget)
additional overtime costs.
The main area of risk is around the achievement of the budgeted level of Housing Benefit
overpayment income (£8.4m) which has reduced in line with the overall reduction in HB
City Centre (-£11k under budget)
payments along with the average value of the overpayments. Current indications are that
The projected variance is mainly due to staffing savings whilst recruitment is ongoing to fill
after making a provision for doubtful debts, there could be a net shortfall of income of
the recently approved structure, partially offset by the ongoing usage of overtime and
around £500k at the year end. In other areas a small underspend of £37k is currently
covering City Centre events.
projected, mainly due to staffing savings, partially offset by the cost of additional off-site
processing, and additional grant income.
Environmental Health (-£65k below budget)
The projected variance is due to savings from delayed recruitment (£81k). These positions
are projected to be all filled by December. Variations in Pest control expenditure and
income are projected at £35k.

Waste Strategy & Disposal (-£1,584k under budget)
The projected underspend includes a saving of £470k in respect of the rateable value of the
Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility (RERF), £339k disposal savings at Household Waste
Sites reflecting volume and price variations, £182k savings in respect to SORT disposal costs,
£112k additional recycling income (paper/card/scrap metal) and one off savings of £481k
identified within the service.
Community Safety (-£92k below budget)
The projected underspend mainly reflects staffing savings of £74k due to vacant posts within
CCTV, LABST and delays in recruiting to the new Domestic Violence structure.
Directorate Wide (action plan savings -£212k)
The directorate will work towards identifying and implementing appropriate actions to
balance the overall projected overspend of £212k.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;
Summary By Service

Period 6 Projected variances
Expenditure
Budget

Income
Budget

Latest
Estimate

Staffing

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Supplies &
Services

Premises
£'000

Internal
Charges

Transport

£'000

£'000

£'000

Communities

16,051

(10,716)

5,335

0

0

0

0

0

Customer Access

22,486

(3,269)

19,217

714

156

68

(8)

25

Elections, Licensing And Registration

4,676

(4,926)

(250)

497

177

560

(2)

6

268,070

(266,116)

1,954

(127)

2

110

3

(19)

Car Parking Services

4,895

(13,374)

(8,479)

(55)

(10)

(45)

4

Community Safety

8,105

(6,526)

1,579

(142)

Waste Management

40,379

(7,368)

33,011

832

(3)

(996)

Parks And Countryside

29,587

(23,098)

6,489

26

29

371

1,999

(462)

1,537

12

0

1

Welfare And Benefits

Environmental Action (City Centre)
Environmental Health
Cleaner Neighbourhood Teams

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

0

0

Total (under)
/ overspend

Income
£'000

£'000

0

0

0

955

(302)

653

1,238

(1,238)

0

(31)

494

463
(155)

9

(96)

(59)

(33)

(196)

104

(92)

32

(116)

(251)

(376)

(627)

(80)

140

(21)

486

(486)

0

(1)

0

12

(23)

(11)
(65)

2,107

(565)

1,542

(81)

(4)

22

(7)

(7)

(77)

12

12,305

(4,518)

7,787

(16)

10

(10)

67

2

53

(7)

(212)

Directorate Action Plan
Total

External
Providers

410,660

(340,938)

69,722

1,448

(212)
357

60

9

6

0

0

0

0

1,881

46
(212)

(1,881)

(0)

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Additional Comments

RAG

A. Key Budget Action Plans

Action Plan
Value
£m

Forecast
Variation
against
Plan/Budget
£m

1.

Re-design Refuse collection rounds

Tom Smith

Net saving of £1.6m budgeted (£1.38m in the directorate, £0.25m in strategic debt budget)

A

(1.38)

0.77

2.

Implement charging for replacement wheeled bins

Andrew Lingham

Implementation date May 2017

G

(0.24)

0.00

3.

Implement charging for inert building waste

Andrew Lingham

Implementation deferred for 2017/18

4.

Environmental Action staffing savings

Helen Freeman

Restructure now agreed

5.

Implement charging for Bulky Waste

Helen Freeman

Implementation date May 2017

G

(0.15)

0.00

6.

Car Parking - review of tariffs

Helen Freeman

includes on street, Sun/Eve, Bank Holiday and Woodhouse Lane

G

(0.50)

0.00

7.

Undertake works for Housing Leeds, assumed to be within
environmental action

All COs

Not restricted to environmental action, works may be undertaken by other services

G

(0.30)

0.00

8.

Reduce front line horticultural staff

Sean Flesher

Service to identify posts to be held vacant

G

(0.40)

0.00

G

(0.14)

0.10

(0.71)

0.00

Page 82

9.

Development of visitor attractions/increase admission prices

Sean Flesher

1st phase of Tropical World complete, DCRs required for other sites

G

(0.33)

0.00

10.

Increase Bereavement charges to eliminate subsidy

Sean Flesher

To be increased by 2% above inflation.

G

(0.12)

0.00

11.

Stretched income target across Parks & Countryside

Sean Flesher

To be achieved across all income generating areas

G

(0.16)

0.00

12.

Reduction in Community Safety area co-ordinators

Sam Millar

Achieved through redeployment

G

(0.18)

0.00

13.

Generate CCTV/Security income of £2.1m

Sam Millar

Estimated £200k of unsecured income

G

(0.20)

0.00

14.

Community Safety - secure £1.1m income from WYPCC

Sam Millar

WYPCC agreed to fund PCSOs in Leeds

G

(1.10)

0.00

15.

Communities Teams savings

Shaid Mahmood

Review Management & Leadership, review grants & contributions to 3rd sector

G

(0.20)

0.00

16.

Communities Well Being

Shaid Mahmood

Further reductions to Community Cttees

G

(0.18)

0.00

17.

Community Centres - restrict free lets

Shaid Mahmood

Target to restrict to 75% of present level

G

(0.08)

0.00

18.

Contact Centre staffing savings

Lee Hemsworth

Includes channel shift savings, reducing service failure and reviewing out of hours service

G

(0.53)

0.00

19.

Customer Services Business Support staffing savings

Lee Hemsworth

Includes reducing helpdesk function and merging support and development functions

G

(0.25)

0.00

20.

Libraries efficiencies

Lee Hemsworth

Savings from staffing/running costs/income

G

(0.40)

0.00

21.

Reprovision of mobile library service

Lee Hemsworth

Subject to Executive Board report

G

(0.12)

0.00

22.

Welfare and Benefits - reduction in off-site processing

Andy Cameron

Introduction of e-claims

G

(0.20)

0.10

23.

Local Welfare Support Scheme

Andy Cameron

Reduce scheme by 30%

G

(0.30)

0.00

24.

Welfare and Benefits - additional grant income

Andy Cameron

FERIS, New Burdens. Additional £540k budgeted for in 17/18 on top of £290k in base

G

(0.54)

(0.02)

25.

Registrars

Steve Coupe

Charging /income proposals

G

(0.08)

0.00

Waste Disposal Costs
Community Hubs
Housing Benefits
Waste Management
All other services
Directorate Action Plan

Andrew Lingham
Lee Hemsworth
Lee Hemsworth

Net Budget £15.8m incl. £10.7m RERF. Projected saving reflects Business Rates saving at RERF
Staffing overspend projected - see comments above
Projected shortfall in overpayments income
Mainly disposal variations
All other variations
Actions identified

G
A
A
G
G

B. Other Significant Variations
1.
2
3
4
5
6

Communities & Environment - Forecast Variation

(0.47)
0.67
0.50
(1.03)
(0.41)
(0.21)

(0.0)

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - PERIOD 06
Overall :
At month 6 the strategic & central budgets are projected to balance.
The key variations are;
- Section 278 income - a potential £1.6m risk due to lower levels of development activity
.
- Additional debt costs of £0.6m are forecast, reducing to £0.1m after accounting for income from prudential borrowing charges
- Savings of £0.8m on the levy contribution to the business rates pool
- Reduction in New Homes Bonus of £1.5m
- Additional £1.6m of S31 grant income for business rates reliefs, primarily £1.0m of reliefs announced after the budget was set.(This is to offset the loss of

business rates income)

- Based on the level of capitalisation of revenue spend in 2016/17, an additional £0.9m of capitalisation is forecast

Page 83

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget
£'000
Strategic Accounts
Debt
Govt Grants

Income
Budget
£'000

Latest
Estimate
£'000

Staffing
£'000

External
Providers
£'000

Transfer
Payments
£'000

Capital
£'000

Total
Expenditure
£'000

Appropriation
£'000

(36,641)

(47,528)

(627)

(627)

20,135

(920)

19,215

663

663

1,739

(22,399)

(20,660)

37,100

0

37,100

6,243

(1,088)

5,155

Insurance

9,438

(9,438)

0

63,768

(70,486)

(6,718)

Total

Internal
Charges
£'000

Transport
£'000

(10,887)

Miscellaneous

Joint Committees

Supplies &
Services
£'000

Premises
£'000

(827)

(827)

105
(230)
(230)

0

Total (under) /
overspend
£'000

Income
£'000
745

118

(91)

(918)

663

105

105

1

(229)

261

32

(5)

(5)

5

0

(920)

920

0

32

0

0

105

(827)

0

0

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR
Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
RAG

Forecast
Budget Variation against
Budget

Additional Comments

Lead Officer
A. Major Budget Issues

£m

£m

Page 84

1.

Debt Costs and External Income

Doug Meeson £300k brokerage; £360k external interest costs (offset £619k additional borrowing income see B3)

A

18.2

0.6

2.

Minimum Revenue Provision

Doug Meeson No variation is anticipated for 2017/18

G

1.0

0.0

3.

New Homes Bonus

Doug Meeson Impact of change to NHB announced in budget

R

(13.3)

1.5

4.

Business Rates (S31 Grants, Tariff adjustment & EZ)

Doug Meeson New S31 grant announced after budget was set

G

(9.6)

(1.6)

5.

S278 Contributions

Doug Meeson

R

(4.9)

1.6

6.

General capitalisation target

Doug Meeson Capitalisation of eligible spend in directorate/service revenue budgets.

G

(3.5)

(0.4)

7.

Schools capitalisation target

Doug Meeson Capitalisation of eligible spend in school revenue budgets.

G

(3.5)

(0.5)

8.

PFI Procurement savings

Doug Meeson Use of £1m income from 2016/17 Street Lighting PFI negotiated settlement

G

(1.0)

0.0

9.

Joint Committee - Coroners Services

Doug Meeson Likely overspend in 17/18 due to one off tribunal costs and staff restructuring to generate future savings.

G

1.3

0.1

Projection from Capital team is £3.0m, therefore there is a risk of a £1.6m shortfall, dependent on progress in
capital spend on the relevant schemes during the year.

B. Other Significant Budgets
1.

Insurance

Doug Meeson Potential for some savings on projected cost of insurance claims for this financial year.

G

0.0

0.0

2.

Business Rates Levy

Doug Meeson Projections indicate a potential reduction in the levy due.

G

1.7

(0.8)

3.

Prudential Borrowing Recharges

Doug Meeson Projections suggest a slight increase in recharge income - offset debt costs above

G

(14.7)

(0.5)

4.

Earmarked Reserves

Doug Meeson Use of capital and other earmarked reserves.

G

(2.4)

0.0

5.

Miscellaneous

Doug Meeson No significant variation anticipated at this stage.

G

5.2

0.0

6.

Apprenticeship levy

Doug Meeson To be allocated to directorates as training credits are used.

G

0.0

0.0

7.

CRCs

Doug Meeson £300k projected additional cost above budget - to be allocated to directorates

A

0.0

0.3

8.

PPPU income

Doug Meeson £275k projected shortfall against PPPU HRA income

A

0.0

0.3

9.

Homeless grant income

Doug Meeson Anticipated additional homeless grant income - to be allocated

A

0.0

(0.6)

Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation

0.0

Housing Revenue Account - Period 6
Financial Dashboard - 2017/18 Financial Year
Summary of projected over / (under) spends (Housing Revenue Account)
Directorate

Current Budget
£000

Projected Spend
£000

Variance to
budget

Comments

£000

Previous period
variance
£000

Rent lower than budget due to lower stock numbers from increased RTB sales. The void level is under the target at
0.85%

(215,352)

(214,985)

367

(6,968)

(6,896)

72

(29,356)

(29,624)

(268)

(251,676)

(251,504)

172

Disrepair Provision

1,000

1,449

449

Repairs to Dwellings

43,548

43,548

-

-

Council Tax on Voids

754

754

-

-

26,262

25,458

(804)

Premises

7,362

7,353

(9)

Supplies & Services

4,432

4,177

(255)

Internal Services

40,549

40,878

329

Capital Programme

71,000

71,000

-

Rents
Service Charges

Page 85

Other Income

Total Income

336

Service charge income (£2k), Community Links furniture offset by saving in supplies and services £74k
Increased fee income from projected RTB sales (£233k), KPI income (£88k), Wharfedale View catering income (£36k)
(offset by an increase in internal charges). Underachieved income on budgeted capitalised salary costs £195k (offset
by savings on salaries). PFI Pass Through Costs (£106k).

34

(175)
195

Expenditure

Employees

Unitary Charge PFI
Capital Charges
Other Expenditure

Total Expenditure

Disrepair compensation and fees

Savings due to vacant posts and temporary staff secondments (£1065k). This saving is offset by Disrepair agency
staff £224k and other smaller variances £36k.
Review of budgets and projected spend
Community Links furniture savings balanced by reduction in service charge income (£75k), Savings following a
review of printing requirements (£110k), Annual Support Grant (£20k), ICT project savings (£50k).
Additional Fire Safety work £321k, Additional out of hours service £65k, Savings in other internal charges (£236k),
Disrepair legal locums £131k, Increased costs of RTB due to high number of sales £48k

-

(531)
(4)
(178)
193
-

(64)

8,860

8,796

45,106

45,127

21

6,976

6,944

(32)

255,848

255,483

(365)

PFI Scheme Adjustments: Unitary Charge £61k, Insurance refund (£247k), Pass Through Costs £157k. Other
adjustments (£35k).
Interest payable to GF
LTF saving (£22k), Transport savings (£10k)

(123)
32
(18)
(630)

Housing Revenue Account - Period 6
Financial Dashboard - 2017/18 Financial Year
Net Position

4,173

3,980

(193)

Appropriation: Sinking funds

(3,139)

(2,946)

193

Appropriation: Reserves

(1,034)

(1,034)

-

0

0

(Surplus)/Deficit

(434)
Unitary Charge on PFI funded by sinking fund

202
-

0

(232)

Proposed New Reserves

-

-

Transfer to Capital Reserve

-

-

Total Current Month

0

0

0

(232)

Page 86

Change in Stock

Budget

Right to Buy sales*
New Build (PFI)
New Build (Council House Growth)
Total

Projection
350

530

0

0

(101)

(101)

249

429

* actual sales as at the end of Period 6: 260
Right to Buy Receipts
Total Value of sales (£000s)
Average Selling Price per unit (£000s)
Number of Sales*
Number of Live Applications

2016/17 Actual

2017/18 Projection
25,983

27,374

50.4

51.6

516

530

1,165

1,254

Housing Revenue Account - Period 6
Financial Dashboard - 2017/18 Financial Year

Arrears

2016/17

2017/18
£000

Dwelling rents & charges

Variance
£000

£000

2017/18 Week 26

Page 87

Current Tenants

6,573

6,326

(247)

Former Tenants

3,831

4,494

663

10,404

10,820

416

Under occupation

2017/18 Week 18

Volume of Accounts

4,655

4,346

(309)

Volume in Arrears

2,155

2,032

(123)

% in Arrears

46%

47%

Value of Arrears

576

549

Collection Rates

0%
(27)

2017/18 Week 18

Dwelling rents

97.43%

96.48%

Target

97.50%

97.75%

Variance to Target

-0.07%

-1.27%

-0.95%

Housing Revenue Account - Period 6
Financial Dashboard - 2017/18 Financial Year

Projected Financial Position on Reserves

HRA General Reserve

Reserves b/f

Use of Reserves Contribution to
Reserves

Closing
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

(6,631)

100

0

(6,531)

(1,668)

963

Earmarked Reserves
Environmental Works
Insurance - large claims
Welfare Change
Housing Advisory Panels

Page 88

Sheltered Housing (Committed in capital programme)

(705)

(137)

(137)

(1,782)

564

(1,218)

(699)

459

(240)

(3,238)

(3,238)

(64)

(64)

Early Leavers' Initiative

(408)

(408)

Changing the Workplace

(353)

353

(0)

(262)
(8,610)

262
2,601

0

(0)
(6,009)

(10,343)

2,900

0

(7,443)

(2,515)

46

0

(2,469)

(12,858)

2,946

0

(9,912)

(14,960)

56,991

(71,000)

(28,969)

MRR (New Build)

(12,540)

9,350

0

(3,190)

MRR (HRA RCCOs)

(3,003)

Holdsforth Place - land purchase

eFiles Box-It Project
PFI Reserves
Swarcliffe PFI Sinking Fund
LLBH&H PFI Sinking Fund
Capital Reserve
MRR (General)

Total

(3,003)

(30,502)

66,341

(71,000)

(35,163)

(58,601)

71,988

(71,000)

(57,615)

Agenda Item 10
Report authors: Wyn Jones /
Lee Paton
Tel: 3787720 / 3787701
Report of: Director of City Development
Report to: Executive Board
Date: 15 November 2017
Subject: The Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage Scheme
Are specific electoral wards affected?
If relevant, name(s) of ward(s): City & Hunslet

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for call-In?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?
If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:

Yes

No

Summary of main issues
1. The Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage Scheme will contribute to one of the Council’s
eight breakthrough projects which aims to establish a vibrant city centre that all can
benefit from, as part of its wider ambition for a strong economy and compassionate
city. The Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage Scheme will do this by improving a key
cultural district of the city that will complement the Leeds 2023 vision of connecting a
city through culture.
2. The Grand Quarter, centred on New Briggate, is an important and historic part of the
city centre, which is home to the Grand Theatre and Opera House, a high profile and
iconic heritage asset and also home to Opera North since 1978. Adjacent to the Grand
Theatre is the Howard Assembly Room, leased to and operated by Opera North. Both
venues operate in an increasingly competitive market and it is therefore important to
ensure a local environment that is conducive to attracting patronage and to realising
the economic opportunities within this part of the city centre in both the daytime and
evening economies.
3. The Grand Quarter has however been steadily declining in recent years. This is due to
an under- investment in commercial properties and a vehicle dominated transport
infrastructure that have created a poor pedestrian environment with a low grade retail
offer and the loss of valued historic features.
4. There is currently a limited relationship between the Grand Theatre and Opera House
/Howard Assembly Room and the immediate city centre setting. The two venues
generate significant visitor numbers but there is very little dwell time from patrons in
the Grand Quarter due to the unattractive environment and limited complementary
offer in the vicinity. Should these issues not be addressed the area may continue to
underperform, thus undermining the area’s potential for entertainment, independent

Page 89

retail and service functions. The Grand Quarter is about to be designated as a
Conservation Area to reflect its special heritage character and in recognition of the
need to encourage improvements and control inappropriate change.
5. The Heritage Lottery Fund’s (HLF) Townscape Heritage Programme provides an
opportunity to address these issues through an application for funding that would
target property improvements to reinstate/repair heritage features on commercial
properties and bring vacant floor space back into use. The scheme would generate
match funding from property owners and a HLF contribution to public realm
improvements. It would also provide opportunities to build on the heritage training
successes of Re-Making Leeds by providing training opportunities for young people
and upskilling for the building industry.
6. The council’s wider regeneration aspirations include improvements to the public
highway along New Briggate to enhance the pedestrian experience, including better
connectivity with Briggate. The proposed improvement scheme is part of the city
centre public realm strategy, which aims to reduce unnecessary traffic out of the city
centre and create better pedestrian connectivity and environment. This work will
complement the £174m investment proposed through the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme, which will deliver a wide range of activities to improve
transport efficiency in the city. In addition Opera North has maintained its ambition to
transform the sense of arrival for their patrons as part of its Transformation Project.
These improvements would also increase dwell time of patrons and provide a wider
regeneration benefit for New Briggate as a whole. A budget of £750,000 has been
identified to fund improvements in the area, from the sale of 26 – 34 Merrion Street,
that would complement the Townscape Heritage bid and the council’s regeneration
aspirations.
7. The Grand Quarter is also located between a number of high profile regeneration
areas within the city centre, including Leeds Arena, the recently completed Victoria
Gate phase 1 (John Lewis), the proposed Victoria Gate phase 2 development and
redevelopment of the Bridge Street area. As such, it will act as a key connecting area
of the city centre as these schemes come forward, with the potential to generate
footfall that will increase the sustainability of any planned investment.
8. Leeds BID has provided investment for the Highways feasibility study for the proposed
New Briggate improvements. In addition it has funded small scale public realm
improvements on New Briggate, such as footpath/street furniture cleansing and
repainting of bollards. Further collaborative working is planned as part of any
successful Townscape Heritage bid.
9. The Council has previously sought Townscape Heritage funds for the Grand Quarter,
though its application was declined in January 2017, albeit it was supported by the
Yorkshire & Humber Regional Office. This report seeks Executive Board support for
the resubmission of a Stage 1 funding application to the HLF on 8 December and
approval to reserve £500,000 from the general contingency budget to match fund the
scheme, if the bid is successful.

Page 90

Recommendations
10.

Executive Board is recommended to:
i)

approve the submission of a Stage 1 Application to the Heritage Lottery Fund
in December 2017;

ii)

approve the allocation of £500,000 Leeds City Council match funding from
within the general contingency budget, subject to a successful Townscape
Heritage bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund. This will lever in up to £2m of
Heritage Lottery Fund grant and, subject to individual property grant
agreements, £2.5m of private match funding; and

iii)

note that the Executive Manager (Town Centres, Heritage & Buildings) will
be responsible for implementation.

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek authorisation for the resubmission of the Grand
Quarter Townscape Heritage scheme to the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) in
December 2017 and the allocation of £500,000 match council funding.

2.

Background information

2.1

In June 2016 Executive Board authorised the submission of a Grand Quarter
Townscape Heritage Stage 1 bid to the HLF. Whilst the HLF’s Yorkshire & Humber
Region supported the scheme for submission to their National Board, in January
2017 the Council was informed that it had not been selected for HLF funding.

2.2

The subsequent HLF bid review meeting highlighted that whilst the Grand Quarter
Townscape Heritage scheme scored very highly when assessed by the HLF
Regional Board, there was strong competition nationally with four times as many
bids as there was available funding. The HLF noted that for the Grand Quarter
initiatives was excellent.

2.3

In addition at the time of the previous Stage 1 bid in 2016 the council had three
Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI) schemes ongoing within the city. By the time of
the revised submission the council will have successfully completed two THI
schemes, at Chapeltown and Armley, and will be the only local authority in the
country to have done so. Furthermore the Lower Kirkgate THI has progressed
significantly during this period with new owners progressing a scheme for the Grade
II* Listed First White Cloth Hall and new grant proposals moving forward for a
further ten property improvement schemes.

2.4

The main activities of the proposed Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage scheme sit
within a wider regeneration vision to arrest decline within the area and improve its
image. These will include:


Restoring and repairing the heritage assets and enhancing the Conservation
Area through a Townscape Heritage project;

Page 91



Bringing historic vacant floor space back into use and encouraging new business
into the area and increasing employment opportunities;



Improving the appearance and functionality of the public highway and
streetscape;
Creating better connectivity both through the area and to neighbouring city centre
destinations;
Increasing the usability of the green space around St John’s Church and Merrion
Gardens;
Developing heritage based training and learning opportunities.




2.5

The scheme outputs will help to support the future viability of the Grand Theatre &
Opera House by complementing the proposed improvements to the vacant theatre
shops currently being developed by Opera North.

3.

Main issues

3.1

If successful in a funding bid, the Townscape Heritage scheme will offer grant
opportunities to a number of local building/business owners along New Briggate
and the Grand Arcade. Properties have been prioritised on the basis of heritage
need, condition and negative impact on the appearance and functionality of the
Grand Quarter. The eligible properties are listed in the table below, which can be
read in conjunction with the TH scheme plan at Appendix1.

3.2

High Priority

23-51b New Briggate; Grand Arcade.

Medium Priority

51c-59 & 62-66a New Briggate. Grand Theatre
& Opera House (32-44 New Briggate).

Low Priority

14-30 New Briggate; 123 Vicar Lane-10
Merrion Place.

Typically the grant funded works on target properties will include the following:




3.3

Bringing vacant historic floor space back into use;
Replacing inappropriate modern shop fronts and restoring/repairing traditional
shop fronts;
Securing the building fabric, for example traditional slate roofs and traditional
windows.

The Grand Theatre and Opera House venue is an iconic cultural venue both in
Leeds and regionally. However, competition from within Leeds, such as the Arena,
and from regional venues such as Bradford Alhambra, which has an integral
restaurant and City Park public realm setting, is a potential threat to the long term
future of the venue. This is exacerbated by the declining condition of the
surrounding properties such as the Grand Parade which is directly opposite the
Grand Theatre and Opera House. Vehicular and pedestrian congestion on the
narrow footpaths, particularly at performance times, and the lack of facilities to

Page 92

enable patrons to enjoy the full experience of a theatre visit further undermine the
atmosphere on New Briggate.
3.4

As part of the council’s plans to improve the Grand Quarter area a Council
highways project to improve pedestrian access along New Briggate is being
prepared for implementation in 2019. The scheme includes widening footpaths,
rationalising vehicular bays/bus stops, improving crossing points and links in order
to create a more positive environment for pedestrians to move around in and
enhancing the quality of streetscape materials. There is a further opportunity for the
Council to make streetscape improvements as a second phase in the immediate
vicinity such as along Merrion Street (East), which has successfully been
pedestrianised, Mark Lane along the side of the Grade I Listed St Johns church and
Harrison Street which is used to service the Grand Theatre & Opera House and is
the proposed arrival point for Opera North. Elements of this second phase will be
included in the Stage 1 grant application bid for grant funding as they offer an
opportunity to enhance the historic streetscape.

3.5

Members may recall that the Council took a decision at the October 2016 meeting
to lease 34-40 New Briggate to Opera North Ltd at market rent, subject to a
successful application for Arts Council funding. At the time of writing it is understood
that the Arts Council will not be providing funding for the scheme.

3.6

However, Opera North has maintained its ambition to transform the sense of arrival
for their patrons. These plans are focussed on establishing a restaurant use in the
vacant units that front New Briggate, reinstating the original arch façade, creating
an entrance foyer to the Howard Assembly Room which will have improved facilities
for patrons. The scheme will also include enhancing the existing office facilities on
Harrison Street to incorporate an education and orchestra rehearsal studios. It is
envisaged that the works will commence on site in 2018. This will complement the
maintenance works carried out recently to the Grand Theatre roofing.

3.7

The investment involved with Opera North’s transformational project indicates the
organisation’s confidence to retain its headquarters in Leeds. The Council’s
investment through the Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage scheme will further
improve the long term future working partnership with Opera North and surrounding
businesses.

3.8

The training element of the scheme aims to create formal training and work
experience opportunities for young people building on the standards set by the
successful Re-Making Leeds scheme, which was a joint enterprise between the
Council, Leeds College of Building, York College and the Heritage Lottery Fund. In
addition heritage awareness sessions will be provided for the local community and
interested professionals to promote a better understanding of historic buildings and
their maintenance.

3.9

The scheme will also focus on improving access and use of St John’s churchyard,
an area of historic green space that currently has poor visibility and is underutilised.
This will be achieved by creating an improved sense of security around the site by
bringing the upper floors on 23-51b New Briggate back into residential use. It is
envisaged that over the medium term this will bring forward opportunities to

Page 93

increase the connectivity through the churchyard and develop a better relationship
with the St John’s Shopping Centre and Merrion Gardens.
3.10

Leeds BID has provided investment for the Highways feasibility study for the
proposed New Briggate improvements. In addition it has funded small scale public
realm improvements on New Briggate, such as footpath/street furniture cleansing
and repainting of bollards. Further collaborative working is planned as part of any
successful Townscape Heritage bid.

3.11

The proposed funding for the Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage scheme (see
Appendix 1) comprises of up of £2m grant from the HLF with £500,000 match
council funding. This includes £60,000 for the Heritage training programme and
£60,000 towards the public realm project for additional streetscape works to support
the proposed highways improvements. The scheme will benefit visitors to the area,
such as theatre patrons, target property owners and business owners. It will create
additional residential uses diversifying its existing community, increasing passive
surveillance whilst also creating more employment opportunities through a
refreshed commercial offer for the area.

4.

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation & Engagement

4.1.1 The council undertook a comprehensive programme of public consultation
regarding the proposals for a Townscape Heritage scheme and a wider
regeneration vision for the Grand Quarter area in the summer of 2016. Public
approval for the proposed activities was overwhelming with 96% of respondents
supporting the proposals. Key stakeholders including the Leeds Grand Theatre,
Opera North and Leeds BID have also been consulted.
4.1.2 Further stakeholder and public consultation occurred in May to June 2017 setting
out the proposal to designate the Grand Quarter Conservation area. Feedback was
once again positive and Planning Board will be asked to approve the designation in
November 2017. The designation of the Conservation Area will enhance the
Townscape Heritage Stage 1 bid application to the HLF.
4.1.3 The Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning was consulted on
6 October. Ward Members were consulted on 12 October 2017.
4.2

Equality and Diversity/Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has taken place indicating
there are no implications and, therefore, further assessment is not required. The
screening document is attached at Appendix 3.
4.3

Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The HLF Townscape Heritage bid will make a clear and direct contribution to the
delivery of the Council’s policies and priorities. The Grand Quarter project will
assist in realising the breakthrough project to establish a vibrant city centre that all
can benefit from, as part of the wider Council ambition for a strong economy and

Page 94

compassionate city. It also contributes to a number of Best Council Plan Priorities
for 2017/18:


Good Growth – The investment brought about by the Townscape Heritage
scheme will help to create good growth by bringing vacant commercial and
residential floor space in the Grand Quarter area back into use, creating new job
opportunities and a more vibrant community.



Health & Wellbeing - The historic environment also provides benefits for our
health. Historic parks, gardens and other civic spaces have a significant impact
on our physical and mental well-being. Research has shown how natural views
can lower blood pressure and stress and improvements to the built environment
have been shown to enhance mental well-being (Benefits of Heritage, Heritage
Lottery Fund, 2012).



Child Friendly City – A Townscape Heritage scheme will help to bring the
underused green space at St John’s churchyard back into use and the council
has already utilised the space by installing temporary pop-up play areas. This
work will be further developed to widen the range of activities in this valuable
space.



Transport and Infrastructure – A highways plan is in development that will
improve permeability through the Grand Quarter, reduce traffic congestion and
improve connectivity to the surrounding areas of the city centre. The bid has
been developed in alignment with the wider city centre traffic network proposals
and Leeds Public Realm Strategy.

4.3.2 Leeds is currently in the process of applying to become the European Capital of
Culture 2023. The Grand Quarter is a key cultural hub within the city centre and its
enhancement would contribute to this ambition. Leeds 2023 will be firmly rooted in
the city’s Culture Strategy and the year itself will be a milestone in a much bigger
journey to transform the city and the quality of life experienced by everyone who
lives, works and plays here.
4.3.3 The emerging Northgate Strategy has an objective to develop a variety of
regeneration initiatives that will complement the anticipated and potential
development in and around Grand Quarter, including the historic Mabgate areas.
The Grand Quarter is an integral part of this jigsaw, located centrally between the
Leeds Arena, the retail core centred on Briggate and the Phase 2 Victoria Gate site.
4.4

Resources and Value for Money

4.4.1 If the bid is successful the £500,000 of Council match funding will lever in up to £2m
from the HLF with up to a further £2.5m from the private sector. Without the
Townscape Heritage it is highly unlikely that this additional inward investment to
Leeds would materialise without impacting on the heritage character of the area.
4.4.2 The Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage scheme includes grant funding, jointly
funded by the HLF, to provide for a Townscape Heritage Project Officer to deliver
the programme.

Page 95

4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The City Council has legal authority to bid for and implement the provisions of the
Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage pursuant to its powers under Section 1 of the
Localism Act.2011.
4.5.2 TH schemes are compatible with the State Aid provisions to the extent that on 27
May 2003 the then European Commission decision (NN 11/2002) considered the
impact of Townscape Heritage schemes and found that in cases where the retention
or appropriate repair of historic assets entails additional costs part or all of which are
to be funded through grants, they are seen to preserve heritage without affecting
trading conditions and competition and are therefore compatible with the State Aid
provisions.
4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1 A separate programme risk log has been prepared and will be regularly updated.
Each project supported will also have a risk management plan monitored by the
project manager / team and overseen by the project board.
5

Conclusions

5.1

Based on the potential of the Grand Quarter, the Council’s experience of
successfully delivering similar schemes and the potential to attract inward
investment of up to £4.5m, Council’s investment represents value for money. The
Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage scheme provides an opportunity to regenerate
and revitalise this important part of the city centre, help secure the future of the
Grand Theatre and Opera North and to preserve historic details which are likely to
be lost without the intervention of a grant scheme.

6

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board is recommended to:
i) approve the submission of a Stage 1 Application to the Heritage Lottery Fund
in December 2017;
ii) approve the allocation of £500,000 Leeds City Council match funding from
within the general contingency budget, subject to a successful Townscape
Heritage bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund. This will lever in up to £2m of
Heritage Lottery Fund grant and subject to individual property grant
agreements, £2.5m of private match funding; and
iii) note that the Executive Manager (Town Centres, Heritage & Buildings) will
be responsible for implementation.

Page 96

7

Background documents1

7.1

None.

8.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage Plan.
Appendix 2 - Grand Quarter Visual Appraisal (Appendix 10 from previous HLF bid)
Appendix 3 - Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

CROSS
BELGR
AVE ST
REET

Grand Quarter TH Plan
A LIN

MERR
ION P
LA

K
EET

MERR
ION P
LA

_

Page 99

MERR
ION ST
R

CE

Merrion Gardens

BR
IG

Ⅱ
!
GATE

_

GRAN
D

Ⅰ
!

BR
IGG
AT
E

St John's Church

NE
W

MERR

CE

IO N S
TRE E
T

Ⅱ
!

NE
W

NEW BR
IG

1

GA
TE

ARE N

ARCA

DE ( L

isted
B

uildin

g)

Grand Theatre
&
Opera House
(Listed B uilding)

*

Ⅱ
!

PO
PH

1

Key
Proposed Conservation Area & TH Boundary

HAR
R

Building contains vacant floor space
High Priority TH Projects (Includes Vacant Upper Floors)

ISON

STR
E

ET

Double Shop Front
Natural Surveillance
Medium Priority TH Projects
Low Priority TH Projects
Existing Pedestrian Zone
Highways Improvements Phase 1
Highways Improvements Phase 2

1
Ⅰ
!

Enterance Enhancement

_

Listed Building With Grade

_

Encourage Pedestrian Movement

THE HE
A
RETAIL DROW AND
LOWER
ZONE L
BRIGG
IN K
AT

Key Streetscape Views

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567

E

YOU ARE NOT PERMITTED TO COPY, SUB-LICENCE, DISTRIBUTE OR SELL ANY OF THIS DATA TO THIRD PARTIES IN ANY FORM.

PRODUCED BY GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, CITY DEVELOPMENT, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

Produced By : KJW

Scale 1:600 @ A2

Date: 30/10/2017

Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\02City Development\Asset Management and Regeneration\Grand Quarter TH Plan 2017\Grand Quarter TH Plan 2017.mxd

This page is intentionally left blank

GRAND QUARTER
Page 101

Townscape Heritage
Visual Appraisal Document
Appendix 10

Supporting Documentation August 2016

Location
5

Grand QTr TH

Page 102

1
2

1

3

4

Location
GRAND QUARTER IN THE CITY
The Grand Quarter is strategically important in relation
to other regeneration and major initiatives within the city
centre and plays an important role in links between these
areas and as a destination and true quarter of the city
in its own right. The map and images on this page show
some of the key projects in the city, including the Arena,
Trinity Leeds and Victoria Gate Phase I.
Page 103

Page 1.1 - shows the proposed TH area with the
proposed conservation area and listed buildings.
Page 1.2-4 - The area has a concentration of significant
listed buildings: 2- The Grand Theatre (Grade II* listed),
3 - St John’s church (Grade I listed) and 4 - The Grand
Arcade (Grade II listed)
Page 1.5 - Pedestrian dominance mapping undertaken
by Leeds City Council Urban Design Team illustrates the
strategic context for interventions in the Grand Quarter
within the context of wider public realm aspirations and
proposed developments (shown in pink). The strategic
importance of New Briggate to connect to Briggate and
North Street, as well as from Eastgate to the Arena
Quarter is shown. Yellow routes indicate streets and
spaces that already have pedestrian dominance and
the purple routes show the potential for future improved
pedestrian dominance.

Hammersons plc

Location

1

1. Panoramic view looking towards the ‘Grand Parade’
and The Grand Theatre with St Johns Church on the left
hand side, its gothic gateway a positive feature on the
corner of what could be a fine civic space.
2. Panoramic view from the top of Briggate
looking towards the ‘flat iron’ southern end of the Grand
Parade. Placemaking options highlight this area as a
place for a proposed improved ‘super crossing’ to enable
pedestrian movement to be greater between Briggate and
New Briggate.
3. Temporary ‘pop up’ uses of St Johns churchyard
are proving popular like this one associated with Child
Friendly Leeds.

2

Page 104

4. ‘Flat-iron’ building at the corner of New Briggate and
Merrion Street. Merrion Street has now been closed
to traffic and this low cost option has substantially
improved pedestrian safety whilst allowing the street to be
more beneficially used by the businesses who can now
offer outside seating. This success has opened up new
opportunities that have attracted new businesses and
enabled investment into property units.
5. The Grand Arcade has been transformed over the last
few years from being largely vacant to becoming a vibrant
location for the city’s independent businesses.

3

3

4

5

2

1

3

Page 105

There is a vibrancy of uses within the Grand Quarter, partially due
to its strategic location within the ever expanding city centre and the
role it provides to link to northern areas such the North Street to the
main shopping street of Briggate as well as the continued use as
a bus transit hub out of the city. The 1990’s saw older independent
shops hold on within a changing retail climate but slowly these uses
declined and were replaced by hot food takeaway uses that located
here due to the night-time economy, largely due to the presence
of a major night club within the Grand Arcade. Over recent years
the night-time economy has diversified and high quality niche
bars such as North Bar, Sela and the Merrion Street and Grand
Arcade establishments have supplemented the offer with food,
craft beers and live music. The nearby Belgrave Music Hall was
instrumental in this change and the area is now attracting a different
demographic.

5

4

Use

The Grand Arcade was, until 2014/5 a quiet arcade with a high level
of vacancy, however recent reinvention, thanks in part to the closing
off of Merrion Street to traffic and the use of temporary ‘pop up’
uses, has seen a renaissance in the use of units within the Grand
Arcade and it is now becoming a destination in its own right.
The Grand Theatre underwent significant investment over the last
ten years and now has the capacity to promote larger shows and
attract a greater proportion of the theatre going public.
1. Throngs of people visit Briggate but relatively few of them
advance further up to the Grand Quarter.
2. Theatre-goers leaving a matinee performance at the Grand
Theatre. Change is needed to encourage them to stay in the area
before and after performances.

6

7

8

3. North Bar was one of the first independent bars to locate here
and ever since has helped define the area.
4. The nearby Belgrave Music Hall has a unique style that attracts
a live music and ‘hipster’ crowd.
5. The bus stops dominate much of the area and New Briggate is
an important transport hub for routes to the north.
6. The Grand Arcade has reinvented itself as a destination for food,
leisure and speciality independent retail and services.
7. Pop up use on Merrion Street in full swing. Initially temporary
closure of Merrion Street to traffic resulted in the opportunity of
operators to take over the street for pedestrians. This arrangement
has proved successful and has become permanent.
8. The western side of New Briggate is dominated by hot food
takeaways.

Burt and Grady’s reconstruction of
‘The Town of Leeds c1500’ shows the
location of the proposed TH area
within the context of medieval Leeds.
The New Briggate area was the earliest
area of expansion of Leeds beyond its
medieval boundaries and prior to this
formed part of the open strip field system
divided from the burgage plots of Briggate
by The Headrow

Historic Development

Extract from the 1850 Ordnance Survey
1:1056 map shows the intensification
of development of the area with the
residential development of Merrion Street
(1830) and the industrialisation of the area
with the Woollen Cloth Works, Stone and
Wood Yards and reservoirs joining the
original 17th century development. New
Street, now named St John Street, still
terminates at the gate to the church.

Page 106
John Cossin’s map of 1726 shows the area following its 17th century development by John Harrison.
Harrison laid out ‘New Street’, the forerunner of New Briggate, to access his new development; St John’s
Church and a complex of Almshouses (also known as Harrison’s Hospital). An important philanthropist
in the town, he also founded the Free School shown to the right of the church. The gentry house and
garden shown between the church and school was built in 1720 for Leeds merchant Matthew Wilson. The
building survives today as Nash’s Fish and Chip Restaurant and is the only surviving private residence
shown on Cossin’s map.

5

Page 107
NEW BRIGGATE THEN AND
NOW
There is an extensive coverage
of historic photographs that
provide good evidence for future
restorations and refurbishments

1

2

Special Character

3

The special character of the area is shaped by its 17th
century initial development by John Harrison and the
subsequent development as a commercial and cultural
area of the 19th century city.

1. St John’s Church, Grade I listed, the oldest surviving
church in the city centre, built between 1632-34 and
founded by John Harrison. Subsequently restored and
remodelling by John Clark, Richard Norman Shaw
and Temple Moore and now in the guardianship of the
Churches Conservation Trust.
2. Matthew Wilson’s house, 1720. The building survives
today as Nash’s Fish and Chip Restaurant and is the only
surviving private residence shown on Cossin’s map of
1726.
3. The Grand Arcade of 1897, Grade II listed, by Smith and
Tweedale. The New Briggate and Vicar Lane elevations
feature locally produced Burmantofts faïence.
4. The Grand Theatre, Opera House and Assembly
Rooms Grade II*, 1877-8 by George Corson, assisted by
JR Watson. At its opening it was hailed as one of the finest
and handsomest theatres outside London and continues to
be an important cultural destination in the city today.
Page 108

5. The ‘Grand Parade’, unlisted late 19th century parade
made up of four speculative developments and featuring
ornate architectural detailing originally including landmark
corner turrets at either end (now partially lost).

4

5

6. (page 8) John Harrison (1579-1656) the wealthy Leeds
merchant and philanthropist who initially developed the
area in the early 17th century and is commemorated in a
memorial window in the Harrison Chapel of the church.
Various scenes from his life are depicted including this
scene of Harrison on site during the construction of St
John’s with its distinctive double nave form.
7. (page 8) The Potts of Leeds clock in the Grand Arcade
is a popular focal point and a rare survival of one of the
company’s animated clocks - the life size figures revolve
on the hour!

7

4. The Grand Theatre

1. St John’s Church

Page 109

3. The double arcade of the Grand Arcade

2. Matthew Wilson’s House, now Nash’s
Fish and Chip shop, 1720.
1. St Johns Church
Interior with its
distinctive double nave
5. The ‘Grand Parade’

6. John Harrison

7. The Potts of Leeds Clock in the Grand Arcade

Heritage Need

5.

2

1

The extent of disrepair, inappropriate change, vacancy
and loss of historic architectural detail is having a negative
impact on the area and addressing these issues represents a
significant opportunity for the regeneration of the city and the
preservation and enhancement of the heritage of the area.

1. Disrepair

4

3

5

6
Page 110

7

9

8

9
7.

The generation condition of the historic buildings is
a cause of concern with historic fabric being harmed
due to unaddressed maintenance issues - only 17%
of the buildings are in a ‘good condition’ with 33% in a
‘poor’ or ‘very poor’ state. Long term issues with failing
roof coverings and rainwater goods and inappropriate
cement pointing have led to saturation of masonry, with
brick and stone erosion and internal damage.
1. Failed rainwater goods has led to saturation of
masonry and erosion of brickwork. Cement repairs to
brickwork are unsightly and will lead to further erosion,
‘Grand Parade’
2. Blocked guttering causing significant water ingress
and salt staining at the ‘Grand Parade’.
3. Vegetation growth and staining is a tell-tale sign of
rainwater goods failure and ongoing damage to historic
fabric, ‘Grand Parade’
4. UPVC window with water ingress
5. Historic detail has been lost due to failure to
maintain the property. Luckily sufficient detail survives
to be able to restore the lost lion head detail to the top
of the pediment, ‘Grand Parade’.
6. Although locally organised crowd-source funding has
secured initial repairs to the Potts of Leeds clock at the
Grand Arcade, further work is required to get it back to
full working order
7. Significant internal damage has occurred in the upper
floors of the ‘Grand Parade’ due to roof and rainwater
goods disrepair.
8. Significant disrepair issues of this landmark building
is leading to the disuse of the upper floor and is creating
a poor perception of the general area.
9. Further historic detail will be lost if timely action is
not taken to address the disrepair issues of the area.

2

2 4

1

Heritage Need
2. Inappropriate Change

3

3.

There has been extensive inappropriate change
affecting 81% of the properties. Common changes are
inappropriate replacement shopfronts, signage and
security measures to ground floors and inappropriate
replacement windows to upper floors and the painting
of stone and brickwork.
Page 111

5

1. Signage and security shutters pay little attention
to the special character of the host building visually
severing the ground floor from the floors above, ‘Grand
Parade’.

6

2. Historic photographs of the same building show how
this important corner once was treated architecturally

7

4

3. Poor quality shopfronts, over large signage, plastic
replacement windows and multiple satellite dishes all
detract from the special character of this attractive 19th
century building

6

4. External box shutters and inappropriate signage
detract from surviving historic architectural details.
5. Bulky internally illuminated box signage competes
with surviving historic detail

10

8

9

6. Deep fascias out of proportion with the rest of the
elevation may conceal surviving historic transom lights
and original narrow fascia boards. Ashlar stone has
been concealed with a inappropriate painted finish with
the peeling white paint revealing an earlier red lime
wash
7. To be successful shopfronts and signage should be
sensitive to the building in which they are set
8. Signage overload on the ‘Grand Parade’
9. The loss of traditional detailed shopfront and bow
windows to the New Briggate elevation has had a
harmful impact on this positive building
10. Inappropriate shopfronts, signage and replacement
windows have reduced the impact of this important
gateway building

4

1

Heritage Need
3. Vacancy
Vacancy or under-use of historic floor space is an issue
affecting approximately a third of properties in the area.
This is a vicious circle leading to lack of maintenance and
disrepair issues which affect occupied units to adjacent
lower floors and blights the wider area. Vacant floor space
is a wasted resource.
1. Properties on Merrion Street (upper) that have stood
empty for some time.

2

7

2. Ground floor Art Deco shop units in the Grand Theatre
have great potential but are currently vacant and boarded
up.
3. Unused buildings in Merrion Gardens with potential for
future reuse to provide additional facilities for park users
and restore an original approach.

5

Page 112

3

11

4 & 5. The floorspace of the former ‘Central Hotel’ is
currently vacant

7

6. Upper floors incapable of use due to damage caused by
maintenance issues with the roof.
7. Boarded up windows and doors are harmful to the
perception of the area

6

Heritage Need
4. Loss of Architectural
Detail

2

1

3
4
Page 113

5

Loss of historic architectural detail has affected 77% of the
buildings. However, much of quality survives and it is likely that
opening up works will reveal more. There is a good archive of
historic photographs and elevation drawings that will provide
a good evidence base for reinstating appropriate shop fronts,
signage, windows and other lost details.
1. The loss of traditional shopfronts is detrimental to
this positive building, but there are surviving elements of
historic detail to work with in any future restoration and good
photographic evidence to inform works.

6

2. Fine pediment feature.
3. Reinstatement of timber sash windows would be an
enhancement

7

8

4. Surviving historic detail and traditional style shopfront on St
John’s Place add quality and completeness to the streetscape
5 & 6. The loss of the matching lions head, previously flanking
the doorway, and its porch hood detail weakens the special
character of the building but there is good evidence for
restoration of the lost details

9

7. Grand Arcade Green Man
8. Loss of traditional shopfronts, signage, door fittings but
survival of some historic details to work with

10

9 & 10. Good photographic evidence is available for the former
historic shopfront of the southern end unit of the ‘Grand Parade’.
This will be useful in considering the approach to any new
shopfront, but not necessarily the future signage....!

2

1

Heritage Need
Scheme priorities
1: The Grand Arcade
2: 14-18 New Briggate
3: 51d-55 New Briggate
4: 26-34 Merrion Street

3

4

5: The Grand Theatre
6: 62-66 New Brigate
7: Nash’s Fish and Chip Restaurant

7
Page 114

5

13

6

Heritage Need

Page 115
23-51 New Briggate. The extent of disrepair, inappropriate change, vacancy and loss of historic architectural detail is having a negative impact on the area and offers scope for significant enhancement
through heritage-led regeneration guided through the proposed TH grant scheme

2

3

Public Realm

Issues in the public realm generally relate to four main
issues:
1. The dominance of traffic and buses.
2. Lack of quality connections and crossing facilities.
3. General lack of maintenance and street clutter, including
bus stops.
4. St John’s churchyard and anti social behaviour and use.
There is scope for significant enhancement and an improved
public realm is likely to improve the use and yield of shop
units and give an added vibrancy to the area as has already
happened at lower Merrion Street.

1

There are opportunities for St John’s churchyard with
potential for greater connectivity. Any work here should
consider the need for greater natural surveillance of the
churchyard. The possibility exists for properties on the first
floor of the ‘Grand Parade’ to front onto this space.
1. St John’s Place and the quality York stone setts outside
Nash’s 1720 merchants townhouse.
2. Storage of bins behind Grand Parade.

6

4

3. The problems of crossing from Briggate to New Briggate.

Page 116

4. Quality setts and paving form an appropriate setting to
the listed buildings of the area
5. Setts outside St Johns. This main entrance to St John’s
is in need of greater promotion in order to encourage
pedestrian use and movement through the churchyard.

5
8

6. View from the churchyard to New Briggate.

9

7. Phone boxes, signage and bike storage give a
perception of street clutter that could be improved by a
rationalisation and street furniture redesign.
8. At peak times the street gets very busy given the popular
bus routes served here. A reorganisation of the highway has
potential to ease this issue.

7
15

9. Bin storage is a streetscape issue to be addressed

Leeds: A Proven Track
Record

LOWER KIRKGATE THI SCHEME

Page 117

• The first grant aided scheme at 92 Kirkgate has restored
an 18th century building removing paint and reinstating
an appropriate shopfront. The project has brought vacant
historic floor space back into use through its new cafe use.
This impressive scheme has been commended by Historic
England and is now acting as a catalyst for further projects to
come forward. The scheme involved a training event about
the restoration principles for historic buildings.
• This THI scheme, which involves £2.423m of THI common
fund and is in its early stages of the delivery phase, will
culminate in the restoration of the First White Cloth Hall
complex, which is currently at the design stage, and involves
£250,000 of funding from Historic England. The Council has
recently agreed to buy the building and add an additional
£1.85m to the budget.
CHAPELTOWN THI SCHEME
• One ‘Critical project’ has been delivered and the final project
is progressing towards a start on site in the Autumn.
• The Gothic Parade, a gateway site into Chapeltown, has
largely been transformed with other target property projects
including art deco shop fronts along Chapeltown Road, which
won an award at the 2013 Leeds Architecture Awards.
• Through the Chapletown Heritage Advisory Group the
local community has been involved with the preparation of a
Heritage booklet that is focussed on the Leeds Civic Trust’s
blue plaque scheme which has recently been unveiled in the
area.
• For both the Armley and Chapletown schemes £225,000
of additional funding from the Local Economic Growth
Initiative (LEGI) complemented the THI common fund budget
for delivering capital projects. This is in addition to an extra
£206, 000 from Leeds City Council to complete the critical
properties.

Leeds: A Proven Track
Record
ARMLEY THI SCHEME
• Mike’s Carpets, former Methodist Chapel and Critical
Project, has been restored. A heritage awareness training
event, relating to leaded light glazing manufacture for the
project, resulted in a contractor taking on a new apprentice.
• 20 Target Property schemes have been delivered which
has also secured the re-use of upper vacant floor space for
student accommodation.
• Public realm: THI grant contributed to the reinstatement of
natural Yorkstone along Town Street.
• Heritage construction awareness training sessions were
held which attracted 100 people including the community,
conservation officers and building surveyors.
• The production of a Town Street keystones booklet,
highlighting local celebrities and historic events, involved the
community through the Armley Heritage Advisory Group.
Page 118

‘SKILLS FOR THE FUTURE’ PROGRAMME (RE-MAKING
LEEDS)
• This heritage construction skills training programme
consists of classroom training, one year placement and an
enrichment component such as short courses and visits to
historic buildings.
• Short heritage awareness courses for the local community.
• Partnership working with York College, Leeds College of
Building, construction and other training companies such as
Heritage Craft Alliance.
• All graduates from the first year have either secured a
construction job or progressed to further heritage training.
• The council is developing a second round of ‘Skills for the
Future’ bid to continue the existing successful scheme.

17

GRAND QUARTER VISION
Page 119

PROJECTS: BUILDINGS
A heritage-led regeneration grant scheme has the potential to address
the issues affecting the built environment of the area:
- Disrepair - address roof and rainwater goods failure to make
buildings watertight. Repair works proposed to the Potts clock in
the Grand Arcade, pictured, to get it to a fully functioning state and
consolidate the repairs already undertaken by the businesses and
community.
- Inappropriate change - address the inappropriate change that
blights positive historic buildings in the area. Including: replacement
shopfronts, signage, windows and doors.
- Vacancy - the grant-funded work will promote the reuse of currently
underused and vacant histroic floorspace bringing a boost to the
economy of the area and promoting the future maintenance of the
properties.
- Loss of histroic architectural detail - lost detail can be reinstated
where there is a good evidence base available
The scheme has the potential to transform of the ‘Grand Parade’ and
significantly enhance the wider area - see page 20.

Page 120

19

PROJECTS:
Indicative BUILDINGS
Streetscene

Page 121

PROJECTS: PLACE
The public realm aspect of the proposed scheme will deliver significant enhancements to
the area and improve the setting of the positive histroic buildings.
Visions for placemaking opportunities include improving connectivity, public realm and
sense of place in New Briggate and St Johns.

Page 122

21

PROJECTS: PEOPLE
The activities, outreach and training elements will be a
valuable part of the scheme and leave a lasting legacy
building on the heritage skills and interest already
apparent in the people connected with the area. The
project will also seek to bring new audiences and visitors
to this part of the city centre and capacity build the
heritage skills sector of the city.
Page 123

“As one of the main funding organisers for ‘Save the
Grand Clock’ appeal I was really excited about the
possibility of fully restoring the William Potts clock which
is an integral part of our Arcade’s heritage”.
Claire Riley, Our Handmade Collective, Grand Arcade
“The area would benefit from having a variety of
independent businesses to create more trade.
Improvements should be made to the road and paths in
order to attract more pedestrians along New Briggate”.
Paul Duncan, Dolton’s Jewellers, 37 New Briggate
“Whilst the building frontages need smartening up we
should not make the whole parade uniform”
Ian Feasey, Relic Records (53 New Briggate)
“The Grand Arcade has the potential to rival the Victoria
Quarter”
David Nkengmo, Casa Colombiana (Coffee House in
Grand Arcade)

Page 124

GRAND QUARTER TOWNSCAPE HERITAGE
Visual Appraisal Document
Produced by Leeds City Council Conservation, Urban
Design and Townscape Heritage.
Document Design & Graphics by Andy Graham
Supporting Documents Kate Newell, Lee Paton and Wyn
Jones, Project Lead: Franklin Riley/Phil Ward
All Rights Reserved, Leeds City Council 2016

Equality, Diversity,
Cohesion and Integration
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Asset Management and
Regeneration

Lead person: Wyn Jones

Contact number: 87720

1. Title: The Grand Quarter Townscape Heritage Scheme
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

X

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

The Regeneration Service is proposing to submit a Grand Quarter Townscape
Heritage Stage 1 Application to the Heritage Lottery Fund in December 2017.
Subject to the outcome of the funding bid this will involve securing £500,000 Leeds
City Council match funding from within the capital programme.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 125

1

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
X
X
X

X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 126

2

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Wyn Jones
Regeneration Officer
25 September 2017
25 September 2017
Date screening completed
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions
and Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
screening was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate
EDCI Screening

Date sent:
Template updated January 2014

Page 127

3

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

EDCI Screening

Date sent:

Template updated January 2014

Page 128

4

Agenda Item 11
Report author: Franklin Riley
Tel: 0113 37 87708

Report of the Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15 November 2017
Subject: The Local Centres Programme (LCP)
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): ALL

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Summary of main issues
1. Town and local centres across Leeds play a crucial role in supporting places and
communities to respond to economic change. The Council’s draft Inclusive Growth
Strategy recognises their importance as economic, social and service hubs and the need
to continue to deliver improvements that promote enterprise and connect people to jobs
and opportunities within them. Targeting improvements to local centres would assist in
delivering the Best Council Plan ambition of promoting sustainable and inclusive economic
growth.
2. There have been significant strides in recent years to develop and improve the vitality and
viability of local centres. People are passionate about local centres and high streets and a
number of recent initiatives have provided a platform to turn that passion into action. The
Portas Pilots initiative, the establishment of several Town Teams and Business
Improvement Districts together with the Town and District Centres Improvement
Programme have all used this local activism to deliver improvements that will support the
sustainability of local centres.
3. However, many local centres still need to adapt and change to accommodate the
challenges of internet shopping, the demand for more leisure activities, out of town
shopping centres and edge of centre supermarkets and the disappearance of many day to
day services from the high street. This report proposes a programme of support and
interventions that can be introduced to increase the vitality and viability of local and
1
Page 129

neighbourhood centres through the development of ward based bids for funding, supported
by Council services and local agencies. The Local Centres Programme (LCP) seeks to
utilise the £5m announced at Full Council in March 2017 to fund innovative and sustainable
improvements to town and district centres as a component of supporting regeneration and
growth across the city.
4. Depending on the nature of the proposals coming forward, projects would be categorised
by scale into £150k, £50k and £10k groups to provide a framework for bid development.
Schemes would be initiated by an open bidding process that seeks expressions of interest
from Council services and other partner organisations, endorsed by Ward Members.
5. The funding will provide a catalyst to drive further investment, lever match funding and to
maximise the impact of public investment by aligning it with other funds. The programme
will build upon previous investment and utilise the best ideas from across the city to create
opportunities for innovation and growth which is accessible by all.
6. Officers will work proactively with Ward Members, Community Committees, business
groups and others to develop expressions of interest which meet local needs within the
terms of the Local Centres Programme. The expressions of interest will be evaluated using
the considerations outlined in Appendix 1 and brought forward to Executive Board for
consideration. There will be two rounds of bidding commencing in December 2017, with a
final rounding starting in February 2019.
Recommendation
7. Executive Board is recommended to:
(i)

Note the report;

(ii)

Authorise the Director of City Development, in liaison with the Executive Member
(Regeneration, Transport and Planning), to implement the Local Centres
Programme as outlined in paras 3.1 to 3.9 and Appendices 1 to 3; and

(iii)

Note that the Executive Manager (Town Centres, Heritage & Buildings) will be
responsible for implementation.

2
Page 130

1

Purpose of this report

1.1

In March 2017 the Full Council established a £5m capital fund to improve town and district
centres across the city. This paper proposes a scope for the emerging Local Centres
Programme (LPC) for consideration and approval.

2

Background information

2.1

Local centres and neighbourhoods are recognised by the people who live there and the
businesses and organisations that serve them as distinct places. These centres provide
the basis for a wide range of activities, local networks, employment and the opportunity
to participate in enriching activities which reduce isolation and enhance cohesion.
Extensive research has highlighted the need to pay attention to these centres as a means
of tackling inequality and furthering happiness and well-being. Local centres also provide
opportunities for enterprise by providing accessible space for new businesses to start and
grow.

2.2

The role of local authorities is also vital as Council owned premises including arts and
cultural ventures increase footfall. The use of public and community buildings as hubs for
the delivery of services across sectors can improve efficiency and enable cost savings.
Public realm and highway improvements can prompt private investment which multiplies
the original investment, helping to create jobs and confidence within these communities.
These buildings can also provide opportunities for Community Asset Transfer.

2.3

The Inclusive Growth Strategy includes the commitment to make the economy work for
everyone and sets out as one of 12 big ideas the need to support places and communities
to respond to economic change. The realisation of this Inclusive Growth Strategy vision
is guided by five key interventions all of which could be linked into and fostered by the
Local Centres Programme, namely:






Targeting investment and intervention to tackle poverty in priority neighbourhoods;
Improving housing and quality of place in priority neighbourhoods;
Building more homes ;
Transforming the role of town centres as economic and service hubs; and
Making assets work to support growth and communities.

2.4

The Inclusive Growth Strategy also recognises that in spite of the economic success of
the city centre and decades of targeted capital based regeneration in local
neighbourhoods there remain problems arising from income inequality. As such some
local centres have struggled to maintain their relevance given the multiple pressures of
internet shopping, out of town superstores and the concentration of some services such
as banks within larger centres.

2.5

There is also an overcapacity of retail space in some local centres with many affected by
an increase in online sales and a concentration of new retail developments outside or at
the edge of existing centres. In some locations, due to the effect of vacant shops and a
perception among some that their local centres are not providing them with all the
services they need or want, there has been found to be a negative impact on people’s
quality of life. Also diversity within some centres has declined limiting their utility and
leaving the less mobile with reduced choices which in turn impacts on their well-being.
3
Page 131

2.6

A decade ago, working closely with local businesses and ward members, the Council
instigated the Town and District Centres (T&DC1) scheme to deliver 17 commercial
improvement schemes across Leeds at a cost of £11.1m. The investment attracted over
£6m of match funding to enable the creation of new affordable housing units in Morley,
market refurbishment at Wetherby, Pudsey and Otley, a library extension in Garforth
along with new highway and parking facilities and extensive public realm improvements
in other local centres across the city. The funding also helped match fund Townscape
Heritage Initiatives in Armley and Chapeltown which invested in public realm and
traditional properties to create new shops, offices, flats and a nursery and which in total
has attracted some £3m in external investment. Another three local centres, Dewsbury
Road, Kirkstall and Harehills, have received support under the smaller scale £700k
T&DC2 programme.

2.7

There is now a need to look at how we can learn from this approach to help local centres
cope innovatively with a number of emerging challenges and opportunities recognising
that business development, community involvement, the creation of social capital,
marketing and promotion are required alongside physical investment. Business
confidence, inspiring a greater sense of inclusion and civic pride are also important
outcomes. Therefore, the new programme needs to build on the successes of T&DC
without being bound by it. Scope exists for innovative approaches to securing the future
of 21st century local centres, in the light of the challenges posed by Brexit and changing
shopping modes.

3

Main issues

3.1

The main aims of the LCP are to secure contributions to the Inclusive Growth Strategy by
‘bottom up’ proposals to address local opportunities identified by members, front line
services and partners, combined with strategic interventions where justified by need,
policy and research. In particular:







3.2

Engaging local businesses and communities to create viable local centres that are
accessible, safe, resilient and fit for the 21st century;
Providing employment opportunities and the re-use of vacant spaces, especially
traditional buildings;
Encouraging innovation in the use of buildings and spaces to encourage
appropriate commercial uses including digital inclusion and business support;
Introducing physical improvements that support access to jobs and housing and
which create a local environment that directly promotes well-being and more
resilient communities;
Helping create local capacity to ensure the sustainability of the interventions,
including efforts to promote marketing, quality promotions and events, even to
seed new BIDs, where justified; and
Helping to understand, monitor and plan for the future needs of town centres.

Funding Application Process
Officers will work proactively with Ward Members, Community Committees, business
groups and others to develop expressions of interest which meet local needs within the
terms of the Local Centres Programme. The expressions of interest will be evaluated
using the considerations outlined in Appendix 1 and brought forward to Executive Board

4
Page 132

for consideration. There will be two rounds of bidding commencing in December 2017,
with a final rounding starting in February 2019.

3.3

Terms of Reference
Each ward will be able to bid for funding of up to £150k, per project, for a local or
neighbourhood centre scheme. By taking a whole centre approach it is recognised that
local centres depend on wider economic issues and markets that are not necessarily
within their control. However, wider housing, employment and access issues are
intrinsically linked with town and district centre performance. Therefore, projects should
take a holistic view to optimise their impact by linking to other complementary initiatives
where possible. Where scope exists projects should also consider the role of ecommerce,
the digital high street, new workspace solutions and the rebalancing role of centres as
economic hubs away from struggling retail to focus on other innovative ways of providing
them with a sustainable future.

3.4

It is likely that some wards will identify smaller schemes that do not need this scale of
funding. Smaller scale interventions, enabled by bids of up to £50k or £15k, will be
invited to focus on helping businesses to increase their capacity to help themselves and
providing the building blocks for future investment, for example in the form of toolkits and
support for local forums. In these situations partnerships with business will be imperative.
Given the resources available and the spread of potential centres, it is likely that the
programme will have to operate on a peripatetic basis, with interventions limited to 18-24
month duration before moving on to the next centre. However, the mix of resources and
duration will dependent on local circumstances and it may be that different intervention
streams will have distinctive timescales too. Project proposals will also be assessed
against evidence of local need, deliverability and scope. Projects will be principally for
capital investment and must guarantee post-completion maintenance. Whilst a modest
fee budget will be available for scheme development, there is no funding for recurring
costs.

3.5

The intervention to support local centres needs to be led by local leaders within these
centres and the Council will need to play an enabling role with capacity building and
investment. However, this will take time and it is likely that capital projects, for example,
will continue to be led by Council officers or third sector agencies. These centres need to
be well presented and safe. Resources, some from local businesses, will be needed to
provide high standard maintenance, cleaning and security via CCTV cameras and local
wardens.

3.6

The programme will apply to all town, local and neighbourhood centres. The city centre
would not be eligible but interventions that would support the connectivity of local
neighbourhoods to the city centre to enhance local growth within Neighbourhood Priority
Areas or access to economic and employment opportunities could be eligible. Bidding
would be on an open basis with any assessment of the proposals guided by evidence of
scale of need, deprivation, impact and sustainability of any changes proposed. It is
assumed that the bidding process will be competitive with some areas inevitably not
securing funds. Areas without access to significant local funds such as Community
Infrastructure Levy, Section106 and Ward Based Initiatives would be prioritised. The
matrix in Appendix 1 sets out the key principles that would guide the programme. A list
of potential project themes are outlined below in Table 1.
5
Page 133

Table 1: Potential Project Themes
LOCAL CENTRES AND
NEIGHBOURHOODS
 Commercial and public realm
improvements to support additional
vitality and viability within local centres
 Complementary highways and safety
improvement schemes
 Seed Town Teams, BIDS & capacity
building for traders
 Develop plan on a page for local
centres in order reinforce and
complement local activities
 Toolkits to provide the means for local
businesses to improve their trading
environment
 Support for PR and marketing
 Promoting local cohesion and
community safety

3.7

INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND LOCAL
INNOVATION
 Property schemes linked to jobs and/or
re-use of traditional and cultural
buildings
 The creation of small workspaces,
living above the shop
 Support for enhanced use of digital
consumer and telecoms systems
 Delivering innovative solutions to local
needs
 Schemes supporting the digital
economy
 Social enterprise promotion
 Inward investment potential (e.g. new
townscape heritage schemes)

LCP will need to incorporate the most successful actions of previous schemes and whilst
considering a more holistic way of responding to local needs beyond capital public realm
interventions. The local traders need to be organised to face the new challenges of
internet shopping, out of town shopping centres and withdrawal of many banks and
multiple stores from the high streets. Businesses within local centres need to be
encouraged to form into Town Teams, work on the Beeston T&DC2 scheme has shown
how this can be done. Some may warrant developing into BIDs, but this is very
challenging and the local capacity is only likely to exist in a small number of centres.

3.8 Bids must demonstrate the additionality, in that the Local Centres Programme will only
support projects that cannot be funded from other sources. Projects will be assessed
according to the considerations outlined in Appendix 1 by a LCP Bids Panel which will
make its recommendations to the Council’s Asset Management Board for determination
in liaison with the Executive Member (Regeneration, Transport and Planning). The
commitment of capital funding will only be undertaken after rigorous appraisal, cost
analysis and design freeze, with financial approvals processed in accordance with the
Director of City Development’s delegated powers. Project management governance will
be based on PM Lite with area based project teams and a project board providing
management oversight for the LCP as a whole. Monitoring reports will be presented
quarterly to the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning, in
addition to the relevant Community Committees and / or the Neighbourhood Priority
Board.
3.9 The Programme will commence in February 2018 and the key stages are illustrated at
Appendix 2. However, in order to hit the ground running the scheme will initially review
schemes that, either improve the infrastructure of local centres or which directly benefit
Neighbourhood Priority Areas, which are in the pipeline and already have Ward Member
and significant local support. These ‘pipeline’ projects will be evaluated to see whether
6
Page 134

there is scope to secure a number of quick win schemes where up to £150k in match
funding is required and the schemes can achieve design freeze in the 2017/18 financial
year and are able to commence in Quarter 1 of the 2018/19 financial year. All quick
wins schemes will be evaluated using the criteria outlined in Appendix 1.
4

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 The Executive Member (Regeneration, Transport and Planning) and the Chief Officer of
Communities have been consulted.
4.1.2 Consultation with Ward Members and a range of local business and community
organisations will commence immediately after the terms of the Programme are agreed.
However, the Programme has been informed by over a decade of the Town and District
Centres Schemes, which has included close working with Ward members, local
communities and businesses in developing and implementing positive changes to their
local centres.
4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Giving due regard to equality, the proposals in this report has been subject to an Equality
Screening, which is appended to this report (Appendix 3).
4.3

Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The project will support the Best Council Plan 2017-18 objectives to promote
sustainable and inclusive economic growth. It will do this by providing grant aid and
development expertise to help address market failure in some local centres. Without this
intervention it is possible that some centres will decline losing opportunities to create a
distinctive independent commercial offer to complement existing city centre businesses.
4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1 The LCP has the potential to add value to existing local initiatives and to support
priorities agreed by local people and businesses. There are no direct revenue effects
envisaged by the project that cannot be accommodated within existing budgets.
4.4.2 The LCP is subject to Executive Board approval of the Capital Programme report found
elsewhere on this agenda and the injection of £5m into the Capital Programme. The
release of any funding will be actioned through the Council’s design and cost report
process under the delegated powers of the Director of City Development.
4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 Pursuant Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 which allows local authorities to “do that
individuals generally may do”, unless explicitly prohibited elsewhere in law the Council
has powers to undertake works on its own land and some departments such as
Highways have powers to undertake works on private land. Other powers for works on
land not within our ownership are also available but these, along with any State Aid
implications, will be assessed once the bidding process has concluded.
7
Page 135

4.5.2 The report is eligible for call-in.
4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1 A separate programme risk log has been prepared and is regularly updated. Each
project supported will also have a risk management plan monitored by the project
manager / team and overseen by the project board.
4.6.2 Economy - New shopping patterns are changing the way that local and neighbourhood
centres function. Without support there is a risk that some will fail, removing services
from vulnerable communities and undermining local businesses.
4.6.3 Design & Cost - Design risks will be managed by producing fully costed plans before
capital is committed and ensuring that projects have contingency built in to deal with
unforeseen circumstances.
4.6.4 Resources - With a maximum grant of £150k there is the potential for a large number of
projects to emerge all of which require project and programme management. This
activity is resource intensive and the programme may need to phase the implementation
and selection of schemes, depending on the demand in the first round call. The two call
rounds that are proposed to open in February 2018 and February 2019, in addition to
the quick wins proposals, are a reflection of this need to the phase scheme in order to
manage limited staff resources.
5

Conclusions

5.1

Securing the rejuvenation of local centres, especially where they have suffered market
failure, is complex. As a result transformational change cannot just be about traditional
capital interventions, as well founded as they may be. Also there is no one size fits all
formula, hence the need to consult and encourage funding project proposals from
Council services and local agencies servicing the local centres that are looking to adapt
to the challenges of the 21st century. The call for projects from a diverse range of
stakeholders will also help to identify new opportunities and connections to existing and
emerging programmes that will help to tackle some of the deep-seated problems more
holistically than previous town and district investments, through leveraged funding and
match investment.

6

Recommendation

6.1

Executive Board is recommended to:
(i)

Note the report.

(ii)

Authorise the Director of City Development, in liaison with the Executive
Member (Regeneration, Transport and Planning), to implement the Local
Centres Programme as outlined in paras 3.1 to 3.9 and Appendices 1 to 3.

(iii)

Note that the Executive Manager (Town Centres, Heritage & Buildings) will be
responsible for implementation.

8
Page 136

7
7.1

Background documents1
None.

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless
they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published
works.

9
Page 137

APPENDIX 1 – Scheme Evaluation
Key Scheme Components

Essential

Important

Significant

Strategic objectives met (e.g. Best Council Plan, Leeds Inclusive

Growth Strategy, Health and Wellbeing Strategy etc.)
Scheme sustainability and on-going maintenance agreements
Ward member, Community Committee and community support
Technical feasibility, realism and value for money
Improvements to local and neighbourhood centres
Public transport infrastructure improvements
Public art and cultural asset development
Creation of employment space
Improved access to jobs and training
Better community cohesion and safety
Active engagement with local business and business fora
Innovative solutions to social, economic and environmental failure
Evidence of need / deprivation / lack of local funding alternatives
(e.g. CIL)
Monitoring and evaluation
Location within IMD ward (lowest 1%)
Match funding

APPENDIX 2 – Scheme Stages
Activity

Duration* Pipeline

Call 1

Call 2

Launch / Call

-

Nov 17

Feb18

Feb19

Bidding / Local Priorities

2

Expression of Interest

-

Evaluation

1

Development

2-4

Detailed Design

4-6

Approvals

1-3

Construction Programme

Varies
£500k

£2000k

£2500k

Funding allocation

*Duration is shown in months, but please note that timescales will depend on the nature of the project, with noncapital and smaller projects likely to be shorter.

10
Page 138

APPENDIX 3: Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and functions,
both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for all
new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest
opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already been
considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development
Lead person:
Franklin Riley

Service area: Regeneration
Contact number:
0113 37 87708

1. Title: Local Centres Programme
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

The Local Centres Programme will provide primarily capital interventions to support
projects designed to revitalise local and neighbourhood centres and make them fit for
the 21st century.
.
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the Council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant
11
Page 139

characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment,
residential location or family background and education or skills levels).
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?

Yes

No



Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?



Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?



Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations





If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
within your proposal please go to section 5.

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected.
N/A
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
Opportunities

12
Page 140

N/A
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
N/A

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

N/A

Date to complete your impact assessment

N/A

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

N/A

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Martin Farrington
Director City Development 11 October 2017

7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity has
been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the screening
document will need to be published.
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing
11 October 2017
11 October 2017

Date screening completed
Date sent to Equality Team
Date published
(To be completed by the Equality Team)

13
Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Report author: Cath Roff
Tel: 0113 378 3875
Report of: Director of Adults and Health
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15 November 2017
Subject: Refresh of the Better Lives strategy
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1. The purpose of this report is to present Executive Board with a refreshed and updated Better
Lives strategy for the period 2017-2021 for its consideration and endorsement.
2. The Better Lives strategy is the Council’s strategy for people with care and support needs and
reflects the collective endeavour of all the council’s functions to this strategic aim. The Better
Lives strategy was first produced in 2011 as part of the Local Account. Since then the council
has refreshed the Best Council Plan and the Health and Well-being Strategy. The Care Act
2014 also came into force in 2015 which lays down new duties for the Council.
3. Consultation has taken place on the strategy with broad support for its aspirations, the three
main themes and action plan. A “Plan on a Page” has been added to the strategy.
4. The refreshed strategy proposes five key aspirations:


To promote well-being and increase personal and community resilience



To maximise recovery and promote independence so people can live independently in their
own communities for as long as possible



Improve the quality of life for people with care and support needs



Provide choice and control for people who have care and support needs



Ensure value for money and the best use of the Leeds pound
Page 143

5. This will be achieved by a range of actions delivered through three themed work-streams:


Better Lives through better conversations



Better Lives through better living



Better Lives through better connections

Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to:
1. Approve the refreshed Better Lives strategy and action plan 2017-2021
2. Note that the Director of Adults and Health is responsible for implementing these
recommendations

Page 144

1

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to present Executive Board with a refreshed and updated
Better Lives strategy for its consideration and comment.

2

Background information

2.1

The Better Lives strategy was written in 2011 as part of Leeds City Council’s ambition that
healthy living, social care and age-related care services work well together to make Leeds
the best city for health and well-being. It is not the adult social care strategy but rather a
whole Council strategy for people who have care and support needs. It was published as
part of the Local Account – the directorate’s annual report.

2.2

There has been considerable change over that time which has heralded a period of
unprecedented austerity both for local government and the wider population, seen the
introduction of the Care Act 2014, the creation of Health and Well-being Boards, a
reconfiguration of much of the council’s direct care services and a re-organisation of NHS
services to put a greater emphasis on clinical leadership, commissioning for outcomes,
reducing health inequalities and population health management in the commissioning of
health services.

2.3

There are strong interconnections between this strategy and NHS strategies. The draft
Leeds Health and Care Plan sets out the activity Leeds will undertake to transform health
and care services, with the triple aim to:




improve health and wellbeing,
improve the quality of the care we receive and the services we experience and
make our health and care system financially sustainable

2.5

There are four work streams: prevention, self-management and proactive care, urgent
care and optimising the use of secondary care resources. All are underpinned by a
principle of ensuring flow across the whole system, and rebalancing the conversation with
citizens to promote self-care and high quality services.

2.6

There are also strong links with the Health and Well-being Strategy and a number of
breakthrough projects (with the Age Friendly Leeds and tackling Health Inequalities being
the main ones) as part of the Best Council Plan, which include Better Lives as one of its
2017/18 priorities.

2.7

It is therefore timely that the Better Lives strategy is updated and Executive Board is
asked to approve the revised strategy which is attached as Appendix 1.

3

Main issues

3.1

Leeds City Council has firmly declared its intention to be a compassionate city with a
strong economy. People’s expectations and aspiration for their lives are changing and this
affects how we meet people’s care and support needs. It is increasingly clear that our
future is intertwined with other strategic partners as we seek to promote people’s
independence and safeguard people in Leeds.

3.2

Reducing funding, demographic pressures and a likely increase in demand for social care
as a result of the Care Act 2014 are just some of the factors that have shaped this strategy
and the framing of a new care and support offer. This offer proactively targets people who
Page 145

may be at risk of requiring social care services in order to inform them about ways in
which they can make themselves more resilient to any risk to their independence and
improve their overall well-being.
3.3

The new care and support offer set out in this strategy seeks to ensure sustainable, fair
and equitable service provision for local people which provides a better quality of life and
is affordable now and in the longer term.

3.4

The proposed strategy seeks to focus our energy on what matters to people and acting
swiftly to achieve it. We seek to build and harness the systems, relationships and
resources to support people to live lives that are meaningful and uphold their dignity. We
want to ensure that support is provided as close to home and family as possible. We want
the first conversation someone has with us is not one that worries about whether or not
they meet statutory eligibility criteria: rather our aim is to advise and support all people
with a care and support need, making best use of all the city’s resources.

3.5

Local Government has a place-shaping role and we must use this mandate to have new
and different conversations with our citizens, our communities and our partners to ensure
that Leeds can continue to survive and thrive in these unprecedented times. Collaborative
leadership will be key in achieving our shared vision for our city and this is reflected in the
strategy.

3.6

Executive Board approved the draft refresh to go out for consultation 8 February 2017.
Leeds Involving People held a workshop to feed into the objectives of the draft from the
perspective of people with care and support needs. Healthwatch has been involved
through its participation in the Better Lives Board whose members have commented on
and shaped the strategy presented to Executive Board.

3.7

It has been presented to Adult Social Care Community Champions, the Adults and
Health Scrutiny Board and elected members on the Better Lives Board.

3.8

It has been to a range of partnership fora, for example the Mental Health Partnership
Board, Leeds Older People’s Forum, the Race Equality Forum and the Forum Central
Leadership Group as well as Forum Central’s full membership of 300 groups. Forum
Central was formed in the summer of 2016 as the collective voice of health and care in
Leeds comprising four main boards: Leeds Older People’s Forum, the Physical and
Sensory Impairment Network, Tenfold (learning disabilities and Volition (mental health).
Presentations on the draft strategy has been given at staff meetings too.

3.9

The Joint Consultative Committee meeting with trade unions has had an update at each
meeting since the draft strategy went to Executive Board in February and they have
recently received the revised strategy with a note about what has changed in light of
people’s feedback.

3.10

It has also been presented at the Provider Network which includes our major NHS
providers, the GP federations and Third sector representatives. The “Better
Conversations” theme has particularly in-depth promotion and consultation for example
with Community Links, Leeds Social Prescribing Group, the primary care development
groups for each CCG, Health coaching workshops and Chapeltown Mental Health Wrap
Around group to name but a few.

3.11

Overall the feedback on the draft strategy has been very positive. “Better conversations”
has real resonance with other asset-based approaches such as restorative practice in
Children and Families services and health coaching in the NHS. “Better Living” has a
strong emphasis on the key role that housing plays in supporting people’s independence
Page 146

and how we must go further faster with an ambitious extra care housing development
programme. “Better Connections” is all about our interdependence as individual citizens
with each other and with organisations across the city. We aim to be greater than the sum
of our parts.
3.12

As a result of the feedback the strategy has now got an action plan under-pinning each of
the three key themes which will be constantly updated. The number of performance
indicators has been reduced but tailored more directly to the key outcomes. The
emphasis on making better use of community and voluntary organisations capacity is
acknowledged and care needs to be exercised that our Third Sector is properly resourced
to meet the demand for its services. The recent additional investment in our
Neighbourhood Networks is in recognition of that growing demand. It is also
acknowledged that our Third Sector has a rich history in asset-based approaches.

3.13

Oversight of the strategy’s implementation has been the core business of the Better
Lives Board which is chaired by a lead member and includes cross party membership as
well as representation from our partner organisations and people with direct experience
of care and support services. The Board has recently reviewed its terms of reference and
has moved from being a delivery board to an assurance board. Board members
particularly wanted to see a clear action plan around the three themes and each Better
Lives Board meeting receives a written update on one of the three key themes. There is
a rolling programme to report across the year on all three themes. The action plan stays
as a live document and it is intended that new actions are added and completed actions
taken off as the work progresses. This has strengthened the transparency and
accountability of the strategy’s delivery.

3.14

An important part of the strategy is actually measuring the impact of the strategy and
this is done through five “I statements”. We have used this approach across a number
of strategies co-designed with Leeds citizens such as the Age Friendly strategy and
the Mental Health strategy. The suggested “I statements” in the strategy are drawn
from this previous work. There has been positive feedback from the consultation on
the “I” statements.

4

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1

The refreshed Better Lives strategy builds on on-going conversations we have with our
citizens, partners, elected members and trade unions through the wide range of
partnership boards and joint fora we have. A specific piece of work was led by Leeds
Involving People with people with care and support needs which informed the section of
the strategy on what a better life looks like.

4.1.2

In developing and engaging support for this strategy within the Council a series of
engagement events have been held with Best Council Leadership Team (the Chief Officer
Group). This has been followed up by further engaging with Directorate Leadership
Teams to identify areas where joint approaches can be developed to meet the aims of the
strategy. This report identifies a number of existing areas of joint working, together with
further initiatives to explore going forward.

4.1.3

Section 3.6 -3.10 sets out what consultation has taken place with stakeholders and
partners and 3.11 – 3.12 summarises what changes have been made in light of people’s
feedback.

4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

Page 147

4.2.1

An equality impact screening has been undertaken and it has concluded that the strategy
does not require a full impact assessment.

4.2.2

Where there are specific actions that are likely to have an impact, there will be specific
Equality screenings and possibly full Impact Assessments.

4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1

The draft refreshed Better Lives strategy supports the Council’s strategic objective to be a
compassionate city with a strong economy by setting out the council’s strategic priorities
for people with care and support needs. It directly supports the Best Council Plan Better
Lives priority for 2017/18. It also is a key part of the delivering the vision of the Health and
Well-being Strategy including such key elements as:

4.3.2



An age friendly city where people age well



Strong, engaged and well connected communities



Housing and the environment enable all people to be healthy



Maximise the benefits from information and technology



Promote mental and physical equality



A valued, well trained and supported workforce



The best care, in the right place and the right time

The strategy also supports the Council’s Breakthrough projects, notably Making Leeds
the Best City to Grow Old In and Reducing Health Inequalities but the approach and the
strategies ambitions can have a positive impact across all the projects.

4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1

The Adults and Health Directorate has a net budget of £207m, achieved a balanced
budget in 2016-17 and is on course to do the same this year however this has not been
achieved without a programme of continuous transformation and reconfiguration of
services. The proposals contained within this report aim not only to achieve increased
customer satisfaction but to make best use of community assets thereby making care
budgets for those with eligible social needs go further. Leeds has maintained its
investment in preventative services, mostly delivered by the Third Sector, and careful
monitoring of the impact of the strengths-based approach to social care on Third Sector
services will be in place to ensure local services are not over-stretched.

4.4.2

The Care Quality Team will be funded out of the additional 1 % precept that councils have
been given permission to levy.

4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1

The refresh of the Better Lives strategy helps deliver the new statutory principle of
individual well-being that underpins the Care Act 2014. Local authorities (and their
partners in health, housing, welfare and employment services) must take positive steps to
prevent, reduce of delay the need for care and support for all local people.

4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1

There are no specific significant risks contained within the report. Adult Social care core
business is the identification and management of risk – whether it is someone’s safety
through safeguarding or risks to independence through the provision of appropriate
advice, information, care and support. Legal advice has been sought in all changes to
social work documentation and recording practice to ensure the Council remains Care Act
complaint.
Page 148

4.6.2

All the directorates’ major transformation programmes follow project management
methodology and have risk registers that are regularly reviewed and updated.

5

Conclusions

5.1

Leeds has clearly set out its ambition to be a compassionate city with a strong economy.
In light of this, the end of major service reviews and the introduction of the Care Act 2014
it is appropriate to refresh the Better Lives strategy which sets out the council’s priorities
for people with care and support needs. The strategy has taken a strong steer from the
Health and Well-being Strategy, the Best Council Plan and is congruent with the
restorative approach in Children and Families Services.

6

Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to:

6.1

Approve the refreshed Better Lives strategy and action plan 2017-2021.

6.2

Note that the Director of Adults and Health is responsible for implementing these
recommendations.

7

Background documents1
Nil

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 149

This page is intentionally left blank

Better Lives
strategy
2017 – 2021

1

Page 151

What is the Better Lives strategy?
The Better Lives strategy is Leeds City Council’s strategy for people with care and
support needs. We first produced a strategy in 2011 and it needed to be updated.
Our strategy doesn’t talk about everything we do. It focuses on what we think are
the most important things we need to improve on.
It helps us deliver the Council’s overarching Health and Well-being strategy which
aims for Leeds to be:
“A healthy and caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest
improve their health the fastest”
Our purpose:
The ambition of the Better Lives strategy is:
“To ensure that people with care and support needs are able to have a
fulfilling life”
Our five key aims:


To promote well-being and increase personal and community resilience



To maximise recovery and promote independence so people can live
independently in their own communities for as long as possible



To improve the quality of life for people with care and support needs



To provide choice and control for people who have care and support needs



To ensure value for money and the best use of the Leeds pound

2

Page 152

Our guiding principles:
The Better Lives strategy is under-pinned by the following ten principles:
1.

Self-determination: each person should be in control of their own life and, if
they need help with decisions, those decisions are kept as close as possible to
them.
2. Direction: each person should have their own path and sense of purpose to
help give their life meaning and significance.
3. Money: each person should have enough money to live an independent life
and are not unduly dependent upon others.
4. Home: each person should have a home that is their own, living with people
that they really want to live with.
5. Support: each person should get support that helps them to live their own
life and which is under their control.
6. Independence: People should have the opportunity to learn or re-gain the
skills to be as independent as possible
7. Community Life: each person should be able to fully participate in and
contribute to their community.
8. Rights: each person should have their legal and civil rights respected and be
able to take action if they are not.
9. Responsibilities: each person should exercise responsibility in their own lives
and be able to make a contribution to their community.
10. Assurance: people should have confidence in the quality of the services the
Council commissions or provides directly itself.
Our key commitments to you
We need to build on the approach we embarked on in 2011. Set out below are
what we believe should be our key commitments to citizens for a reformed care
and support system:











We will listen carefully to understand what makes a good life for you
We will communicate clearly and in a way that works best for you
We will listen to, and value, what you, your family, your friends and your
community say
The focus of our intervention will be to facilitate solutions
We will work with you at a pace that is right for you
We will actively engage with our local communities, support networks and
partners to develop alternative solutions for people
You will only have to tell your story once and we will make sure our systems
and procedures support that
We will ask your permission upfront to share information to help keep you
safe and well
We will empower our front-line staff to design different solutions with you
You will not unnecessarily go into long term care and will have time to make
informed decisions about your care and support options
3

Page 153





Keeping you safe is paramount: and we will work collaboratively with you
and other agencies to manage risk appropriately
We will work equitably within our resources
We will actively work with our partners to remove barriers to delivering our
services

4

Page 154

Our approach needs to operate at four levels:
At individual practice level: working in a different way to help individuals and
their families find solutions that build on their strengths and assets
At the service level: building flexible, empowering and responsive services that
are delivered in new and innovative ways
At the community level: building and harnessing the strength of resilient
individuals, families and communities
At whole systems level: recognising that part of the solution to our challenge rests
in collaborative working with our colleagues in the wider public, Third and private
sectors. We need to engineer a win-win solution across health and social care to
manage demand pressures and to keep people safe and well.
What does success look like: what is a good life?
We have worked with people with care and support needs, carers, partners and
staff to build a picture of what the constituent parts of a good life are and this is
what people have said:











Having somewhere decent to live
Having friends and people who love you in your life
Having enough money to make choices
Exercising control over your life
Living as independently as possible
Feeling safe
Participating in society as a contributing citizen
Enjoying the best quality of life irrespective of frailty and/ or disability
Having aspirations and hope
Having fun!

We will judge our success on the following “I” outcome statements which is what
we hope people with care and support needs could say about their lives:
Outcome One: I have access to information and support to live the life I choose
for myself
Outcome Two: I am able to build on my personal strengths and realise the
opportunities that exist within my community to lead a fulfilling, health and
active life.
5

Page 155

Outcome Three: I feel in control of my life and feel safe and as well as possible
Outcome Four: I have choice about where I live and who I live with
Outcome Five: I have confidence in the people and organisations that provide me
with support

So what are our new priorities?
It is proposed that the refreshed Better Lives strategy reframes its purpose around
three key themes:




Better Lives through better conversations
Better Lives through better living
Better Lives better connections

Set out below is our action plan for each of the key themes.

6

Page 156

Better Lives Action Plan
Better Conversations
Priority
1. Adopt a strengths-based approach to social work

Task
Changing our conversations with customers to be about “What matters
to them” rather than “what’s the matter with them”
Train all staff, including customer services operators, in the approach

Page 157

Set up “Talking Points” – pop-up sessions with social workers in
community settings across the city
Build up community knowledge and make greater use of the Leeds
Directory and “Through the Maze” in social work practice
2. Reduce bureaucracy for social workers

Review all documentation and processes to free up time for more face
to face work with customers

3. Improve our response when some is in urgent need

Roll out the Rapid Response Team approach which “holds” people for
72 hours, has reduced backlogs and provides more professional support
at initial contact point in the customer journey

4. Evaluate the impact of this approach

Work with the Behavioural Insight Team to evaluate the impact of the
strengths-based approach at initial contact
Participate in the National Development Team for Inclusion evaluation
as one of 10 local authorities adopting this approach
Work with people with care and support needs and carers to evaluate
the impact of this approach
7

Better Living
Priority
1. Extend the housing offer for older people

Task
Develop more extra care schemes using a mixture of council resources
and council influence in the market
Extend the Homeshare service

2. Improve access to appropriate housing for working
age adults with care and support needs

Working with the Housing department and Registered Social Landlords
to improve access to housing including influencing new developments
and bespoke schemes based on the principle of “ordinary lives”

Page 158

Work with technology companies to include the next generation of
assistive technology into housing
3. Maximise the role of prevention

Continue to invest in a range of Third Sector services in both
preventative and direct care
Recommission and increase investment in the Neighbourhood Networks

3.Maximise the use of technology to improve people’s
lives

Continue to develop applications and “The Internet of Things” to
improve people’s safe, well-being and connectedness
Complete Phase 2 of Assisted Living Leeds development

4. Support carers

Continue to support Carers Leeds and ensure that Carers are supported
through a strengths-based approach
Undertake a strategic review of short break services

5. Improve take up of Direct Payments and Individual

Review and improve the current paperwork and process for Direct
Payments and Individual Service Funds with an expert-by-experience
8

Services

group
Develop the Personal Assistant workforce

6. Promote the financial inclusion of people with care
and support needs

Continue to work with Leeds Benefit Service to offer a full benefits
check
Promote the Leeds Money Information Service to people with care and
support needs
Continue investment in employment support

Page 159

Continue to offer work tasters in Adult Social Care services
7. Develop in-house services

Develop Leeds Recovery Service as an integrated service offering
assistive technology, short-term support in the home and recovery beds
Expand the in-house Shared Lives services to increase the number of
carers and therefore services

8. Improve the quality of externally commissioned
services

Develop a “One City” approach to quality with the NHS
Set up the Quality in Care team which will work with the care home
sector in the first instance to improve and sustain the quality of care
Set up a Leadership Academy for registered managers to ensure
services are well-led

9

Better Connections
Priority
1. Collaborate where working together will improve
services

Task
Continue to develop our 13 Integrated Neighbourhood Teams,
particularly engaging with primary care services as the NHS develops
an accountable care system in Leeds

Page 160

Work closely with the Communities and Environment Directorate in the
roll out of a strength-based approach to social care including asset
mapping and asset-based community development
2. Continue to work with other council directorates and
partners to improve the lives of people with care and
support needs

Working with colleagues in the Housing department, a range of
initiatives are being developed including the promotion of links to
Tennant forums, Housing Advisory Panels and the significant
community assets already developed by these groups.
Work with the Parks and Countryside Service to develop design
principles for Parks to ensure accessibility for older people.
Building upon the strong working relationships that the Council has
developed with the Police Service to support Safeguarding, Domestic
Violence and Community Safety, we aim to work more closely with
them to reduce incidence, impact and fear of crime experienced by
vulnerable people, particularly by older people. We also aim to work
with the Police Service to more effectively support people with
dementia to be returned home safely should the need arise.
10

Make the most of Leeds Academic Health Partnership, make sure that
innovation and learning are closely linked so we build on an evidence
base of works well and makes a positive impact on people’s lives.
Leeds City Council has endeavoured to be more enterprising and has
encouraged enterprise to be more civic with businesses, both large and
small, making a significant contribution to improving the lives of local
people through generous corporate social responsibility. We want to
build on this, particularly by strengthening links with businesses at a
locality level.
Page 161
11

What we want to achieve

5 KEY AIMS
1. Promote well-being and personal and community resilience
2. Maximise recovery and promote independence so peoples can live
independently in their own communities for as long as possible
3. Improve the quality of life for people with care and support needs
4. Provide choice and control for people who have care and support
needs
5. Ensure value for money and the best use of the Leeds £

How we’ll know if we’ve made a difference

Health and Wellbeing strategy: Leeds will be a healthy and caring city
for all ages. Where people who are the poorest improve their health the
fastest

Vision of the Better Lives strategy: To ensure that people with care and
support needs are able to have a fulfilling life

Better Conversations
1. % of new referrals for social care which were resolved at initial point of
contact or through accessing universal services

How we’ll do it
2. % of adult social care assessments completed in the month within 28
days (all assessments)

5 OUTCOMES

3. Numbers / % of carers using social care who receive self-directed
support as a direct payment

 “I have access to information and support to live the life I choose
for myself”
 “I am able to build on my personal strengths and realise the
opportunities that exist within my community to lead a fulfilling,
healthy and active life”
 “I am in control of my life and feel safe and as well as possible”
 “I can choose where I live and who I live with”
 “I have confidence in the people and organisations who provide
me with support”

Better Conversations
Better Connections






9 PRIORITIES
1. To work with people with care and support needs in a way that
builds on their strengths and those of their family, friends and
communities through a transformed model of social work and
social care
2. To stimulate and harness community assets
3. To enable family carers to remain well, active and energised in
their caring role with access to a range of short breaks

Page 162

4. To increase the opportunities for people to recover and maximise
their independence thereby reducing the number of people
admitted to permanent care

Reformed social work
model
Improved front door
Rapid response
“Talking Points”
Less paperwork

4. The ratio of people who receive community-based support vs people
who are supported in care homes
5. The number of people completing a re-ablement service
6. Delayed discharges from hospital due to social care (per 100,000
population)
Better Living

Better Connections

Better Living








Support to carers
Extra care and other housing
solutions
Shared Lives
Quality of Care Team
Direct payments & Individual
Service Funds






Further integration at city‐wide
and neighbourhood level with NHS
& council partners
Proliferate ABCD approaches
Citizen driven technology
Leeds Academic Health
Partnership
Business & enterprise

7. To support and develop social care providers and the social care
market within the city to provide high quality services
8. To work with our partners in an integrated way to improve the
health and wellbeing of people within the City

8. % of people who use social care who receive self-directed support as a
direct payment (including mixed budgets)
9. Number of permanent admissions to residential and nursing care
homes for people aged 18-64 including 12 week disregards
10. Number of permanent admissions to residential and nursing homes
people aged 65+ including 12 week disregards
11. Number of new units of extra care housing

5. To promote a range of models of care and support to increase the
number of people choosing direct payments
6. To increase the amount of Extra Care housing and other models of
Accommodation – with - support to reduce the number of people
needing a care home placement

7. The % of CQC registered care services in Leeds rated as “good” or
outstanding”

Safeguarding

A clear budget strategy:

12. The percentage of people with a concluded safeguarding enquiry for
whom their outcomes were fully or partially met
Finance

 Meeting people’s needs
 Helping people to help themselves
 Those who can afford it make a contribution

9. To reduce inequalities in health and well-being and to ensure
equality of access to social care services

12

13. Forecast expenditure of Directorate

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Adult Social Care

Service area: Commissioning

Lead person: Cath Roff, Director of
Adults and Health

Contact number: 0113 378 3875.

1. Title: Refresh of the Adult Social Care Better Lives Strategy
Is this a:
X Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

The Better Lives strategy is the Council’s strategy for people with care and support
needs. It was first produced in 2011 when Councils were encouraged to produce a
“local account” or annual report on their progress in developing adult social care
services in line with national policy.
This is a refresh of the strategy in light of five years passing, a number of major
service reviews concluding, a new health and Well-being strategy being published
and the introduction of the Care Act 2014, as well as feedback from the citizens of
Leeds.
The council maintains continuous engagement with people with care and support
needs, carers, Third sector and NHS partners through a number of partnership
boards and other fora which continue to inform and shape the strategic development
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 163

1

of services. This strategic dialogue has fed through into the drafting of the refreshed
strategy.
The Better Lives strategy is shaped around three key themes:
 Better Lives through better conversations.
 Better Lives through better living.
 Better Lives through better connections.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sexual orientation. Also those areas that impact on
or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions

Yes

Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?

No
X

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?

X

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?

X

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?

X

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 164

2

If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity;
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information; gaps in information and plans to address; consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
1) The Better Lives strategy will not in itself lead to any differential impacts for
protected characteristics or barriers to accessing services. It is the operational
changes to service provision that will be made to implement the strategy where
Equality Screening and assessment will be required and where they will be carried
out.
2) Adult Social Care provides its services based on formal assessment of the specific
needs of individuals, the Better Lives Strategy will not change this. Any individual
who is eligible for services will continue to be eligible for those services.
3) The strategy refresh is based upon the information received through the on-going
consultation and engagement mechanisms in place that collates the views of all
Leeds citizens with relevance to social care.
The information informing the strategy and this screening has come from a
number of specific equality impact assessments for example;








Specific Equality Impact assessment for the Charging Review, with involvement of
the service user experience group.
The Black and Minority Ethnic Day Services consultations.
Work has also been undertaken with the Leeds Adult Safeguarding Boards
citizens’ engagement sub group,
A conference entitled “Dying Matters” looking at end of life care in BME
communities has been facilitated by the Adult Social Care Consultation and
Engagement team.
The Black and Minority Community Forum
Leeds Older People’s forum
A newly formed group for older LGBT people.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 165

3



Use has also been made of feedback reports to the Adult Social Care Equality and
Engagement Board.

4) Leeds Involving People ran a workshop with people who use care and support
needs to feed their views into the strategy – particularly on what contributes to a
good life
5) The draft strategy was also shared with Forum Central and through them their 300
strong membership of organisations who form the collective voice of health and
care Third Sector organisations
6) It has also been to a number of NHS for a including: the Provider Network,
Community Links, Leeds Social Prescribing Group, primary care development
groups, Health Coaching workshops and Chapeltown Mental health Wrap Around
Group
7) The Better Lives Board has also commented and provided feedback. The Board
membership comprises cross-party elected members, people direct experience of
care and support services and Healthwatch.
All reports and minutes are available from the Adult Social Care Consultation and
Engagement team via Richard.Graham@Leeds.gov.uk

During this work People told us that:











It is sometimes difficult to get good advice and information in order to make
an informed decision.
When we make changes we do not always explain it very clearly.
People can find it difficult to speak promptly to the person who can help them
with their issue and some waiting times at the “front door” were too long.
People sometimes feel passed around and have to tell their story repeatedly.
The assessment process tends to focus on the things people can’t do and
misses out the things that people can do for themselves or they can do with
help from family or friends.
Our processes are over-bureaucratic and fetter the time staff can spend
focusing on solutions.
We are sometimes too quick to offer the usual menu of services rather than
think through more creative but simpler solutions.
We often get involved too late in a situation which makes it so much harder
to find a good solution.

It is to address these issues for all citizens of Leeds that the strategy is being
reviewed.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 166

4

that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
1) The Better Lives strategy itself is not likely to result in any direct equality impacts
or barriers to services. It will be the actions and decisions that originate from
implementing the strategy, that are likely to have equality impacts, or create
organisational barriers to services. Under the Leeds City Council Equality and
Diversity policy these actions will all have individual and specific screenings. Any
issues identified during the screening, will have full Equality Impact assessments
carried out, as appropriate.
2) The strategy’s key theme is defining what a good life looks like for each individual
which will inherently reduce barriers to service access.
3) One key issue that has been highlighted and impacts on this strategy is, during
conversations with communities a key theme has been to ensure that the strategy
is accessible to as many citizens of Leeds as possible, including those whose first
language is not English.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

1) Having listened to this feedback and identified what we need to do to improve
social care in Leeds.




Our starting point is a firm belief that everyone has strengths, no matter what
their current challenges are, and that by focusing on people’s strengths as
individuals, within their families and as part of their community we can work
together to build a better life.

Having different conversations with individuals around “what does a good life
look like to you” and “how can we work together to find solutions”?
Redesigning our “front door” so people can speak to someone who can
assist them straightaway, irrespective of whether or not they meet formal
eligibility criteria.


Positioning our “front door” in lots of different places including community
centres, libraries, GP surgeries and community hubs.



Ringing people back to check how our suggestions have worked for them
and if they haven’t then to plan with them again.

Thinking about how we can intervene earlier on and who is the best person
or partner to do this.


Responding quickly in a crisis and sticking closely to people to see them
through a difficult time.

Making the focus of social work; assessment and review.
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 167

5

Building much stronger partnerships with primary and community health
services.


Maximising people’s independence, recovery and rehabilitation.



Working closely with partners to ensure no-one goes unnecessarily to
hospital or into long term care, especially from an acute hospital bed.

To facilitate these actions Adult Social Care will be undertaking a range of changes to
the way in which we provide services.
It is the specific decisions and changes needed to implement the above actions that
may create barriers to services or have differential impacts on some sections of the
community. It is at this stage that specific equality screenings will be undertaken to
identify potential impacts and possible mitigating actions. Where there is a lack of
clarity or identified lack of knowledge as to potential impacts a full impact assessment
will be undertaken under Leeds City Council Equality and Diversity policy.
2) One of the key issues that people told us that applies to this strategy was that
when we make such changes we are not always good at explain these changes
and a number of useful suggestions were made by some groups that will be to;

a) Use plain, simple English. Free of jargon that people whose first language is
not English can understand or that can be translated easily.
b) Use examples of what changes will look like and example case studies rather
than technical descriptions of processes to aid understanding.
c) Continuing engagement and discussion with the communities involved, where
questions can be explored and answered.
3) Through performance monitoring we will continue to monitor the equality
characteristics profile of individuals using our services and take action to address
any concerns.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

Not required

Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 168

6

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Cath Roff

Director of Adults and
Health

24 October 2017

Date screening completed 23 October 2017

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions
and Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
screening was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 169

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Report author: Barry Jones
Tel. 0113 37 87284
Report of the Director of Children and Families
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15th November 2017
Subject: The Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 2017 - 2022
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
A key part of the ‘Best City’ Vision for Leeds is for Leeds to be the best city in the UK for
children, young people and families – a Child Friendly city. The Vision makes clear that
improving the lives of children and young people is a central priority for the Council and its
partners, as set out in the Best Council Plan.
Central to the Children and Families Act 2014 is a strengthened emphasis on improved
outcomes for children and young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
(SEND). It is the case that young people with SEND underachieve in Leeds compared to
their peers nationally. This is why delivering improved outcomes and destinations for
young people with SEND into adulthood is of great importance locally and so closely aligns
to strategic plans and priorities.
Work has been underway since early 2016 to coproduce a city-wide Preparation for
Adulthood (PfA) vision and strategy (appendix 1). The aim was to achieve a shared vision
with intended outcomes, strategic priorities and indicators which demonstrate a positive
impact on young people with SEND as they transition into adulthood. An easy read version
of the strategy has also been produced (appendix 2).
The development of the PfA strategy has been influenced by strategic thinking that aligns
to the Commission on the Future of Local Government. Specifically Proposition 4: Devising
a new social contract.
The strategy has been co-produced and seeks to raise collective aspirations with young
people with SEND so they can plan and prepare to live ordinary and fulfilling lives into
adulthood.

Page 171

The PfA Strategy presents a bold ambition for the City, outlining four outcomes. Young
people (with SEND) aged 14-25 will…
1. Be enabled, empowered or supported to take part in learning, training or employment

opportunities
2. Be able to live as independently as possible
3. Have friends and relationships and be able to make a positive contribution to the

community they live in
4. Be enabled, empowered or supported to enjoy the best possible health and well-being

To help raise awareness of the strategy across the Executive Board this paper sets out the
background, the strategic fit and how the vision and strategy has been designed using a
co-production approach, working with key stakeholders including young people, families
and partners from education, health and care across the city.
Recommendations
1. Executive Board are asked to acknowledge the work to date and support and agree
the intended outcomes of the Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 2017 – 2022.
2. Executive Board are asked to support and promote the supported internship
programme across the council and its partners by offering supported internship
placements, and embedding the ask in the social value commissioning framework
and the Child Friendly Leeds Employers network.
3. Executive Board are asked to note that the Head of the Complex Needs Service is
the responsible officer for the implementation of the Strategy.

Page 172

1.0

Purpose of this report

1.1

To help raise awareness of the PfA strategy across the Executive Board this
paper sets out the background, the strategic fit and how the vision and strategy
has been designed using a co-production approach, working with key
stakeholders including young people, families and partners from education, health
and care across the city.

2

Background information

2.1

The Complex Needs Service (Children and Families Services) provides
leadership across the Children’s Trust arrangements for the implementation of
SEND aspect of the Children and Families Act 2014.

2.2

Enabling young people with SEND to move successfully into adulthood fits with
the vision of Leeds to be: a child friendly city and a compassionate city with a
strong economy. It is not only in the best interests of the individuals and families
involved but also for the communities of Leeds and the city as a whole that
collectively we have high aspirations for our children and young people with
SEND and support them to transition into adulthood and reach their full potential.
That may be: employment, independent living, participating within an inclusive
community, as well as meeting their health and well-being needs.

2.3

With the right support, many young people with SEND can build the skills,
confidence and independence they need to be leaders of their own lives. For
some young people with the most complex needs, it's about celebrating the small
steps towards maximising autonomy and life experience. Preparation for
adulthood is all about aspirations and opportunities and enabling young people
and young adults to reach their full potential.

2.4

Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 transforms the system for disabled
children and young people and those with Special Educational Needs (SEN), so
that services consistently support the best outcomes for them. The reforms create
a system from birth to 25 through the development of coordinated assessment
and Education, Health And Care Plans; improving cooperation between all
services responsible for providing education, health or social care; and giving
parents and young people greater choice and control over their support.

2.5

The SEND reforms focus on the following themes:
Working towards clearly defined outcomes
Engagement and participation of parents and young people
Joint Commissioning and developing a Local Offer of support
Coordinated assessments and Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs)
Personalisation and personal budgets.

Page 173

Preparation for adulthood is a key element of the reforms that cuts across all of
these themes. The preparation for adulthood outcomes are set out in the SEND
code of practice and are a central feature of the Leeds PfA Strategy 2017-2022.
Preparing for adulthood means preparing for:
higher education and/or employment – this includes exploring different
employment options, such as support for becoming self-employed and help
from supported employment agencies
independent living – this means young people having choice, control and
freedom over their lives and the support they have, their accommodation
and living arrangements, including supported living
participating in society, including having friends and supportive
relationships, and participating in, and contributing to, the local community
being as healthy as possible in adult life
2.6

The transformation of the system for disabled young people and those with SEND
is intended to ensure that services consistently support the best outcomes for
them by ensuring that that children, young people and their parents have greater
choice and control in decisions and that their needs are properly met.

2.7

Earlier in 2016 a decision was taken that the necessary developments had been
made to comply with the Children and Families Act 2014 and we were in a good
position to turn our attention to the intended benefits of the Act: to deliver
improved outcomes and destinations for young people with SEND into adulthood.
Work commenced to build on our successful implementation by co-producing a
city-wide Preparation for Adulthood vision and strategy.

2.8

In May 2016 it was announced that Leeds was successful in our bid to become
one of 9 national demonstrator sites for the work we are doing on PfA. The three
areas we focused on for the national demonstrator site were Education Health
and Care Plans, strategic engagement of children and young people & parent and
carers, and the Local offer. The national evaluation report was published in May
2017.

3

Main issues

3.1

Our initial research suggested that only a handful of local authorities across
England have co-produced a PfA vision and strategy. We engaged with the
national lead for Preparation for Adulthood (funded by the DfE) who offered
support and facilitated city wide coproduction events in 2016 and 2017 that were
opened by, the Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Children and Families
(Cllr Yeadon and Cllr Mulherin respectively) and the Chief Executive.

3.2

The co-production activity that lead to the production of the PfA strategy included
a series of workshops, focus groups, surveys, lessons in some of the special
schools across the city, a review of 90 Education, health and Care Plans and two
large city wide events.

Page 174

3.3

During the extensive co-production activity we explored the key things young
people, families and partners from across education, health, care, voluntary and
community sector felt were important in their lives.
Skills and qualities young people feel they have
Where young people want to live in the future and who with
What jobs young people want to do in the future
What young people want to do for fun in the future
What young people said their big dreams or ambitions for the future are
Barriers facing these ambitions and the support young people said they
would need.

3.4

Running alongside the co-production of the PfA strategy 2017 – 2022 we
established a supported internship pilot to start delivering positive change and to
enable, empower and support more young people to be ready for the world of
work and to become employed. The learning and the experience gained from this
has also helped to shape the PfA Strategy. The Supported Internship Pilot worked
with the Special Inclusive Learning Centres (SILCs), Swarthmore, Leeds City
College and the Light House Futures Trust.

3.5

A supported internship is a course offered by colleges and post 16 providers.
They aim to help young people with learning difficulties and disabilities achieve
paid employment by giving them the skills and experience they need through
learning in the workplace.

3.6

Every supported internship is different, as every young person has different
abilities and career aspirations. The students spending most of their time at the
employer’s premises where they will be treated as an employee and expected to
comply with job conditions. 33 young people started on the supported internship
pilot 2015/16 (academic year)

3.7

Supported Internships are now part of the Child Friendly Leeds (CfL) asks of
employers. A menu of asks have been created and are shared with the CfL
employer networks which has enabled conversations and relationships with
employers to be developed and supported internship placements brokered. A
focussed CfL employer’s network is being planned for November where a group
of supported interns are going to present to the ambassadors seeking to recruit
more employers providing supported internships.

3.8

Supported internships have continued to be rolled out during 2016/17.During the
academic year 2016-2017 there have been 37 learners from across the city’s
SILCs, Leeds City College and Swarthmore Post-16 College who have taken part
in a supported internship. Supported internships have taken place across 26
different employers such as Yorkshire Water, The Holiday Inn, charity shops,
cleaning services and Leeds City Council. Of these 37 internships, 6 have been at
Leeds City Council, including in schools administration, catering and local
libraries. There are plans to increase the number of internships and reach out to a
greater number of employers during the rest of this academic year and in the
beginning of the next.

Page 175

3.9

Given the inclusive approach to developing the strategy over the past 18 months,
it was agreed that the draft PfA strategy document go out to consultation during
June – July 2017. The draft strategy was e-mailed with a consultation response
form to our key partners, the list has over 1000 e-mail addresses.

3.10

The draft strategy and response form were also available on the local authority’s
website. CfL, PfA, Forum Central and other partners helped to raise awareness of
the consultation via twitter.

3.11

To promote accessibility an easy read version of the draft strategy and response
form was also produced and received positive feedback from Forum Central,
LYPFT Easy-on-the-i team, parents, carers and some staff.

3.12

Whilst some of the responses were from individuals, others responded on behalf
of teams or services, such as the transitions service and adult social care.

3.13

The feedback was analysed and put into broad themes:
Strategy effectiveness (mainly to do with outcomes, indicators, priorities and actions)
o How progress is measured
o Content
o Implementation
o Relationship between outcomes, priorities, indicators
Funding
Transitions
Layout/design
Content
Language
Missing content

3.14

The plan is to launch the strategy through the complex needs newsletter, social
media and at various partnership groups and boards. The strategy will be a key
feature of the next annual Preparing for Adulthood city wide event in spring 2018.
Work to deliver the strategy will be reported to and governed by the Complex
Needs Partnership Board, a sub group of the Children and Families Trust Board.

3.15

The PfA Strategy presents a bold ambition for the City, outlining four outcomes.
Young people (with SEND) aged 14-25 will…
5. Be enabled, empowered or supported to take part in learning, training or

employment opportunities
6. Be able to live as independently as possible
7. Have friends and relationships and be able to make a positive contribution to

the community they live in
8. Be enabled, empowered or supported to enjoy the best possible health and

well-being
4

Corporate Considerations

Page 176

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1

As detailed above, and commented on at a recent children’s scrutiny committee,
extensive consultation and engagement activity has been undertaken to coproduce the PfA strategy.

4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1

An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening has been completed
and concluded a full EIA is not necessary (Appendix 3)

4.2.2

The strategy aims to raise aspirations and ensure that children and young people
aged 14-25 with SEND live fulfilled and ordinary lives. We will share good practice
examples and promote the work being done around the strategy by allowing
young people to share their own experiences and inspire other young people
through videos, talks in schools; complex needs newsletter articles, takeover
events and use of social media platforms.

4.2.3

The four preparing for adulthood outcomes will be measured by a series of
indicators, both sets of which are detailed in the strategy. There will be a further,
more detailed action plan that will set out how the SEND partnership will work
together to measure the impact of the strategy. The strategy will be steered by
strategic work overseen by the complex needs partnership board and children and
families trust board.

4.3

Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1

The PfA Strategy fits with the vision of Leeds to be the best place it can be: a child
friendly city and a compassionate city with a strong economy as set out in the
Best Council Plan. It is not only in the best interests of the individuals and families
involved but also for the communities of Leeds and the city as a whole that
collectively we have high aspirations for our children and young people with
SEND and support and enable them to transition into adulthood and reach their
full potential. That may be: employment, independent living, participating within an
inclusive community, as well as meeting their health and well-being needs.

4.3.2

The PfA Strategy also supports the Leeds Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2016-2021 through contributions to the outcomes of:
People will live longer and have healthier lives
People will live full, active and independent lives
People’s quality of life will be improved by access to quality services
People will be actively involved in their health and their care
People will live in healthy, safe and sustainable communities

4.3.3

The strategy has helped to influence recent service redesign within employment
and skills and young people with SEND are now a priority group for key
employment and skills activity across the city.

4.3.4

To support the delivery of supported internships and raising aspirations around
employment close links have been made with the corporate social value work and

Page 177

details about supported internships. The lead for the PfA Strategy is named in the
guidance for commissioners.
4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1

The Leeds Preparing for Adulthood strategy 2017-2022 will enable the local
authority and the wider children and families trust partners to focus our efforts on
improving the preparing for adulthood outcomes and turning the curve on the
indicators set out in the draft strategy. Ultimately, successfully implementing a
shared PfA strategy would deliver improved destinations and outcomes into
adulthood and would enable, empower and support more young disabled people
to live as independently as possible. It is estimated that equipping a young person
with the skills to live in semi-independent instead of fully supported housing could
reduce their lifetime support costs by approx. £1m.

4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1

The PfA Strategy will enable us to fulfil our legal duties on preparing for adulthood
as defined in the SEND code of practice.

4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1

The Preparing for Adulthood Strategy outlines the intended outcomes, key
priorities and indicators that will provide a framework for all services in Leeds to
support them in how they work with young people and families to empower and
enable them as they prepare for adulthood. The PfA strategy will reduce the risks
of not improving the key outcomes for young people 14-25 with SEND.

4.6.2

Whilst resources reduce and demand and complexity of need increases, it will be
essential to ensure effective leadership capacity is in place to drive the strategy
across the SEND partnership across the City.

5

Conclusions

5.1

Significant work has been undertaken to co-produce the PfA Strategy. The
strategy will enable partners to focus resources and understand the part they play
in achieving the key indicators and enable the outcomes to be achieved.

6

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board are asked acknowledge the work to date and support and agree
the intended outcomes of the Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 2017 – 2022.

6.2

Executive Board are asked to support and promote the supported internship
programme across the council and its partners by offering supported internship
placements, and embedding the ask in the social value commissioning framework
and the Child Friendly Leeds Employers network.

6.3

Executive Board are asked to note that the Head of the Complex Needs Service is
the responsible officer for the implementation of the Strategy.

Page 178

7

Background documents1

7.1

None

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 181

Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy
2017-2022

Foreword and introduction
Preparing for Adulthood

Young people identified as having special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) have the same
aims and hopes as everyone else. Over the past 18 months through auditing Education Health and
Care Plans (EHCPs), focus groups, surveys and two city wide co-production events, young people,
parents and carers and people who work with them have shared this view. They want to have fun,
to make friends, to learn, to work, to have the opportunity to speak up and be heard and to be
full participants in their community. Their SEND can mean that they experience barriers to this full
engagement and achievement.

This strategy outlines the intended outcomes, key priorities and indicators that will provide a
framework for all services in Leeds working with children, young people and their families who are
Preparing for Adulthood (PfA). The strategy will be driven and the indicators will be reviewed and
monitored by the complex needs partnership board that reports to the children and families trust
board.
By Preparing for Adulthood we mean preparing for:

Young people (with SEND) may need extra support, sometimes significant support and adjustments,
to meet a particular need. For example, a person who requires help in speaking, writing or being
understood, is still meeting the same human need that we all share, the need to communicate. The
only thing that is different is the degree of support or the way they meet that need, not the need itself.

•
•

Enabling young people (with SEND) to move successfully into adulthood, fits with the vision of Leeds
to be the best place it can be: a compassionate and child friendly city with a strong economy. It is
not only in the best interests of individuals and families with SEND but also for the communities of
Leeds and the city as a whole, that collectively we have high aspirations for all our children and young
people. That we support them to transition into adulthood and reach their full potential. That may
be: employment, independent living, participating within an inclusive community, as well as meeting
their health and well-being needs.

•
•

higher or further education and/or employment – this includes exploring different employment
options, such as support for becoming self-employed and help from supported employment
agencies
independent living – this means young people having choice, control and freedom over their
lives and the support they have, their accommodation and living arrangements, including
supported living
participating in society, including having friends and supportive relationships, and participating
in, and contributing to, the local community
being as healthy as possible in adult life

Therefore Preparing for Adulthood is about enabling, empowering and supporting young
people (with SEND) to:

Page 182

When a child is very young, or SEND is first identified, families need to know that the great majority
of children and young people with SEND, with the right support, can find work, be supported to
live independently, and participate in their community. Health workers, social workers, early years
providers and schools must encourage these ambitions right from the start. They must seek to
understand the interests, strengths and motivations of children and young people and use this as a
basis for planning support around them.

•

With the right support, many young people (with SEND) can build the confidence and independence
they need to be leaders of their own lives. For some young people with the most complex needs, it’s
about celebrating the small steps towards maximising autonomy and life experience. Preparation for
adulthood is all about aspirations and opportunities.

•

•

•

Acquire the skills they need to move successfully through their education; and pursue
vocational opportunities through participation in volunteering opportunities; work tasters, work
experience; supported internships; apprenticeships; job coaching; and paid employment.
Develop the skills and confidence they need to become as independent as possible in relation
to: travel; managing their finances and activities of daily living such as cooking and cleaning;
living on their own or with others; and forming and sustaining positive relationships with friends
and others into adult life.
Become and remain active citizens; living and participating in their local communities and
making a positive contribution to the development and improvement of them.
Be able to keep themselves safe and healthy and know what health services are available to
support them - including mental health services, and how to access what they need to maintain
or achieve good health and well-being.

Councillor Mulherin
Executive Board Member
for Children and Families
Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy

2

Steve Walker
Director of
Children and Families
2017-2022

Young people
(with SEND) will be
encouraged to share their
developing skills, talents and
experiences to help inspire and
enable others and have the
opportunity to act as peer
mentors and buddies to
other young people.

Page 183

Young people,
parents, carers and
professionals will have
accessible and up to date
information via the Leeds Local
Offer website and through Leeds
Local Offer live events about
the range of opportunities
available and how to
access them.

Have friends and
relationships and
be able to make a
positive contribution
to the community
they live in

Leeds Preparing for Adulthood
Strategy 2017-2022

Outcome and priorities
Listen to young people,
parent and carers and
ensure all education and
training providers are challenged
where inclusive practice is
poor.

Be able to live as
independently as
possible

Learning disability
staff champions will help
support and advise health
staff on ward to assess and
provide reasonable adjustments
for patients, parents and carers
with learning disabilities.

Work with children,
young people and families
using a person-centred
approach whilst preparing for
adulthood and roll out a family
leadership programme.

Access to independent
travel training to enable
more young people to
develop and maintain social
contacts; get to college and
training courses and access
vocational opportunities.

Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy

Be enabled,
empowered
or supported
to take part in
learning, training
or employment
opportunities

Increase the number
of supported internship,
volunteering, work
shadowing and apprenticeship
opportunities available
across the city.

Work with
commissioned
services, through
Child Friendly Leeds
employers’ network
and local employment
and skills partnerships to
develop relationships and
create opportunities
between employers
and education and
training providers.

We have a bold
ambition:
Young people
(with SEND) aged
14-25 will…

Enable young people
to share their experience
and skills to train leisure staff
to work with young people
with physical disabilities, learning
disabilities, visual disabilities
and auditory disabilities.

Ensure young people
(with SEND) have
opportunities to develop selfesteem and skills that promote
and optimise their well-being
and independent lives.

Work with education
providers to develop their post
16 education offer.

Ensure that study
programmes include
input on developing
independent skills and
effective communications and
relationship management
to support preparing for
adulthood.

Be enabled,
empowered or
supported to enjoy
the best possible
health and wellbeing

Provide support for
young people with mental
health issues through Mind
Mate and other services and
approaches as applicable for
each young person.

Train health staff
in health coaching, an
approach that supports
empowerment of young people
to take control of their care.

3

2017-2022

Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 2017-2022

Indicators

Have friends and relationships and be able to make a positive contribution to the community they live in
Be enabled, empowered or supported to take part in learning, training or employment opportunities
Be able to live as independently as possible
Be enabled, empowered or supported to enjoy the best possible health and well-being

Uptake of the Leeds Local Offer website and numbers attending Leeds Local Offer live events.
Individuals’ experiences of participating in post 16 education, training or employment has made a positive difference to their own
lives and the lives of others.
Post 16 education courses include input on social and communication skills that help to build positive relationships with others in
work and social environments.
Number and percentage of young people (with SEND) who participate in education, training and employment until they are 18.
Numbers of supported internship placements.
Number of organisations providing employment and volunteering opportunities.
Number of post 16 education providers who have staff trained as a job coach.
Numbers of employers who have adjusted their recruitment practices in line with best practice.
Number of volunteering opportunities from commissioned services is increased.
Volunteering opportunities are appropriately matched to young people’s skills.
Page 184

Percentage of individual EHCP outcomes demonstrating progress and achievements in relation to independence.
Individuals’ plans and reviews provide evidence of growing confidence and independent living skills.
Numbers of parents accessing the family leadership programme.
Evidence of peer mentoring and buddying systems in place, in settings and services and case studies demonstrate their use and
effectiveness.
Numbers of young people achieving the housing option that they want.
Numbers of leisure facilities where training has been provided and a designated champion for young people with SEND is in place.
Numbers of learning disability health staff champions and those trained in health coaching.
Numbers of young people (with SEND) who have undertaken independent travel training.
Numbers and percentage of outcomes set at every EHCP transition. Annual Review (in year 9) that supports the four PfA outcomes;
participating in their community, taking part in learning, training or employment, living independently and living healthily.
Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy

4

2017-2022

Key actions to deliver the priorities
Below are some key actions to deliver the 14 priorities and meet the four preparing for adulthood outcomes; young people (with SEND) making a positive contribution to
their community; being supported to take part in learning, training and employment; independent living and living healthily. Please note that some actions are applicable
to more than one outcome. A more detailed action plan will sit alongside this and will be overseen and governed by the complex needs partnership board that reports to
the children and families trust board.

Page 185

Young people (with SEND) aged 14-25 will have friends and relationships and be able to make a positive contribution to the community they live in
We will continue to work with young people, parents, carers and professionals to co-produce accessible and up to date information for the Leeds Local Offer website. We will hold Leeds Local Offer live events about the
range of opportunities available and how they can be accessed.
We will encourage young people (with SEND) to share their developing skills, talents and experiences to help inspire and enable others.
We will ensure that study programmes include input on effective communications and relationship management to support preparing for adulthood.
We will promote opportunities for how young people (with SEND) can get involved in groups and forums and participate in the National Citizenship Scheme; Duke of Edinburgh Award and other national awards.
We will support and plan to develop and keep meaningful friendships throughout transitions post 16 and into adulthood.
We will explore 16-25 joint commissioning opportunities across children’s and adults’ services.
We will recognise, celebrate and share achievements and successes of young people, for example through the Leeds Youth Award, the Child Friendly Leeds Awards, the Care Leavers Awards and through social media
related to PfA.
In line with the 2016 ‘Transition from children’s to adults’ services for young people using health or social care services’ NICE guidelines we will jointly review current systems and practice to identify where changes are
needed to improve transitions.

Young people (with SEND) aged 14-25 will be enabled, empowered or supported to take part in learning, training or employment opportunities
Where inclusive practice is poor the local authority will challenge providers.
Develop and share tools and best practice to support effective transition planning and preparation for adulthood.
Ensure schools and colleges provide study programmes that include employment, independent living, community living and good health.
The SEND partnership will work with education providers to develop their post 16 education offer.
Provide training for post 16 education staff to become job coaches.
Increase the number of supported internship opportunities available across the city.
Work with potential employers to adjust recruitment processes for young people (with SEND) in line with best practice used by disability confident employers.
Work with commissioned services , the Child Friendly Leeds employers’ network and local employment and skills partnerships to develop relationships and create opportunities between employers and education and
training providers.
Establish a post 16 PfA network, to build capacity, confidence, skills and share best and emerging practice.
Leeds City Council will work towards becoming a disability confident employer and will promote this to other organisations.
Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy

5

2017-2022

Key actions to deliver the priorities
Young people (with SEND) aged 14-25 will be able to live as independently as possible
Start preparing young people for adulthood from the earliest years.
Ensure young people (with SEND) have opportunities to develop skills that promote and optimise their independent lives.
Create a workforce development offer to enable staff working with young people and families to use strengths-based and person-centred planning approaches. This will focus on high aspirations for ordinary lives for all
children and young people, including employment, independent living, community participation and good health.
Roll out a family leadership programme.
Work with organisations, groups and services to ensure that there are a range of support services available, that aim to further develop independence.
Young people will be enabled to share their experience and skills and have the opportunity to inspire other young people by being peer mentors or buddies.
Services will focus on how they can support people to progress towards preparing for adulthood outcomes.
Young people and their families will be involved in strategic planning and service design and commissioning services.
Young people and families will be involved in the ongoing development and review of the Leeds Local Offer.
Young people (with SEND) aged 14-25 will be enabled, empowered or supported to enjoy the best possible health and emotional well-being
Develop a training offer for leisure staff to promote inclusion for young people with SEND.
Page 186

Learning disability staff champions will help to support and advise health staff on hospital wards to assess and provide reasonable adjustments for patients, parents and carers with learning disabilities.
Workshops will be held about accessing health services with school-aged young people.
We will help young people and their families having treatment by the ongoing development of the Leeds children’s hospital TV channel.
We will make health coaching training for health professionals available, an approach that supports empowerment of young people to take control of their care.
We will promote access to independent travel training to enable more young people to develop and maintain social contacts; get to college and training courses and access vocational opportunities.
We will provide support for young people with mental health issues through Mind Mate and other services and approaches as applicable for each young person.
We will provide up-to-date and good quality information about provision and how to access it on the Leeds Local Offer.

Leeds Preparing for Adulthood Strategy

6

2017-2022

Page 187

Page 188

Page 189

Page 190

Page 191

Page 192

Appendix 3
Equality, Diversity,
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest
opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already
been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Children and Families

Service area: Complex Needs

Lead person: Barry Jones

Contact number: 87284

1. Title: Preparing for Adulthood (PfA) Strategy 2017 -22022
Is this a:
 Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
It is not only in the best interests of the individuals and families involved but also for the
communities of Leeds and the city as a whole that collectively we have high aspirations
for our children and young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
(SEND) and support them to transition into adulthood and reach their full potential.
The Leeds Preparing for Adulthood strategy document links a set of actions and priorities
to four outcomes for children and young people aged 14-25 with special educational
needs and disabilities who are preparing for adulthood. It has been developed to comply
with the Children and Families Act 2014 and demonstrate that we are having a positive
impact on young people with SEND as they transition into adulthood.

Page 193

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment,
residential location or family background and education or skills levels).
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes


No






If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.

Page 194

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The Preparing for Adulthood strategy has been an 18 month co-production project that
has sought views, advice and guidance from the National Development Team for
inclusion (NDTi), parents/carers, young people, practitioners and strategic leads across
education, health, social care the voluntary sector. Co-production activity has involved
two city-wide vision and strategy events, the roll out of a supported internships
programme, an audit of Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs), surveys and voice
and influence sessions in some schools.
The aim of the strategy is based on a shared vision with intended outcomes, strategic
priorities and indicators which demonstrate that we are having a positive impact on young
people with SEND as they transition into adulthood. The strategy also intends to have a
wider impact on all young people in Leeds who are preparing for adulthood.
The strategy refers to a set of four outcomes for children and young people aged 14-25
with SEND that we hope to achieve, three of which are directly linked to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration: Young people [with SEND], aged 14-25 will have
friends and relationships and be able to make a positive contribution to the community
they live in; Young people [with SEND], aged 14-25 will be enabled, em-powered or
supported to take part in learning, training or employment opportunities; Young people
[with SEND], aged 14-25 will be able to live as independently as possible.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
A review of 90 EHCPs from yr. 9-14 was undertaken to see what the current practice was
in terms of preparing for adulthood. The review was undertaken by a team pulled
together from key partners: Parents, Special Educational Needs (SEN) Statutory
Assessment and Provision team, Educational Psychologist, SEN and Inclusion Team,
SEN Coordinators, Specialist Inclusion Learning Centres, Transitions and Health. The
review identified that preparing for adulthood didn’t consistently feature in the EHCPs
reviewed and that changes to templates, guidance and training would be helpful to
enable front line practitioners to hold person cantered reviews of EHCPs to ensure
preparing for adulthood is a key focus. This work is underway.
Consultation work supported by the Voice Influence and Change (ViC) Team and an EP
has been undertaken. Trees of life were used as tools to explore the hopes and
aspirations of SEND young people. 67 trees were developed which outlined the hopes
and aspirations of 73 young people ranging from year 8 to post 16 from 6 different
schools. Most young people, either independently or with help created their own tree
whilst a few people decided to work in groups.

Page 195

The strategy, and its subsequent action plan will have a positive impact on children and
young people aged 14-25 preparing for adulthood by allowing for greater independence
with regards to independent or supported living, being able to look after their own health
needs, being an active part of their community and having access to education, training
and employment. The strategy should also allow for better joint-commissioning of
services for these children and young people.
As part of a period of consultation about the final strategy document there was some
feedback about the lack of consideration given to children and young people with the
most profound disabilities and who will require lifelong care and never achieve full
independence. There was no intention of not referring to this cohort of young people and
a response to this feedback involved re-wording parts of the strategy.
As previously stipulated the overall aim of the strategy is a positive impact on all young
people with SEND in Leeds who are preparing for adulthood. Specialists in the field have
substantiated this ambition by saying that good, inclusive practice in education, health
and care is good practice for all young people.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
The strategy aims to raise aspirations and ensure that children and young people aged
14-25 with SEND fulfil ordinary lives. We will share good practice examples and promote
the work being done around the strategy by allowing young people to share their own
experiences and inspire other young people through videos, talks in schools; complex
needs newsletter articles, takeover events and use of social media platforms.
The four preparing for adulthood outcomes will be measured by a series of indicators,
both sets of which are detailed in the strategy. There will be a further, more detailed
action plan that will set out how the SEND partnership will work together to measure the
impact of the strategy. The strategy will be steered by strategic work overseen by the
complex needs partnership board and children and families trust board.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
B. Newton
Head of Complex Needs
14.09.2017

Page 196

Service

7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the
screening document will need to be published.
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance
and will be published along with the relevant report.
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published).
Date screening completed

14.09.2017

If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to
Corporate Governance
Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk)

N/A

Page 197

15.09.2017

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
Report author: Victoria Coyle
Tel: 37 86896

Report of the Director of Children and Families
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15 November 2017
Subject: Proposal for a Strategic Review of provision for children
and young people with Special Education Needs and Disabilities
(SEND)
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
The government has informed all Local Authorities they must undertake a Strategic Review
of the Special Education Needs and Disability (SEND) provision available in their area, with
the outcome being published publicly by March 14th 2018 via the Local Offer. This review
is to involve consultation with children, young people, families, education providers and
partners. Leeds Local Authority has been allocated by the government a capital grant of
approximately £3,237,000 for the period of 2018-2021 (annual spend per year over three
years of £1,079,000) to support the implementation of the outcomes of the review. The
scope for this investment is to create new school places or increase existing ones in good
or outstanding settings, including: schools and academies; special units; special schools
and academies; early years settings; further education colleges; or other provision for
children and young people (CYP) aged from 0 to 25 with Education Health and Care plans.
Whilst there are rules around eligibility for accessing the grant, the decision maker in regard
to the options the grant supports is the Local Authority. The final proposals will be presented
to the Executive Board for consideration and approval at the February 2018 Executive
Board.

Page 199

Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to:


Note the Strategic Review process, including the revised consultation from 6th
November 2017 to 4th December 2017.



Agree that the Good Learning Places Board hold the accountability for
governance and permissions in relation to the implementation of outcomes
from the review.



Note that the final proposals will be presented in the document – Local Authority
Strategic Plan of SEND provision 2018-2021, which will be presented to the
Executive Board for consideration and approval in February 2018.



Note the overall responsible officer for the implementation of the Strategic
Review and the publishing of the plan is the Head of Complex Needs.

Page 200

1

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report aims to provide the Executive Board with an outline of the approach for
completing a Strategic Review of 0-25 SEND provision in Leeds. It sets out the
local authority’s duties, the scope of the review, and the methodology and main
themes used for consultation.

2

Background information

2.1

The Children and Families Act 2014 places the duty on Local Authorities to ensure
there are sufficient school places for all children, including those with special
educational needs and disabilities up to the age of 25. In addition, The Childcare
Act 2004 enforces that Local Authorities must provide sufficient childcare places,
up to the age of 18 for children with SEND, where reasonably practicable, to enable
parents and carers to access work or training opportunities.

2.2

The government has informed all local Authorities that they must undertake a
Strategic Review of their SEND provision, consult with families and publish their
plan on their Local Offer page by 14 March 2018. The Leeds Local Offer provides
information about local services for families, children and young people who
experience SEND and can be accessed via the dedicated search engine on
www.leedslocaloffer.org or via the Leeds City Council website.

2.3

The DfE states the published plan should provide an overview of the picture in
Leeds including information about:

2.4



Where children and young people are currently placed and the types of
specialist provision in place.



A summary of key information about demand, anticipated future trends and the
demand for specialist education places.



A summary of the review process and identification of gaps in provision and
potential solutions.

The government has allocated the local authority a capital grant to support the
development of additional places. The published plan will set out how the
government’s capital allocation will be spent over the next 3 years, 2018 to 2021.
Leeds have been allocated approximately £3,237,000 (annual spend per year over
3 years of £1,079,000). The scope for this investment is to create new school places
or increase existing ones in good or outstanding settings, including: schools and
academies, special units, special schools and academies, early years settings,
further education colleges, or other provision for children and young people aged
from 0 to 25 with Education Health and Care plans. The final proposals for spend
are to be submitted to the DfE by 14 March 2018.

Page 201

2.5

The scope of the review is to consider the education provision on offer in the city
for young people with SEND who have an Education Health and Care Plan aged 025, along with the childcare offer for children and young people who have SEND up
to the age of 18.

2.6

The review will acknowledge other reviews, strategies and plans currently
underway that consider services and funding available to children, young people
and families who experience SEND. This includes:


Review of the High Needs Block (HNB). Potential capital solutions that arise
from the SEND Strategic Review may require amendments to the resource
support which could directly impact on the HNB. Any future development of
specialist places needs to be considered in a way that is sustainable on the
HNB.



Review of the SEND Strategy. This is the LA’s SEND policy which sets out
how the LA will improve outcomes for children and young people with SEND.
This is a high level overview of how the LA is developing the wide range of
SEND provision in Leeds, for example improving the quality of EHC plans and
preparing children and young people for adulthood. This will be completed by
working collaboratively with parents, carers, children and young people with
SEND and other partners and stakeholders to ensure that all partners have
opportunities to influence service development.



Review of the Local Offer. The Local Offer enables parents or carers of young
people with SEND to comment on our services for SEND. This is under
constant review and reports are published at least annually.



Annual Early Years Childcare Sufficiency Assessment. We are currently
refreshing our data and intelligence to inform our childcare sufficiency
assessment and this will include childcare provision for children with disabilities
up to the age of 18. This will next be published in November 2017, and
available via the Leeds Local Offer.



Children and Young People’s Plan (2015-2019) includes 14 priorities to fulfil
our vision to be the best city in the UK. We ensure these priorities are central
to our planning strategies, especially; the aspirations to improve outcomes for
children and young people with SEND; support children to have the best start
in life and be ready for learning; increase participation; and to ensure children
and young people have a voice and can influence change.



Future in Mind: Leeds strategy. This plan will ensure that SEMH provision
will continue to grow in the city where the need is identified.

Page 202



Leeds Children’s Services Transport Policy has recently been reviewed and
updated in July 2017. Personal travel allowances will in future be offered as
an alternative to providing transport for young people with SEND in Post-16
education. Any future development of new specialist provisions is underpinned
by a need to enable children to attend their local school in the least restrictive
way possible.

3

Main issues

3.1

The Strategic Review of SEND provision in Leeds will build on our existing
knowledge of our local area, including information about our current provision, as
well as projected future demand. The consultation will gather the views of children,
young people and families in the city, along with seeking views via our strong
relationships with our schools and settings. Also, where possible, we will work
collaboratively with our neighbouring authorities, particularly looking at our lowincidence SEND pupils where they may require specialist out of area provision.

3.2

The Strategic Review is a joint project between Complex Needs Service and the
Sufficiency and Participation Team (Learning Systems) and falls under the
governance of the Good Learning Places Board. There is a three phased approach;
Identify, Assess and Improve.

3.2.1

Phase 1: Current SEND provision mapped against future demand, highlighting
gaps and pressures on the existing system. This was completed by mid-September
2017 and formed elements of the draft SEND Strategic Review document.

3.2.2

Phase 2: This document is currently being reviewed through consulting with our
Children and Young People with SEND, their parents and carers and with our
education providers, so we can co-produce this review with their input. Consultation
is taking place between the revised dates of 6th November until 4th December 2017.
A report will be submitted to the Executive Board in February 2018 detailing the
outcome of the consultation and seeking the approval of the publication of the
review identifying the priorities for the allocated capital spend.

3.2.3

Phase 3: Any plans for new SEND provision will be set out in the Strategic Plan for
SEN Provision following the review and after Executive Board approval in February
2018. This will be after the LA has consulted with parents, carers and young people.
All future new priorities and SEND provisions will be in accordance with the
Strategic Plan for SEN provision with the governance and oversight of the Good
Learning Places Board.

3.3

We will publish the review on our Local Offer page and include details of how we
plan to invest the allocated funding, by 14 March 2018.

3.4

By March each year, we will review and publish on the Local Offer page how the
capital money has been spent.

Page 203

4

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1

The process for consultation is being managed in accordance with the relevant
legislation and with local good practice.

4.1.2

The consultation with children, young people, families and partners is taking place
between 6th November and 4th December 2017 and includes the use of the
WordPress on-line forum and the Council’s on-line survey system. A number of
drop-in sessions are being held across the city supported by officers from Children
and Families Services. Information is being distributed widely, including via local
schools, Early Years providers, on the Leeds City Council website, the Family
Information Service website, SENDIASS, Twitter and Facebook.

4.1.3

Elected members will be consulted, by email, giving them the opportunity to
respond with their comments and request further information if required.

4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1

When making any future changes or new SEND provision Local Authorities must
meet the requirements of the SEN Improvement Test. This includes demonstrating
to parents, children and young people and stakeholders how any proposed changes
will improve the range and quality of SEN provision, including access to wider
support services and specialist teaching, that these changes are in line with the
Local Authority’s wider strategic planning and in consultation with families and
stakeholders.
The consultation on the Strategic Plan for SEN provision
demonstrates that the LA is planning new provision in line with families and
stakeholders wishes. Furthermore, any additional new provision will follow its own
consultation process and SEN improvement test.

4.2.2

The consultation exercise seeks the views of all members of our communities and
is available in accessible formats. The Complex Needs Service communications,
engagement and co-production strategy 2017 has been used to ensure that all
communications are accessible for all stakeholders.

4.2.3

An EDCI will be completed for any options that are taken forward after consultation.

4.3

Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1

The SEND Strategic Review will support the ambition of becoming the best city for
CYP to grow up in and to give them the best chance to do well at every level of
learning, gaining the skills they need to achieve their full potential.

Page 204

4.3.2

The review is being conducted to enable the LA to meet its statutory duty to ensure
there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds with SEND up to the
age of 25.

4.3.3

The review contributes to the city’s aspiration to be a child friendly city. By creating
good quality local school places we can support the priority aim of improving
educational achievement and closing achievement gaps. In turn, by providing
young people with the skills they need for life, this review will provide underlying
support for the council’s ambition to produce a strong economy by compassionate
means. A good quality school place also contributes towards delivery of targets
within the Children and Young People’s Plan such as our obsession to improve
attainment, attendance and achievement

4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1

To assist with the review and possible improvement options, the government has
allocated both a revenue grant, to help undertake the review, and a capital
allocation to spend on actual expansions and enhancing existing provisions.

4.4.2

In Leeds, council officers are using internal resources, knowledge and experience
of demand and supply, and utilising existing strong relationships with providers and
stakeholders to complete the review.

4.4.3

When exploring improvement options we have started with exploring how
mainstream schools and settings can be shaped and enhanced to make best use
of the capital grant of £3,237,000 from the DfE, which is spread out over three years.
It is recognised that future planning must be sustainable for the High Needs Block
(HNB) and that supporting Resource Provision in mainstream school is the starting
point for this sustainability, building capacity in the mainstream sector. This helps
reduce the need for out of area placements with more pupils having their needs met
locally. It should be noted that any larger capital solutions arising from the SEND
Strategic Review, for example a proposal to expand current special school
provision, or create new provision, may need to be considered as part of a future
costed business case that would incorporate some of the capital allocation as well
as other funding options.

4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1

Conducting this review supports the council in meeting its duties under; the Children
and Families Act 2014, to ensure there are sufficient school places for all children,
including those with special educational needs and disabilities up to the age of 25;
the Childcare Act 2004 to provide sufficient childcare places, up to the age of 18 for
children with SEND, where reasonably practicable, to enable parents and carers to
access work or training opportunities.

Page 205

4.5.2

The DfE states that local authorities are required to take the following steps to
access their funding:
 Consult with parents and carers of children and young people with SEND.
 Work with education providers to agree how the capital can best be targeted.
 Fill in the short plan template, confirming that the requirement to consult with
parents, carers and young people has been met, including information about the
other groups who have been consulted.
 Publish a plan on their local offer page

4.5.3

This report is subject to call in.

4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1

There is a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient school places
and childcare for children and young people with SEND.

4.6.2

There is a risk to the High Needs Block if the LA has to continue to increase special
school places as well as to make provision for out of area placements. Therefore,
having a strategic plan for SEN provision that starts by building capacity in
mainstream schools helps to manage this risk.

4.6.3

To enable the local authority to access the capital funding allocated by the DfE it
must carry out a consultation with children and young people and their
parents/carers and publish a strategic review of provision. If these tasks are not
completed, there is a risk funding will not be awarded by the DfE.

5

Conclusions

5.1

Our Best Council Plan ambition is to be the best city and the best council in the
country, and ensuring we have sufficient school places and childcare offer for
children with SEND is one of our top priorities. The SEND Strategic Review is based
on meeting this aim through a detailed consultation with the public, partners,
stakeholders and children and young people across the city.

6

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board is asked to:


Note the Strategic Review process, including the consultation from 6th
November 2017 to 4th December 2017.

Page 206



Agree that the Good Learning Places Board hold the accountability for
governance and permissions in relation to the implementation of outcomes
from the review.



Note that the final proposals will be presented in the document – Local Authority
Strategic Plan of SEND provision 2018-2021, which will be presented to the
Executive Board for consideration and approval in February 2018.



Note the overall responsible officer for the implementation of the Strategic
Review and the publishing of the plan is the Head of Complex Needs.

7

Background documents1

7.1

None

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 207

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15
Report author: Shaid Mahmood
Tel: 0113 37 89885

Report of the Director of Communities and Environment
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15th November 2017
Subject: Locality Working – Tackling Poverty and Reducing Inequalities
Are specific electoral wards affected? The work has implications for all wards
in the city where the effects of poverty and inequality exist.

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1.

The City Council has a long history of locality working and has for some time had a
focus on tackling poverty and inequality, particularly in our poorest neighbourhoods.

2.

Over the course of the last ten years, some neighbourhoods in Leeds have become
poorer and outcomes for these neighbourhoods have deteriorated with increasing
poverty and inequality.

3.

The most recent indices of multiple deprivation identified that there are sixteen
neighbourhoods in Leeds that are categorised as being in the most deprived 1% of
neighbourhoods nationally.

4.

The case to focus capability and capacity and maximise the contribution and impact
of the whole council and its partners in our most challenging neighbourhoods has
strengthened over the past decade and is now compelling.

Page 209

5.

This report seeks to articulate a new place-based integrated approach to service
delivery and a new approach to tackle poverty and reduce inequality in some of our
poorest neighbourhoods.

6.

This new approach seeks to: prioritise our collective endeavour and resources, using
our own staff resource, capacity and capability more effectively; develop improved
working relationships with our partners locally; enhance the centrality of community
committees to locality working led through elected members; ensure we work closely
with communities so that we do things with and not to people; and, enable culture
change in the council and across our local partnerships.

Recommendations
1. Approve the deployment of a new place-based approach to early intervention and
prevention for tackling poverty, reducing inequality and addressing vulnerability in
Leeds.
2. Request the Director for Communities and Environment to provide an annual
progress report on the impact of the work as it develops.

2 of 15

Page 210

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report seeks to articulate a new place-based integrated approach to service
delivery and a new approach to tackle poverty and reduce inequality in some of our
poorest neighbourhoods.

1.2

This new approach seeks to: prioritise our collective endeavour and resources,
using our own staff resource, capacity and capability more effectively; develop
improved working relationships with our partners locally; enhance the centrality of
community committees to locality working led through elected members; ensure we
work closely with communities so that we do things with and not to people; and,
enable culture change in the council and across our local partnerships.

2.

Background information

2.1

This Council has a longstanding and proud history of addressing poverty and
tackling inequality in Leeds. In recent years, and as public sector funding has
reduced the Council has been mindful of the impact on already deprived
communities of the many related factors that can exacerbate poverty and inequality.
The report on equality improvement priorities received by Executive Board in July
2017 and the annual progress report on equality improvement priorities 2017 both
clearly articulated the differential experiences and the disproportionate life limiting
impact of poverty and inequality on equality communities in the city. Many of whom
reside in our most challenged neighbourhoods. It’s why a Leeds Inclusive Growth
Strategy which serves to benefit everyone in the city is now paramount and the
case for reducing inequality in the city is now increasingly seen as an opportunity to
improve the city’s economic performance, as well as reducing the demand on
already stretched services.

2.2

As the Council has deepened its understanding of the issues faced by citizens and
communities in poverty in Leeds, it has sought to flex and change its approach to
better address its causes. Indeed, Executive Board received a report in June 2015
on the Citizens@Leeds approach to supporting communities and tackling poverty
built on four propositions as the building blocks for a city-wide response to tackling
poverty and deprivation. The four propositions sought to address the need to
provide accessible and integrated services; helping people out of financial hardship;
helping people into work and being responsive to the needs of local communities.
Executive Board received an update on the progress made at its September 2017
meeting and requested a report to be brought forward in November on a new more
integrated approach to the work of the Council in relation to the city’s most deprived
wards, neighbourhoods and estates.

2.3

The national Indices of Multiple Deprivation data for 2015 demonstrates that some
neighbourhoods in the city of Leeds have become poorer and outcomes for these
neighbourhoods have deteriorated with increasing poverty and inequality. There are
sixteen neighbourhoods in Leeds that are now categorised as being in the deprived
1% of neighbourhoods nationally. Whilst it is understood that poverty is complex
and is influenced by a range of contributory factors it is clear that without a change
in focus through locality working, comprising of joint interventions from council
services working alongside those that are delivered by our partners in a more
Page 211

integrated way around specific neighbourhoods, the harmful effects of poverty and
inequality will exacerbate the already challenging circumstances faced by citizens in
our poorest neighbourhoods.
2.4

We will of course still continue to deliver a range of universal services that sees, for
example, our bins emptied, our places cleaned, our parks cared for and our streets
policed so that people can feel safe wherever they live across the city. The council
also delivers a range of personalised services that are needs-led rather than based
on geography and again, these will continue to be delivered across the city
However, the case to focus capability and capacity and maximise the contribution
and impact of the whole council and its partners in our most challenging
neighbourhoods has strengthened over the past decade and is now compelling. The
council needs to be more focused and more integrated with itself and its partners if
we are to really continue to make a difference in tackling poverty and inequality,
growing community capacity, and reducing the demand on public services.

2.5

Doing things differently, enabling joint interventions and service re-design in
challenging neighbourhoods requires a ‘can-do’ approach and a culture change
right across the council. It will need the deployment of asset based, strengths based
and restorative approaches with an effective use of outcomes based accountability
to turn the curve in these neighbourhoods.

2.6

It will require us to be more flexible about the deployment of council staff and
resources, and an example of this is the move away from the current arbitrary
geography of the ‘wedges’ of East North East, West North West and South East for
the integration of services, to a position where resources and capacity are
integrated and deployed based upon need and through maximising key strengths
and capabilities in different geographic areas.

3.

Main issues

3.1

The council’s ambition is for Leeds to be a compassionate city with a strong
economy and one which tackles poverty and reduces inequality. It wants everyone
in Leeds to:









3.2

Be safe and feel safe
Enjoy happy, heathy and active lives
Live in good quality, affordable homes within clean and well cared for places
Do well at all levels of learning and have the skills that they need of life
Enjoy greater access to green spaces, leisure and the arts
Earn enough to support themselves and their families
Move around a well –planned city easily, and
Live with dignity and stay independent as long as possible

At the heart of the Best Council Plan is the tackling of poverty and reducing
inequalities. Poverty is undoubtedly complex with a range of factors that contribute
to its proliferation and this past decade has been challenging for many people
4
Page 212

across Leeds. The national Indices of Multiple Deprivation data1 set clearly
articulates that in Leeds in 20152 there were sixteen lower super output areas
(LSOA) in the deprived 1% of neighbourhoods nationally. Whilst in 2005, there
were none.
3.3

In May 2016, the council initiated a review of the way we work together locally
across the council and with our partners. It was initiated following an analysis of the
IMD 2015 data set and a workshop with key service representatives on how things
were feeling in our most disadvantaged neighbourhoods in the city. The review was
led by the Director of Communities and Environment and the Chief Officer for
Communities working alongside a cross council team of Chief Officers and Heads of
Service. The review sought to improve outcomes across the city, particularly for our
most deprived and challenging neighbourhoods and for cohorts of people suffering,
or at risk of, vulnerability and make a tangible impact on reducing poverty and
tackling inequality, particularly in our most deprived neighbourhoods. In tackling
such issues, a significant contribution could be made to supporting key service
priorities including reducing the number of looked after children and supporting
vulnerable adults.

3.4

The review considered all services across the council and identified a range of
council services that could be better integrated at a local level and also services
whose response to locality working could be improved for the benefit of local
residents.
Importantly, the review recommended a fundamental change of
approach to the way we work locally with our partners and residents, focussing in
on those targeted inner city wards which are in the most deprived 1% of
neighbourhoods nationally and where we had significant community cohesion
issues and tensions.

3.5

In considering our locality arrangements and the deployment of our communities
team capacity across the city, it has also been recommended that the council move
away from our current arbitrary split across the three ‘wedges’ of East North East,
West North West and South East so that we can deploy our resource, capability and
capacity more flexibly and in a more integrated way according to need across the
whole city, and to support more focussed activity in our most deprived
neighbourhoods.

3.6

The city already has a legacy of seeking to support our most challenging
neighbourhoods dating back to the 1990s when we introduced a city priority for
‘narrowing the gap’. Prior to the economic recession of 2007 significant progress
was made. However, for many and varied reasons including national policy,
austerity, the economic recession, deteriorating housing conditions, welfare reform

1

The index is calculated from seven domains of deprivation
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464431/English_Index_of_Mu
ltiple_Deprivation_2015_-_Infographic.pdf) ranging from income, employment, education, health, crime,
barriers to housing and services and the living environment, weighted in that order of priority. It can be used
to compare small areas across the country and larger local authority areas and it can be used to look at
changes in relative deprivation between the historical versions so that the ranks of neighbourhoods between
one IMD census and the next can be compared.
2

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015

5
Page 213

changes, migration and public sector budget reductions, this gap has widened for
some of our communities in the last ten years. Whilst all communities have been
affected in some way by these changes some of our most deprived and challenged
communities have seen the worst effects of these changes. Of course, there are
numerous examples of great work being done in these communities and the
difference our actions are making on a daily basis. However, the external factors
are so significant that our work, whilst mitigating against some of the worsening
impacts of poverty, has not yet been able to make the impact we all desire to reduce
poverty and inequality in our city in a meaningful way. There is an acceptance from
the council and partners that some of our most deprived neighbourhoods are
experiencing such challenging issues and circumstances, coupled with a continuing
reduction in public sector resource and capacity, that something different must be
progressed.
3.7

Whilst we are looking to develop more integrated approaches to the way we work
locally, maintaining the statutory leadership role for key professional services in
adult social care, health and children’s and family services in any new place based
approach or arrangement is crucial. Children’s and Family services already have
locality working arrangements - principally based around clusters - and adult social
care based around their integration with health and their work through the city’s
neighbourhood networks. The scale and volume of the challenge for demand led
services in these areas is such that it negatively impacts on the community’s ability
to thrive without lots of joint support. A placed based model built alongside a
‘communities’ dimension provides for further change in respect of integration,
efficiency and the delivery of better outcomes for local people in our most
challenged neighbourhoods. It also provides for helping communities to do more for
themselves and for others helping to reduce demand on already stretched services
and supports our ambitions for restorative, strength and asset-based approaches to
service delivery.

3.8

In the area of influence where the three circles that encompass the work of
Children’s and Families and Adults and Health overlap with each other and that of
the work in communities (marked by the green triangle, Figure 1), there is an
opportunity to maximise the benefits of a place-based model which brings together
separate but very much related approaches and determine the content of the
collaborative and more joined up placed based interventions the city now needs to
make, through locally integrated services, to tackle poverty and reduce inequality.
For example, Leeds has seen an increase in the number of dependent children and
young people under the age of 20 in child poverty to 37,200. It’s estimated that
almost 25,000 children and young people in Leeds were affected by in-work
poverty, i.e. from a household where at least one person was in work. A more joined
up place-based approach to addressing child poverty targeted at specific
neighbourhoods could identify more personalised interventions at neighbourhood
level that could overcome barriers to engagement and progress.

6
Page 214

Communities

Children and
Families

Adults and
Health

Figure 1: Maximising the benefit of a place-based model to bring together related approaches in
adults/health, children and families, in communities leading to locally integrated service delivery in
our most challenged neighbourhoods (illustrated by the green triangle where the three circles
overlap).

3.9

Whilst the issue of why we need to change and what we wish to do differently has
been addressed, the question of how we do things differently remains. Appendix 1
provides a citywide strategic framework for council services and partners to engage
with residents around a place-based approach to tackling poverty and reducing
inequalities. It articulates clearly that irrespective of which part of the city Leeds
citizens reside in, they all should benefit from a range of positive outcomes for
themselves and their families. However, for our more deprived wards and most
deprived neighbourhoods, these outcomes become much more challenging to
deliver and the framework seeks to introduce a spatial hierarchy at city, ward and
neighbourhood level to help develop and graft a universal, targeted and more
specialised response to tackling poverty and reducing inequality.

3.10

Appendix 2 expands on the strategic framework for tackling poverty and reducing
inequality by outlining a more joined up service offer of council services and partner
services delivered through community committees, twelve priority wards in the inner
city areas and priority council owned housing estates in the outer areas, and
importantly, the sixteen 1% most deprived neighbourhoods in the city. It seeks to
bring people together to make a difference and help them to do more for
7
Page 215

themselves and for others so that their communities thrive and so that Leeds
achieves its ambition to be a best city for communities. Key to this approach is:





Residents, communities, businesses, and organisations are equal partners;
Local people are engaged to achieve the things that we cannot achieve alone
and we add value to their activities;
The city’s strategic priorities are aligned to local communities to deliver joint
action;
Tools and support are provided to local people to take action and we share
information, skills and resources.

3.11

The approach encourages the use of stories; making it about local neighbourhoods
and people, not about the council; projecting positivity and confidence; generating
insight and enabling behaviour change; using online methods to communicate
alongside more traditional methods, making it easy for local people to host
engagement activity. So that, we all play apart in looking after each other,
ourselves and the places we live and work including business, community and
voluntary groups and the public sector.

3.12

Our community committees have been built on a rich history of localised delivery
stretching back to community involvement teams in the late 1990s and
subsequently, area communities in the 2000s, with collaboration across wards on
cross cutting issues which has improved considerably since the area working review
established the new Community Committee model in 2015. Whilst there is a
continued need to strengthen the links between the Council’s directorates and the
community committees through the community committee champions, the
development of the committees since then has seen them firmly established in the
constitution and delivering improvements in delegated services, the use of
delegated budgets for the general wellbeing of the committee area, the tackling of
local issues and the direct and indirect engagement of local residents through
workshops and social media activity. This view was further reinforced by members
through the outcomes of a scrutiny inquiry into their development and establishment
and the annual report of community committee activity. Much of the development
work has been done and all but one of the recommendations of the scrutiny inquiry
have been fully implemented.

3.13

So, at a city wide level the 10 community committees remain as a framework for a
universal local approach to wider wellbeing, aligning strategic priorities and the
ambitions of locality working with local communities to deliver joint action. They
remain very much core to our ‘Go Local’ approach with elected members at the
heart of arrangements linked through their chairs to the executive member for
communities and through their community committee champions to cabinet
members. The management of the committees will be unified, with a simplified, and
standardised approach applied to all committees in this next phase.

3.14

The engagement of local ward councillors in their wards is of critical importance to
developing a more targeted service approach to inner city ward working. Their role
as local democratic leaders in shaping their places, having oversight of and driving
neighbourhood improvement activity against an agreed plan, and their skills in
managing the relationship with stakeholders and services is crucial if we are to
make tangible differences in our inner city wards that contain the sixteen most
deprived 1% of neighbourhoods nationally or that have significant community
8
Page 216

cohesion issues and where we are aware of tension and conflict. These priority
wards already have neighbourhood improvement plans in place and it’s important
that the embryonic work continues and is advanced in the coming years.
3.15

The council has responsibility for a number of housing estates in outer lying areas
which are no less confronted with the factors that promote poverty as the city’s inner
areas. Irrespective of the relative affluence of outer lying areas of the city and even
though these estates do not appear in the most deprived 1% of neighbourhoods
nationally, elected members have sought reassurance that these areas have also
been considered within scope for a new approach to tackling poverty and reducing
inequality. As a consequence, these estates should sit within the envelope of work
for a more targeted approach. Work is planned to engage ward members in detail
on the criteria for the identification of these estates and to determine the priorities.
Housing Leeds will identify a ‘pathfinder’ estate that will provide learning for the
council’s locality working approach to these estates in the future.

3.16

There are sixteen lower super output areas (LSOA) in the city (Appendix 3) in the
most deprived 1% of neighbourhoods nationally. Each LSOA represents around
1500 residents or 650 households. However, the boundaries of the LSOA are
created for statistical purposes and do not necessarily accord with real communities
of people nor do they necessarily help in terms of addressing cross LSOA issues
such as youth related anti-social behaviour. Any approach to locality working needs
to take cognisance of these matters and whilst LSOAs have been highlighted as
part of the spatial hierarchy of the emerging framework for locality working, officers
will work with local elected members to determine the real geographies for priority
neighbourhood working. These priority neighbourhoods will receive a locally shaped
specialised service offer, comprising of intensive programme management against
a locally developed plan delivered by an integrated neighbourhood team, with a low
centre of gravity for decision making and leadership and management. Whilst the
approach in priority neighbourhoods will require some prioritisation of resource and
capacity to drive the programme, it’s acknowledged that these are small
geographical areas in comparison to the rest of the city and it is proposed that only
six LSOAs (Appendix 4) of the sixteen are the focus for this more intensive work,
initially. Resourcing requirements will in any event change and flex over time as
we help communities to become more self-sustaining. In turn, this will influence
what can be done in those areas just beyond the priority neighbourhood.

3.17

Working in a more integrated way around priority neighbourhoods will require new
ways of working and making best use of assets to build stronger more resilient
communities. Restorative and strength based approaches will be required to
provide for a focus on finding solutions that improve outcomes and well-being,
whilst building on the strengths of local people and assets. Technological solutions
to community based issues will need to be sought to minimise the reliance of ever
more demands on service capacity. There will need to be a change to the way
organisational capacity is deployed, for example, intelligence and finance. Timely
and insightful intelligence in particular will be key to better integrating and aligning
service provision to local needs and opportunities. Strengthening our approach to
profiling localities with both hard data and practical local knowledge being combined
9
Page 217

to best effect to better inform and prioritise joint interventions is certainly a priority to
deliver this approach.
3.18

Most important to the success of the priority neighbourhood work is the way that
staff work in these neighbourhoods – individually, with each other and with
residents. The potential impact of this work on cultural change should not be
underestimated. It embodies the Council’s “Can Do – It will be done” approach.

3.19

A pathfinder in the Holdforths estate in New Wortley was initiated in the wake of
significant antisocial behaviour problems, an escalation of crime and attacks on the
Eastern European community and concerns raised by local people through their
local MP. The Holdsforths estate is within a mile of the city centre and is mainly
social sector housing built in the 1960s with a mixture of family homes and tower
blocks. The area is one of high deprivation, high levels of low income families,
unemployment, drugs and alcohol misuse and mental health difficulties. A priority
neighbourhood approach emerged with a core team at its heart which is already
paying dividends in terms of the reductions in antisocial behaviour and the look and
feel of that neighbourhood, with incidents markedly reduced. Key to its success
(Appendix 4)has been an ability to make decisions at the lowest centre of gravity
and a remit for resolving issues and problems responsively rather than reactively.
The pathfinder has also raised challenges in terms of the commissioning of services
and their responsiveness to local need, data sharing, the pooling of assets as a
collective resource to meet local needs, and the level of integration that needs to
take place to truly innovate and be creative with residents to re-design services and
better meet local needs.

3.20

Our learning from this New Wortley pathfinder will inform our approach in the other
five priority neighbourhood areas of initial focus whilst also recognising that a
tailored approach will be needed for the different neighbourhoods. The key
principles that have been forged from this experience which will apply to the other
five neighbourhoods are:







3.21

Place shaping rather than service led approach
A focus on people, communities and families
A flexible and fluid workforce
Empowered and enabled leaders and managers with the
permission to get things done
Built on strong local relationships focused on a collective endeavour that
use the asset base in the area to best effect
Responsive services with a ‘how do we fix it’ approach and a ‘can-do’
attitude, intervening early to prevent problems escalating.

Selecting the initial tranche of six priority neighbourhoods of focus has been the
subject of considerable thought and analysis (Appendix 5). Following the national
publication of the Indices of Multiple Deprivation data in 2015, a paper was written
in early 2016 articulating the geography of inequality in the city which concluded
that whilst Leeds fared better than most core cities, its national ranking had
deteriorated to 31st out of 326 local authorities with 105 of the 482 LSOAs in the
most deprived 10% nationally with a population of 164,000. Further analysis was
undertaken on the most deprived areas in the most deprived 1% of
neighbourhoods nationally. There are 16 Leeds neighbourhoods in this category
10
Page 218

split as follows: Inner East (7), Inner South (6), Inner West (2), Outer East (1 but in
an inner city area). A workshop was held with a wide group of colleagues from a
range of services, with considerable experience of locality working in the city, to
better understand the nature and drivers of disadvantage. A high degree of
consensus emerged amongst the participants on the range of previous
interventions that had been made and the reasons why these could have worked
better and which of the 16 neighbourhoods may require a different approach to
locality working to help them to improve. These areas were cross referenced
with officers in City Development to identify opportunities for regeneration and
investment and a target list of 6 priority neighbourhoods developed. They are:
-

Stratford Street, Beverley’s in Beeston Hill (E01011372)
Crosby St, Recreations, Bartons in Holbeck (E01011368)
Lincoln Green (E01033035)
Cliftons, Nowells in Burmantofts and Richmond Hill (E01011347)
Boggart Hill in Seacroft (E01011658)
Holdforths, Clyde Approach in New Wortley (E01011363)

3.22 Four of the six neighbourhoods have existing or near-future regeneration and
investment potential and this potential would maximise the likelihood of success
in tackling challenges and issues of inequality and deprivation through a new
approach to working at neighbourhood level. Two of the six neighbourhoods do
not have the same potential for direct investment and regeneration opportunities
yet they do have significant long-standing issues where a different approach to
working in neighbourhoods would also help.
The spread of these
neighbourhoods would provide for a thorough test of the approach in our
neighbourhoods of greatest concern. As the approach develops, it would then roll
out in a phased approach to the remaining neighbourhoods in the most deprived
1% nationally. We should consider the use of a framework for regeneration
similar to that which has been used successfully in Middleton with local elected
members and residents informing its development and monitoring its progress.
We should also ensure that local improvement plans for these neighbourhoods
have links to the evolving transport strategy for the city given the importance of
good transport for communities to access learning, training and employment
opportunities.
3.23

Further work will need to be done to refine the actual limits of the neighbourhoods
of interest to reflect real communities, the worked experience of staff, the
leadership experience of local ward members, and residents’ lived experiences.
Whilst it is proposed to start in these six areas, the areas and focus within each
will change over time as interventions are made and neighbourhoods improve.
Other areas will need to be brought into focus as conditions stubbornly remain or
deteriorate, requiring prioritisation over these six initial areas.

3.24

The approach outlined in this report is predicated on Council and partner services
working together in neighbourhoods and supporting communities in Leeds. The
pathfinder work in New Wortley has highlighted the need for the following services
to work together.



Communities Team
Environmental Action
11
Page 219










Community Safety
Youth Services
Housing management
Regeneration
Family
group
conference
team
family
service/signpost/children’s centre team/ school clusters
Neighbourhood policing team
Local health providers (GPs) and Adult Social Care
Local volunteers, community groups and faith organisations

intervention

3.25

It’s acknowledged that this list will require some refinement depending on the
nature of the issues in the neighbourhood of interest and the type of joint
interventions that are developed to address these issues. It could provide for a
powerful combination of resources if corralled and coordinated effectively in
priority neighbourhoods and delivered alongside services from the council that
would benefit local communities by having an improved locality focus through
community committees, such as sports and leisure and others.

3.26

Appendix 6 shows how the approach outlined in this report plays through a spatial
hierarchy and articulated across a map of the city. Effectively, a more integrated
service approach based on need and deprivation in the city’s places. However,
this more integrated service approach at a neighbourhood level requires the
council to prioritise its collective endeavours and resources and use finite
resources more flexibly rather than within a rigid framework. So, notably in
Appendix 6, another element of the strategic thrust of this new approach is a
change of focus from the boundaries of convenience used in the three wedges of
the city to administer more integrated services currently. Essentially, the council
will not use the wedges of East North East, West North West and South East for
its cross council integrated work and its integrated work with partners.

3.27

The basket of indicators that inform the seven domains which in turn underpin the
Index of Multiple Deprivation will provide the initial basis for the assessment of
progress in the identified priority neighbourhood areas. These indicators are
comprehensive, are based on available data sources, and provide a starting
baseline for the approach. A cross reference of these domains against the KPIs in
the current best council plan 2017/18 has shown congruence with it. As the
approach develops more specific indictors will be developed to better reflect
individual neighbourhood circumstances and the nature of our interventions.

3.28

The Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board agreed this year to
monitor and help inform the continual work surrounding the development of a new
locality working model. A Scrutiny working group meeting was recently held on
30th October 2017 to brief Scrutiny Members on the locality review work
undertaken to-date and how this has helped inform a new model of working aimed
at tackling poverty, reducing inequality and addressing vulnerability in Leeds. In
view of the cross-cutting nature of this area of work, invitations to this meeting
were also extended to other Scrutiny Board Chairs and Community Committee
Chairs. At this stage, there is a clear endorsement from Scrutiny in terms of the
current direction of travel and also the proposed strategic framework underpinning
a more place-based integrated approach to service delivery, particularly in terms
of deploying Council resources more flexibly and in a more integrated way
according to need and deprivation. Scrutiny will continue to be engaged in the
12
Page 220

development and implementation of the locality working proposals, particularly,
around establishing key measures of success and the future deployment of
resources across localities. As a whole Council approach, we will also consider
how best to engage all Scrutiny Boards in embedding the locality working
principles within their individual work programmes. However, it is agreed that a
more general update and discussion around the new locality working approach will
take place with the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny Board early
in the New Year.

4. Corporate considerations
4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The following individuals and groups have been consulted and engaged throughout
the locality working review and the design of the new arrangements and approach
to locality working: Executive Member for Communities; Executive Board Members;
Corporate Leadership Team; Best Council Leadership Team; Chief Officers and
Heads of Services; BCLT Echo events; West Yorkshire Police; Health; Third Sector
leadership; Community Committee Chairs Forum; Stronger Communities
Breakthrough Programme Champions, the Housing, Communities and Environment
Scrutiny Committee Working Group.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 Addressing poverty and inequality is an integral part of the proposals for a new
place based early intervention approach to locality working. Work undertaken to
develop these proposals identified evidence of disproportionate outcomes, which
we are seeking to challenge and change.
4.2.2 An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is attached for
information.
4.3

Council policies and best council plan

4.3.1 The role of community committees is already part of the council’s constitutional
arrangements. The Best Council Plan 2017/18 clearly articulates the ambitions for
Leeds to be a compassionate city with a strong economy that tackles poverty and
addresses inequalities. Its 2017/18 priorities include a priority for Resilient
Communities that incorporates the need to develop strong cohesive communities,
raising aspirations and reducing financial hardship.
4.3.2 The work articulated in this report is in line with the aspirations and ambitions of the
Council’s Stronger Communities Benefiting from a Strong Economy breakthrough
programme launched in June 2017.
4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1 The work articulated in this report makes best use of existing resources already
working in neighbourhoods and seeks to do things differently by working alongside
residents to shape their neighbourhoods and inform service re-design to tackle
13
Page 221

poverty and reduce inequality. The work further seeks to reduce demand on public
services and therefore cost in the priority neighbourhoods, specifically.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 The city’s existing neighbourhood improvement architecture will be rationalised and
a citywide neighbourhood improvement board led by the Executive Member for
Communities will hold the responsibility for these developments and oversight for
the programmes of work that they will require. Local ward members will be
instrumental in both the local arrangements and the citywide Board.
4.5.2 There are no exempt items so there are no access to information issues.
4.5.3 There are no legal implications for the work articulated in this report
4.5.4 This Executive Board decision is subject for call-in.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The council has been discussing a need to radically change the way we work in
localities for some time now. Pressures in some of our most challenged and
deprived neighbourhoods are now greater than ever due to a range of factors. If we
do not now ‘grasp the nettle’ now and try something radically different, it is
expected that we will continue to see a deterioration in our most challenged
neighbourhoods, and a worsening of these neighbourhoods nationally in future IMD
analyses. Moreover, we will not deliver against our key aim of tackling poverty and
inequality and delivering on our ambition to be a compassionate city.
4.6.2 It would be simplistic to assume that priority neighbourhoods could be supported
by redirecting resources from communities and neighbourhoods which are
largely self-sustaining and thriving. The reality is that resources in many front-line
operations have already been deployed on a needs led basis with limited
capacity from simply shifting where staff work to another area. The key to
increasing our resource capacity in our most deprived neighbourhoods, will be
through more integrated joined-up approaches, prioritising resource and capacity
where possible without having significant negative consequences elsewhere and
ensuring decision making is based upon need.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

This report has articulated a new place-based integrated approach to service
delivery, to tackle poverty and reduce inequality by prioritising our collective
endeavour and resources, using our council staff more flexibly, enhancing the
centrality of community committees to locality working led through elected
members, and enabling culture change in the council.

5.2

Whilst it is understood that poverty is complex and is influenced by a range of
contributory factors it is clear that without a change in focus comprising of joint
interventions from council services working alongside those that are delivered by
our partners in a more integrated services approach around specific
neighbourhoods, the deleterious effects of poverty and inequality will exacerbate the
already challenging circumstances faced by citizens in our poorest neighbourhoods.
14
Page 222

6.

Recommendations
1. Approve the deployment of a new place-based approach to early intervention
and prevention for tackling poverty, reducing inequality and addressing
vulnerability in Leeds.
2. Request the Director for Communities and Environment to provide an annual
progress report on the impact of the work as it develops.

7.

Background documents3

7.1

None

3

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

15
Page 223

This page is intentionally left blank

Leeds…A Strong Economy and a Compassionate City
“Tackling Poverty and Reducing Inequalities”

Appendix 1

A Strategic Framework
Page 225

The City

For our whole City, we need
to....
Want everyone in Leeds to ‐
• Be safe and feel safe
• Enjoy happy, healthy and active lives
• Live in good quality, affordable homes within clean and
well cared for places
• Do well at all levels of learning and have the skills they need
for life
• Enjoy greater access to green spaces, leisure and the arts
• Earn enough to support themselves and their families
• Move around a well‐planned city easily
• Live with dignity and stay independent for as long as
possible
To achieve this we will ‐
• Continue to deliver a wide range of council and partner
services across the whole city
• Use our locality working architecture to ensure that services
are responsive to the needs and aspirations of local
communities
• Identify poverty and deprivation in outer areas with key
lead services taking the lead e.g. Housing for outer area
housing estates
• Deliver the Council's Breakthrough Projects
• Deploy asset based/strengths‐based/ restorative
approaches
• Enable culture change, a can‐do approach, and agile
and responsive organisational and partnership
arrangements

Priority Wards & Estates

Priority Neighbourhoods

For our most deprived wards, we For our priority
neighbourhood’s we need to....
need to....
• Prioritise the 12 Wards incorporating the 16 most
deprived 1% LSOAs in the country or where we have
significant challenges in communities:
Armley/Beeston and Holbeck/Burmantofts and
Richmond Hill/City and Hunslet/Chapel Allerton
/Gipton and Harehills/Hyde Park and Woodhouse
/Middleton Park/ Killingbeck and Seacroft/ Kirkstall/
Bramley/ Temple Newsam
• Prioritise these wards for regeneration
investment and resourcing where possible
• Implement neighbourhood improvement activity in
line with a locally agreed plan
• Develop neighbourhood improvement partnerships
• Make tangible improvements to the quality of life of
everyone living in these areas and stop the decline
of deprivation
• Build strong, cohesive, resilient, and thriving
communities
• Reduce financial hardship and help people into work
• Keep children safe, support families, raise
aspirations and educational attainment
• Support healthy lifestyles by improving mental
health and well‐being
• Reduce crime and anti‐social behaviour
• Keep neighbourhood’s clean and tidy
• Address issues in priority estates in outer lying areas

 Agree six priority neighbourhood improvement areas
based on LSOAs in the most deprived 1% nationally as
follows: Boggart Hill/Clifton’s and Nowell’s/Crosby St/
Recreations/ Barton’s/Holdsforth’s and Clyde’s/
Stratford Street/ Lincoln Green
 Prioritise these six areas for regeneration investment
and resourcing
 Understand the core issues causing and impacting on
poverty and deprivation in these areas
 Have a concerted effort across council services and
partners to tackle our most deep rooted deprivation
challenges
 Introduce integrated neighbourhood improvement
teams to tackle the issues identified
 Build strong, cohesive, resilient, and thriving
communities
 Work with and engage local people to jointly tackle
long‐standing issues
 Develop innovative and creative solutions to move these
priority neighbourhood’s closer to meeting our city wide
outcomes
 Develop sustainable solutions that will maintain
improvement in the longer term
 Move onto other priority neighbourhood’s in time to
deliver the same and reduce the overall relative
deprivation in Leeds

This page is intentionally left blank

Bringing people together to make a difference and helping them to do more for themselves and others so that
their communities thrive and so that Leeds achieves its ambition to be a Best City for Communities





Residents, communities, businesses and organisations are equal partners
Local people are engaged to achieve things that we cannot achieve alone and we add value to their activities
The city’s strategic priorities are aligned to local communities to deliver joint action
Tools and support are provided to local people to take action and we share information, skills and resources

Page 227

The City

'Universal' Service Offer in 10
Community Committees
• 10 community committees
• Inner and Outer East/Inner and Outer South/Inner and
Outer West/ Inner and Outer North East/ Inner and
Outer North West
• Minimum of 4 meetings per year and as appropriate
4local issue led workshops
• Place and people based sub groups led by community
committee champions
• Wellbeing Fund spend and Youth Activity Fund spend
• Partnership agreements articulating service offer from
services in scope for improved locality working
• Strategic partner relationship management
• Online presence including social media
• Aligning strategic priorities and the ambitions for
locality working with local communities to deliver joint
action
• Community Centres

Priority Wards & Estates

'Targeted' Service Offer to 16 most
deprived 1% LSOAs and Priority
estates in outer lying areas
• 12 Wards incorporating the 16 most deprived 1% LSOAs
• Armley/Beeston and Holbeck/Burmantofts and
Richmond Hill/City and Hunslet/Chapel Allerton /Gipton
and Harehills/Hyde Park and Woodhouse /Middleton
Park/ Killingbeck and Seacroft/ Kirkstall/ Bramley/
Temple Newsam
• Neighbourhood improvement activity in line with a
locally agreed plan
• Key council service links
• Local partner and stakeholder relationship management
• Ward level meetings with members
• Oversight of neighbourhood improvement partnerships
• Priority estates facing challenges in outer community
committee areas

Appendix 2

Priority Neighbourhoods

'Specialist' Service Offer in
Priority Neighbourhood
Improvement Areas
• 6 priority neighbourhood improvement areas based
on LSOAs in the most deprived 1% nationally
• Boggart Hill/ Clifton's and Nowell's/ Crosby St/
Recreations/ Barton's/ Holdforth's and Clyde's/
Stratford Street/ Lincoln Green
• Approximately 1500 residents, 650 households
• Intensive programme management against a locally
developed plan Integrated neighbourhood team and
local leadership
• Ultra‐local partner and stakeholder relationship
management
• Infrastructure development
• Shaping the local integrated service offer
• Development of connected leadership/ OD/ cultural
change
• Community based reflection on available data and
service intelligence

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 3: THE 16 LOWER SUPER
OUTPUT AREAS (LSOA)* IN LEEDS THAT
ARE IN THE 1% MOST DEPRIVED
NEIGHBOURHOODS IN THE COUNTRY
LSOA Name
Stratford Street, Beverley’s

Reference
Number

Ward

Community
Committee

E01011372

City and Hunslet

Inner South

E01011368

Beeston and Holbeck

Inner South

E01033035

Burmantofts and Richmond Hill

Inner East

E01011667

Killingbeck and Seacroft

Inner East

E01011662

Killingbeck and Seacroft

Inner East

E01011347

Burmantofts and Richmond Hill

Inner East

E01011658

Killingbeck and Seacroft

Inner East

E01011375

City and Hunslet

Inner South

E01011363

Armley

Inner West

E01011312

City and Hunslet

Inner South

E01011473

Middleton Park

Inner South

Armley Grove Place, Hall Lane,
Abbot View

E01011294

Armley

Inner West

Bismarck’s, Dewsbury Road,
Burton Street

E01011371

City and Hunslet

Inner South

E01011433

Gipton and Harehills

Inner East

Bellbrooke Avenue, Kimberley
Road, Compton’s

E01011344

Burmantofts and Richmond Hill

Inner East

Halton Moor, Kendal Drive,
Cartmell Drive

E01011624

Temple Newsam

Outer East

Crosby St, Recreations, Barton’s
Lincoln Green
Foundry Mill Drive, Hawkshead
Cres, Alston Lane
Foundry Mill Terrace, Brooklands
Clifton’s, Nowell’s
Boggart Hill
Wickham St. Sefton’s, Harlech’s
Holdforth’s, Clyde Approach,
Trentham St, Oakley’s, Garnets
Winrose’s, Whitebeams

Compton’s, Ashton’s, Cowper’s

*There are 32,844 LSOA’s in the country. There are 482 LSOA’s in Leeds of which
these 16 neighbourhoods are in the 1% most deprived nationally.

Page 229

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4: Priority Neighbourhood Pathfinder New Wortley
1. The Holdforths neighbourhood area of New Wortley sits in Armley ward and is just within
a mile of the city centre. It’s an area mainly made up of social sector housing built in the
1960s with a mixture of family homes and tower blocks.
2. The area is one of high deprivation, with high levels of low income families,
unemployment, drugs and alcohol misuse and mental health. There is low take up of
services and referrals into support arrangements for adults, families and children and
general concerns of lack of pride in place.
3. The summer of 2016 this area saw a dramatic escalation of the levels of youth crime and
ASB as well as minor assaults on new communities, in particular, the Eastern European
community.
4. As a consequence of the locality working review and serious concerns expressed by both
the local MP and the Executive Member for Communities, a core group of key
stakeholders were brought together to better understand the needs and challenges in the
area and to co‐produce longer term solutions in partnership with the community. A
facilitated OBA session was held to support the journey.
5. A Core Team to tackle the issues was assembled with are key principles to strengthen
partnership working ‐
 Place shaping rather than service led approach
 A focus on people, communities and families
 A flexible and fluid workforce
 Empowered and enabled leaders and managers with the permission to get things
done
 Built on strong local relationships focused on a collective endeavour that uses the asset
base in the area to best effect
 Responsive services with a ‘how do we fix it’ approach and a ‘Can‐Do’ attitude,
intervening early to prevent problems escalating.
6. After 6‐8 months the benefits of integrated working are clearly evident:
 Services have reshaped their staffing structures to provide an enhanced team offer for
New Wortley as a priority neighbourhood.
 There has been a move to more local face‐to‐face outreach service delivery, with
Armley Hub staff delivering pop up provision from partner venues in new Wortley and
Children’s and youth service staff undertaking local NEET sweeps and connecting with
young people on the street. ASC innovation site for strength base social care is also
now based in new Wortley Community Centre.
 There is a more intensive collaborative case management approach being delivered
with wider providers of Children and Young Peoples provision coming together, having
shared their community data and identified key families for collective focus. By doing
this in New Wortley we found families with needs that were not previously on any
services’ radar.
 The intelligence data narrative documentation has been a useful source for wider
services to leverage external funding from Big Lottery, Sport England, Home Office and
wider Commissioners.

Page 231

7. Further challenges and opportunities have been identified as part of the ongoing
programme of work and include:
 The area has a strong asset base to build from both in terms of physical and
community aspect. The emerging challenge is pooling the assets as a collective
resource to meet local needs.
 There are good partnerships between some natural partners such as health and social
care teams; children & young people cluster arrangements; community safety and
police tasking activity have emerged, but we need to have a greater focus on
integrated partnerships that run across cohort populations and individuals who cross
paths with many services.
 Local teams need explore developing a more join up delivery model in many instances
focusing on case management arrangements. This will require further data sharing
arrangements to be established and some dedicated time to develop the practical way
forward.
 There is more scope to refine our commissioning arrangements to have greater
sensitivity to unique neighborhood characteristics, allowing greater flexibility in the
delivery approach it could address constraints to meeting local outcomes.
 Services have found it hard to come up with ideas or highlighted a lack of capacity to
respond. We need to build confidence and capacity to explore doing things differently
and create the space to innovate and develop transformational change.
8. The pathfinder illustrated the impact that focused effort can have on making a real change
in communities, particularly at a time of crisis. It has demonstrated that further capacity
is needed to drive change and empower communities and increase the leadership
capacity to support the delivery of a wider system change.

Page 232

Appendix 5 ‐ Leeds City Council Priority Neighbourhood Areas
Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) have a minimum of 1,000 residents and 400 households (but with an average population of 1,500 and 650
households). There are 16 LSOAs in the 1% most disadvantaged neighbourhoods in the country. The council has selected 6 of these in the first
instance.
Local Super Output Area (LSOA)
Name and Ward
Stratford Street, Beverley’s ‐
City and Hunslet Ward

Why have we picked this LSOA?



Page 233






Crosby St, Recreations, Barton’s ‐
Beeston and Holbeck Ward








Ranked 1st (most deprived) neighbourhood in Leeds, demonstrates all the characteristics of multiple deprivation
and a poor quality of life.
It has a high demographic and ethnic mix, and one in four households do not have English as their main language.
There are many transient communities, and the area is often the first place for new migrants to live.
Despite improvements, the housing stock remains poor and there continues to be a high turnover of residents.
The area is close to the city centre and other employable areas with accessible bus routes.
Crime rates are high, and very often under reported. Drug dealing and anti‐social behaviour in particular are
significant problems.
Outcomes for children are very poor, and there are a number of concerns from local practitioners about child
welfare issues.
People find it difficult to engage with public services, and equally, the Council offer can be inflexible in some cases.
Ranked 2nd (most deprived) neighbourhood in Leeds, with a third of the population having no qualifications and
out of work benefits is over 3 times higher than the rest of Leeds. A very high proportion of residents consider their
health to be “Bad” or “Very Bad”.
Crime rates are high, and very often under reported. Drug dealing and anti‐social behaviour in particular are
significant problems.
Impact of street sex workers continues, despite attempts to improve outcomes through the managed approach.
Whilst community development activity in the wider Holbeck is very strong, it is difficult to actively engage with
this area and requires development. The take up of services is low.
Being situated so close to Leeds United provides a positive pride in the city’s football club, but the proximity
creates a range of difficulties and disruption to community life.
The M621 cutting and the motorway junction disrupts the community, cutting it off from the rest of Leeds 11,
creating high traffic congestion and poor air quality, especially during peak times.
1

Lincoln Green ‐ Burmantofts and
Richmond Hill Ward




There is potential for housing development and investment at the Meynell Approach and Matthew Murray sites.
The area adjoins South Bank with potential to connect with existing and new major developments (such as
Burberry). However, there is often the perception of “Us and Them”, based on the divide between Holbeck and
Holbeck Urban Village.



Ranked 3rd (most deprived) neighbourhood in Leeds, with a significant level of poverty and a clear visible and
disproportionate impact on children. Anecdotally, partners talk about working with people who have experienced
severe traumas.
Very ethnically diverse area, with half of households not speaking English as a main language. The area has become
the preferred area to live for a number of African communities.
There is a challenge between traditional white working class blocks of flats and a high number of families from
African countries arriving in the area. There is evidence of potential conflicts at community centres and community
buildings.
Families are choosing to live in flats with limited outdoor space, creating challenges to the public realm
(environment, play spaces, community open spaces) which do not often meet the communities’ needs.
There are significant areas of council land and assets which could drive investment. There is also investor and
developer interest (e.g. Quarry Hill, Victoria Gate, Regent St) due to the area being situated in the north east fringe
of the city centre.
Close to employment areas and major employers, such as Roseville Road area, St James’ Hospital and Arcadia.




Page 234



Clifton’s, Nowell’s – Burmantofts
and Richmond Hill Ward








Ranked 6th (most deprived) neighbourhood in Leeds, with little obvious opportunity for major investment funding
and regeneration activity.
The area has a higher proportion of people born outside of the UK, and of people who cannot speak English.
Very transient communities in some areas (e.g. refugees / asylum seekers), and households are significantly larger.
This results in poor street conditions (limited space and facilities).
There are a large number of babies and children, and children’s school attainment levels are very low. There are a
number of concerns from local practitioners about child welfare issues.
Household poverty is high there are high levels of poverty, isolation and disengagement in some Eastern European
households. Poor public health linked to poverty and new migrants arriving has resulted in a high demand on A&E
services and GP services.
The arrival of new communities in a dense environment can result in tensions with the potential to escalate. The
traditional white working class community is reducing and feeling marginalised. People struggle to engage with
public services, and equally, the Council offer can be inflexible in some cases.
2

Boggart Hill ‐ Killingbeck and
Seacroft



Close to the city centre and other employment areas with accessible bus routes.



Ranked 7th (most deprived) neighbourhood in Leeds, the area is considered to have high levels of crime, and many
households experience several generations of unemployment.
A high proportion of residents are born in England, and Eastern Europeans in particular, have increased in the area.
Some communities are inexperienced in living in more diverse environments and this is evidenced by street
behaviours and young people’s involvement in Anti‐Social Behaviour.
Young women/young mothers are vulnerable to abusive relationships and exploitation.
Almost half of the residents live in blocks of flats, and a high proportion rent from the council. There are many
single households.
A development agreement has recently been signed with two house builders for a major investment programme in
Seacroft.
A future scheme that will invest in Wyke Beck Valley will improve access to nature and improve public health
opportunities.
The LS14 Community Trust has helped the area demonstrate strong local partnerships and engagement activities.





Page 235



Holdsforth’s, Clyde Approach –
Armley Ward











Ranked 9th (most deprived) neighbourhood in Leeds, with 43% experience income deprivation and 36%
unemployment. Unemployment amongst younger people is double the city average. Out of work benefits is 3
times higher than the city as a whole.
40.7% have no qualifications and 82% of low income families earn less than £15,000/year. One in four residents
live in a flat, and a high proportion rent.
Diverse population, with 13.6% of the neighbourhood born outside of the UK.
Significant Anti‐Social Behaviour linked to community tensions and the growth of new communities settling.
Significant health challenges, particularly around drugs and alcohol, and the male suicide rate is the highest for the
city (rates are linked to high levels of mental health).
There are gaps in community infrastructure and community engagement.
There is the potential to drive investment by utilising the surrounding council land and assets. There is also scope
for significant infrastructure changes at Armley Gyratory to improve connectivity to the city centre.
New Wortley Community Centre has recently received funding for expansion, and to create a Wellbeing Centre.
The four tower blocks have received major investment to improve the physical environment and safety, as well as
providing social support to the most vulnerable tenants.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 237

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration Impact
Assessment
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment.
This form:
 can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment
 should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion
of the assessment
 should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable
Directorate: Communities and
Environment
Lead person: Shaid Mahmood

Service area: Communities
Contact number: 0113 3789885

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:
3rd November 2017
1. Title:
Locality Working – Tackling Poverty and Reducing Inequalities
Is this a:
X Strategy /Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Members of the assessment team:
Name
Organisation

Jane Maxwell
Bash Uppal
Martin Dean
Liz Jarmin
Lelir Yeung
Pauline Ellis

Leeds City Council
Leeds City Council
Leeds City Council
Leeds City Council
Leeds City Council
Leeds City Council

Role on assessment team
e.g. service user, manager of service,
specialist
Manager of Service
Manager of Service
Manager of Service
Manager of Service
Specialist
Specialist

3. Summary of strategy, policy, service or function that was assessed:
To develop and deliver a new place-based and more integrated approach to service
delivery to tackle poverty and reduce inequality in the city’s most challenged
neighbourhoods, moving away from the arbitrary geographical split of the three ‘wedges’ in
the city and being more focused around our most deprived 1% of neighbourhoods. This
EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 239

1

approach will be achieved by  Prioritising collective work and endeavour in targeted wards and priority
neighbourhoods.
 Using the capacity and capability of council staff and the council’s partners more
effectively to deliver joint interventions.
 Working with and alongside community committees and residents in those
neighbourhoods supporting local people to do more for themselves and for others.
 Influencing culture change in the council by doing things differently and with a Can
Do approach.

4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment
(complete - 4a. if you are assessing a strategy, policy or plan and 4b. if you are assessing
a service, function or event)
4a. Strategy, policy or plan
(please tick the appropriate box below)
X

The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes

The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes and the supporting
guidance

A specific section within the strategy, policy or plan
Please provide detail: Tackling Poverty, Reducing Inequalities: A change in focus using
joint interventions between council services and those that are delivered by our partners in
a more integrated services approach around specific neighbourhoods developing more
resilient communities.
4b. Service, function, event
please tick the appropriate box below
The whole service
(including service provision and employment)

A specific part of the service
(including service provision or employment or a specific section of
the service)

Procuring of a service
(by contract or grant)
1.1

Please provide detail:

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 240

2

5. Fact finding – what do we already know
In May 2016, the council initiated a review of the way we work together locally across the
council and with our partners. It was initiated following an analysis of the Indices of
Multiple Deprivation 2015 data set and a workshop with key service representatives on
how things were feeling in our most disadvantaged neighbourhoods in the city. The review
was led by the Director of Communities and Environment and the Chief Officer
Communities working alongside a cross council team of Chief Officers and Heads of
Service. The review sought to develop an approach to improving outcomes across the city,
for our most deprived and challenged neighbourhoods and for cohorts of people vulnerable
to the effects of poverty, inequality, or at risk of safeguarding, vulnerability and cohesion
related issues. In tackling such issues, a significant contribution could be made to
supporting key council priorities, including reducing the number of looked after children and
supporting vulnerable adults and developing more resilient communities.
At the heart of the council’s plan 2017/18 is the tackling of poverty and the reducing of
inequalities. Poverty is undoubtedly complex with a range of factors that contribute to its
proliferation and this past decade has been challenging for many of the people of Leeds.
The national Indices of Multiple Deprivation data1 set clearly articulates that in Leeds in
20152 there are now sixteen lower super output areas (LSOA) in the worst 1% of
neighbourhoods nationally.
The national Indices of Multiple Deprivation data for 2015 demonstrates that some
neighbourhoods in the city of Leeds have become poorer and outcomes for these
neighbourhoods have deteriorated with increasing poverty and inequality. There are
sixteen neighbourhoods in Leeds that are categorised as being in the most deprived 1% of
neighbourhoods nationally. Whilst it is understood that poverty is complex and is
influenced by a range of contributory factors it is clear that without a change in focus
comprising of joint interventions from council services working alongside those that are
delivered by our partners in a more integrated services approach around specific
neighbourhoods, the deleterious effects of poverty and inequality will exacerbate the
already challenging circumstances faced by citizens in our poorest neighbourhoods.
Work has taken place to understand the demographics of the local population in our most
challenged neighbourhoods to prioritise the proposed changes and enable the targeting of
services in an approach that encompasses joined up universal, targeted and specialist
services at neighbourhoods level.
The engagement of local ward councillors in their wards is of critical importance in
developing a more targeted service approach. Their role as local democratic leaders in
shaping their places, having oversight of and driving neighbourhood improvement activity
against an agreed plan, and their skills in managing the relationship with stakeholders and
services is crucial if we are to make tangible differences in our inner city wards that contain
the sixteen most deprived 1% of neighbourhoods nationally or that have significant
1

The index is calculated from seven domains of deprivation
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464431/English_Index_of_Mu
ltiple_Deprivation_2015_-_Infographic.pdf) ranging from income, employment, education, health, crime,
barriers to housing and services and the living environment, weighted in that order of priority. It can be used
to compare small areas across the country and larger local authority areas and it can be used to look at
changes in relative deprivation between the historical versions so that the ranks of neighbourhoods between
one IMD census and the next can be compared.
2

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 241

3

community cohesion issues and where we are aware of tension and conflict. These priority
wards already have neighbourhood improvement plans in place and it’s important that the
embryonic work continues and is advanced in the coming years.
At a city wide level, the 10 community committees that have been developed since 2014
and have built on many years of experience in locality working, remain as a construct for
universal approaches to wider wellbeing, aligning strategic priorities and the ambitions of
locality working with local communities to deliver joint action. They are very much core to
our ‘Go Local’ approach with ward members from three or four wards at the heart of these
arrangements, linked through their chairs to the executive member for communities and
through their community committee champions to cabinet portfolio holders.
Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information
Please provide detail:
Specific equality data for each of the priority neighbourhoods
Action required:
Detailed equality analysis for each priority neighbourhood.

6. Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to
be affected or interested
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
The following individuals and groups have been consulted and engaged throughout the
locality working review and the design of the new arrangements and approach to locality
working: Executive Member for Communities; Executive Board Members; CLT; BCLT;
Chief Officers and Heads of Services; BCLT Echo events; West Yorkshire Police; Health;
Third Sector leadership; Community Committee Chairs Forum; Stronger Communities
Breakthrough Programme Champions, the Housing, Communities and Environment
Scrutiny Committee Working Group
Action required:
Development of specific involvement and engagement plans for each priority
neighbourhood involving key local stakeholders.

7. Who may be affected by this activity?
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers
that apply to your strategy, policy, service or function
Equality characteristics
X

Age

X
EDCI impact assessment

X

X

Carers

X

Disability

X
Template updated January 2014

Page 242

4

Gender reassignment
X

Sex

X

Other Poverty

(male or female)

Race
X

Religion
or Belief

Sexual orientation

Stakeholders
X

Services users

X

Partners

X

X

Employees

X

Members

Trade Unions

Suppliers

Other please specify
Potential barriers.
X

X
X

Built environment

Information
and communication
Timing

X

X
X

Location of premises and services

Customer care

Stereotypes and assumptions

X

Cost

X

Consultation and involvement

X

Financial exclusion

X

Employment and training

Please specify
The overarching approach that is proposed will have all of the potential barriers listed
above. These are likely to be different for each priority neighbourhood and this will be
identified in each delivery plan.

8. Positive and negative impact
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the
barriers
8a. Positive impact:

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 243

5

Tackling poverty and inequality in the sixteen neighbourhoods that are categorised as the
most deprived 1% of neighbourhoods nationally.
Action required:
Monitoring the effectiveness of work undertaken in the priority neighbourhoods

8b. Negative impact:
Perception that the approach is dependent only on the redistribution of resources to the
targeted neighbourhoods rather than an opportunity to do things differently with existing
resources and joined up service interventions that enable local people to do more for
themselves and for others.
Action required:
Communications plan

9. Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the
groups/communities identified?
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
There will be the promotion of strong and positive relationships in the priority
neighbourhoods.
Action required:
Communication and effective and continued engagement with all stakeholders across the
City by the council and by partners.

10. Does this activity bring groups/communities into increased contact with each
other? (e.g. in schools, neighbourhood, workplace)
X

Yes

EDCI impact assessment

No
Template updated January 2014

Page 244

6

Please provide detail:
The proposal is to work with groups and communities in the priority neighbourhoods to
tackle poverty and inequality

Action required:
Appropriate involvement and engagement that works with and across priority
neighbourhoods which

11. Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of
another? (e.g. where your activity/decision is aimed at adults could it have an impact on
children and young people)
X

Yes

No

Please provide detail:
Perceptions around the redirection of resources from other geographical locations rather
than an opportunity to do things differently in a more focused and collective way with
existing resources.
Action required:
Communication involvement and engagement

EDCI impact assessment

Template updated January 2014

Page 245

7

12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action)
Action

Timescale

Measure

Page 246

Produce equality analysis for
each priority neighbourhood (to
include other relevant data,
such as, Hate Crime)

Equality data sets

Develop appropriate
involvement and engagement
plans for each priority
neighbourhood which are
inclusive of all stakeholders
and residents

Involvement and engagement
plans implemented

Identify potential barriers on
who may be affected (as
highlighted in section 7)

Actions identified and
considered

Consider effective monitoring
of impact on equality for each
priority neighbourhood

Monitoring information

Develop a communication plan
for each priority neighbourhood
and the wider city

Lead person

Effective communications in
place

8

13. Governance, ownership and approval
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration impact assessment
Name
Job Title
Date
Shaid Mahmood
Chief Officer Communities 3rd November 2017
Date impact assessment completed

3rd November 2017

14. Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
actions (please tick)
As part of Service Planning performance monitoring
X

As part of Project monitoring

Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board
Please specify which board: Executive Board and City wide
Neighbourhood Improvement Board (to be set-up January 2017).
X

Other (please specify)

15. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality impact assessment should be attached as an appendix to the
decision making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions
and Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality impact assessments that are not to be published
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
assessment was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 6th November 2017
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

9
Page 247

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16
Report author: Phillip Charlton
Tel: 0113 378 1060

Report of: Director of Resources and Housing
Report to: Executive Board
Date: 15 November 2017
Subject: Beyond Decent Homes – The 2018 Housing Revenue Account Capital
Investment Plan

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
The Council is responsible for the maintenance and improvement of some 56,000 council
homes. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is under pressure due to changing
government policy. Consequently there is less funding available for capital investment. At
the same time there are also newly emerging and anticipated investment requirements,
such as those arising from the Grenfell Tower fire.
This report sets out the investment proposals for these properties over the next decade.
Despite significant pressures this programme will ensure that newly emerging investment
needs will be met, ensuring the safety of residents whilst also improving energy efficiency
and maintaining decent homes. These proposals help to deliver the Best Council Plan
outcomes for everyone to live in good quality, affordable homes and to be safe and feel
safe.
Recommendations
The Executive Board is requested to support the enclosed 10 Year HRA Capital
Investment Plan, subject to further annual review as part of the HRA Business Plan.
The Executive Board is requested to support the lobbying of government to provide
funding for any newly arising fire safety requirements coming out of the Grenfell Tower

Page 249

inquiry, such as the installation of sprinklers in all high-rise stock and to remove the HRA
borrowing cap to allow the replacement of homes sold under the Right to Buy.
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

To update Executive Board on the latest position regarding capital investment
proposals for the HRA assets – c56,000 homes/dwellings, c6,000 garages and
several hundred commercial properties, housing offices, etc, – over the next 10
years.

2

Background information

2.1

The HRA became self-financing in 2012. The first self-financing HRA Business
Plan was approved by Executive Board in February 2012. This included details of
the investment standard to be achieved from capital expenditure on the stock. A
paper on a revised and updated HRA Investment Plan, incorporating newly arising
investment needs, was subsequently approved by Executive Board in March
2015. By the end of this financial year, we will have spent c£19m on support for
adaptations to enable independent living, c£37m on heating and energy efficiency
works to reduce fuel poverty and carbon emissions and c£46m on improving
general property facilities and condition.

2.2

A fully revised and updated HRA Business Plan was then approved by Executive
Board in March 2017. This noted that a revised investment strategy would be
presented to Executive Board in autumn 2017. This being required due to a
reduction in anticipated HRA income resulting from legislative changes introduced
by government, and the impact this had on capital resources available for
investment in the HRA stock.

2.3

Alongside these resource pressures, there have also been further developments
in our understanding and predictions of the investment requirements of the stock.
These include likely additional fire safety requirements arising from the inquiry into
the Grenfell Tower fire, as well as increased investment on proactive issues to
improve health outcomes to certain parts of our stock type and increased costs for
works to tower blocks, alongside a reducing requirement for investment in decent
homes type works (kitchens, bathrooms, roofs, windows and doors).

2.4

Since the Grenfell Tower fire considerable work has been undertaken by Housing
Leeds to ensure that tenants and residents of our high-rise blocks are reassured
and supported. We sent a total of four letters to all high-rise residents reassuring
them about the external wall insulation fitted in Leeds, informing them about our
sprinkler program, providing general fire safety advice and worked closely with
West Yorkshire Fire Service to achieve this.

2.5

Drop in sessions were organised to cover all high rise blocks giving the
opportunity for residents to raise any fire safety concerns and for them to be
answered. If residents could not make a drop in session, they could use the new
dedicated high-rise fire safety support email system to ask questions.

2.6

The Housing Leeds Fire Safety Team arranged for a third party accredited
company (FIRAS) to inspect all Council high rise blocks with external wall
insulation. FIRAS have now provided certification confirming that all our blocks
have achieved the necessary standards.

Page 250

3

Main Issues

3.1

Capital Funding:

3.1.1

It is currently estimated that the HRA will have £283m less income over the next
ten years, as a result of government rent reduction policy to 2020. The impact of
this is a necessary reduction in capital funding. The capital funding available for
investment in the HRA stock over the ten year period from 2018/19 is now
estimated at £798m.

3.1.2

Also, as noted in the March 2017 HRA Business Plan Executive Board report,
there are a number of risks going forward that could result in further reductions in
HRA income and, in turn, reduce funding available for capital investment. These
include the roll-out of Universal Credit, increased Right to Buy (RTB) sales. Either
of these could impact further on HRA income and, in turn, capital funding and
therefore our investment plans. This will be kept under review as part of the
proposed annual review of the HRA Business Plan by Executive Board.

3.2

Revised Investment Plans

3.2.1

Since 2015 a number of increased investment requirements have come to light.
Other proposals have been developed further. Some of the main areas of planned
expenditure include:

3.2.2

Fire Safety and Compliance:
There has been considerable investment in fire safety works over recent years.
The 2015 investment plan allowed for further investment over the next decade to
maintain the fire safety concordat agreed with West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue
Services (WYFRS). Costs for some of these planned works have increased and
further best practice requirements have emerged. Although it is likely to be some
considerable time before the findings of the Grenfell Tower enquiry are known, we
currently anticipate that there could now be up to £52m of additional fire safety
works required in our stock in total, once best practice and new requirements are
factored in. A large proportion of this (c£32m) is for the cost of installing sprinklers
in all high-rise blocks (sprinklers have only been installed in sheltered high-rise to
date). We have made £10m available to fund further sprinkler installations in high
risk blocks, identified on a number of factors including height, no. of stairwells,
instances of fires and vulnerability of residents.
Planned Investment – c£30m.
NB: The £22m cost of installing sprinklers in lower risk high-rise blocks is currently
an unfunded pressure in our investment plan. Executive Board are asked to
support the ongoing lobbying of government to fund these works. If additional
funding for these works is not made available from government then they will have
to be funded from existing resources, meaning that it will not be possible to carry
out all the works currently contained in the investment plan.

3.2.3

Improving the High-Rise Offer:
High Rise Safety and Security Works and Family Friendly Blocks – in October
2016 Executive Board approved a revised high-rise strategy which included £5m
of investment in blocks identified as in greatest need of security enhancements
and with highest concentrations of families in them – making them safe and
secure for all residents. A further £10m has now been identified to continue the
roll-out of these proposals to other blocks and further enhance the management

Page 251

and aesthetic appeal of our high-rise stock. Further investment in these properties
is detailed elsewhere in this report.
Planned Investment – c£15m.
External Wall Insulation, Structural Works and Concrete Repairs – thirteen of our
Reema blocks require structural improvements as well as external wall insulation.
A scheme of works for two Reema blocks has been in development for some
time, with the cost of these works currently estimated at c£3.75m per block,
meaning the overall estimated cost of works to the Reema blocks alone is now
c£49m, if all require a similar level of works. A number of other blocks also require
external wall insulation. There were existing plans for 8 x Townsen and 1 x Cook
blocks recommended by Arup. Since then there have been further EWI proposals
developed for four other blocks. At an estimated cost of £0.75m each this
represents a further £10m of works required. There is also an ongoing programme
of concrete repairs to the facades of the high-rise stock.
Planned Investment – c£68m.
Improving the High Rise Offer - Total Planned Investment – £83m.
NB: there are proposals elsewhere in this report that also contribute to improving
the high rise offer, such as those to improve the heating systems in the blocks.
3.2.4

Health & Affordable Warmth
Heating and Hot Water Installations – the investment plan funds c£74m of gas
heating and hot water renewals and new installations over the next ten years. This
is largely driven by the annual servicing of gas appliances, replacing those boilers
at the end of their economic life. It also includes new installations, new
connections to gas where possible (to allow conversion from electric heating and
hot water systems to gas) and the renewal of electric heating systems where
required.
Planned Investment – c£76m
Maintaining Independence, Preventing Falls – there is c£56m allocated to our aids
and adaptations budget, promoting independence and preventing falls by
providing bespoke adaptations in response to detailed tenant requirements.
These range from ramps and grab-rails to adapted bathrooms, level access
showers and stair-lifts.
Planned Investment – c£56m
Damp and Mould Prevention – the incidence of disrepair claims against the
council has highlighted issues with damp and mould in certain property types. A
specific programme of preventative works is being developed to target these
issues, with c£14m currently allocated for this, such as pro-active ventilation and
the prevention of penetrating damp. There is also £11m allocated to dealing with
active disrepair claims.
Planned Investment – c£25m
Health & Affordable Warmth - Total Planned Investment - £157m.
Low Carbon and Energy Efficiency:
District Heating Schemes – previous reports to Executive Board have detailed the
development of a district heating and ‘spine’ network, delivering affordable heat
from the Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility at Cross Green to 30 high-rise
blocks in Burmantofts and Richmond Hill. There is c£9m in this investment plan to
support this work. There is also a further £24m allocated to the development of a
further six discrete district heating clusters, providing affordable heating and hot
Page 252

water to an additional 26 high-rise blocks.
Planned Investment – c£33m.
Electrical Heating and Hot Water Upgrades – the investment plan funds c£11m of
works to upgrade the electrical heating and hot water facilities in the high rise
blocks that would not be benefitting from district heating proposals in future years.
These will ensure modern, economical and controllable systems are in place, with
‘wet’ boiler and radiator systems installed where possible. While developing these
proposals it became apparent that the existing electrical mains infrastructure in
some blocks was at capacity and would need upgrading to safely accommodate
the increased electrical loads resulting from improved heating and hot water
systems. There is c£10m allocated for this work.
Planned Investment – c£21m.
Insulation – Low and Medium Rise – there is c£25m allocated to installing external
wall insulation to our low and medium rise non-traditional and hard to treat stock
(system built and solid walled properties). There is also a further c£1m allocated
for the installation of loft and cavity insulation where it has not been provided
before or needs topping up. We will use this funding to leverage in further funding
to support his type of work wherever possible.
Planned Investment – c£26m
Communal Electrical Improvements – the investment plan provides funding for the
replacement of all lighting in communal areas of the high rise stock with LED
lighting, whilst also installing new security lighting.
Planned Investment – c£5m.
Low Carbon and Energy Efficiency - Total Planned Investment –£85m.
3.2.5

Decent Homes and Quality of Life:
Decent Homes - since 2015 a significant number of stock condition surveys have
been carried out. These have identified a lower than anticipated requirement for
investment in decent homes works. This is a reflection of the investment made in
these components as part of the decent homes programme. The majority are all
still well within their expected lifespan and do not require replacement in the next
10 years. The need for replacement of kitchens, bathrooms, windows and doors,
all of which have lifecycles of 30-40 years, is relatively stable for the next 15 years
and then increases steadily, reaching a peak in years 21-30. The need for
replacement roofs remains low over the same period, a reflection of the longer
expected lifecycle of at least 50 years. This is illustrated below:

Page 253

The investment plan therefore allocates c£94m for kitchens and bathrooms, c£16m
for windows and doors, and £41m for roofing over the next ten years.
Planned Investment – c£161m.
Painting and Estate Environment – there is c£6m allocated for environmental
improvements such as fencing and parking and a further £3m to begin addressing
some of the issues around our garage sites. There is also c£2m allocated for the
ongoing maintenance of estate shops and other leased assets.
Planned Investment - c£11m.
Decent Homes and Quality of Life - Total Planned Investment –£162m.
3.3

The proposed HRA Investment Plan is detailed in Appendix 1.

3.4

Flexibility will be maintained in the annual funding allocations and proposed
programmes, to take advantage of any funding opportunities that arise e.g.
bringing forward priority works and/or funding to leverage in match funding from
external agencies wherever possible.

3.5

More generally, any new investment proposals (over and above those contained
in this investment plan) will need to have corresponding proposals as to how they
are to be funded (e.g. currently planned works not now required, from savings
made on other schemes etc).

3.6

Newly arising capital investment proposals will therefore be prioritised according
to the following, with works that contribute to legislative requirements, the health,
safety or wellbeing of residents taking precedence over others:




Top priority – legislative requirements, health, safety and wellbeing (e.g. fire
safety, asbestos, DDA, heating and insulation, lifts, aids and adaptations etc);
High priority – structural works and key building components (e.g. structural
remedials, concrete repairs, roofs, chimneys, pointing, damp proof courses,
windows and doors etc).
Medium Priority – internal works and non-key building components (e.g.
kitchens, bathrooms, internal communal areas in blocks etc).
Page 254



Low priority – environmental and estate improvements (e.g garages, fencing,
paths etc).

3.7

Going forward, the HRA Investment Plan will be reviewed by Executive Board
annually, alongside the HRA Business Plan. This will allow scrutiny of newly
arising investment needs and proposals at the same time as making decisions
around the resources made available to fund it.

3.8

The HRA BP currently projects a total loss of over 4,500 properties over the next
ten years due to RTB sales. It should be noted that there is no provision, or
capacity, within this investment plan to fund the replacement of council homes
sold under the RTB. This is due to the age of the HRA stock and the current
competing demands on capital resources. Future works need to be prioritised and
programmed in to allow the development of specifications and subsequent
procurement activity. The funds collected from the rental of our existing stock are
needed to fund it’s management and ongoing maintenance. There is still
considerable demand for social housing in Leeds and we will continue to seek
supplementary resources to fund new provision as when it is available. However
the only real viable option is for sustainable long-term borrowing against the
existing stock to fund new provision.

3.9

Looking beyond the 10-years under discussion here, very generally we anticipate
different areas of HRA investment becoming more cyclical in nature, with peaks
and troughs in ‘decency’ type investment being alternated with peaks and troughs
in health, safety and security, energy efficiency and communal improvements
outlined here. Our procurement plans will be tailored to accommodate these
changing contractor requirements and specialisms over time.

4

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1

Consultation has taken place amongst officers and the Executive Member for
Communities.

4.1.2

The asset management principles underpinning this investment have been
discussed and agreed with the Housing Advisory Board (HAB) and the Voice of
Involved Tenants Across Leeds (VITAL).

4.1.3

The detailed Housing Capital Programme for 2018/19 will be agreed by Executive
Board in February 2018 as part of the 2018/19 Budget proposals. The detailed
Programme will be subject to a Delegated Decision in March 2018.

4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1

An EDCI screening exercise has been undertaken. This has not identified any
detrimental effects on any particular protected characteristics. Instead it shows
that the investment plan makes a positive difference, for example in energy
efficiency works to reduce fuel poverty, funding aids and adaptations to enable
independence and remodelling sheltered schemes to provide modern
accommodation.

4.2.2

The EDCI screening document is attached as Appendix 2.

Page 255

4.3

Council policies and best council plan

4.3.1

The investment in council housing and neighbourhoods contained in this
investment plan contributes to numerous Best Council Plan priorities, including:

4.3.2

Good Growth – expenditure in council housing creates jobs and training
opportunities in the construction industry; reducing heating costs increases
disposable income for local communities.

4.3.3

Health and Wellbeing – ensuring our properties are safe and warm contributes to
the mental and physical wellbeing of our tenants; funding adaptations helps falls
prevention.

4.3.4

Transport and Infrastructure – our investment plans help to meet housing needs,
improve housing quality and regenerate neighbourhoods. However, as noted
above, there are no surpluses in the investment plan to support the housing
growth priority.

4.3.5

Low carbon – investing in district heating schemes and improving the energy
efficiency of our stock contributes to reducing emissions and fuel poverty in the
city.

4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1

The proposals contained in this investment plan represent the agreed asset
management principles and ensure the condition of the HRA stock is maintained
whilst also enhancing its health and safety, security and energy efficiency.

4.4.2

The installation of new components/systems requiring regular servicing (e.g
sprinkler systems, stair-lifts etc) will increase pressure on these revenue budgets.

4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1

The proposals in this report ensure sufficient resources are allocated to all works
that are legal or statutory requirements.

4.5.2

This report is subject to call-in.

4.5.3

Agreement of the capital programme is a key decision and the programme will be
agreed by Executive Board and Council annually, as part of the budget setting
process, ensuring Members make the final decision on capital investment in
council housing.

4.5.4

In addition, individual Key decisions taken to implement the Capital Investment
Plan will be taken in accordance with the Council’s decision making governance
procedures including publication of relevant notices and availability for call-in.

4.6

Risk management

4.6.1

This investment plan ensures investment in key legislative areas is protected,
thereby mitigating risks faced by Housing Leeds and our tenants.

4.6.2

There is an ongoing risk that HRA income will be reduced further, resulting in
reduced funding available for investment, as noted in 3.1.2. This will be mitigated

Page 256

by keeping the HRA BP and accompanying Capital Investment Plan under annual
review.
5

Conclusions

5.1

The reduced need for expenditure on decency type works over the next ten years
allows for a refocussing of HRA investment on fire safety and compliance;
improving the high rise offer; health and affordable warmth; and low carbon and
energy efficiency. This builds on the investment under the decent homes
programme and ensures we deliver modern, fit for purpose homes and
neighbourhoods.

5.2

However, the installation of sprinklers in all our high rise blocks remains a
particular challenge, and is currently largely unfunded. If additional funding for
these works is not made available from government then they will have to be
funded from existing resources, meaning that it will not be possible to carry out all
the works currently contained in the investment plan.

5.3

There is also no capacity within this investment plan to fund the replacement of
council homes sold under the RTB.
Further reductions in capital funding will present significant challenges in
maintaining or improving the condition of the HRA stock.

6

Recommendations

6.1

The Executive Board is requested to support the enclosed 10 Year HRA Capital
Investment Plan, subject to further annual review as part of the HRA Business
Plan.

6.2

The Executive Board is requested to support the lobbying of government to
provide funding for any newly arising fire safety requirements coming out of the
Grenfell Tower inquiry, such as the installation of sprinklers in all high-rise stock
and to remove the HRA borrowing cap to allow the replacement of homes sold
under the Right to Buy.

7

Background documents1

7.1

None.

1
The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 257

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

HOUSING LEEDS - PROPERTY & CONTRACTS - 10-YEAR CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN 2018-2027

Responsive Works
Responsive Works

2018

Capitalised Repairs
Adaptations
Capitalised Voids
Disrepair
Asbestos Responsive

Sub Total for Responsive Works

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

Totals

1,780
5,100
6,400
1,000
1,000

1,816
5,202
6,528
1,020
1,020

1,852
5,306
6,659
1,040
1,040

1,889
5,412
6,792
1,061
1,061

1,927
5,520
6,928
1,082
1,082

1,965
5,631
7,066
1,104
1,104

2,005
5,743
7,208
1,126
1,126

2,045
5,858
7,352
1,149
1,148

2,086
5,975
7,499
1,172
1,171

2,127
6,095
7,649
1,195
1,195

15,280

15,586

15,897

16,215

16,539

16,870

17,208

17,552

17,903

18,261

19,491
55,844
70,081
10,950
10,946

167,311

Planned Works

Page 259

Planned Works - Target Standards
Fire Safety Works
Heating and Hot Water
Structural Remedials and Energy Efficiency
Conversion, Preventative Measures
Capital Repairs and Maintenance
Roofing
Windows and Doors
Kitchens, Bathrooms and Rewires
Communal Replacements
Estate Shops & Leased Residential
Environmental Works

Sub Total for Planned Works
Additional Costs
Salaries and Overheads
Housing ICT Solution

Sub Total - Additional Costs

Overall Total (Housing Leeds only)
BITMO

Overall Total (Housing Leeds + BITMO)
MSF - Installation of Sprinklers

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

Totals

3,654
12,818
8,455
1,631
150
3,329
1,981
11,480
3,425
161
761

3,210
13,720
6,834
1,616
152
3,886
1,981
11,478
8,270
164
766

4,280
10,409
7,367
1,627
154
3,791
1,981
11,477
10,110
167
996

4,280
16,492
5,385
1,638
156
2,797
1,981
11,476
7,521
170
888

4,280
15,726
7,665
2,452
158
3,864
1,488
8,941
6,733
174
931

2,140
14,907
9,335
2,463
160
5,459
1,487
9,418
6,614
177
1,008

2,140
13,477
12,189
2,475
163
5,461
1,487
9,417
6,185
181
1,032

2,140
13,231
12,901
2,487
165
5,464
1,487
9,417
5,707
184
1,053

2,782
8,612
16,032
2,499
167
6,528
991
9,204
6,066
188
1,074

2,140
8,767
15,335
2,512
170
7,627
996
7,790
7,082
192
1,095

31,046
128,161
101,498
21,399
1,595
48,206
15,861
100,097
67,713
1,757
9,604

47,845

52,076

52,360

52,783

52,411

53,169

54,207

54,237

54,144

53,706

526,937

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

Totals

8,234
2,374

8,105
-

8,177
-

8,250
-

8,325
-

8,400
-

8,476
-

8,554
-

8,633
-

8,713
-

83,867
2,374

10,608

8,105

8,177

8,250

8,325

8,400

8,476

8,554

8,633

8,713

86,241

73,732

75,767

76,434

77,248

77,275

78,439

79,891

80,343

80,680

80,680

1,720

1,720

1,720

1,720

1,720

1,720

1,720

1,720

1,720

1,720

75,452

77,487

78,154

78,968

78,995

80,159

81,611

82,063

82,400

82,400

1,700

2,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

4,000

4,000

4,000

0

0

780,489
17,200

797,689

21,700

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Resources and Housing

Service area: Housing Leeds

Lead person: Phillip Charlton

Contact number: 3781060

1. Title: The 2018 Housing Revenue Account Investment Plan
Is this a:
 Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

High level investment proposals for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) stock over
the next 10 years. The HRA stock consists of c56,000 homes/dwellings, c6,000
garages and several hundred commercial properties, housing offices etc.
The 2018 Investment Plan details how investment will focus on improving safety and
security of residents and improving the energy efficiency of the high-rise and nontraditional stock, and thereby reducing fuel poverty, cutting carbon and improving
health outcomes whilst still maintaining decent homes. This is consistent with the
Leeds Homes Refurbishment Standard and HRA Asset Management Strategy
previously presented to Executive Board.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 261

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
x

No

x
x

x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 262

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The Investment Plan details how funding will be allocated to different types of work over
the next ten years. All council housing tenants and our leaseholders are likely to be
affected by the proposals in some way. Freeholders living alongside council housing
tenants may also be affected indirectly, either by investment in neighbouring, councilowned properties or in nearby public space associated with council housing, as will
private tenants and owners living near to council-owned housing.
There has been consultation with parties affected by the plan. To date, this has included
the plan being discussed and agreed with the Executive Member for Communities; and
discussed with, and supported by, the Housing Advisory Board. Detailed capital
programme proposals will be presented to Executive Board each year as part of the
budget setting process and, ultimately, approved by full council.
Tenants and residents affected by individual schemes of work are also consulted with on
a scheme by scheme basis and local ward members receive regular updates on
proposals for their areas.
Community led programmes of environmental works (e.g. the Environmental
Improvement Programme) are led by members and community representatives.
It should also be noted that (with the exception of expenditure on aids and adaptations)
investment decisions are predominantly based on the age and/or condition of the
property itself (or component parts of it) rather than the characteristics of the
person/people living in the property.
The principles that underpin this investment plan are contained within the HRA Asset
Management Strategy. These were discussed with and agreed with the Executive
Member for Communities, Housing Advisory Board Voice of Involved Tenants Across
Leeds group, before being approved by Executive Board in March 2017, as part of a
wider report on the revised HRA Business Plan.
This strategy notes the levels of inequality and deprivation present in the city and details
how they will be addressed through investment in the HRA stock.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 263

3

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The proposals contained in this investment plan will have a positive impact on a number
of different equality characteristics, particularly those relating to:





disability and carers (through the funding of aids and adaptations, building
bespoke adapted properties etc);
age (through investment in remodelling sheltered housing, funding aids and
adaptations etc);
improving health and wellbeing (through the installation of central heating and
insulation, addressing damp and mould issues, rectifying disrepair etc); and
tackling poverty (through the installation of insulation, replacement of expensive
electrical heating systems and provision of low cost district heating schemes etc to
reduce fuel bills).

Investment in environmental works and other community promoted schemes (play areas,
community gardens etc) also has the potential to help bring groups/communities
together.
It is not anticipated that there will be a negative impact on any equality characteristics
from this investment.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
The positive impact of housing investment will be promoted through numerous channels
including:




update reports to various boards and panels (e.g. Executive Board, Housing
Advisory Panels);
Housing Leeds Matters communications; and
Tenant communications, Housing Leeds website and social media channels.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

N/A

Date to complete your impact assessment

N/A

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

N/A

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 264

4

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Tbc
Tbc
Tbc
tbc

Date screening completed

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions
and Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached
screening was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 265

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17
Report author: Andrew Lingham
Tel: 274810

Report of Director of Communities and Environment
Report to Executive Board
Date: 15th November 2017
Subject: The future of the waste and recycling strategy for Leeds
Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Is the decision eligible for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1.

This report sets out the proposed programme for the development of an updated
Leeds Waste Strategy, providing an update on the local and national context, and
discussing some of the key issues for consideration in terms of the Council’s future
ambitions and the achievement of targets.

2.

Leeds has achieved huge improvements in recycling performance over the last
decade, with the recycling rate of 22.3% in 2006/7 climbing to a high of 43.7% in
2013/14. However, household waste recycling performance nationally has stalled
and even slipped backwards in the last few years, and this is reflected in the Leeds
position, with a rate of 38.5% achieved in 2016/17.

3.

The Council’s recent programme of recycling communications and engagement has
delivered a number of improvements, and a selection of case studies are attached to
the report at Appendix 1 providing examples of recent initiatives to increase the
capture of items for re-use and to secure greater public engagement in recycling.

4.

However, due to pressures such as the rapidly changing commercial context which
impacts on the global market for recyclable materials, the 50% target by 2020 will not
be met without investment in additional recycling services and further reductions in
residual waste, and potentially also the delivery of local treatment infrastructure.

5.

With the main drivers and targets for waste and recycling in recent years originating
in EU legislation, Brexit may lead to changes to the UK’s strategy and priorities

Page 267

6.

In this context, the report outlines the detailed appraisal work to be undertaken on the
options for the Council’s kerbside recycling strategy, and seeks approval from
Executive Board to the guiding principles and proposed programme for the
development of this strategy.

7.

This more detailed options modelling and appraisal work is now required to establish
more fully the costs, risks and benefits of these and potentially other opportunities.
To this end, the Council has secured funding via the DEFRA sponsored Waste and
Resources Action Programme (WRAP) for a major piece of consultancy to assess
kerbside recycling options. This project is due to be concluded in Spring 2018.

8.

Executive Board are recommended to support the strategic consideration of all
options as a part of the proposed exercise. Although not intended to be an
exhaustive list, this will include an assessment of:






9.

Collection models for targeting new kerbside recycling streams such as food
waste and glass;
The impact of further reducing residual waste capacity, including on the local
environment, and the full costs to the Council;
The business case for the delivery of additional recycling services;
Consideration of the need for investment in new processing infrastructure,
whether led directly by the Council or coming forward from the market as a result
of the materials tonnages being made available by the Council;
The consideration of an expansion of differential recycling services across Leeds
to support the Locality agenda in our most deprived communities, whilst
continuing to drive up recycling rates.

The proposed outline programme for the development of a revised strategy is as
follows:






Executive Board approval of principles/programme – November 2017;
Scrutiny Board consultation – December 2017;
Completion of technical options appraisal – Spring 2018
Public consultation (with scale to be determined by nature of proposals) –
Summer 2018;
Revised Leeds Waste Strategy to Executive Board – Autumn 2018.

Recommendations
Executive Board is recommended to:
1.

Note the contents of this report, in particular the context and issues relating to the
Council’s waste and recycling strategy;

2.

Support the areas and options to be considered and assessed (as per section 5.3 of
this report) as a part of the proposed options appraisal exercise, to be led by the
Chief Waste Management Officer;

3.

Approve, in principle, the outline programme at section 5.5 for the development of a
revised Leeds Waste Strategy, including public consultation, with the detail to be
agreed subsequently with the Director of Communities and Environment.

2 of 13

Page 268

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report sets out the proposed programme for the development of a revised
waste and recycling strategy for Leeds. It provides an update on the local and
national context, and discusses some of the key issues for consideration in terms of
the Council’s future ambitions and the achievement of targets.

1.2

The report outlines the detailed appraisal work to be undertaken on the options for
the Council’s kerbside recycling strategy, and seeks approval from Executive Board
to the guiding principles and proposed programme for the development of this
strategy.

2.

Background information

2.1

Local context

2.1.1 In November 2015, Executive Board agreed to a revised target to recycle 50% of
household waste by 2020, bringing the City in line with the national target. The
report considered by the Executive Board acknowledged the current financial
climate and the impact that this has had in terms of the funding available to
introduce new recycling services, and set out a medium term strategy focused on
maximising the performance of existing capacity and infrastructure through a
programme of service improvement, communications and engagement.
2.1.2 Leeds City Council achieved a recycling rate of 38.5% for 2016/17. The Council has
compared very favourably with the other Core Cities in recent years, with
performance reaching a high of 43.7% in 2013/14. However, consistent with the
national picture, recycling has stalled and we have seen a 5% (i.e. percentage
point) decline over the last three years.
2.1.3 Although kerbside recycling levels have increased during this time, a reduction in
the level of recycling being achieved through the treatment of residual, black bin
waste has been the main factor in the downturn in Leeds’ performance. Most
recently this has been due to the initial problems experienced by Veolia in their
mechanical pre-treatment of this waste stream since the Recycling and Energy
Recovery Facility (RERF) commenced operations during 2015. In addition to this,
the global market for recyclable materials, most notably paper, card and plastics,
has seen a significant downturn and this is further impeding the achievement of
recycling targets.
2.1.4 Since the last Executive Board report, a substantial ‘invest to save’ programme of
communications and engagement has been, and continues to be, delivered, aimed
at supporting residents and securing greater public engagement to support
increases in recycling. This has combined a focus on getting the basics right around
what can be recycled, with a range of targeted campaign work and more innovative
schemes. A number of case studies summarising a selection of this work are
attached at Appendix 1 to this report.
2.1.5 In terms of performance impacts observed since the start of the campaign work in
Spring 2016, some improvements have been observed in terms of recycling
tonnages captured, although the full impacts will be realised over the longer-term
through sustained messages and engagement activities. The main performance
improvement registered has been a reduction in the proportion of non-accepted
materials arising in the green bins, which has fallen by around 10% in the last 12
months compared to the preceding period. These improvements all have a
significant financial impact, with a saving of around £90-100 per tonne through
Page 269

diverting recyclables from the black bin to recycling, and similarly from reducing
contaminating material in the green bins.
2.1.6 However, whilst this sustained communications and engagement programme is
expected to continue to deliver improvements, and whilst Veolia are investing
significant resources in measures to address their recycling shortfall and to reach
the contractual target, it seems clear that, without the introduction of additional
services, the 50% recycling target will not be reached. Given the current financial
position for local government, the delivery of additional service poses a significant
challenge.
2.1.7 In determining next steps, it is therefore important, not only to consider the
achievement of the recycling target as an end in itself, but also to revisit the
improvements and developments that will provide the greatest environmental
benefit and are the most financially sustainable, and to review how this fits with the
latest national policy direction.
2.2

National and European context

2.2.1 Over the last decade or more, national recycling performance targets have been
driven primarily by targets set out within the EU Waste Framework Directive. The
EU Landfill Directive was also the driver for the Government’s introduction of the
Landfill Tax escalator which has been instrumental in incentivising increases in
recycling and energy recovery.
2.2.2 The European Commission’s most recent ‘Circular Economy’ proposals suggest a
range of future waste and recycling targets for Member States:
 A target for recycling 65% of municipal waste by 2030;
 A target for recycling 75% of packaging waste by 2030;
 A target to reduce landfill to a maximum of 10% of all waste by 2030.
2.2.3 Clearly the above recycling targets will be extremely challenging, especially when
considering that the UK will struggle to meet the existing 50% recycling target by
2020.
2.2.4 Post Brexit, the vast majority of EU legislation that affects the UK, such as waste
and recycling legislation, is likely to be transposed into UK law in what has become
known as the ‘Great Repeal Bill’. This means that, while the policies and targets
defined by the Waste Framework Directive and other EU waste directives are
currently enshrined in UK law, it may be that these are altered or amended once the
UK leaves the EU. The expectation in the short-term is that the UK will adhere to
the current EU targets, but in the medium-term it is possible that the UK will
implement its own national framework for waste and recycling.
2.2.5 Whilst reducing the environmental impact of waste will doubtless remain a priority
nationally, it is important that Leeds clearly defines its aims and objectives for
waste, and so seeks to influence any change in national legislation. This should be
based on a more holistic assessment of the environmental performance of options
rather than the focus being on simply maximising the capture of tonnages which
count towards a recycling indicator, irrespective of the overall environmental benefit.
2.2.6 In terms of the recycling streams that the Council currently captures and which
technically count towards the performance indicator, these materials and their
collection systems and subsequent treatment methods will have variable
Page 270

environmental benefits, and recycling as an end in itself should arguably not always
be assumed to be the best option.
2.2.7 Conversely, there are elements of the domestic waste stream which are currently
being recycled (for example post-incineration metals and inert materials) which do
not technically count towards the accepted national performance indicator, and
which therefore the Council does not declare as recycling. This is in spite of the fact
that other EU countries count some of these elements towards their published
recycling rates.
2.2.8 There is also significant pressure currently from global materials reprocessing
markets for higher quality materials, resulting in the values of lower quality
recyclables deteriorating. China has historically been one of the biggest consumers
and importers of these materials, but with their ‘Green Fence’ and ‘National Sword’
initiatives of recent years, they are demanding higher quality materials, and this is
impacting significantly on global markets. This is a factor being cited as presenting
a significant challenge to many of the Council’s current waste disposal and
treatment contractors, and is making itself felt financially to the Council through its
contracts. This situation has highlighted the lack of reprocessing capacity in the UK
for these materials and our reliance on overseas markets.
3.

Main issues

3.1

Waste hierarchy and waste reduction

3.1.1 The main principle of EU and national waste policy is around moving the
management of waste up the ‘waste hierarchy’. The ‘waste hierarchy’ options (in
descending order of environment benefit) are as follows:
 Reduction;
 Re-use;
 Recycling;
 (Energy) Recovery;
 Disposal
3.1.2 Although existing policy acknowledges that there may be exceptions based on a full
life-cycle assessment of treatment options, the most beneficial options are to
reduce and then re-use waste, thus preventing it from arising in the first place.
Recycling, whilst generally beneficial, and certainly preferable to disposal, is not
without its environmental impact, both in terms of the environmental effects of
collections and the sometimes energy intensive processing of materials required.
3.1.3 Although the Council continues to make local efforts to encourage waste reduction
through initiatives such as supporting the ‘Love Food, Hate Waste’ campaign,
promoting home composting and its ‘real nappies’ scheme, waste prevention is
most effectively addressed at national and Government level through developing
legislation around packaging and producer responsibility, and working with major
manufacturers and retailers who have such a significant influence over consumer
behaviours. The ‘Circular Economy’ proposals are generating an increasing
emphasis on innovation in the design and manufacture stages of products so as to
maximise their life and minimise waste.
3.1.4 Having said this, waste generation is also clearly influenced at a local level by the
Council’s waste collection systems and the amount of capacity that it provides to

Page 271

residents. Evidence suggests that residents will expand with their waste generation
according to the capacity and containers with which they are provided, and
conversely, when capacity is reduced, overall waste generated falls.
3.2

Re-use and the Third Sector

3.2.1 The Third Sector is significantly involved in waste re-use, intercepting waste items
that might otherwise have been disposed of and giving them a second life, but also
providing significant social benefits through the provision of employment and
volunteering opportunities to disadvantaged groups, supply of goods to low income
residents or organisation of community projects contributing to community
cohesion.
3.2.2 The Council has developed a wide range of Third Sector partnerships, in particular
with Leeds based organisations involved with the re-use of furniture, paint and
waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE). The Council is seeking to invest
in providing further support to Third Sector organisations providing benefits within
Leeds so as to maximise their potential influence and the social value associated
with their activities.
3.2.3 Of particular note is the development of a second re-use shop in the west of the city
in Kirkstall to complement the existing shop at the East Leeds household waste
recycling site in Seacroft. This has been delivered as a part of the wider £5.2m
redevelopment of the Kirksall Road recycling site and waste transfer station, and
was opened to the public in March 2017. The new re-use shop is run by the third
sector charity Revive, and has proved very popular and successful, capturing a
wide range of waste items for re-use and providing a range of additional social
benefits. A case study providing a summary of the key facts and performance areas
for the re-use shop is attached at Appendix 1.
3.3

Residual Waste Capacity

3.3.1 In the mid to late 1990s, the Council introduced wheeled bins across the City to all
suitable properties. As well as providing greater convenience for residents, this also
reduced the level of manual handling required for refuse collectors and enabled
increases in productivity. However, this also provided an increase in waste storage
capacity, and a review of historical waste data suggests that the introduction of
wheeled bins has contributed, together with an increase in consumer packaging, to
an overall increase in waste generation.
3.3.2 More recently, the introduction of a ‘no side waste’ policy (i.e. no additional black
bags next to bins) alongside the roll-out of alternate weekly collections of black and
green bins has gone some way towards ensuring that residents maximise the use
of their increased recycling capacity and do not generate excessive quantities of
waste. As these regimes have been implemented, overall levels of domestic waste
and recycling being generated per household have fallen (see Figure 1 below).

Page 272

Figure 1 – Total Domestic Waste (kg per household, per year)

3.3.3 There is still a high level of recyclable material being disposed of via the black bin. If
this could be captured, there may be scope to further reduce the capacity of
residual waste provision to residents. In some local authorities, a case has been
made that, if sufficient kerbside recycling services are provided and used, then 240
litres of black bin waste capacity per fortnight exceeds what may be required.
3.4

Garden waste collections

3.4.1 Brown bin collections of garden waste are now offered to around 210,000 properties
(61%) in Leeds. Kerbside collected garden waste is the single biggest contributor to
the recycling indicator, representing over a quarter of household waste recycling.
3.4.2 This service was introduced at a time when weekly black bin collections were
provided city-wide in Leeds, thus enabling significant quantities of garden waste to
be disposed of via the black bins and subsequently landfilled at significant cost,
both financially and environmentally. The principle was therefore around diversion
of garden waste from the black bin, hence the policy now to only provide one brown
bin per property and not to provide unlimited free kerbside collection and disposal of
garden waste for residents.
3.4.3 With the introduction of alternate weekly collections across the vast majority of the
City (along with a ‘no side waste’ policy) now limiting the available space in black
bins for garden waste, it could be argued that the principles underlying the brown
bin collection service have changed. For example, one conclusion could be that
this service is now serving to generate additional waste, and additional cost to the
Council in collection and disposal, which might otherwise be prevented or recycled
by other means (e.g. home composting or via the Household Waste Recycling
Centres).

Page 273

3.5

Glass recycling collections

3.5.1 The Council provides a network of around 350 sites where banks for recycling glass
(amongst other materials) are located, capturing around 9,000 tonnes of glass in
2016/17. Leeds does not provide a kerbside collection (other than from communal
recycling bins at a range of multi-occupancy properties across the City). Kerbside
collections of glass are provided by a significant number of local authorities, and it is
estimated that there still remains a further 13,000 tonnes of glass in the black bin
waste in Leeds. If half of this could be captured, this could add over 2% (i.e.
percentage points) to the recycling rate.
3.5.2 There are a range of ways in which glass could be captured at the kerbside.
Although to combine glass with the other mixed dry recyclables collected in the
green bins would minimise the collection costs, and although there are examples of
authorities who have adopted this method, Leeds has opted not to go down this
route to date given the expected negative impact on the quality of the other
materials, particularly paper, and the Council’s subsequent ability to comply with
legislative requirements set out in the Waste Regulations. This is reinforced by the
current increasing market quality requirements and the falling market values for
materials such as paper, card and plastics, and to include glass within the mix of
materials would inevitably push up costs through the Council’s Materials Recycling
Facility (MRF) contract. Consideration also needs to be given to the fact that simply
adding further recyclable materials to the green bin would clearly reduce the
capacity for existing recyclable materials.
3.5.3 Other alternatives range between providing a separate stand-alone glass collection
service, which would cost an estimated £1.9m per annum if provided city-wide, and
variations on providing residents with multiple containers in order to partially or fully
separate out the current green bin materials. These latter options would be more
complex and onerous for residents, and could require fundamental changes in
terms of the configuration of the refuse collection service’s staffing, fleet and
logistics. Although treatment costs for the materials would be minimised, and
income enhanced, this would be partially, if not wholly, offset by the additional
collection costs.
3.5.4 The majority of those authorities that have introduced kerbside glass collections will
have done so before the severe financial constraints of recent years, or will have
relied on Government funding in order to make enhancements to services
affordable. Some authorities, such as Kirklees, have even withdrawn their kerbside
glass collection service recently due to affordability. However, further appraisal work
is in progress to quantify the benefits and costs of the options, and in order to
identify ways in which this material could be captured affordably.
3.6

Food waste and anaerobic digestion (AD)

3.6.1 Food waste is the other major component of the black bin waste for which the
Council does not currently offer recycling facilities, other than the weekly collections
provided to over 12,500 properties in the Rothwell area. This service could provide
an increase in the recycling rate of an estimated 6-7% (i.e. percentage points) if
rolled out to suitable properties city-wide.
3.6.2 The Council has commissioned detailed feasibility work to assess how food waste
collections could be delivered more affordably and such that this stimulates the
development of local anaerobic digestion treatment capacity together with the
associated renewable energy generation. Options considered have included the coPage 274

collection of food waste with other materials in split-bodied vehicles, and partnering
with neighbouring councils to reduce the costs for any single authority in capturing
sufficient food waste to bring forward an AD facility.
3.6.3 Modelling has shown that there nevertheless remains a substantial cost attached to
the introduction of food waste collections, even taking account of the avoided black
bin waste disposal costs. This is estimated at over £3m per annum if rolled out citywide in Leeds. However, unlike garden waste and glass, this is a waste stream for
which there is no alternative recycling facility (such as household waste sites and
recycling banks), and for this reason could arguably be seen as a priority material
for investment.
3.7

Plastics recycling

3.7.1 Leeds City Council has focused to date on targeting those plastics for which there
are secure reprocessing outlets, namely types 1 (PET), 2 (HDPE) and 4 (LDPE).
Over the years the Council has worked to give the public confidence that the
materials they separate at home for recycling are indeed being recycled, and
believes that this currently remains the optimum range.
3.7.2 There is theoretically scope to extend the range of plastics accepted at the
kerbside, thus also arguably simplifying messages. However, this brings a greater
risk that the markets may fail for the more problematic plastic types, with the public
then diligently separating materials for recycling which may subsequently be
landfilled or incinerated.
3.7.3 The current EU Packaging Directive targets require the recycling of particular
materials, but make no requirements for the use of recycled material in product
manufacture. This means that secondary material re-processors have to compete in
a volatile market that is often undermined by lower cost virgin materials.
3.7.4 UK plastics reprocessors have been experiencing severe difficulties as a result of
recent slumps in oil prices which have made virgin plastic cheaper than the recycled
product. This could lead to the closure of important UK plastic reprocessing
facilities, removing capacity and diminishing the business case for plastic collection.
This is likely to increase overseas export, running counter to the ‘proximity principle’
for sustainable waste management.
3.7.5 Another issue impacting on a decision to expand the range of materials accepted in
the green bins is the costs of the subsequent separation of the materials. Leeds
City Council’s fully co-mingled collection system for the dry recyclables (paper,
card, cans, plastics, aerosols) means that this material has to go to the relevant
contractor for extensive processing to separate it back out into the various streams
for onward sale and reprocessing. Whilst this is not an absolute barrier to an
expansion of the mix of materials, the additional cost to the Council due to the
additional processing required must be taken into consideration.
3.7.6 If new materials introduced are of value and an income can be generated from their
onward sale, then this will serve to offset these additional processing costs.
However, if their market value is relatively low (as can be the case with other plastic
types) or falls significantly, perhaps even attracting a cost for reprocessing rather
than an income, or if markets fail altogether and high disposal costs are incurred,
then this will have a significant financial impact for the Council.
3.7.7 Alongside this, the Government is exploring further measures to increase producer
responsibility for the disposal costs of products. In October 2017, the Environment

Page 275

Secretary launched a consultation on the possibility of introducing a drinks
container deposit scheme to target ‘on the go’ materials such as plastic bottles.
Schemes of this kind could potentially serve to increase recycling, reduce waste
and reduce waste disposal costs to local authorities.
3.8

Recycling from black bin waste

3.8.1 With all black bin waste now delivered to the Veolia RERF for processing, this is
where any recycling from this waste stream will need to be achieved. In spite of the
initial problems experienced by Veolia with the mechanical pre-treatment element of
the facility, and the subsequent shortfall in recycling, 2017/18 performance has
seen some improvement.
3.8.2 The RERF has been highly successful in all other respects, diverting over 99% of
waste accepted at the plant from landfill, generating enough electricity to power
over 22,000 homes and providing a reduction in carbon emissions equivalent to
taking around 29,000 cars off the road each year. The energy efficiency and carbon
performance of the plant will be enhanced still further with the development of the
Council’s planned district heating scheme.
3.9

Options appraisal

3.9.1 Further more detailed options modelling and appraisal work is now required to
establish more fully the costs, risks and benefits of the range of options discussed
above. To this end, Leeds City Council has secured funding via the DEFRA funded
Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) for a major piece of consultancy
to assess these kerbside recycling options. WRAP are supporting the Council as a
part of their agenda to promote greater harmonisation of recycling services across
England, thus also increasing a level of reprocessing demand that will stimulate the
development of more local infrastructure.
3.9.2 This WRAP funded study is now getting underway, and is due to be concluded in
the Spring of 2018.
4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 This report has been developed in consultation with the Executive Member for
Environment and Sustainability.
4.1.2 The report has also been informed by engagement with DEFRA, WRAP and a
range of industry partners.
4.1.3 Any significant changes to services would be subject to public consultation, and this
is included within the programme for the development of a revised Leeds Waste
Strategy.

Page 276

4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 A full equality and diversity assessment will be carried out on conclusion of the
options appraisal work proposed in this report and prior to returning to Executive
Board with a revised waste strategy.
4.3

Council policies and best council plan

4.3.1 Dealing effectively with the city’s waste, increasing recycling and reducing carbon
emissions support the Best Council Plan 2017/18 priorities around Low Carbon,
Health and Wellbeing and Resilient Communities and the ‘Best City’ outcomes for
everyone in Leeds to live within clean and well-cared for places. In addition, one of
the Best Council Plan key performance indicators is to ‘increase waste
recycled’. The options appraisal work and resulting development of the waste and
recycling strategy also support our Best Council ambition to be a more efficient and
enterprising organisation.
4.4

Resources and value for money

4.4.1 At this point there are no resource implications arising from this report. The
proposed options appraisal work is fully funded by WRAP. Clearly, the resource
implications associated with the development of the Council’s waste and recycling
strategy are potentially very significant, and these will be fully assessed through the
planned options appraisal work.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 There are no specific legal implications associated with the proposals and
recommendations in this report. However, the existing UK and EU waste legislation
(and targets contained therein), the emerging legislation which will drive forward
Circular Economy strategy and targets, and the potential impacts of Brexit on the
UK’s adoption of these targets, will need to be taken into account fully in the
development of a revised waste strategy.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 As it stands, central government has not specified any consequences for local
authorities for a failure to meet the current 50% national target by 2020, and Brexit
will presumably remove the threat of the EU penalising the UK. In any event, the
most recent published recycling rate for England is at 43% (2015/16), with half of all
local authorities below this level, and the position for Leeds in respect of the risk of
not meeting the national target is typical of that for the vast majority of councils
across the country.
4.6.2 However, it seems likely that the EU Circular Economy principles will be adopted by
the UK, and Leeds City Council’s waste and recycling strategy ambitions should
seek to reflect and keep pace with this.
4.6.3 The Final Business Case for PFI credits in support of the RERF project was
predicated on the achievement of a 50% recycling target. Again, DEFRA have not
stated an intention to impose any consequences associated with a failure to meet
this target (although this remains a technical possibility), but have requested an
annual report from the Council on its recycling strategy progress.
Page 277

5.

Conclusions

5.1

It is clear that in order to achieve our waste and recycling ambitions, consideration
needs to be given to the introduction of additional recycling services to residents or
introducing measures to reduce the generation of residual waste, or potentially a
combination of the two. The expansion of recycling may also need to be supported
by the development of new local treatment infrastructure.

5.2

Delivery of additional recycling services, whilst providing increases in recycling,
could lead to an increase in overall waste generation without the introduction of
corresponding restrictions in residual waste capacity. Furthermore, there will be
additional costs associated with new recycling services, and to be sustainable
financially these may need to be off-set by reductions in the costs of residual waste
treatment. A greater focus on waste reduction and re-use will therefore need to be a
feature of any revised strategy

5.3

Further, more detailed, options modelling and appraisal work is now required to
establish more fully the costs, risks and benefits of the strategy options. Although
not intended to be an exhaustive list, this should include an assessment of the
following:






Collection models for targeting new kerbside recycling streams such as food
waste and glass;
The impact of further reducing residual waste capacity, including on the local
environment, and the full costs to the Council;
The business case for the delivery of additional recycling services;
Consideration of the need for investment in new processing infrastructure,
whether led directly by the Council or coming forward from the market as a result
of the materials tonnages being collected and made available by the Council;
The consideration of an expansion of differential recycling services across Leeds
to support the Locality agenda in our most deprived communities, whilst
continuing to drive up recycling rates.

5.4

The Council has now secured resource via WRAP for a major piece of consultancy
to assess the kerbside recycling options.

5.5

The proposed programme for the development of a revised Leeds Waste Strategy
is as follows:






Executive Board approval of principles/programme – November 2017;
Scrutiny Board consultation – December 2017;
Completion of technical options appraisal – Spring 2018
Public consultation (proportionate to the nature and scale of proposals) –
Summer 2018;
Revised Leeds Waste Strategy to Executive Board – Autumn 2018.

6.

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board are recommended to:

6.1.1 Note the contents of this report, in particular the context and issues relating to the
Council’s waste and recycling strategy;

Page 278

6.1.2 Support the areas and options to be considered and assessed (as per section 5.3 of
this report) as a part of the proposed options appraisal exercise, to be led by the
Chief Waste Management Officer;
6.1.3 Approve, in principle, the outline programme at section 5.5 for the development of a
revised Leeds Waste Strategy, including public consultation, with the detail to be
agreed subsequently with the Director of Communities and Environment.
7.

Background documents1

7.1

There are no background documents.

1
The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 279

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1

M&S Glass Recycling Campaign

Aim and context:
Partnership work with private industry representatives British Glass and Leeds based retailer M&S to deliver
a local campaign in north Leeds aimed at encouraging glass recycling.
The 4 week campaign in May 2017 was a pilot case study showcasing how retailers can promote consumer
recycling bahvaviours and support Leeds’ sustainability ambitions. 3 glass banks were located at the
Moortown M&S store with the concept of a competiton to be a #RecyclingHero and take selfies of friends
and family recycling glass bottles and jars. Activity such as the dressing of the banks and the mail drop was
funded by the private sector with inkind contribution from Leeds City Council including customer research,
promotion and local support to the retailer.

Activity and results:
Press coverage across BBC Radio Leeds, Made in Leeds, Yorkshire Post/ Yorkshire Evening Post and food
bloggers helped to share a positive and informative message to an estimated 244,000 listeners/ viewers.
Over 1,000 customers engaged with at the store with an online reach of over 40,000 on social media.
May 2017 saw 295 tonnes of glass captured within the 3 mile target zone of Moortown M&S, the highest
recorded for the month of May in 4 years.
The 3 glass banks at the M&S site are consistently achieving 3‐4 tonnes a month. Feedback from the store
manager and customers was positive and the banks are now a permanent feature at the store.
This case study has enabled further conversations with other major retailers about introducing similar
schemes at their stores in Leeds.

Page 281

APPENDIX 1

Paper and Cardboard Recycling Campaign

Aim and context:
September 2017 saw a 4 week recycling behaviour change campaign aimed at increasing awareness and
improving the quality of paper and cardboard recycling.
Each year, a typical household in Leeds throws away over 82kg of paper/ card at a cost of £2.8m in disposal
fees. Evidence suggests that the main items not being recycled are junk mail, food and internet purchase
cardboard packaging.
The campaign engaged with local businesses and schools through a publicity event that involved creating 9
3D letters to form the campaign tag line ‘Recycle Me’. A letter was given to each organisation asking them to
get staff, parents and teachers to fill them with domestic paper and card. Supporting organisations included:
Welcome to Yorkshire, Arup, University of Leeds, M&S, Central Square, Ruth Gorse Academy, Kirkstall
Community Primary School and Broomfield South Specialist Learning Inclusive Centre. The letters were then
re‐united in the city centre as part of a public roadshow:

Activity and results:
The more a message is seen or received in different places, the more likely it is to have an effect and be
acted on. This campaign was aimed to be seen an average of 3‐4 times by the public of Leeds and included:
Lamppost banners seen by 5.3m
600 community centre posters
3,000+ social media engagements
3,358 Leeds Bins app downloads
4.9m views of 8 digital screens
10 liveried refuse vehicles
Bus adverts seen by 1.67m
3D letters seen by 1,490 school
PR stunt interaction 12,485
people
teachers, parents and pupils and
2,670 visitors and members of
295,000 flyers delivered to
8 digital screens around the city
the public
households
seen by 4.9m people
The success of the campaign will be measured in terms of an improvement in paper/ cardboard weight
collected and a decrease in poor quality recycling material (or contamination).
An initial public perception survey taken pre and post campaign has shown between a 2‐10% positive shift in
awareness of the good quality type of paper and card that can be recycled.

Page 282

APPENDIX 1

Paper and Cardboard Recycling Campaign

Aim and context:
The scheme aims to test if recycling behaviours can be encouraged through incentives, with neighbours and
friends in the blocks coming together to win recycling awards, and thus creating a social norm to recycle.
A 12 month pilot scheme started in April 2017 trialling 7 blocks in East Leeds competing against one another
on a monthly basis to improve their recycling rate. The tower block with the greatest improvement each
month wins either a £1,000 communal prize or individual £10 vouchers (decided by the residents).
The blocks involved are:




Barncroft Heights, Grange, Towers and Court (Killingbeck & Seacroft)
Denbigh Heights and Croft (Gipton & Harehills)
Roxby Close (Burmantofts & Richmond Hill)

Activity and Results:
Block residents sign up to the scheme and receive monthly newsletter updates on how the rewards
competition is progressing alongside hints and tips on recycling.
The recycling bins are weighed weekly and the percentage differences in weight between months
determines the winner – the block that has the largest percentage increase in their average bin weight wins.
28.3% sign up was registered across the blocks, which contain a total of 332 flats. A perception survey is
underway to gauge whether social norms and recycling awareness have increased as a result of the scheme.
After 6 months, the pilot has shown recycling weights to fluctuate rather than showing definite trends, and a
longer time frame should begin to show trends.
6 winners have been announced with the most successful block winning on 3 occasions and mainly opting
for the communal prize of £1,000 to spend on improvements and social activities.

Page 283

APPENDIX 1

Revive Leeds – Kirkstall Road Re‐Use Shop
Aim and context:
Revive Leeds is a partnership between SLATE, a local charity that
provides meaningful work to those with learning disabilities, and St
Vincent de Paul (SVP) who provide free help and support to the long
term unemployed or disadvantaged and run the SVP advice centre on
York Road. Following the success of their first re‐use shop on the
Seacroft recycling site, Revive were the successful applicants for the new re‐use shop, which formed part of
the wider £5.2m redevelopment of the Kirkstall Road household waste recycling site.

Activity and results:
Revive @Kirkstall opened in March 2017 and has achieved the following:









Hit first year sales target (£156k) in just 8 months;
38.13 tonnes or 40,300 items re‐used to the end of May;
10 individuals employed across 7FTEs;
Recruited 1 apprentice;
Provided placements for 2 students from Swarthmore College (16‐19 years old);
10 volunteers a week working a total of approximately 120 hours a week;
4 volunteers progressed to employed roles – 1 apprentice and 3 part time sales assistants;
Training provided to all staff and volunteers: customer services, basic manual handling.

Page 284

